
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Sheffield City 
Council 

Constitution 
 
 



 

 

 
 

CONSTITUTION 
 

18 MAY 2022 
 

Contents 

 

 

1. Part 1 - Summary and Explanation  (Pages 5 - 8) 

2. Part 2 - Articles of the Constitution  (Pages 9 - 10) 

a) Part 2 - Article 1 - The Constitution (Pages 11 - 12) 

b) Part 2 - Article 2 - Members of the Council (Pages 13 - 14) 

c) Part 2 - Article 3 - Citizens and the Council (Pages 15 - 16) 

d) Part 2 - Article 4 - The Full Council (Pages 17 - 20) 

e) Part 2 - Article 5 - Chairing the Council (Pages 21 - 22) 

f) Part 2 - Article 6 - The Leader, Deputy Leader and 
Group Leaders 

(Pages 23 - 26) 

g) Part 2 - Article 7 - Policy Committees (Pages 27 - 28) 

h) Part 2 - Article 8 - Regulatory and Other Council 
Committees 

(Pages 29 - 30) 

i) Part 2 - Article 9 - Audit and Standards Committee (Pages 31 - 32) 

j) Part 2 - Article 10 Health and Wellbeing Board (Pages 33 - 34) 

k) Part 2 - Article 11 - Area Committees (Pages 35 - 36) 

l) Part 2 - Article 12 - Joint Arrangements (Pages 37 - 38) 

m) Part 2 - Article 13 - Officers (Pages 39 - 44) 

n) Part 2 - Article 14 - Decision Making (Pages 45 - 46) 

o) Part 2 - Article 15 - Finance, Contracts and Legal 
Matters 

(Pages 47 - 48) 

p) Part 2 - Article 16 - Review and Revision of the 
Constitution 

(Pages 49 - 50) 

q) Part 2 - Article 17 - Suspension, Interpretation and 
Publication of the Constitution 

(Pages 51 - 52) 

3. Part 3 - Responsibility For Functions  (Pages 53 - 54) 

a) Part 3 - Introduction (Pages 55 - 56) 

b) Part 3 - Functions Reserved to Full Council (Pages 57 - 58) 

c) Part 3 - Matters Delegated to Committees (Pages 59 - 90) 

d) Part 3 - Joint Arrangements (Pages 91 - 92) 

e) Part 3 - Arrangements for the Delegation of 
Functions to Officers 

(Pages 93 - 98) 



 

 

4. Part 4 - Rules Of Procedure  (Pages 99 - 100) 

a) Part 4 - Council Procedure Rules (Pages 101 - 130) 

b) Part 4 - Contracts Standing Orders (Pages 131 - 142) 

c) Part 4 - Access to Information Procedure Rules (Pages 143 - 150) 

d) Part 4 - Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules 

(Pages 151 - 154) 

e) Part 4 - Financial Procedure Rules (Financial 
Regulations) 

(Pages 155 - 220) 

f) Part 4 - Officer Employment Procedure Rules (Pages 221 - 228) 

g) Part 4 - Area Committee Procedure Rules (Pages 229 - 232) 

5. Part 5 - Codes & Protocols  (Pages 233 - 234) 

a) Part 5 - Councillor Code of Conduct (Pages 235 - 254) 

b) Part 5 - Monitoring Officer Protocol (Pages 255 - 270) 

c) Part 5 - Officers' Code of Conduct (Pages 271 - 386) 

d) Part 5 - Protocol for  Member Officer Relations (Pages 387 - 406) 

e) Part 5 - Code of Conduct in Relation to Planning 
Matters 

(Pages 407 - 416) 

f) Part 5 - Guidance Note on General Procedures at 
Planning and Highways Committee Meetings 

(Pages 417 - 432) 

g) Part 5 - Guidance Note to Chairs on Disruption of 
Committees By Members Of The Public 

(Pages 433 - 436) 

h) Part 5 - Committee Chair Job Share Protocol (Pages 437 - 440) 

i) Part 5 - Protocol for Use of the Coat of Arms (Pages 441 - 442) 

j) Part 5 - Petitions Scheme (Pages 443 - 448) 

6. Part 6 - Members' Allowances Scheme  (Pages 449 - 450) 

7. Part 7 - Statutory/Proper Officers and Management 
Structure  

(Pages 451 - 452) 

a) Part 7 - Statutory and Proper Officers (Pages 453 - 466) 

b) Part 7 - Management Structure (Pages 467 - 480) 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022)  
Part 1 – Summary and Explanation  
 
______________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 Page 1 of 4 

 

Summary and Explanation          

 

The Council’s Constitution 
 
The Sheffield Metropolitan District Council (known as The Sheffield City 
Council) has agreed a Constitution that sets out how the Council operates, 
how decisions are made and the procedures that are followed to ensure that 
these are efficient, transparent and accountable to local people. Some of 
these processes are required by law, whilst others are a matter for the Council 
to choose. 
 
The Constitution contains 17 Articles in Part 2, which set out the basic rules 
governing the Council’s business. More detailed procedures and codes of 
practice are provided in separate rules and protocols contained within the 
other parts of this Constitution. 
 
What is in the Constitution 
 
Article 1 of the Constitution commits the Council to be amongst the best 
performing Councils, providing the best quality services in the Country.  
 
Articles 2 to 17 explain the rights of citizens and how the key parts of the 
Council operate. These are: 
 
 Members of the Council (Article 2). 
 Citizens and the Council (Article 3). 
 The Full Council (Article 4). 
 Chairing the Council (Article 5). 
 The Leader, Deputy Leader and Group Leaders (Article 6). 
 Policy Committees (Article 7). 
 Regulatory and Other Council Committees (Article 8). 
 The Audit and Standards Committee (Article 9).  
 Health and Wellbeing Board (Article 10). 
 Area Committees (Article 11). 
 Joint Arrangements (Article 12). 
 Officers (Article 13). 
 Decision Making (Article 14). 
 Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters (Article 15). 
 Review and Revision of the Constitution (Article 16). 
 Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the Constitution (Article 

17). 
 
Part 3 of the Constitution sets out who is responsible for making what 
decisions, including remits of Committees and arrangements for delegation to 
officers.  
 

Page 5

Part 1



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022)  
Part 1 – Summary and Explanation  
 
______________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 Page 2 of 4 

Part 4 of the Constitution details the framework for the administrative and 
procedural conduct of the Council and its committees, including Council 
Procedure Rules for meetings, Contracts Standing Orders, Access to 
Information Procedure Rules, Budget & Policy Framework Procedure Rules, 
Financial Regulations, Officer Employment Procedure Rules and Area 
Committee Procedure Rules.  
 
Part 5 comprises a number of codes and protocols which councillors and 
employees of the Council should comply with, including Codes of Conduct for 
Members and Officers, Protocols for Member/Officer Relations and Sharing 
the Committee Chair role, and some guidance on the Council’s practices. 
 
Part 6 is the current Members’ Allowances Scheme.  
 
Part 7 is the Council’s Statutory and Proper Officers and Management 
Structure. 
 
How the Council Operates 
 
The Council is composed of 84 Councillors with one-third elected three years 
in four. Councillors are democratically accountable to the residents of their 
Ward. The overriding duty of Councillors is to the whole community, but they 
have a special duty to their constituents, including those who did not vote for 
them. Councillors must agree to follow a Code of Conduct to ensure high 
standards in the way they undertake their duties. The Audit and Standards 
Committee ensures that Councillors have access to training and advice on the 
Code of Conduct. 
 
Councillors have no individual powers. Councillors influence and make 
decisions corporately through Council and committee meetings.  
All Councillors meet together as the Full Council. Here Councillors decide the 
Council’s overall policies, set the budget each year and set the Council’s 
major plans, policies and strategies. The statutory and other responsibilities 
reserved to the Council are set out in Part 3, subject to any amendment 
necessary to comply with legal requirements. Meetings of the Council are 
normally open to the public. 
 
At the Annual Council Meeting, usually in May, Full Council elects a Lord 
Mayor and a Deputy Lord Mayor. During his or her period of office, the Lord 
Mayor is the first citizen of the City and chairs meetings of the Full Council. 
 
At the Annual Meeting Full Council also appoints the Leader and Deputy 
Leader, the Chairs and Deputy Chairs of Committees (as set out in Part 3) 
and the Councillors to serve on those Committees. Appointments to all 
committees, except Area Committees, comply with the requirements of 
political proportionality set out in the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989. 

Page 6



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022)  
Part 1 – Summary and Explanation  
 
______________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 Page 3 of 4 

Full Council also appoints representatives to serve on joint bodies and 
external organisations.  
 
The Council is responsible for functions as provided by statute and also has a 
general power of competence. The Council arranges for its functions to be 
carried out through its committee system and by delegated responsibilities to 
its senior officers. All committees are subordinate to the Full Council and 
dependent on it, through this Constitution and the policies and decisions 
agreed by it, for the delegation of powers and duties.  
 
How Decisions Are Made 
 
The Council has set up procedures to ensure that its functions are carried out 
effectively and efficiently in accordance with the principles of good 
administration.  
 
Eight Policy Committees are responsible for most of the Council's functions. 
Their full terms of reference are set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. These 
committees meet on a planned basis in public (except where personal, 
exempt or confidential matters are being discussed – see Access to 
Information Procedure Rules in Part 4) to take operational, policy and 
strategic decisions within their remit, other than those reserved to Full Council 
or delegated to other committees or senior officers.  
 
Strategy and Resources Policy Committee is made up of the Leader, the 
Chairs of each of the Council’s other Policy Committees, the Chair of the 
Finance Sub-Committee, and such other Members as are necessary for 
political proportionality. There are procedures so that controversial decisions 
that would normally be made by another Policy Committee may be referred to 
Strategy and Resources Policy Committee or Full Council to determine. 
 
Other Committees with decision making powers include the Planning and 
Highways Committee, the Statutory and Regulatory Licensing Committees, 
and the other committees whose terms of reference are set out in Part 3 of 
this Constitution.  
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board is a Committee of the Council whose 
members include Councillors, officers of the Council and representatives from 
local health and other organisations. It is a statutory forum required for 
discussing shared health and wellbeing issues and concerns.  
 
Access to Information Requirements  
 
Meetings of Full Council and its Committees are subject to the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution. The rights of 
citizens to inspect agendas and reports and attend meetings are set out in 
more detail in these Rules. 

Page 7



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022)  
Part 1 – Summary and Explanation  
 
______________________________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 Page 4 of 4 

 
Working groups and task and finish groups do not meet in public session and 
are not subject to these Rules. 
 
The Council’s Staff 
 
The Council has people working for it (called ‘Officers’) to give advice, 
implement decisions and manage the day-to-day delivery of its services. 
Some Officers have a specific duty to ensure that the Council acts within the 
law and uses its resources wisely. A Protocol in Part 5 of the Constitution 
governs the relationships between Officers and Members of the Council. 
 
Citizens’ Rights 
 
Citizens have a number of rights in their dealings with the Council. These are 
set out in more detail in Article 3. Some of these are legal rights, whilst others 
depend on the Council’s own processes. The local Citizens’ Advice Bureau 
can advise on individuals’ legal rights. 
 
Where members of the public use specific Council services, for example as a 
parent of a school pupil or as a Council tenant, they have additional rights. 
These are not covered in this Constitution. 
 
The Council welcomes participation by its citizens in its work. For further 
information on your rights as a citizen, please contact the First Point 
Reception at Howden House, Union Street, Sheffield or by e-mailing 
firstpoint@sheffield.gov.uk. The Reception service is open during normal 
working hours. 
 
 
 

Page 8



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Part 2 
 

Articles of the Constitution 
 

 
 

Page 9

Part 2



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 1 - The Constitution 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 1 of 1 

Article 1 - The Constitution 
 
1.01 Powers of the Council 
 
 The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with 

the law and this Constitution. 
 
1.02 The Constitution 
 

These Articles (Part 2), together with the contents of Parts 1, 3, 4, 5, 6 
and 7, form the Constitution of The Sheffield Metropolitan District 
Council (known as The Sheffield City Council). 

 
1.03 Purpose of the Constitution 
 

The purpose of the Constitution is to: 
 
1. enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community 

in partnership with citizens, businesses and other organisations; 
 
2. support the active involvement of citizens in the process of local 

authority decision-making; 
 

3. help Councillors represent their constituents more effectively; 
 

4. enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively; 
 

5. ensure that those responsible for decision-making are clearly 
identifiable to local people and that they explain the reasons for 
decisions; and  

 
8. provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the 

community. 
 

The Council's vision is to be amongst the best performing Councils, 
providing the best quality services in the Country. It will work in active 
partnership with the community to create a successful Sheffield with a 
good quality of life for all its inhabitants. 

 
1.04 Interpretation and Review of the Constitution 
 

Where the Constitution permits the Council to choose between different 
courses of action, the Council will always choose that option which it 
thinks is closest to the purposes stated in paragraph 1.03 above. 
 
The Council will monitor and evaluate the operation of the Constitution 
as set out in Article 16.  

Page 11

Part 2a



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 2 – Members of the Council 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 1 of 2 

Article 2 - Members of the Council 
 
2.01 Composition and Eligibility 
 

(a) Composition.  The Council comprises 84 Members, otherwise 
called Councillors.  Councillors will be elected by the voters of 
each Ward in accordance with a scheme drawn up by the 
Boundary Committee for England and approved by the 
Secretary of State. 

 
(b) Eligibility.  Only registered voters of the District or those living 

or working there will be eligible to hold the office of Councillor. 
 
2.02 Election and Terms of Councillors 
 
 The ordinary election of a third (or as near as may be) of all Councillors 

will normally be held on the first Thursday in May in each year except 
every fourth year beginning in 2013 when there will be no regular 
election.  The terms of office of Councillors will be four years starting on 
the fourth day after being elected and finishing on the fourth day after 
the date of the regular election four years later. 

 
2.03 Roles and Functions of all Councillors 
 

(a) Key Roles.  All Councillors will:  
  

(i) collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out a 
number of strategic and corporate management 
functions; 
 

(ii) contribute to the good governance of the area and 
actively encourage community participation and citizen 
involvement in decision-making; 
 

(iii) effectively represent the interests of their Ward and of 
individual constituents; 
 

(iv) respond to constituents' enquiries and representations, 
fairly and impartially; 
 

(v) participate in the governance and management of the 
Council;  
 

(vi) maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics;  
 

(vii) be available to represent the Council on other bodies; 
and 

Page 13

Part 2b



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 2 – Members of the Council 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 2 of 2 

 
(viii) be available to serve on any Committee (including Area 

Committees) established by the Council. 
 

(b) Rights and Duties 
 

(i) Councillors will have right of access to such documents, 
information, land and buildings of the Council as are 
necessary for the proper discharge of their functions and 
in accordance with the law. 

 
(ii) Councillors will not make public any information which is 

confidential or exempt without the consent of the Council, 
or divulge information given in confidence to anyone 
other than a Councillor or Officer entitled to know it. 

 
(iii) For these purposes "confidential" and "exempt" 

information are defined in the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
2.04 Conduct  
 

Councillors will at all times observe the Councillor Code of Conduct 
and the Protocols set out in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

 
2.05 Allowances 
 

Councillors will be entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the 
Members' Allowance Scheme set out in Part 6 of this Constitution. 

 
 

Page 14



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 3 – Citizens and the Council 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 1 of 2 

Article 3 - Citizens and the Council 
 
3.01 Citizens’ Rights 
 
 Citizens have the following rights.  Their rights to information and to 

participate are explained in more detail in the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
(a) Voting and Petitions.   Citizens on the electoral roll for the area 

have the right to vote and to sign a petition to request a 
referendum for a change to the governance arrangements of the 
Council. 

 
(b) Information.  Citizens have the right to:  

  

 attend meetings of the Council and its Committees except 
where confidential or exempt information is likely to be 
disclosed, and the meeting is therefore held in private; 
 

 find out from published work programmes what decisions 
will be taken and when; 

 

 see reports and background papers (other than those 
disclosing confidential or exempt information), and any 
records of decisions made by the Council and 
Committees;  
 

 inspect the Council's accounts and make their views 
known to the External Auditor;  

 

 obtain a copy of the Constitution; and  
 

 inspect the register of Councillors’ interests. 
 

(c) Participation.  Citizens have the right to: 
 

 participate in the question time at meetings of the 
Council, Committees and other Council bodies; and 
 

 contact their local Councillor about any matters of 
concern to them. 
 

(d) Complaints.  Citizens have the right to complain to: 
 

 the Council itself under its complaints scheme; 
 

Page 15

Part 2c



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 3 – Citizens and the Council 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 2 of 2 

 the Ombudsman after using the Council's own complaints 
scheme; and 

 

 the Council’s Monitoring Officer about an alleged breach 
of the Councillor Code of Conduct. 

 
3.02 Citizens' Responsibilities  
 
 Citizens must not be violent, abusive or threatening to Councillors or 

Officers and must not wilfully harm things owned by the Council, 
Councillors or Officers. 

 
 

Page 16



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 4 – The Full Council 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 1 of 4 

Article 4 - The Full Council 
 
4.01 Meanings 
 

(a) Policy Framework.  The Policy Framework means the following 
plans and strategies:- 

 

 Annual Library Plan (Section 1(2) Public Libraries and 
Museums Act 1964); 

 Development plan documents (Section 15, Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004); 

 Plans and Alterations which together comprise the 
Development Plan; 

 Licensing Authority Policy Statements under the 
Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005; 

 Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy (Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998); 

 Youth Justice Plan (Crime and Disorder Act 1998); 

 The Council’s Corporate Plan and associated Annual 
Plans 

 
(b) Budget.  The annual budget which includes the allocation of 

financial resources to different services and projects, including: 
 

 revenue expenditure; 

 proposed contingency funds including reserves and 
balances; 

 setting the Council Tax (and any other local tax which may 
be within the control of the Council); 

 decisions relating to the control of the Council's borrowing 
requirement; 

 capital expenditure; 

 the Treasury Management Strategy; and 

 the Housing Revenue Account. 
 

4.02 Functions of the Full Council 
 

Only the Full Council will exercise the following functions: 
 
(a) adopting and changing the Constitution; 
 
(b) approving or adopting the Policy Framework;  
 
(c)  approving or adopting the Budget or any other plan or strategy 

relating to the Council’s borrowing, investments, capital 
expenditure and determination of minimum revenue provision; 

Page 17

Part 2d



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 4 – The Full Council 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 2 of 4 

 
(d) agreeing the capital strategy and programme;  

 
(e) subject to the urgency procedure in the Budget and Policy 

Framework Procedure Rules, making decisions about any 
matter which would otherwise be contrary to the Policy 
Framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the 
Budget; 

 
(f) consideration of adverse reports of the Local Government 

Ombudsman where it is proposed that the Council take no 
action or the recommended action should not be taken (Section 
31A, Local Government Act 1974);  

 
(g) election of the Lord Mayor and appointment of a Deputy Lord 

Mayor (Sections 4 and 5, Local Government Act 1972); 
  

(h) appointing and removing the Leader and Deputy Leader; 
 
(i) agreeing or amending the terms of reference for Committees, 

deciding on their composition and making appointments to them; 
 

(j) appointing representatives to outside bodies unless the 
appointment has been delegated by the Council; 

 
(k) adopting, amending, revoking or replacing a Members’ 

Allowances Scheme under Article 2.05; 
 
(l) changing the name of the Area (Section 74, Local Government 

Act 1972);  
 
(m) conferring the Freedom of the City and the title of Honorary 

Freeman (Section 249, Local Government Act 1972); 
 
(n) approving the Councillor Code of Conduct and any amendments 

to this; 
 
(o) confirming the appointment of the Head of the Paid Service and 

the dismissal of the Head of the Paid Service, Monitoring Officer 
or Chief Finance Officer; 

 
(p) making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting bylaws, 

and promoting or opposing the making of local legislation or 
personal Bills (Section 239, Local Government Act 1972); 

 
(q) approving schemes for local authority lotteries; 
 

Page 18



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 4 – The Full Council 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 3 of 4 

(r) resolving under the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982 that provisions in that Act relating to Sex 
Establishments or Street Trading shall be adopted or applied;  

 
(s) approving:- 
 

 for public consultation draft proposals for the preparation or 
alteration to a development plan; 

 

 submission to the Secretary of State of any plan or strategy  
that is required to be so submitted including submission for 
independent examination of a development plan document 
as required by section 20 Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004; 

 
 (t) making a request under section 57 Local Democracy, Economic 

Development and Construction Act 2009 for single-member 
electoral areas; 

 
(u) passing a resolution to change a scheme for elections under 

section 32(1), 37(1) or 39(1) Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007; 

 
(v) making an order giving effect to recommendations made in a 

community governance review under section 86 Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007;  

 
(w) making arrangements with one or more local authorities for the 

discharging of any function by a joint committee and making 
appointments to such a joint committee; 

 
(x) all other matters which, by law, must be reserved to Council: 

and 
 
(y) any other functions set out in Part 3 of this Constitution which 

the Council decides should be undertaken by itself rather than a 
Committee or officer. 

 
(For the avoidance of doubt, a Committee may only amend, modify, 
revise, vary, withdraw or revoke any plan in the Policy Framework to 
the extent that it is required by the Secretary of State or a person 
appointed to carry out an independent examination under Section 20, 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 or as authorised by Full 
Council.) 

  

Page 19



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 4 – The Full Council 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 4 of 4 

 
4.03 Council Meetings     
 
 There are three types of Council meeting: 
 

(a) the Annual Meeting;  
 
(b) Ordinary Meetings; and  
 
(c) Extraordinary or Special Meetings; 

 
and they will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure 
Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 

4.04 Responsibility for Functions 
 

The Council will maintain Part 3 of this Constitution setting out the 
responsibilities for the Council's functions. 

 
 
 

Page 20



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 5 – Chairing the Council 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 1 of 1 

Article 5 – Chairing the Council 
 
5.01 Role and Function of the Lord Mayor 
 

The Lord Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor will be elected by the Council 
annually at its Annual Meeting.  The Lord Mayor, and in his or her 
absence the Deputy Lord Mayor, will have the roles and functions set 
out below. 
 

5.02 Ceremonial Role  
 
The Lord Mayor will act as the City's First Citizen and will discharge 
ceremonial duties on behalf of the Council so as to: 

 
(a) uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and 

interpret the Constitution when necessary; 
 
(b) promote public involvement in the Council’s activities; 

 
(c) be the conscience of the Council and Councillors; and 

 
(d) attend such civic and ceremonial functions as the Council and 

he/she determines appropriate. 
 
5.03 Chairing the Council Meeting 
 

The Lord Mayor (or in his or her absence the Deputy Lord Mayor) will 
chair meetings of the Council, so as to: 
 
(a) uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and 

interpret the Constitution when necessary; 
 

(b) ensure its business can be carried out efficiently and with regard 
to the rights of Councillors and the interests of the community; 
and 

 
(c) ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of 

matters of concern to the local community and the place at 
which Councillors who are not on a Committee of the Council 
may ask questions of the Chair of that Committee. 

 
 
 

Page 21

Part 2e



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 6 – Leader, Deputy Leader and Group Leaders 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 1 of 4 

Article 6 - Leader, Deputy Leader And Group Leaders 
Of The Council 
 
6.01 Appointment of Leader and Deputy Leader 
 

(a)  At its Annual Meeting the Council will appoint a Leader of the 
Council, who shall act be the political head of the Council, and a 
Deputy Leader to assume the Leader’s responsibilities in his/her 
absence.  

 
(b) Once appointed, the Leader and the Deputy Leader will hold 

office until the next Annual Meeting unless either:-  
 

(i) resigns from the office;  
 

(ii) is no longer a member of the Council; or  
 

(iii) is removed from office by resolution of the Council. 
 

(c) Where there is a vacancy in the office of Leader, the Deputy 
Leader will assume the responsibilities of the Leader until a new 
Leader is appointed at an ordinary meeting of the Council. 
Where both the Leader and Deputy Leader cease to hold office 
at the same time, the Lord Mayor shall call a meeting of the Full 
Council as soon as possible, to appoint a new Leader and 
Deputy Leader.  
 

6.02 Role and Function of the Leader 
 

The Leader will:  
 
(a) Act as the Council’s principal public spokesperson;  
 
(b) provide a focal point for political leadership and strategic 

direction for the Council;  
 
(c) represent the interests of the Council in circumstances where 

that is necessary; and 
 
(d) ensure effective Corporate Governance and ethical conduct 

throughout the Council. 
 

The Leader shall be:  
 
(a) the Chair of the Strategy and Resources Committee; 

 

Page 23

Part 2f



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 6 – Leader, Deputy Leader and Group Leaders 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 2 of 4 

(b) the Council’s appointed Member of the South Yorkshire Mayoral 
Combined Authority;   

 
(c) entitled to attend and speak at all meetings of the Council’s 

Committees and Sub-Committees in an ex officio capacity, 
provided that they will only be entitled to vote if appointed as a 
voting member of that Committee or Sub-Committee; and 

 
(d) be available to respond to questions at Full Council meetings. 

 
6.03 Key Responsibilities of the Leader 
 

The Leader will: 
 
(a)  Be the political (rather than ceremonial) leader of the Council, 

for the benefit of all the City’s communities - its citizens, 
taxpayers, businesses, public bodies and other public 
authorities. 

 
(b)  Represent and pursue the interests of the Council in the 

community and at international, national and regional levels.  
 
(c)  Be the key contact for outside organisations (including central 

Government, Local Authority Associations and Council 
partners), and internally for the Council’s Chief Officers.  

 
(d)  Be the representative voice of the Council, for example in its 

dealings with central Government, other Local Authorities and 
their Associations, and positively promote the Council as a 
whole to the media.  

 
(e)  Promote the long-term financial, business and economic stability 

of the Council and the City.  
 
(f)  Meet regularly to progress the Council’s objectives with 

Committee Chairs, the Chief Officers, Group Leaders, partner 
organisations, stakeholders, community representatives, 
government representatives, local Members of Parliament, etc.  

 
(g)  Promote high standards of corporate governance and ethical 

and inclusive conduct throughout the Council.  
 
(h)  Promote and maintain professional working relationships and 

mutual respect between all Members and officers.  
 
(i) Work across the Council, particularly with the Chairs and Vice-

Chairs of its Committees and Sub-Committees, and to be 

Page 24



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 6 – Leader, Deputy Leader and Group Leaders 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 3 of 4 

responsible for the development and implementation of the 
Council’s strategic vision for the policy framework, budgets and 
other strategies. 
 

(j) Lead in establishing the Council’s policy direction and priorities 
(to be set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan) and facilitate 
discussion thereon, and lead in providing policy direction and 
guidance to the Chief Executive and Chief Officers. 

 
(k) Be involved in arrangements around major emergencies. The 

Leader and Deputy Leader must be informed if an emergency is 
likely to take place or has been declared under the Council’s 
emergency planning or business continuity procedures. 

6.04 Role and Function of the Deputy Leader 

 The Deputy Leader will:  
 

(a) assist the Leader of the Council in representing the Council to its 
citizens, stakeholders and partners and in providing political 
leadership for the Council and the City; 

  
(b) assist the Leader in carrying out the key responsibilities 

associated with the role of Leader (as set out at 6.03 above);  
 

(c) work with the Leader on budget and policy development; and  
 

(d) undertake the powers, functions and responsibilities of the 
Leader in their absence. 

 
(e) be the Council’s appointed Substitute Member of the South 

Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority (unless another Member 
of the Council is so appointed) 
 

6.05 Political Group Leaders 
 

(a) Political groups, and the leader (and any deputy group leader) of a 
political group, have a formal role under the provisions of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989 and The Local Government 
(Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990 in respect of 
political balance of committees and appointments to those committees 
by the Council. 
 

(b) The Council acknowledges the key leadership role played by the 
leaders of all political groups on the Council and the importance of their 
commitment to cross party working. 
 

Page 25



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 6 – Leader, Deputy Leader and Group Leaders 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 4 of 4 

The role and responsibilities of Political Group Leaders are: 
 

(a) To provide the leadership of a political group.  
 

(b) To be the principal political spokesperson for the political group.  
 

(c) To nominate members of their Group to serve on Committees, Working 
Groups, outside bodies, etc.  

 
(d) To be a representative voice in dealings with government agencies, 

local authority associations etc.  
 

(e) To encourage the highest standards of conduct by members of the 
group. 
 

(f) To be responsible for the appointment of group spokespersons and 
allocation of other responsibilities to group members as appropriate.  

 
(g) To assist in ensuring appropriate levels of attendance are maintained 

by group members.  
 

(h) To encourage a culture of learning and development among members, 
including the active participation of group members in briefings, 
seminars and other learning and development processes.  

 
(i) To attend Group Leaders’ briefings and maintain effective liaison with 

the other group leaders.  
 
 

 
 
 

Page 26



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 7 – Policy Committees 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 1 of 2 

Article 7 – Policy Committees 

 
7.01 Policy Committees 
 
 The Council will appoint the Policy Committees set out in Part 3 of this 

Constitution to discharge the functions there described. Policy 
Committees will operate in accordance with the Terms of Reference 
set out in Part 3.  

 
7.02 Role of the Policy Committee Chair 
 
 The Chair of a Policy Committee will carry out the following functions: 

(a) Be the primary officer point of contact with regard to the 
Committee’s ongoing business, formulation of a draft work 
programme for the Committee’s consideration, and for advice 
about engagement with the Committee; 

(b) Be the primary spokesperson for the Committee they chair;  
(c) In the case of the Chair of the Children’s Services Policy 

Committee, be the Statutory Lead Member for Children’s 
Services; 

(d) Convene and chair regular pre-agenda and pre-meeting 
briefings with all the Group Spokespersons from their 
Committee. 

  
7.03 Scrutiny 
 

The Council has certain statutory powers and duties in respect of 
scrutiny of various matters:-  

 
(a) the power to review and scrutinise any matter relating to the 

planning, provision and operation of the health service in its 
area, including the power of referral to the Secretary of State for 
Health and Social Care, under section 244 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 and the Local Authority (Public Health, Health 
and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013; 
 

(b) the power to review and scrutinise decisions made, or other 
action taken, in connection with the discharge by the responsible 
authorities of their crime and disorder functions under section 19 
of the Police and Justice Act 2006 and the Crime and Disorder 
(Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 2009;  

 
(c) the duty to review and scrutinise the exercise by risk 

management authorities of flood risk management functions 
under section 9JB of the Local Government Act 2000; and  
 

Page 27

Part 2g



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 7 – Policy Committees 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 2 of 2 

(d) the power to make such reports and/or recommendations to the 
Full Council or other responsible person as appropriate in 
connection with the discharge of any of these functions. 

 
The Council has resolved not to have an overview and scrutiny 
committee appointed under section 9JA of the Local Government Act 
2000. 
 
The Council will exercise its statutory scrutiny functions through the 
appropriate Policy Committees, or Sub-Committees established for the 
purpose (whose members may if necessary include members of other 
Policy Committees), in accordance with the Terms of Reference set out 
in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

 
 

 
 

Page 28



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 8 – Regulatory and Other Council Committees 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 1 of 1 

Article 8 - Regulatory and Other Council Committees 
 
8.01 Regulatory and other Committees 
 

The Council will appoint the Regulatory and other Committees set out 
in Part 3 of this Constitution to discharge the functions there described.  
Ad hoc Committees may be established at any time by the Council and 
decisions taken by them within their terms of reference will be effective, 
notwithstanding that Part 3 of this Constitution has not been updated to 
reflect their establishment. 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 29

Part 2h



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 30



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 9 – The Audit and Standards Committee  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 1 of 1 

Article 9 - The Audit and Standards Committee  
 
9.1  Audit and Standards Committee  

 
The Council will establish an Audit and Standards Committee to 
  
(a) oversee and assess the Council’s risk management, control and 

corporate governance arrangements and advise the Council on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements; and 
  

(b) determine complaints under the Councillor Code of Conduct 
referred to it by the Monitoring Officer and promote high standards 
of Councillor conduct.  

 
9.1.1  Composition 
 

The Audit and Standards Committee will comprise:- 
 
(i) 7 Members with proportionality applied; and 
 
(ii)   a maximum of 3 non-voting co-opted members. 
 
(Where standards related matters are to be considered by the 
Committee, the three Parish/Town Councils would be invited to jointly 
send one representative to attend the meeting for those items as an 
observer). 
 

9.1.2  Role and Functions  
  

The Audit and Standards Committee and its Sub-Committees will have 
the terms of reference as set out in Part 3 of this Constitution.  

Page 31

Part 2i



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 32



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 10 – The Health and Wellbeing Board 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
   
  Page 1 of 1 

Article 10 – The Health and Wellbeing Board 

 
 
10.1  Sheffield Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

The Sheffield Health and Wellbeing Board is established under the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012 as a statutory committee of Sheffield City Council. 
 
The role of the Board is to develop and maintain a vision for a city free from 
inequalities in health and wellbeing, taking a view of the whole population 
from pre-birth to end of life.  The Board will be the system leader for health 
and wellbeing, acting as a strong and effective partnership to improve the 
commissioning and delivery of services across the NHS and the Council, 
leading in turn to improved health and wellbeing outcomes and reduced 
health inequalities for the people of Sheffield. 

 
10.2 Composition, Role and Functions 
 

The Sheffield Health and Wellbeing Board will have the composition, role and 
functions as set out in its terms of reference at Part 3 of this Constitution.  

 

Page 33

Part 2j



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 34



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 11 – Area Committees 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 1 of 2 

Article 11 – Area Committees  
 
11.01  Area Committees  
 
 The Council may from time to time establish such Area Committees as 

it sees fit as set out in Part 3 of the Constitution. 
 
11.02 Composition 
 

(a)  Membership.  An Area Committee comprises all Ward 
Councillors from the Wards in its area. 

 
 (b) Quorum.  The quorum will be established by Full Council. 
 

(c) Joint Meetings.  Two or more Area Committees may hold a 
joint meeting to discuss a matter which affects the area of each 
Area Committee. 

 
11.03  Terms of Reference  
 
 Area Committees shall operate according to Terms of Reference set 

out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 
 
11.04  Rules of Procedure 
 
 The Area Committees shall operate according to Area Committee 

Procedure Rules and Access to Information Procedure Rules set out in 
Part 4 of the Constitution.  

 
11.05  Delegations  
 
 The Area Committees shall carry out such functions as are delegated 

by the Full Council as set out in Part 3 of this Constitution.   
 
 Full Council retains the right to remove, reserve or limit any of the 

powers delegated by it to an Area Committee at any time and for any 
reason it deems fit. 

 
11.06 Operational Framework 
 
 Area Committees must operate within the Constitution (including but 

not limited to the Financial Regulations and the other rules of 
procedure contained in Part 4) and Commissioning and Procurement 
Guidelines.  When making decisions they will comply with the 
principles of decision making set out in these Articles. 

 

Page 35

Part 2k



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 11 – Area Committees 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 2 of 2 

 The Members’ Code of Conduct applies fully to Councillors when 
serving on an Area Committee.  Councillors must ensure that Council 
procedures are followed regarding Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, 
personal interests and other conflicts of interest. 

 
 
 
 

Page 36



Sheffield City Council – Constitution  (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 12 – Joint Arrangements 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 1 of 2 

Article 12 – Joint Arrangements 
 
12.01 General Power of Competence 
 

The Council may, subject to restrictions and limitations, exercise its 
general power of competence (section 1, Localism Act 2011) to:- 
 
(a) enter into arrangements or agreements with any person or body; 
 
(b) co-operate with, or facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of, any 

person or body; and 
 
(c) exercise on behalf of that person or body any functions of that 

person or body. 
 
12.02 Joint Arrangements 
 

(a) The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or more 
local authorities (including non-principal authorities) to exercise 
functions or advise the Council. Such arrangements may involve 
the appointment of Joint Committees with these other local 
authorities. The appointment of individuals to Joint Committees 
is a function of the Full Council. 

 
(b) The Council may establish joint arrangements with the Executive 

of one or more local authorities to exercise functions which are 
executive functions of the other local authority or authorities.  
Such arrangements may involve the appointment of Joint 
Committees with these other local authorities. The appointment 
of individuals to such Joint Committees is a function of the Full 
Council, albeit that the executive arrangements of the other local 
authority or authorities may require members of their Executive 
only to be appointed to such Joint Committees. 

 
(c) The Council nominates representatives to the South Yorkshire 

Joint Authorities and to the South Yorkshire Police and Crime 
Panel. 

 
(d) The Council must maintain a list and details of the joint 

arrangements it has established. 
 
12.03 Procedure for Joint Committees 
 

The Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this 
Constitution apply to Joint Committees. 
 
 

Page 37

Part 2l



Sheffield City Council – Constitution  (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 12 – Joint Arrangements 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 2 of 2 

12.04 Delegation to and from other Local Authorities 
 

(a) The Council may delegate functions to another local authority or, 
in certain circumstances in accordance with the Local 
Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions) 
(England) Regulations 2012, the Executive of another local 
authority. 

 
(b) Arrangements can only be made for a function to be carried out 

by the Executive of another local authority if that function is the 
responsibility of that other authority’s Executive. 

 
(c) The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from 

another local authority shall be reserved to the Full Council.  
 
12.05 Contracting Out 
 

The Council may contract out to another body or organisation functions 
which may be exercised by an Officer and which are subject to an 
order under Section 70 of the Deregulation and Contracting Out Act 
1994, or under contracting arrangements where the contractor acts as 
the Council’s agent under usual contracting principles, provided there 
is no delegation of the Council’s discretionary decision making.   

 
 
 
 

Page 38



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 13 - Officers 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 1 of 5 

Article 13 - Officers 
 

13.01 Management Structure 
 

(a) General.  The Council may engage such staff (referred to as 
officers) as it considers necessary to carry out its functions. 

 
(b) Chief Officers.  The Full Council will engage a person for the 

post of Head of the Paid Service (known as the Chief Executive) 
and other Chief Officers to form the Senior Leadership Board.  
The Council will also engage Heads of Service (or Directors).  
The Head of the Paid Service will maintain a description of these 
posts and of the overall management structure of the Council in 
Part 7 of this Constitution. 

 
 (c) Statutory Officers 

 

In addition to the Head of the Paid Service, the Council will 
designate officers, as identified in Part 7 of this Constitution, to 
the following posts: 
 

 Monitoring Officer, under section 5 of the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989 

 

 Chief Finance Officer, under Section 151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 

 

 Director of Children’s Services, under section 18 of the 
Children Act 2004 

 

 Director of Adult Social Services, under section 6 of the 
Local Authority Social Services Act 1970 
 

 Director of Public Health, under Section 73A of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (local authorities and the NHS) 
  

13.02 Functions of the Head of Paid Service 
  

Discharge of functions 
The Head of the Paid Service will report to Full Council and any 
Committees as appropriate on the manner and the discharge of the 
Council’s functions, including the number and grade of officers required 
for the discharge of functions and the organisation of these officers. 

 
Corporate management responsibility 
The Head of the Paid Service will have overall corporate management 
and operational responsibility, including overall management 

Page 39

Part 2m



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 13 - Officers 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 2 of 5 

responsibility for all staff. 
 

Providing advice 
The Head of the Paid Service will provide professional advice to all 
Members involved in the decision-making process.  

 
Service strategies 
The Head of the Paid Service will advise and assist in formulating service 
policies and programmes which are affordable and effective and make 
the best use of available resources in achieving Council priorities; 

 
Restrictions on functions 
The Head of the Paid Service may not be the Monitoring Officer but 
may hold the post of Chief Finance Officer if a qualified accountant. 
 

13.03 Functions of the Monitoring Officer 
 
 Maintaining the Constitution 

The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date version of the 
Constitution and will ensure that it is widely available for consultation 
by Councillors, officers and the public. 

 
 Ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision making 

After consulting with the Head of the Paid Service and Chief Finance 
Officer, the Monitoring Officer will report to the Full Council in relation 
to any function if he or she considers that any proposal, decision or 
omission would give rise to unlawfulness or to maladministration. Such 
a report will have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision being 
implemented until the report has been considered. 

 
 Unlawfulness, maladministration or injustice 

The Council must, within 21 days of receiving it, consider the report of 
the Monitoring Officer at a meeting of the Council. The Council must 
ensure that no further action is taken in respect of the proposal or 
decision until the report has been considered and the Council has 
resolved:   

 
i) what action has been taken in response to the report; 

 
ii) what action the Council proposes to take in response to the report 

and when it proposes to take that action; and 
 

iii) the reasons for taking that action, or the reasons for not taking 
any action. 

 
 
 

Page 40



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 13 - Officers 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 3 of 5 

Members’ Conduct 
The Monitoring Officer will contribute to supporting the statutory duty to 
promote and maintain high standards of conduct for its Elected 
Members under the Localism Act 2011 by maintaining the Councillor 
Code of Conduct and providing a process for investigating complaints 
under the Code.  
 
The Monitoring Officer will also: 
 
(i)  work closely with the Independent Persons and the Audit and 

Standards Committee in dealing with issues relating to 
Members’ conduct. 
 

(ii) submit a bi-annual report to the Audit & Standards Committee in 
relation to alleged breaches of the Councillor Code of Conduct. 
 

(iii) provide advice to the Council and individual members in relation 
to standards issues.  
 

(iv) maintain a statutory register of Members’ interests. 
 

Proper Officer for access to information 
The Monitoring Officer will ensure that decisions, together with the 
reasons for those decisions and relevant officer reports and 
background papers are made publicly available as soon as possible. 

  
Advising whether committee decisions are within the Budget and 
Policy Framework 
The Monitoring Officer will advise whether decisions of Committees of 
the Council are in accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework. 

 
Providing advice 
The Monitoring Officer will provide advice to all Councillors on the 
scope of powers and authority to take decisions, maladministration, 
financial impropriety, probity and Budget and Policy Framework issues. 

 
Restrictions on posts 
The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Finance Officer or the Head 
of the Paid Service. 
 
Dispensations 
The Monitoring Officer or his/her Deputy can grant dispensations to 
participate in the business of the authority where a Member has a  
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, in accordance with Section 33 of the 
Localism Act 2011. 
 

 

Page 41



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 13 - Officers 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 4 of 5 

13.04 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer 
 

Ensuring lawfulness and financial prudence of decision making 
After consulting with the Head of the Paid Service and the Monitoring 
Officer, the Chief Finance Officer will report to the Full Council and to 
the Council’s External Auditor if he or she considers that any proposal, 
decision or course of action will involve incurring unlawful expenditure, 
or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency or if the Council 
is about to enter an item of account unlawfully. 

 
Unlawful expenditure by the Council  
The Council must, within 21 days of receiving it, consider the report at 
a meeting where it will decide whether it agrees or disagrees with the 
views contained in the report and what action to take. The Council 
must ensure that no further action is taken on the matter in question 
until the working day after its meeting to consider the report and the 
Council will be deemed to have no authority to take such action until 
then. The Council must decide: 
 
i) what action has been taken in response to the report; 
 
ii) what action the Council proposes to take in response to the 

report and when it proposes to take that action; and 
 
iii) the reasons for taking that action or the reasons for not taking 

any action. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer will as soon as is reasonably practicable 
notify the Council’s External Auditor of the date, time and place of the 
proposed meeting. As soon as is reasonably practicable after the 
meeting, the Chief Finance Officer will notify its external auditor of any 
decision made at the meeting. 
 
Administration of financial affairs 
The Chief Finance Officer will have responsibility for the administration 
of the financial affairs of the Council. 
 
Contributing to corporate management 
The Chief Finance Officer will contribute to the corporate management 
of the Council, in particular through the provision of professional 
financial advice. 
 
Providing advice 
The Chief Finance Officer will provide advice on the scope of powers  
and authority to take decisions, maladministration, financial 
impropriety, probity and Budget and Policy Framework issues to all 

Page 42



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 13 - Officers 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 5 of 5 

Councillors and will support and advise Councillors and officers in their 
respective roles. 
 
Provision of financial information 
The Chief Finance Officer will provide such financial information as he 
 or she is required or considers appropriate to give to the media,  
members of the public and the community. 
 

13.05  Duty to provide sufficient resources to the Monitoring Officer and  
Chief Finance Officer 
 
The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance 
Officer with such officers, accommodation and other resources as are 
in their opinion sufficient to allow their duties to be performed. 
 

13.06 Functions of the Director of Children’s Services 
 

The Director of Children’s Services is professionally accountable for 
the delivery of the Council's education and social services functions for 
children, and any health functions for children delegated to the 
authority by a National Health Service body.  
 

13.07 Functions of the Director of Adult Social Services 
 

The Director of Adult Social Services is responsible for all of the 
Council’s social services functions, other than those for which the 
Council’s Director of Children’s Services is responsible. 

 
13.08 Conduct 
 
 Officers will comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct and the Protocol 

on Member/ Officer/ Relations set out in Part 5 of this Constitution. 
 
13.09 Employment 
 
 The recruitment, selection and dismissal of officers will be carried out in 

compliance with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules set out in 
Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
13.10 Proper Officers 
 

The Council will designate and describe in Part 7 of this Constitution 
officers to undertake the various statutory Proper Officers’ functions. 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 44



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 14 – Decision Making 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 1 of 2 

Article 14 - Decision Making 
 
14.01 Responsibility for Decision Making 

 
The Council will maintain in Part 3 of this Constitution an up to date 
record and scheme of delegation of which part of the Council or 
individual has responsibility for particular types of decisions or 
decisions relating to particular areas of functions. 
 

14.02 Principles of Decision Making 
 

All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the 
following principles: 
 
(a) proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the 

desired outcome); 
 
(b) due consultation and the taking of professional advice from 

officers; 
 
(c) respect for human rights, giving consideration to such issues at 

an early stage in the process; 
 
(d) a presumption in favour of openness; and  
 
(e) clarity of aims and desired outcomes. 

 
Furthermore, the Council will explain what options were considered 
and give reasons for the decision. 
 

14.03 Decision Making by the Full Council 
 

(a) Decisions relating to the functions listed in Article 4.02 will be 
made by the Full Council and not delegated. 

 
(b) When considering any matter, the Council will follow this Article 

and the Council Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution.  Committees and Sub-Committees of the Council 
will follow this Article and such parts of the Council Procedure 
Rules as are relevant to them. 

 
14.04 Decision Making by Area Committees  

 
When considering any matter, Area Committees will follow this Article 
and the Area Committee Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

 

Page 45

Part 2n



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 14 – Decision Making 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 2 of 2 

 
14.05 Decision Making by Council Bodies acting as Tribunals 
 
 The Council, Councillors (individually or collectively) or an Officer 

acting as a tribunal or in a quasi-judicial manner or 
determining/considering (other than for the purposes of giving advice) 
the civil rights and obligations or the criminal responsibility of any 
person will follow a proper procedure which accords with the 
requirements of natural justice and the right to a fair trial contained in 
Article 6 of the European Convention on Human Rights. 

 
 
 
 

Page 46



Sheffield City Council – Constitution  (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 15 – Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 1 of 2 

Article 15 - Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters 
 
15.01 Financial management 
 

The management of the Council’s financial affairs will be conducted in 
accordance with the Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations) 
set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
15.02 Contracts 
 

Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Contracts 
Standing Orders set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
15.03 Legal proceedings 
 

The Director of Legal and Governance is authorised to institute, defend 
or participate in any legal proceedings in any case where such action is 
necessary to give effect to decisions of the Council or in any case 
where the Director of Legal and Governance considers that such action 
is necessary or appropriate to protect the Council’s interests. 

 
15.04 Authentication of documents 
 

Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or 
proceedings on behalf of the Council, it will be signed by the Director of 
Legal and Governance or other person authorised by him/her, unless 
any enactment otherwise authorises or requires or the Council has 
given requisite authority to some other person. 

 
All contracts entered into on behalf of the local authority, including 
contracts placed or confirmed by order, shall be in writing. Contracts 
with a value of £500,000 or more shall be by deed and under the 
Common Seal of the Council except with the approval of the Director of 
Legal and Governance. Contracts with a value of less than £500,000 
shall be by deed and under the Common Seal of the Council if the 
Director of Legal and Governance so recommends.  

 
15.05 The Common Seal of the Council 
 

The Common Seal of the Council will be kept in a safe place in the 
custody of the Director of Legal and Governance.  A decision of the 
Council, or of any part of it, including a properly delegated decision by 
an officer, will be sufficient authority for sealing any document 
necessary to give effect to the decision. The Common Seal will be 
affixed to those documents which in the opinion of the Director of Legal 
and Governance should be sealed. The affixing of the Common Seal 
will be attested by the Director of Legal and Governance, an Assistant 

Page 47

Part 2o



Sheffield City Council – Constitution  (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 15 – Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 2 of 2 

Director of Legal and Governance, or some other person authorised by 
the Director of Legal and Governance. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 16 – Review and Revision of the Constitution 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 1 of 1 

Article 16 - Review and Revision of the Constitution 
 
16.01 Duty to Monitor and Review the Constitution 
 

The Monitoring Officer will monitor and review the operation of the 
Constitution to ensure that the aims and principles of the Constitution 
are given full effect. 

 
16.02 Protocol for Monitoring and Review of the Constitution by the 

Monitoring Officer 
 
A key role for the Monitoring Officer is to be aware of the strengths and 
weaknesses of the Constitution adopted by the Council, and to make 
recommendations for ways in which it could be amended in order to 
achieve better the purposes set out in Article 1.  In undertaking this 
task the Monitoring Officer may: 
 
(a) observe meetings of different parts of the Councillor and Officer 

structure; 
 
(b) undertake an audit trail of a sample of decisions; 
 
(c) record and analyse issues raised with him/her by Councillors, 

Officers, the public and other relevant stakeholders; and  
 
(d) compare practices in the Council with those in other comparable 

authorities, or national examples of best practice. 
 
16.03 Changes to the Constitution 

 
Changes to the Constitution will only be made: 
 
(a)  with the approval of the Full Council after consideration of the 

proposal by a Committee of the Council, the Chief Executive or 
the Monitoring Officer; or 

 
(b)  by the Director of Legal and Governance, in consultation with 

the Lord Mayor, in accordance with any powers explicitly 
delegated by Full Council in relation to minor or consequential 
amendments. 

 
 

Page 49

Part 2p



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 50



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 2 – Article 17 – Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the 
Constitution 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 1 of 1 

Article 17 - Suspension, Interpretation and Publication 
of the Constitution  
 
17.01 Suspension of the Constitution 

 
(a) Limit to suspension.  The Articles of this Constitution may not 

be suspended.  The Rules in other Parts of this Constitution may 
be suspended as set out in and to the extent permitted within 
those Rules and the law. 

 
(b) Procedure to suspend.  A motion to suspend any rules will not 

be moved without notice unless at least one half of the 
Councillors entitled to vote are present.  The extent and duration 
of suspension will be proportionate to the result to be achieved, 
taking account of the purposes of the Constitution set out in 
Article 1. 

 
17.02 Interpretation   
 
 The ruling of the Lord Mayor as to the construction or application of this 

Constitution or as to any proceedings of the Council shall not be 
challenged at any meeting of the Council.  Such interpretation will have 
regard to the purposes of this Constitution contained in Article 1. 

 
17.03 Publication 
 

(a) The Monitoring Officer will ensure that copies are available for 
inspection at Council offices, libraries and other appropriate 
locations, and on the Council’s website. 

 
(b) The Monitoring Officer will ensure that a summary of the 

Constitution is made widely available within the area and is 
updated as necessary. 

 
17.04 Definitions 
  
 In this Constitution ‘Executive Director’ means an Officer designated 

in the Council’s Management Structure in Part 7 as an Executive 
Director. 

 
 

Page 51

Part 2q



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 52



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Part 3 
 

Responsibility for 
Functions 

 

 
 

Page 53

Part 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 54



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) - 3.1 - Introduction 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 1 of 1 

PART 3 – RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 
 

3.1 INTRODUCTION 
 
Part 3 of the Constitution sets out which bodies and individuals within the 
Council are responsible for carrying out particular functions. 
 
Functions may be exercised by the Full Council, or be delegated to a Council 
Committee or Sub-Committee, to an Area Committee, to Joint Arrangements  
or to a Council Officer.   
 
Matters delegated to a Committee or Sub-Committee are set out in its terms 
of reference.  Those terms of reference, together with Arrangements for the 
Delegation of Functions to Officers, are set out in this Part 3 of the  
Constitution.   
 
 

Page 55

Part 3a



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 56



Sheffield City Council – Constitution  (May 2022)  
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.2 –Functions Reserved to Full 
Council  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 1 of 1 

3.2 FUNCTIONS RESERVED TO FULL COUNCIL 
 
The functions to be exercised only by the Full Council, whether as a matter of 
law or of local determination are those set out in Article 4.02 (Functions of the 
Full Council). 
 
3.2.1 BUDGET AND POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 
The Strategy and Resources Policy Committee, or such other Policy 
Committee as is agreed by the Strategy and Resources Policy Committee, will 
prepare in draft and submit to Full Council for adoption as elements of the 
Budget and Policy Framework those policies, plans and strategies listed 
below. Full Council may require the Committee to reconsider or amend any 
draft plan or strategy submitted for consideration.  

 

 Annual library plan: Section 1(2) Public Libraries and Museums Act 
1964 (such information as the Secretary of State may require for 
carrying out his duty under the Section)  
 

 Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy: Sections 5 and 6 Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998 
 

 Youth Justice Plan: Section 40 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
 

 Licensing Authority Policy Statements under the Licensing Act 2003 
and the Gambling Act 2005 
 

 Development Plan documents: as specified in the Local Development 
Scheme required by Section 15 Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004 
 

 Plans and alterations which together comprise the Development Plan: 
Part 2 and Schedule 8 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004  
 

 Any plan or strategy relating to the Council’s borrowing, investments, 
capital expenditure and determination of minimum revenue provision 
 

 The Council’s Corporate Plan and associated Annual Plans 
 

 For the purpose of its submission to the Secretary of State or any 
Minister of the Crown, any plan or strategy referred to above (whether 
or not in draft) of which any part is required to be so submitted 

 
 
 
 

Page 57

Part 3b



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 58



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 1 of 32 

3.3.  MATTERS DELEGATED TO COUNCIL COMMITTEES AND SUB-
COMMITTEES  

 
The current Council Committees, their terms of reference, and the functions 
delegated to them are set out in detail below: 
3.3.1 Policy Committees 
3.3.2 Arrangements for Urgent Decision Making 
3.3.3 Area Committees 
3.3.4 Regulatory Committees 
3.3.5 Other Committees 
3.3.6 Sheffield Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
Unless otherwise stated, a Committee may further delegate to a Sub-
Committee or Council Officer and a Sub-Committee may further delegate to a 
Council Officer. 
 
The Full Council will decide the constitution, membership and terms of 
reference of each Committee (except for those matters relating to Area 
Committees which are set out in legislation). 
 
The Monitoring Officer shall ensure that all consequential amendments to this 
part of the Constitution are made promptly. 
 
 
3.3.1  POLICY COMMITTEES 
 
The Council has established eight Policy Committees aligned with the 
functions of the Council: 

1. Strategy and Resources 
2. Communities, Parks and Leisure 
3. Education, Children and Families 
4. Adult Health and Social Care 
5. Housing 
6. Waste and Street Scene 
7. Economic Development and Skills 
8. Transport, Regeneration and Climate 

 
Matters Reserved to All Policy Committees  
 
Within the remit of each Policy Committee and subject to decisions being (i) 
within the approved Budget, (ii) not contrary to the Policy Framework, (iii) in 
accordance with the priorities set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan, and (iv) 
any Capital Programme expenditure having been approved by the Strategy 
and Resources Policy Committee, the following matters are reserved to Policy 
Committees: 
 

Page 59

Part 3c



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 2 of 32 

Strategic Service and Financial Planning and Review 

 Agreeing statutory and other strategies; 

 Agreeing policy issues;  

 Approval of the proposed withdrawal or variation of any service where 
this is outside the scope of an agreed Service Plan and the likely 
impact on present or future users of the service is considered 
significant; 

 Any alterations to agreed budgets or Council Service Plans which the 
Chief Finance Officer considers to be significant (provided these 
remain within the constraints of the Budget and Policy Framework); 

 Agreeing fees and charges (other than any set by Full Council as part 
of the budget process) in line with the medium term financial strategy 
and any policies in respect of fees and charges; 

 Agreeing to policy and performance priorities for the short and medium 
term, taking into account the needs of the Council as a whole; 

 Considering reviews of Service performance against approved plans. 
 
Consultation and Petitions 

 Agreeing the Council’s response to consultation by Government or 
other external agencies where this relates to proposed policy changes 
which the Chair of the Committee or of the Strategy and Resources 
Policy Committee consider to be significant; 

 Dealing with petitions in accordance with Council procedure. 
 
Contracts 

Agreeing the commission or purchasing decision and the budget on 
any given requirement is reserved to a Policy Committee except where 
the proposed course of action is a contract which: 

 is within available budget (including any proper virement) and 
does not, in the opinion of either the Chief Finance Officer, 
significantly affect the Council’s overall budget strategy; 

 is not contrary to any duly approved policy of the Council; 

 is not a significant departure from a relevant Council Service 
Plan; 

 has with a service delivery period of 4 years or less; and 
 (a) has (or, is expected to have) a Contract Value which does 

not exceed £250,000 or (b) is for Commonly Recurring Items. 
 
‘Commonly Recurring Items’ means (a) those things which the Council 
routinely purchases to enable the continuation of its day to day 
business activities (such as for example office supplies, fuel, utilities, IT 
support, travel and transport services, maintenance supplies and 
protective clothing); and (b) services purchased by the Council for 
which there is a constant need and where a break in provision could 
lead to the Council incurring a legal liability for breach of duty (such as 
for example adult social care services); but it does not simply mean 

Page 60



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 3 of 32 

any thing or service of a kind which has been purchased by the 
Council, whether from the same or a different supplier, by way of a 
previous Contract. 

 
After a Policy Committee has made a reserved commissioning or purchasing 
decision, procurement and contracting decisions are reserved to Committee 
only if: 

 It is proposed that the contract is not awarded to the person submitting 
the most economically advantageous tender decided by reference to 
pre-determined award criteria, where payment is to be made by the 
Council, or the highest, where payment is to be received by the 
Council, unless the decision maker has decided on a single tender 
procurement strategy for the contract; or 

 The contract is not within the approved budget (including any proper 
virement); or 

 Award of the contract would contravene a Council policy; or 

 Award of the contract would represent a significant departure from a 
relevant Council Service Plan. 

 A variation of an existing contract results in: 
o An increase in contract value of more than £250,000; 
o An increase in service delivery period of more than four years;  
o A significant effect on Council’s overall budget strategy; or 
o It is not within the available budget, contravenes policy or is a  

significant departure from a service plan. 

 There are any additional procurement requirements imposed by an 
external funder which require consideration by the Committee 

 
Council Supply Agreements 
A Council Supply Agreement is a contractually binding agreement under 
which the Council agrees to provide works, services or supplies to a third 
party in return for payment, in money or in-kind, otherwise than in fulfilment of 
a statutory duty, but does not include an agreement under which the Council 
receives grant aid. 
 
The decision to enter into a proposed Council Supply Agreement or to agree a 
variation where one of the following criteria applies or to terminate an existing 
Council Supply Agreement which fulfils any of the following criteria is reserved 
to the Committee: 

 in the opinion of the Chief Finance Officer it would significantly affect 
the Council’s overall budget strategy; 

 in the opinion of the either the Chief Finance Officer or the Chief Legal 
Officer it would involve a significant level of risk to the Council; 

 it would require the Council to incur gross expenditure in order to 
discharge its obligations under the agreement which is (a) reasonably 
anticipated to be in excess of £100,000 or (b) not provided for in a 
relevant budget; 

Page 61



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 4 of 32 

 it would involve the Council in receiving payment the value of which is 
reasonably anticipated to be in excess of £250,000; 

 it would require the Council to provide works, services or supplies for a 
period exceeding 3 years; or 

 it would contravene a Council policy. 
 
Community Right to Challenge  
The decision to accept an expression of interest (including a modified  
expression of interest) submitted pursuant to the Community Right to 
Challenge contained in Part 5 of the Localism Act 2011. 
 
Urgent decisions  
Shall be taken in accordance with the Arrangements for Urgent Decision 
Making set out at Part 3 3 2 below. 
 
The Terms of Reference, including any Sub-Committees, for each Policy 
Committee are detailed below. 
 
 
STRATEGY AND RESOURCES POLICY COMMITTEE 

The Leader of the Council is the Chair of the Committee. Membership 
includes the Chairs of each of the Council’s other Policy Committees, the 
Chair of the Finance Sub-Committee, and such other Members as are 
necessary for political proportionality, , and to ensure an odd number of 
Members.  Members of the Committee may not nominate substitute members. 
 
Corporate responsibilities 
The following Corporate responsibilities are within the remit of the Committee: 

 Cross-cutting responsibility for development and submission to Full 
Council for adoption of the Budget and Policy Framework  

 Providing strategic direction to the operation of the Council by 
developing and recommending the Corporate Plan (including 
determination of the priorities set out therein) to Full Council and making 
decisions on cross-cutting policies and practice where such decisions 
are not reserved to full Council 

 Responsibility for any issue identified as being of significant strategic 
importance or financial risk to the Council (which is considered to be by 
its nature cross-cutting)  

 Responsibility for any policy matter not otherwise allocated to a 
Committee 

 Considering reports which an Ombudsman requires to be published by 
the Council where it is proposed that the Council take the recommended 
action 

 
 

Page 62



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 5 of 32 

Council Functions  
The following functions are within the remit of Strategy and Resources Policy 
Committee: 

 Finance and Commercial Services 

 Legal and Governance 

 Human Resources and Customer Services 

 Business Change and Information Solutions 
 
The Committee will take decisions within its remit on any reserved matter. 
When devising policy, evaluating service delivery and taking decisions the 
Committee must consider: 

 Public engagement in informing its work 

 Equality, diversity and inclusion implications 

  Climate and Bio-diversity 

 
Relationship with the other Policy Committees 
The Committee is responsible for: 

 Developing an annual work plan (including work programming), with 
reference to the Corporate Plan, in consultation with the other Policy 
Committees. The Committee co-ordinates and implements the 
Corporate Plan and will consider the combined Policy Committee Work 
Programme every other meeting to ensure corporate objectives are 
being achieved.  

 Determining key cross-cutting policies and key plans that impact on 
more than one Policy Committee, decisions that have a significant 
impact on a cross cutting issue, strategy or plan, and determining any 
matter that has a major impact on a number of Council services or the 
Council as a whole. 

 Determining any matter of dispute or difference between any Policy 
Committees. 

 A co-ordinating role across all other Policy Committees and exercising a 
corporate view of outcomes, performance, budget monitoring and risk 
management. 

 Considering the overall performance of the Authority and the 
performance of other Policy Committees, including holding them to 
account with regard to delivery against the Corporate Plan. Where there 
is a serious performance concern, the Committee may refer this concern 
to Full Council for consideration. 

 The exercise of any function not otherwise allocated and, if it considers 
appropriate, the exercise of functions of any Policy Committee or Sub-
Committee. 

 Monitoring referrals from Area Committees to Policy Committees, 
including monitoring patterns and lessons to be learned, in consultation 
with Area Committee chairs. For the avoidance of doubt an Area 
Committee may only refer a matter to the Committee if it is the 
appropriate Policy Committee for that referral. 

Page 63



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 6 of 32 

Strategy and Resources Policy Committee may refer any issue falling within 
its remit to another Policy Committee for decision if it considers appropriate.  
 
Another Policy Committee may refer any matter within its remit to Strategy 
and Resources Policy Committee if it considers appropriate.  
 
Strategy and Resources Policy Committee may refer any matter (within its 
own remit or the remit of another Policy Committee) to Full Council only in 
exceptional circumstances. 

Finance Sub-Committee 
The Finance Sub-Committee is established as a sub-committee of the Strategy 
and Resources Policy Committee. Its membership may include Councillors who 
are not members of, and it may be chaired by a Member who is not the Chair 
of, the Committee.  
 
It may take decisions in respect of the following Finance and Property matters 
which are otherwise reserved to the Strategy and Resources Policy Committee, 
more particularly detailed below: 

a. Strategic financial overview  
b. Property decisions  
c. Accountable Body decisions  
d. Corporate Revenue and Capital monitoring and capital 

allocations 
 
Finance 

 Agreement upon the annual budget for Services within Portfolios 
including the application of the overall capital programme (within the 
Budget and Policy Framework); 

 Agreement of Council policies in respect of fees and charges;  

 Commitments to funding in future years not covered within the 
Council’s medium term financial plan; 

 Agreement upon virements of £500,000 and over or representing a 
major change of policy (any value) from one division of a Service to 
another or between Services within Portfolios or between Portfolios 
and within the approved budget. 

 
Capital Programme 
Agreement of reports on the implementation of the capital programme 
provided under the Capital Programme Financial Reporting and Control  
Procedures, including:- 

(a) approval of all new schemes; except expenditure relating to 
feasibility works up to the value of £100,000 in accordance with 
the Financial Procedure Rules and 

(b) approval of a variation to an existing scheme which increases 
the value of the scheme by more than £100,000; 

Page 64



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 7 of 32 

Property 
(a) Acquisitions of Property where the consideration to be paid by the 

Council exceeds £250,000, but not including any acquisition of 
Property that the Council is obliged by Law to complete; 

(b) Disposals of Property, being of the freehold or leasehold but not 
including a mortgagee sale or disposal that Council must by law 
complete such as Right to Buy, lease enfranchisement or easements to 
certain service providers  

o Where the Council has been required by Law to publicly 
advertise the proposed Disposal (e.g. public open space); and 
one or more objections to the proposed Disposal has been 
received; 

o Which are not subject to a competitive process where the 
consideration to be received by the Council exceeds £300,000; 

o For less than the best consideration reasonably obtainable; 
o Which are clearly controversial; 
o Which for any statutory or other legal reason need to be decided 

by a committee, not an officer 
o Which involve the transfer of a freehold interest, the grant of a 

lease for a term of not less than twenty-five years or the 
assignment of a lease with a remaining term of not less than 
twenty-five years AND a relevant councillor or parish/town 
council has objected 

(c) Appropriation of surplus property that has not been identified for 
disposal by the Finance Sub-Committee or Strategy and Resources 
Committee to another purpose  

 
Grant Aid, Loans and Guarantees 
Provided that no decision that the Council will act as the Accountable Body for 
external grant aid or provide a guarantee in relation to the liabilities of a third 
party shall be taken unless the Chief Finance Officer has been consulted and 
has approved the arrangement: 

 Making any decision in relation to grant aid which the Leader identifies 
as being of strategic importance; 

 Agreeing to establish a fund (not being a fund wholly established with 
external grant aid for which the Council is the Accountable Body and 
which is received for this purpose) in excess of £100,000 from which 
individual grants or loans will be paid and agreeing the eligibility criteria 
for these grants or loans; 

 approving the payment of any grant or loan in excess of £50,000 
(including a grant or loan paid wholly or in part by the Council out of 
external grant aid) subject to the proviso that an officer may make the 
decision where (a) paying the grant or loan to that specific recipient is 
required or clearly intended by the terms of the Council’s agreement 
with the external funder, and (b) the committee has made the decision 

Page 65



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 8 of 32 

to accept the external funding and act as Accountable Body in 
knowledge of this requirement/intention; 

 Approving the withdrawal or reclaiming of grant aid which has been 
awarded to a third party where the amount of grant aid to be withdrawn 
or reclaimed is in excess of £25,000; 

 Agreeing to the Council becoming the Accountable Body for any award 
of grant aid from an external funder to the Council or to a third party 
where:- 
 (i) the grant aid to be received by the Council is anticipated to 
 be in excess of £750,000; or 
 (ii) the grant aid to be received by the third party is anticipated to 
 be in excess of £50,000; 

 Agreeing to the Council guaranteeing the liabilities of a third party 
where the financial exposure of the Council under the guarantee is or 
may be in excess of £50,000. 

 
Charity Trustee Sub-Committee 
A standing sub-committee of the Strategy and Resources Policy Committee is 
established to take all decisions of the Council as charitable trustee, including 
but not limited to disposals of and other dealings with charitable land, and will 
meet as required. 
 
 
COMMUNITIES, PARKS AND LEISURE POLICY COMMITTEE 
 
Council Functions  
The following functions are within the remit of Community, Parks and Leisure 
Policy Committee: 

 Communities 
o Community Development 
o Cohesion and Migration 
o Community Safety 
o Youth Services 

 Parks, Leisure and Libraries 
o Sport, physical activity and leisure facilities 
o Parks and Woodlands (including non-highway trees) 
o Allotments 
o Ecology 
o Bereavement Services 
o Libraries 

 
Within its remit the Committee: 

 Takes decisions on any reserved matter;  

 Is responsible for regular monitoring of data including performance and 
financial information and for monitoring the performance of services; 

Page 66



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 9 of 32 

 Is responsible for working within the budget framework agreed by 
Council, including taking timely action to address any overspend within 
services;  

 Is responsible for delivery against the Corporate Plan and any 
associated Annual Plans and reporting performance to Strategy and 
Resources Policy Committee; 

 Must keep its work programme under review at each meeting; 

 May consider any matters referred by an Area Committee. 
 
The Committee may refer matters within its own remit (but not matters within 
the remit of any other Policy Committee) to Full Council only in exceptional 
circumstances. The Committee may refer matters to Strategy and Resources 
Policy Committee but to no other Policy Committee. It is responsible for 
delivery on matters referred by Strategy and Resources Policy Committee 
and, in the case of cross-cutting issues, for communication, through the 
Chairs, with any affected Policy Committee.  
 
When devising policy, evaluating service delivery and taking decisions the 
Committee must consider: 

 Public engagement in informing its work 

 Equality, diversity and inclusion implications 
 Climate and Bio-diversity 

 
Matters Reserved to Communities, Parks and Leisure Policy Committee 
Decision making in respect of Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs):  

 To approve a draft PSPO, including the proposed restrictions, and to 
carry out consultation;  

 To consider the outcome of the consultation and to approve the making 
of the PSPO with such amendments as are necessary or to decide not 
to proceed. 

 
The Committee oversees any communities or localism strategy within which 
Area Committees operate. 
 
The Committee is the Council’s Crime and Disorder Committee and exercises 
the functions under Section 19, Police and Justice Act 2006. 
 
 
EDUCATION, CHILDREN AND FAMILIES POLICY COMMITTEE 
 
Council Functions  
The following functions are within the remit of Education, Children and Families 
Policy Committee: 

 Education and Skills 
o Schools 

Page 67



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 10 of 32 

o Mainstream and specialist education (early years, children and 
young people) 

o Learning and Skills policy, programmes and interventions 
(children and young people) 

 Children and Families 
o Children and family support and social work 
o Fostering and adoption 
o Children in care, care leavers and corporate parenting 
o Residential services 
o Youth justice 
o Child safeguarding 

 
Within its remit the Committee: 

 Takes decisions on any reserved matter;  

 Is responsible for regular monitoring of data including performance and 
financial information and for monitoring the performance of services; 

 Is responsible for working within the budget framework agreed by 
Council, including taking timely action to address any overspend within 
services; 

 Is responsible for delivery against the Corporate Plan and any 
associated Annual Plans and reporting performance to Strategy and 
Resources Policy Committee; 

 Must keep its work programme under review at each meeting; 

 May consider any matters referred by an Area Committee. 
 
The Committee may refer matters within its own remit (but not matters within 
the remit of any other Policy Committee) to Full Council only in exceptional 
circumstances. The Committee may refer matters to Strategy and Resources 
Policy Committee but to no other Policy Committee. It is responsible for 
delivery on matters referred by Strategy and Resources Policy Committee 
and, in the case of cross-cutting issues, for communication, through the 
Chairs, with any affected Policy Committee.  
 
When devising policy, evaluating service delivery and taking decisions the 
Committee must consider: 

 Public engagement in informing its work 

 Equality, diversity and inclusion implications 

 Climate and Bio-diversity 
 
Matters Reserved to the Education, Children and Families Policy Committee 
Decision making in respect of the establishment, alteration or  
discontinuance of schools, other than those that must be referred to the 
Schools Adjudicator. 
 
 
 

Page 68



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 11 of 32 

ADULT HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE POLICY COMMITTEE 
 
Council Functions  
The following functions are within the remit of Adult Health and Social Care 
Policy Committee: 

 Adult Health and Social Care 
o Adult social work, care and support including specialist social 

work 
o Carers 
o Occupational therapy, enablement and support for independent 

living 
o Adult safeguarding 

 
Within its remit the Committee: 

 Takes decisions on any reserved matter;  

 Is responsible for regular monitoring of data including performance and 
financial information and for monitoring the performance of services; 

 Is responsible for working within the budget framework agreed by 
Council, including taking timely action to address any overspend within 
services; 

 Is responsible for delivery against the Corporate Plan and any 
associated Annual Plans and reporting performance to Strategy and 
Resources Policy Committee; 

 Must keep its work programme under review at each meeting; 

 May consider any matters referred by an Area Committee. 
 
The Committee may refer matters within its own remit (but not matters within 
the remit of any other Policy Committee) to Full Council only in exceptional 
circumstances. The Committee may refer matters to Strategy and Resources 
Policy Committee but to no other Policy Committee. It is responsible for 
delivery on matters referred by Strategy and Resources Policy Committee 
and, in the case of cross-cutting issues, for communication, through the 
Chairs, with any affected Policy Committee.  
 
When devising policy, evaluating service delivery and taking decisions the 
Committee must consider: 

 Public engagement in informing its work 

 Equality, diversity and inclusion implications 

 Climate and Bio-diversity 
 
Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee 
The Adult Health and Social Care Policy Committee is responsible for the 
review and scrutiny of local health services, including the power of referral to 
the Secretary of State for Health, under the Local Authority (Public Health, 
Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013. It 
exercises this function through the Health Scrutiny Sub-Committee which is a 

Page 69



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 12 of 32 

standing sub-committee established for this purpose and whose membership 
comprises members of this Committee and Education, Children’s and 
Families Policy Committee.  
 
 
HOUSING POLICY COMMITTEE 
 
Council Functions  
The following functions are within the remit of Housing Policy Committee: 

 Housing  
o Public sector  
o Private sector 
o Homelessness 
o Refugee resettlement programmes 
o Gypsy and traveller sites 

 
Within its remit the Committee: 

 Takes decisions on any reserved matter;  

 Is responsible for regular monitoring of data including performance and 
financial information and for monitoring the performance of services; 

 Is responsible for working within the budget framework agreed by 
Council, including taking timely action to address any overspend within 
services; 

 Is responsible for delivery against the Corporate Plan and any 
associated Annual Plans and reporting performance to Strategy and 
Resources Policy Committee; 

 Must keep its work programme under review at each meeting; 

 May consider any matters referred by an Area Committee. 
 
The Committee may refer matters within its own remit (but not matters within 
the remit of any other Policy Committee) to Full Council only in exceptional 
circumstances. The Committee may refer matters to Strategy and Resources 
Policy Committee but to no other Policy Committee. It is responsible for 
delivery on matters referred by Strategy and Resources Policy Committee 
and, in the case of cross-cutting issues, for communication, through the 
Chairs, with any affected Policy Committee.  
 
When devising policy, evaluating service delivery and taking decisions the 
Committee must consider: 

 Public engagement in informing its work 

 Equality, diversity and inclusion implications 

 Climate and Bio-diversity 
 
Matters Reserved to Housing Policy Committee 
Delivery of the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 
 

Page 70



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 13 of 32 

WASTE AND STREET SCENE POLICY COMMITTEE 
 
Council Functions  
The following functions are within the remit of Waste and Street Scene Policy 
Committee: 

 Street Scene and Regulation 
o Parking 
o Emergency Planning 
o Highway maintenance and management 
o City Centre management 
o Waste management 
o Markets 
o Regulatory licensing policy 
o Environmental Protection 

 
Within its remit the Committee: 

 Takes decisions on any reserved matter;  

 Is responsible for regular monitoring of data including performance and 
financial information and for monitoring the performance of services; 

 Is responsible for working within the budget framework agreed by 
Council, including taking timely action to address any overspend within 
services; 

 Is responsible for delivery against the Corporate Plan and any 
associated Annual Plans and reporting performance to Strategy and 
Resources Policy Committee; 

 Must keep its work programme under review at each meeting; 

 May consider any matters referred by an Area Committee. 
 
The Committee may refer matters within its own remit (but not matters within 
the remit of any other Policy Committee) to Full Council only in exceptional 
circumstances. The Committee may refer matters to Strategy and Resources 
Policy Committee but to no other Policy Committee. It is responsible for 
delivery on matters referred by Strategy and Resources Policy Committee 
and, in the case of cross-cutting issues, for communication, through the 
Chairs, with any affected Policy Committee.  
 
When devising policy, evaluating service delivery and taking decisions the 
Committee must consider: 

 Public engagement in informing its work 

 Equality, diversity and inclusion implications 
 Climate and Bio-diversity 

 
Matters Reserved to Waste and Street Scene Policy Committee 
The ‘Streets Ahead’ Project (Highways PFI): 
Decisions taken pursuant to the Highways Maintenance PFI Contract dated 
31st July 2012 between (1) the Council and (2) Amey Hallam Highways 

Page 71



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 14 of 32 

Limited (‘the Streets Ahead Contract’) are reserved to the Committee where 
they relate to:- 

 termination of the Streets Ahead Contract; 

 the final approval of the making of High Value Changes (as defined in 
the Streets Ahead Contract); or 

 step-in by the taking of any Required Action (as defined in the Streets  
Ahead Contract). 

 
Functions arising from the Council’s roles as the Highways Authority, 
including transport and parking matters, where these relate to:- 

 The Capital Programme; 

 policy statements; 

 matters that have drawn objections from members of the public; 

 schemes with a value in excess of £250,000. 
 
 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND SKILLS POLICY COMMITTEE 
 
Council Functions  
The following functions are within the remit of Economic Development and 
Skills Policy Committee: 

 Economic Development, Skills and Culture 
o Business growth and economic strategy 
o Arts development and projects 
o Theatres. Museums, galleries etc 
o City and community events 
o Employment policy and programmes 

 Adult education and Skills 
o Enterprise, employment and digital skills 
o Adult skills policy and programmes 

 
Within its remit the Committee: 

 Takes decisions on any reserved matter;  

 Is responsible for regular monitoring of data including performance and 
financial information and for monitoring the performance of services; 

 Is responsible for working within the budget framework agreed by 
Council, including taking timely action to address any overspend within 
services; 

 Is responsible for delivery against the Corporate Plan and any 
associated Annual Plans and reporting performance to Strategy and 
Resources Policy Committee; 

 Must keep its work programme under review at each meeting; 

 May consider any matters referred by an Area Committee. 
 
The Committee may refer matters within its own remit (but not matters within 
the remit of any other Policy Committee) to Full Council only in exceptional 

Page 72



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 15 of 32 

circumstances. The Committee may refer matters to Strategy and Resources 
Policy Committee but to no other Policy Committee. It is responsible for 
delivery on matters referred by Strategy and Resources Policy Committee 
and, in the case of cross-cutting issues, for communication, through the 
Chairs, with any affected Policy Committee.  
 
When devising policy, evaluating service delivery and taking decisions the 
Committee must consider: 

 Public engagement in informing its work 

 Equality, diversity and inclusion implications 

 Climate and Bio-diversity 
 
 
TRANSPORT, REGENERATION AND CLIMATE CHANGE POLICY 
COMMITTEE 
 
Council Functions  
The following functions are within the remit of Transport, Regeneration and 
Climate Change Policy Committee: 

 City Centre and Central Area Portfolio Development 
o Heart of the City 2 
o City Centre and Central Area major developments 

 Investment, Climate Change and Planning 
o Regeneration 
o Strategic Development 
o Sustainable City 
o Flood Protection 
o Building standards and public safety 
o Planning policy 
o Strategic transport sustainability and infrastructure 

 
Within its remit the Committee: 

 Takes decisions on any reserved matter;  

 Champions heritage; 

 Is responsible for regular monitoring of data including performance and 
financial information and for monitoring the performance of services; 

 Is responsible for working within the budget framework agreed by 
Council, including taking timely action to address any overspend within 
services; 

 Is responsible for delivery against the Corporate Plan and any 
associated Annual Plans and reporting performance to Strategy and 
Resources Policy Committee; 

 Must keep its work programme under review at each meeting; 

 May consider any matters referred by an Area Committee. 
 

Page 73



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 16 of 32 

The Committee may refer matters within its own remit (but not matters within 
the remit of any other Policy Committee) to Full Council only in exceptional 
circumstances. The Committee may refer matters to Strategy and Resources 
Policy Committee but to no other Policy Committee. It is responsible for 
delivery on matters referred by Strategy and Resources Policy Committee 
and, in the case of cross-cutting issues, for communication, through the 
Chairs, with any affected Policy Committee.  
 
When devising policy, evaluating service delivery and taking decisions the 
Committee must consider: 

 Public engagement in informing its work 

 Equality, diversity and inclusion implications 

 Climate and Bio-diversity 
 
Matters Reserved to Transport, Regeneration and Climate Change Policy 
Committee 
Functions arising from the Council’s roles as Road Traffic Authority, including 
transport and parking matters, where these relate to:- 

 The  Capital Programme; 

 policy statements; 

 matters that have drawn objections from members of the public; 

 schemes with a value in excess of £250,000. 
 
Review and scrutiny of the exercise by risk management authorities of flood 
risk management functions under section 9JB of the Local Government Act 
2000. 
 
 
3.3.2  ARRANGEMENTS FOR URGENT DECISION MAKING 
 
An Urgency Sub-Committee is established for each Policy Committee with a 
quorum of three members (to include the Chair or Deputy Chair). All members 
of the parent committee and their named substitutes (where applicable) may 
act as substitute members of an Urgency Sub-Committee. 
 
A meeting of an Urgency Sub-Committee may be convened to take any 
Urgent Decision reserved to the parent Policy Committee PROVIDED THAT 
the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Chair has confirmed that the 
decision could not have been foreseen and to delay taking the decision until 
the next scheduled meeting of the Policy Committee would seriously prejudice 
either the Council’s or the public’s interests.  
 
Any Urgent Decision may be taken at a scheduled meeting of Strategy & 
Resources Policy Committee for reasons of efficiency ONLY IF the Urgency 
Sub-Committee of the relevant Policy Committee has been unable to meet in 
the necessary timeframe.  

Page 74



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 17 of 32 

An Urgent Decision may be taken by certain Officers in consultation 
(wherever practicably possible) with the Chair of the appropriate Policy 
Committee, ONLY IF, in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer in consultation 
(wherever practicably possible) with the Chair, it would not be possible to 
convene an Urgency Sub-Committee Meeting or take the decision to a 
scheduled meeting of Strategy and Resources Policy Committee within a 
timescale that would not seriously prejudice either the Council’s or the public’s 
interests. In the Chair’s absence the Deputy Chair should be consulted or in 
their absence the Leader of the Council.  
 
The Officers who may take an Urgent Decision are: 

Any matter: 

 The Chief Executive 
 
Where the matter falls within his/her portfolio, service or budget area or 
such other corporate area of responsibility to which s/he may be 
nominated from time to time: 

 Executive Director 

 Chief Legal Officer 

 Director of Finance and Commercial Services 
 
In cases of Extreme Urgency (where a decision-maker reasonably believes 
that a failure to deal with a matter immediately would be likely to result in an 
appreciable risk of significant administrative, financial or other detriment to the 
Council and/or another individual or organisation) decisions may be taken by 
certain Officers in accordance with the provisions for Extreme Urgency at 
paragraph 3.5.7 of the Arrangements for the Delegation of Functions to 
Officers at Part 3.5 of this Constitution. 
 
All decisions taken in accordance with these Arrangements for Urgent 
Decision Making must be reported at the next scheduled meeting of the Policy 
Committee. Use of these Arrangements shall be monitored by the Strategy 
and Resources Policy Committee and shall be considered by the Governance 
Committee in reviews of the Constitution and of the effectiveness of the 
current arrangements for a committee system of governance. 
 
 
3.3.3 AREA COMMITTEES 
 
Terms of Reference  
 

(a) To promote the involvement of local people in the democratic process 

and to bring decision making closer to local people.  

 
(b) To agree a Community Plan setting priorities for the area of the 

committee, monitor delivery of that plan and keep it under review.  

Page 75



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 18 of 32 

(c) To agree a plan for engaging with local residents and voluntary and 

community sector organisations in improving the committee area.  

 
(d) To take decisions about local matters delegated by the Council after 

engagement with the community or public consultation carried out 

pursuant to a prior decision.  

 
(e) To make decisions relating to funding as delegated from time to time 

by the Council to fit with the priorities set out in the Community Plan 

and following engagement with the community: 

 
(i) Approve grants from budgets allocated to the Area Committee. 

 
(ii) Approve the funding of community projects from budgets 

allocated to the Area Committee. 
 

(iii)  Approve other expenditure from the Area Committee budgets 

 
(f) To act as a formal consultation mechanism on Council and partner 

strategies and policies.  

 
(g) To engage with local people and oversee an ongoing programme of 

events to enable local people to influence Council decisions.  

 
(h) To act as a focal point for the results of consultation and engagement 

exercises and respond appropriately.  

 
(i) Where a matter does not fall within the powers delegated to the Area 

Committee, to make recommendations to the appropriate decision-

maker or body.  

 
(j) Where a matter under consideration impacts on another Area 

Committee’s area, the Area Committee shall not take a decision 

without first consulting the other Area Committee.  

 
(k) To meet a minimum of four times in every year. 

 
(l) To provide a report to Full Council on its Community Plan and progress 

against objectives no more than once in a municipal year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 76



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 19 of 32 

3.3.4 REGULATORY COMMITTEES 
 
LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 
The Licensing Committee operates as two distinct Committees (Statutory 
Licensing Committee and Regulatory Licensing Committee) with identical 
membership and in accordance with the Terms of Reference set out below. 
 
Terms of Reference  
 
(a) Statutory Licensing Committee 

The Statutory Licensing Committee shall be the licensing committee for 
the purposes of Section 6, Licensing Act 2003, and shall exercise the 
functions of the Council as licensing authority under the Licensing Act 
2003 and Gambling Act 2005, when it shall operate in accordance with 
the provisions of the Licensing Act 2003 and regulations made 
thereunder. 

 
Where licensing matters (including policy and adoption of legislation) are 
to be determined by Full Council the Statutory Licensing Committee shall 
consider the matters and make recommendations to Full Council. 

 
(b) Regulatory Licensing Committee 
 Except where by law or this Part of the Constitution they are functions 

reserved to Full Council, or where by virtue of this Constitution 
responsibility is delegated elsewhere, the Regulatory Licensing 
Committee (which may include a Regulatory Licensing Sub-committee) 
shall exercise all other functions of the Council relating to licensing, 
registration and ancillary matters, when it shall operate as a Committee 
of the Council in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules at Part 4 
of this Constitution. Such functions include but are not limited to:  

 

 acupuncture, tattooing, ear-piercing, electrolysis; 

 animal breeding, boarding, training and exhibiting, zoos, dangerous 
wild animals etc;   

 caravan sites;   

 charity collections and street collections;  

 hackney carriage and private hire vehicle licences, drivers and 
operators;  

 hypnotism exhibitions, demonstrations or performances; 

 market and street trading,  

 pavement licences; 

 pleasure boats and pleasure vessels;  

 scrap metal dealers and motor salvage operators;  

 sex establishments including sexual entertainment venues;  

 solemnisation of marriages;  

Page 77



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 20 of 32 

 sports ground safety; 

 theatres, cinemas and entertainments. 
  
The Regulatory Licensing Committee shall exercise the powers of the Council  
as Commons Registration Authority to register common land or town and 
village greens, and to exercise the power to register variation of rights of 
common, PROVIDED that authority to determine the validity of an application 
to register land as common land or a town or village green is delegated to the 
Director of Legal and Governance. 
 
 
PLANNING AND HIGHWAYS COMMITTEE 
 
The Committee exercises the Council’s Planning and Highways functions with 
the following terms of reference.  
 
Terms of Reference  

 
(a) To exercise the functions of the Council as planning and highways 

authority including 
 

 development control 

 advertisement control 

 building control 

 conservation matters 

 tree preservation orders 

 listed buildings 

 enforcement 

 removal of permitted development rights 

 “hybrid” applications or notifications 

 street naming 

 functions relating to public rights of way under the Highways Act 
1980 and other legislation 

 control of scaffolding and hoarding 
 
Including but not limited to considering and determining applications 
submitted under the Planning Acts and related legislation for planning 
permission, permission in principle, technical details consent, listed building 
consent, and reserved matters pursuant to major planning applications. 

 
(b) To exercise the function under Section 278, Highways Act 1980. 
 
Matters Reserved 
 
Matters are reserved to the Planning and Highways Committee where the 
matter falls within the Committee’s Terms of Reference and:-  

Page 78



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 21 of 32 

(a) the proposal is a major opportunity for development that represents a 
significant regeneration opportunity for the City; 

 
(b) the decision would represent a significant departure from policy; 
 
(c) the Council’s policy position is unclear or difficult to determine; 
 
(d) the decision would be in conflict with a substantial number of 

representations made on planning grounds and where the outcome is 
not clearly predetermined by approved planning policy; 

 
(e) the matter relates to a planning application submitted by or on behalf of 

a Council officer who is involved in the planning application process or a 

Member of the Planning and Highways Committee where the matter 

relates to the exercise of a planning function; 

 
(f) the matter relates to an application submitted by or on behalf of an 

officer of the Local Highway Authority or by a Member of the Planning 

and Highways Committee where the matter relates to the exercise of a 

highway function; 

 
(g) formal enforcement or legal proceedings in respect of unauthorised 

development which are subject to the appropriate application of criteria 

(a) to (e). 

 
For the avoidance of doubt, functions falling within the Planning and Highways 
Committee’s Terms of Reference but which are not reserved to the Planning 
and Highways Committee are exercisable by the Planning and Highways 
Committee but are also exercisable by Council officers in accordance with the 
Arrangements for Delegation of Functions to Officers at Part 3.5 of this 
Constitution. 
 
 
3.3.5 OTHER COMMITTEES 
 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 
Terms of Reference 
 

(a) To keep the Council’s constitutional arrangements, including the 
Constitution and the governance system it describes, under review. 
 

(b) To consider officers’ proposals for changes to the Constitution and 
recommend such changes as it considers necessary to Full Council for 
approval. 

Page 79



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 22 of 32 

(c) To keep the thresholds for decisions reserved to Policy Committees 
under review and recommend any changes as it considers necessary 
to Full Council. 
 

(d) To seek direct engagement and participation of the public and 
stakeholders and partners in the Committee’s ongoing consideration of 
the health of Sheffield’s democratic environment. 
 

(e) To be responsible for the Council’s Member Development Strategy and 

annual Member Development and Induction Plan, including to monitor, 
review and make recommendations to the Council with regard to the 
Learning and Development policy for Councillors, Co-opted members 
and Representatives.  

(f) To conduct a review of the effectiveness of the arrangements for a 
committee system of governance, commencing six months after 
implementation (November 2022) with a view to Full Council 
implementing any necessary changes at its Annual Meeting in May 
2023. This review will:  

a. Take account of any changes to the local and national context;  
b. Include the previously agreed ‘strategic aims’ and ‘design 

principles’ in its assessment criteria; and 
c. Actively seek and use feedback from residents, stakeholders, 

councillors, officers and partners to inform its judgements 
against those criteria. 

 
 
AUDIT AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
Accounts 
(1) To approve the Council’s Statement of Accounts and the Annual 

Governance Statement in accordance with the Accounts and 
 Audit Regulations 2015. 

 
(2) To consider and accept the Annual Letter from the Local Auditor in 

 accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and to 
monitor the Council’s response to any issues of concern identified. 

 
(3)  To consider whether appropriate accounting policies have been 

followed and whether there are concerns arising from the financial 
statements or from the audit that need to be brought to the attention of 
the Council. 

 
 

Page 80



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 23 of 32 

Audit Activity 
(4) To consider the Internal Audit annual report and opinion, and a 

summary of internal audit activity (actual and proposed) and the level of 
assurance it can give over the Council’s corporate governance 
arrangements. 

 
(5) To consider summaries of specific Internal Audit reports as requested. 
 
(6)  To consider reports dealing with the management and performance of 

the Internal Audit service, including compliance with Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards. 

 
(7)  To consider reports dealing with the implementation of agreed Internal 

Audit recommendations. 
 
(8)  To consider any report from Internal Audit on agreed recommendations 

not implemented within a reasonable timescale. 
 
(9)  To consider specific reports as agreed with the local auditor. 
 
(10) To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to 

ensure it gives value for money. 
 
(11) To liaise with the Public Sector Audit Appointments or any relevant 

organisation over the appointment of the Council’s local auditor and to 
decide upon the appointment process for the local auditor and to 
participate in the process, as and when required. 

  
Regulatory Framework and Risk Management 
(12) To maintain an overview of the Council’s Constitution in respect of 

contracts standing orders, financial regulations and codes of conduct 
and behaviour. 

 
(13) To monitor the effective development and operation of risk 

management in the Council.  
 
(14) To monitor Council policies on the anti-fraud and anti-corruption 

strategy. 
 
(15) To oversee the production of the Council’s Annual Governance 

Statement and monitor progress on any issues and consider the 
Council’s compliance with its own and other published standards and 
controls. 

 
 
 

Page 81



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 24 of 32 

Standards 
(16) To promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Councillors, Co-

opted Members and Representatives on Committees and Sub-
Committees. 

 
(17) To assist Councillors, Co-opted Members and Representatives to 

observe the Councillor Code of Conduct.  
 
(18) To advise the Council on the adoption or revision of the Councillor 

Code of Conduct and Protocols relating to Councillor and Officer 
behaviour. 

 
(19) To monitor the operation of the Councillor Code of Conduct.  
 
(20) To advise, train or arrange to train Councillors, Co-opted Members and 

Representatives on matters relating to the Councillor Code of Conduct.  
 
(21) To discharge the functions of dealing with complaints against 

Councillors and Co-opted Members as set out in Procedure for Dealing 
with Complaints Regarding City, Parish and Town Councillors and Co-
Opted Members.  

 
(22) To advise the Council on the adoption and revision of its Whistle-

blowing Policy and monitoring the operation of that Policy.  
 
(23) To monitor and review procedures relating to gifts, hospitality and 

personal interests, for Councillors and officers. 
 
(24) To monitor the Council’s complaints process and the Council’s 

response to complaints to the Ombudsman. 
 
 
ADMISSIONS COMMITTEE 
 
Terms of Reference 

 
To hear and determine:- 

 
(a) admission cases and appeals against decisions of the Executive 

Director, People relating to parental choice of schools; and 
 

(b) appeals against decisions of the Executive Director, People relating to 
the issue of home to school travel passes. 

 
 
 

Page 82



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 25 of 32 

APPEALS AND COLLECTIVE DISPUTES COMMITTEE 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
(a) To hear and determine all matters which require Member decision 

relating to processes in connection with:- 
 
(i) the discipline and dismissal of staff (other than senior officers 

within the terms of reference of the Senior Officer Employment 
Committee); and 

 
(ii) disputes between the Council and its employees. 

 
(b) To establish such Sub-Committees as appropriate to undertake the 

hearing or determination of matters relating to the discipline and 
dismissal of staff (other than Senior Officers within the terms of reference 
of the Senior Officer Employment Committee) and disputes between the 
Council and its employees. 

 
 
SENIOR OFFICER EMPLOYMENT COMMITTEE 
 
Terms of Reference  
 
(a) To consider, subject to legal requirements relating to the Council’s 

Statutory Officers (within the meaning of section 2 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989) and to the Officer Employment 
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution, and to make 
recommendations to the Council on all matters relating to the 
appointment of the Chief Executive and the dismissal of the Chief 
Executive, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer.  

 
(b)  To determine, subject to legal requirements relating to the Council’s 

Statutory Officers and to the Officer Employment Procedure Rules in 
Part 4 of this Constitution, all matters relating to the appointment of:-  
•  Executive Directors and other Officers who report directly to the Chief 

Executive; 
•  The Council’s Statutory Chief Officers, other than the Chief Executive.  

 
(c) To determine, subject to legal requirements relating to the Council’s 

Statutory Officers and to the Officer Employment Procedure Rules in 
Part 4 of this Constitution, all matters relating to the dismissal of:-  
•  Executive Directors and other Officers who report directly to the Chief 

Executive; 
•  The Council’s Statutory Officers, other than the Chief Executive, 

Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer.  

Page 83



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 26 of 32 

(d) To determine, subject to legal requirements relating to the Council’s 
Statutory Officers and to the Officer Employment Rules in Part 4 of this 
Constitution, all matters relating to the discipline short of dismissal of:-  
•  Executive Directors and other Officers who report directly to the Chief 

Executive;  
•  The Council’s Statutory Officers. 

 
(e)  To determine, subject to legal requirements relating to the Council’s 

Statutory Officers and to the Officer Employment Rules in Part 4 of this 
Constitution, all matters relating to the appointment, discipline and 
dismissal of:-  
•  Officers who report directly to any of the Officers described above 

(other than the Monitoring Officer) for all or most of their duties (but 
not any person whose duties are solely secretarial or clerical).  

 
(f)  To establish such Sub-Committees as appropriate to undertake 

recruitment and to hear individual matters, which may include authority to 
make appointments and other decisions, and authority to make 
recommendations direct to the Council.  

 
 
COMPLAINTS REVIEW PANEL 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
To consider and determine, in accordance with legislative requirements, 
complaints in relation to the discharge of, or any failure to discharge the 
Council's social services functions in relation to an individual. 
 
 
INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
To make recommendations to the Council on the allowances to be paid to 
elected Members, as laid down in the Local Authorities (Members’ 
Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 and Section 7, Superannuation Act 
1972, namely:- 
 
(a) the level of basic allowance for all Members;  
 
(b) categories of special responsibility for which a special responsibility 

allowance should be paid and the levels of those allowances; 
 
(c) the rate of childcare / dependency allowance; 
 

Page 84



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 27 of 32 

(d) Travel & Subsistence Allowance; 
 
(e) any annual uplift; 
 
(f) which Members of the Council are entitled to join the LGPS; 
 
(g) which aspect of Members’ Allowance is to be pensionable. 
 
 
3.3.6 SHEFFIELD HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 
Terms of Reference  
 
1. Role and Function of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
1.1 The Sheffield Health and Wellbeing Board (the Board) is established 

under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 as a statutory committee of 
Sheffield City Council (the Council) from 1 April 2013. However, it will 
operate as a multi-agency board of equal partners.  

 
1.2 The Board will develop and maintain a vision for a city free from 

inequalities in health and wellbeing, taking a view of the whole 
population from pre-birth to end of life. 

 
1.3 The Board will be the system leader for health & wellbeing, acting as a 

strong and effective partnership to improve the commissioning and 
delivery of services across the NHS and the Council, leading in turn to 
improved health and wellbeing outcomes and reduced health inequalities 
for the people of Sheffield. 

 
1.4 In doing this, the Board will take an interest in all the determinants of 

health and wellbeing in Sheffield and will work across organisational 
boundaries in pursuit of this. 

 
1.5 The Board will be ambitious for Sheffield and hold organisations in 

Sheffield to account for the delivery of the Board’s vision for the city. It 
should enable organisations to work in an integrated way, for the 
purpose of advancing the health and wellbeing of people in Sheffield. 

 
1.6 The Board is statutorily required to carry out the following functions: 

 To undertake a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA); 

 To undertake a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA); 

 To develop and publish a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

(JHWS) for Sheffield; 

Page 85



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 28 of 32 

 To provide an opinion on whether the Council is discharging its 

duty to have regard to the JSNA, and the JHWS, in the exercise 

of its functions; 

 To review the extent to which the Clinical Commissioning Group 

(CCG) has contributed to the delivery of the JHWS; to provide 

an opinion to the CCG on whether their draft commissioning 

plan takes proper account of the JHWS; and, to provide an 

opinion to NHS England on whether a commissioning plan 

published by the CCG takes proper account of the JHWS; 

 To support joint commissioning and encourage integrated 

working and pooled budget arrangements  in relation to 

arrangements for providing health, health-related or social care 

services; 

 To discharge all functions relating to the Better Care Fund that 

are required or permitted by law to be exercised by the Board; 

and 

 To receive and approve any other plans or strategies that are 

required either as a matter of law or policy to be approved by the 

Board. 

 
1.7 In addition to these the Board will also take an interest in how all 

organisations in Sheffield function together to deliver on the Joint Health 
& Wellbeing Strategy. 

 
1.8 The Board will own and oversee the strategic vision for health and 

wellbeing in Sheffield, hold all partners and organisations to account for 
delivering against this by taking an interest in all associated strategies 
and plans and when appropriate requesting details on how specific 
policies or strategies help to achieve the aims of the Joint Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy. 

 
1.9 The Board will continue to oversee the strategic direction of the Better 

Care Fund and the delivery of better integrated care, as part of its 
statutory duty to encourage integrated working between commissioners.  
This will include signing off quarterly and annual Better Care Fund 
submissions. 

 
2. Membership 
 
2.1 The membership of the Board is as follows: 

 Sheffield City Council: 

o Chair of Adult Health and Social Care Policy Committee 

Page 86



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 29 of 32 

o Chair of Education, Children and Families Policy 

Committee 

o Chair of Housing Policy Committee 

o Chief Executive 

o Director of Adult Social Services 

o Director of Children’s Services 

o Executive Director for Operational Services 

 Sheffield NHS Clinical Commissioning Group 

o Governing Body Chair 

o One other Governing Body GP 

o Accountable Officer 

o Medical Director 

o Director of Strategy 

 Other Commissioners 

o Senior Representative from NHS England 

 Providers 

o Accountable Care Partnership Programme Director 

o NHS Provider – Clinical Representative 

o NHS Provider – Non-Executive Representative 

o VCF Provider 

o VCF Organisation 

o Blue Light Service 

 Independent Voice 

o Chair of Healthwatch Sheffield 

o Director of Public Health 

o University 

 
2.2 Other representatives from the wider health and wellbeing community in 

Sheffield may be invited to attend the Board from time to time to 
contribute to discussion of specific issues.  

 
2.3 Any changes to personnel will be approved through Full Council on an 

annual basis. 
 
3. Governance  

 
3.1 Chair: The Board will be co-chaired by the Council Chair of the Adult 

Health and Social Care Policy Committee and the Chair of the CCG, with 
chairing of meetings generally alternating between them.  

 
3.2  Attendance at meetings and deputies: In order to maintain consistency it 

is assumed that Board members will attend all meetings. Each member 

Page 87



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 30 of 32 

must name 1 deputy, who should be well briefed on the Board’s purpose 
and activities, fulfil the same or similar function in their primary role (as 
opposed to being from the same organisation), and attend meetings and 
vote on behalf of the member when they are absent.  

 
3.3 Quorum: 1 Elected Member of the Council & 1 other Council 

Representative (Elected Member or Officer), 1 CCG Governing Body GP 
and 1 other CCG Representative, 1 Provider Representative, and 1 
Independent Voice Representative, with an in-meeting majority for 
Commissioners.  

 
3.4 Decision-making and voting: The Board will operate on a consensus 

basis. Where consensus cannot be achieved the matter will be put to a 
vote. Decisions will be made by simple majority: the Chair for the 
meeting at which the vote is taken will have the casting vote. All votes 
shall be taken by a show of hands unless decided otherwise by the 
Chair.  

 
3.5 Authority of representatives: It is accepted that some decisions and / or 

representations will need to be made in accordance with the governance 
procedures of the organisations represented on the Board: however, 
representatives should have sufficient authority to speak for their 
organisations and make decisions within their own delegations.  

 
3.6 Accountability and scrutiny: As a Council committee, the Board will be 

formally accountable to the Council.  
 
3.7 Relationship to other groups: The Board has formally agreed a protocol 

with the city’s Safeguarding Boards.  The Board will seek to develop 
close relationships with the city’s Accountable Care Partnership and any 
Committee or Sub-Committee of the Council with responsibility for the 
review and scrutiny of local health services as part of its work to hold the 
health and wellbeing system to account.  It will also develop 
relationships with other bodies in the city such as the Sheffield City 
Partnership Board and Safer & Sustainable Communities Partnership, 
especially where the agendas of such bodies overlap with the Board’s. 

 
4. Meetings, agendas and papers  
 
4.1  The Board will normally meet quarterly in public, interspersed with 

private strategy development meetings. There will be no fewer than 2 
meetings per financial year, with a maximum of 32 weeks between 
meetings.  

 
4.2 Dates, venues, agendas and papers for public meetings will be 

published in advance on the Council’s website. 

Page 88



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 31 of 32 

4.3 The Co-Chairs will agree the agenda for each meeting, supported by an 
officer subgroup.  

 
4.4 Agendas and papers will be circulated to all members and be available 

on the Council’s website 7 days in advance of the meeting.  
 
4.5 Minutes will be circulated to all members and published on the Council’s 

website as soon as possible after the meeting.  
 
4.6 It is expected that those who write papers will work collaboratively with 

others to provide a city-wide perspective on any given issue. 
 
5. Role of a Health and Wellbeing Board Member  
 
5.1 All members of the Board, as a statutory committee of the Council, must 

observe the Council’s code of conduct for members and co-opted 
members. Other responsibilities include:  

 Attending Board meetings whenever possible and fully and positively 
contributing to discussions, reading and digesting any documents 
and information provided prior to meetings; 

 The membership of the Health & Wellbeing Board is constructed to 
provide a broad range of perspectives on the development of 
strategy.  With this in mind, members are asked to bring the insight, 
knowledge, perspective and strategic capacity they have as a 
consequence of their everyday role, and not act simply as a 
representative of their organisation, but with the interests of the 
whole city and its residents at heart; 

 Fully and effectively communicating outcomes and key decisions of 
the Board to their own organisations, acting as ambassadors for the 
work of the Board, and participating where appropriate in 
communications/marketing and stakeholder engagement activity to 
support the objectives of the Board, including working with the 
media; 

 Contributing to the development of the JSNA and JHWS; 

 Ensuring that commissioning is in line with the requirements of the 
JHWS and working to deliver improvements in performance against 
measures within the public health, NHS and adult social care 
outcomes frameworks; 

 Declaring any conflict of interest, particularly in the event of a vote 
being required and in relation to the providing of services; 

 Acting in a respectful, inclusive and open manner with all colleagues 
to encourage debate and challenge.  

 
 
 

 

Page 89



Sheffield City Council – Constitution    
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.3 –Matters Delegated to Committees 
and Sub-Committees  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 32 of 32 

6. Engagement with the public and providers 
 
6.1 Healthwatch Sheffield is the Board’s statutory partner for involving 

Sheffield people in discussions and decision-making around health and 
wellbeing in the city. It is expected that the Healthwatch Sheffield 
representative(s) will clearly ensure Sheffield people’s views are 
included in all Board discussions, with Elected Members, and other 
Independent Voice members also having a role in this regard. 

 
6.2 Formal public meetings will be held quarterly, with members of the public 

invited to ask questions. An answer may take the form of:  
 

 An oral answer; 

 A written answer to the member of the public, circulated to the Board 
and placed on the Council’s website; 

 Where the desired information is contained in a publication, a 
reference to that publication. 

 
The Board’s chairs retain the right to restrict the length of time given to 
answering public questions at any meetings held. 

 
6.3 The Board will work with Healthwatch Sheffield to engage with the public 

on the issues affecting health and wellbeing in Sheffield through a range 
of means, ensuring the output from this engagement is linked to the 
Board’s Forward Plan, and is fed into and reflected in Board discussions.  
This work will:  

 

 Provide an avenue for members of the public to impact on the 
Board’s discussions and work;  

 Engage the public and/or providers in the development of the Joint 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy; 

 Develop the Board’s understanding of local people’s and providers’ 
experiences and priorities for health and wellbeing; 

 Communicate the work of the Board in shaping health and wellbeing 
in Sheffield; 

 Develop a shared perspective of the ways in which providers can 
contribute to the Board’s delivery. 

 
6.4 The Board will maintain a website with up-to-date information about its 

work and send out regular newsletters. 
 
7. Review 
 
7.1 These Terms of Reference will be reviewed annually. 
 
 

Page 90



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.4 – Joint Arrangements 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 1 of 2 

3.4 JOINT ARRANGEMENTS  
 
The following functions are discharged by way of the specified joint 
arrangements.  
 
 

Function 
 

Joint Arrangement 
 

 
Archaeology Service 

 
Joint Advisory Committee for the 
South Yorkshire Archaeology 
Service 
 

 
Archives 

 
South Yorkshire Joint Advisory 
Committee on Archives 
 

 
Emergency Planning 
 

 
Sheffield and Rotherham Emergency 
Planning Joint Committee 
 

Health Scrutiny South Yorkshire, Derbyshire and 
Nottinghamshire Joint Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Health and Social Care 
Commissioning Plans 
 

Joint Commissioning Committee 

  
The Council will make appointments to joint committees as appropriate.  

Page 91

Part 3d



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 92



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.5 – Delegation to Officers 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 1 of 5 

3.5 ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE DELEGATION OF FUNCTIONS TO 
OFFICERS  

 
3.5.1 General Delegations to Officers 
 

Subject to the provisions set out below, any function, unless reserved 
to a committee or to Full Council, is deemed delegated to and 
individually exercisable by:- 

 the Chief Executive; 

 an Executive Director where the matter falls within his/her area of 
portfolio, service or budgetary responsibility or such other corporate 
area of responsibility to which s/he may be nominated from time to 
time; 

 a Director where the matter falls within his/her area of service or 
budgetary responsibility or such other corporate area of 
responsibility to which s/he may be nominated from time to time; or 

 a Head of Service designated as having specific responsibility for a 
function by the Chief Executive or Executive Director. 

 
Responsibilities are set out in the Management Structure at Part 7 of 
this Constitution. The Chief Executive and Executive Directors are 
responsible for ensuring that this Management Structure is kept up to 
date so that the Officer responsible for the exercise of any function may 
be identified. 

 
An Executive Director or Director with delegated authority to exercise a 
function may authorise an Officer of suitable experience and seniority 
to exercise that function on behalf of and in the name of the Executive 
Director or Director without having delegated authority in his/her own 
right to do so, subject to any procedural safeguards considered 
necessary being put in place.  The Executive Director or Director will 
remain responsible for any decision taken pursuant to such 
arrangements. 

 
Each Director will maintain a list of the Officers authorised to exercise 
any function. Each Executive Director will be responsible for ensuring 
that such lists are kept up to date and that a central record is held for 
each portfolio. 

An Executive Director or Director with delegated authority to exercise a 
function or a Head of Service designated as having specific 
responsibility for a function may authorise any particular named officer:- 

 to carry out inspection and enforcement duties, 

 to enter land and premises (whether specifically or in general) and / 
or  

 to require information as to interests in land and premises; 

Page 93

Part 3e



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.5 – Delegation to Officers 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 2 of 5 

where this is (i) authorised by law and (ii) necessary in the performance 
of any function or duty of the service and may sign identity cards in 
connection with the exercise of this authority, PROVIDED that a list 
shall be maintained of all officers so authorised with a description of the 
extent of such authorisation and the relevant statutory power. 

All existing delegations to officers made by way of an Executive 
decision prior to the coming into force of this Constitution continue in 
force and effect, save that a requirement to act in consultation with an 
Individual Executive Member will be read as a requirement to act in 
consultation with the appropriate Policy Committee Chair, until revoked 
by a decision of Full Council or a Policy Committee. 

3.5.2 Grant Aid 

Unless reserved to a committee or to Full Council, the decision to apply 
for external grant aid is delegated to and exercisable by an Executive 
Director and must be made in consultation with the Chief Finance 
Officer. 

3.5.3  Chief Legal Officer 
 

The Chief Legal Officer is the Director of Legal and Governance. 
 
The Chief Legal Officer has general authority to commence, defend or 
settle any legal proceedings as s/he considers necessary or 
appropriate to protect the interests of the Council. 
 
The Chief Legal Officer is authorised: 

 to exercise the function of carrying out a review of a decision in 
respect of including land in the authority’s list of Assets of 
Community Value 

 

 to determine the validity of an application to register land as 
common land or a town or village green 

 

 to grant approval for the use of the City Council’s Coat of Arms 
 

Subject to the ability of any Officer or decision-making body to 
discharge any Council function relating to anti-social behaviour where 
this is or required by law, the Chief Legal Officer is authorised to 
discharge any Council function relating to measures to counter anti-
social behaviour, including giving any consents or confirmations on 
behalf of the Council. With the exception of any action taken under the 
general authority in respect of legal proceedings, this authorisation 
shall not extend to a Council function relating to anti-social behaviour 
relating to a particular tenancy. 

Page 94



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.5 – Delegation to Officers 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 3 of 5 

The Chief Legal Officer may arrange for the discharge of any of the 
functions delegated to him/her to be undertaken by other Officers as 
s/he considers appropriate including, for example, authorising such 
Officers to take particular steps. 

 
3.5.4 Chief Finance Officer 
 

The Chief Finance Officer is the Director of Finance and Commercial 
Services as being the Proper Officer for the purpose of the proper 
administration of financial affairs pursuant to Section 151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and such officers who may be nominated by him 
from time to time to exercise those duties on his behalf. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the maintenance and 
operation of the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules (Financial 
Regulations) and Contracts Standing Orders, both at Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

 
3.5.5 Chief Property Officer 
 

The Chief Property Officer is the Head of Regeneration and Property  
Services. 
 
The Chief Property Officer is authorised to make any decision in 
respect of Property matters not reserved to a committee or Full Council 
with the exception of the following decisions which shall be made by an 
Executive Director: 

 a declaration that operational property is surplus to the 
requirements of a service within the Portfolio 

 
3.5.6 Chief Planning Officer 
 

The Chief Planning Officer is the Head of Planning. 
 
The Chief Planning Officer is authorised to make any decision in 
respect of the following areas of responsibility to the extent that they 
are not reserved to the Planning and Highways Committee or Full 
Council: 

 Planning applications and permissions 

 Development control 

 Development management 

 Local Plan 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 95



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.5 – Delegation to Officers 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 4 of 5 

3.5.7 Human Resources Matters and Appointments to External Bodies 
 

No Officer at Director grade or above shall be seconded by an Officer 
to a body outside the Council without prior consultation with the 
relevant Policy Committee Chair.  

 
Prior to taking steps to restructure a Council service the relevant 
Executive Director or Director must seek advice from the Director of 
Human Resources and Customer Services. 

 
Appointments of Officers to serve on external bodies shall be made in 
accordance with established Council procedures and any guidance 
issued by the Chief Legal Officer. 

 
3.5.8 The ‘Streets Ahead’ Project (Highways PFI)  
 

The Director of Street Scene and Regulation is authorised to make 
decisions, other than those reserved to a Committee or Full Council, on 
behalf of the Council as the ‘Authority Representative’ under the 
Highways Maintenance PFI Contract dated 31st July 2012 between (1) 
the Council and (2) Amey Hallam Highways Limited (‘the Streets 
Ahead Contract’), including authorising the making of call-off contracts 
(as deeds and in the agreed contractual form) for the provision of non-
core services pursuant to the Streets Ahead Contract’. 

 
3.5.9 Other Highways Related Issues 
 

Other than those matters reserved to a committee or Full Council, any 
functions in relation to the Council’s roles as Highways Authority and  
Road Traffic Authority, including transport and parking (except any 
function that relates to highways maintenance and street naming and 
numbering and section 287, Highways Act 1980 (power to erect 
barriers in streets in cases of emergency)) may be discharged by the 
Chief Executive, by the Executive Director, City Futures, by the 
Director of Investment and Climate Change and by the Head of 
Strategic Transport, Sustainability and Infrastructure in each case 
acting individually. 

 
Other than those matters reserved to a committee or Full Council, any  
functions in relation to the Council’s role as Highways Authority in so 
far as they relate to highways maintenance and street naming and 
numbering and section 287, Highways Act 1980 (power to erect 
barriers in streets in cases of emergency) may be discharged by the 
Chief Executive, by the Executive Director, Operational Services, by 
the Director of Street Scene and Regulation and by the Head of 
Highways Maintenance in each case acting individually. 

 

Page 96



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 3 (Responsibility for Functions) – 3.5 – Delegation to Officers 
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
   Page 5 of 5 

3.5.10 Extreme Urgency 
 

‘Extreme Urgency’ means a situation where a decision-maker 
reasonably believes that a failure to deal with a matter immediately 
would be likely to result in an appreciable risk of significant 
administrative, financial or other detriment to the Council and/or 
another individual or organisation. 
 
The following Officers may make a decision in a case of Extreme 
Urgency, other than a decision which is reserved to Full Council, 
subject to the conditions set out below.  

 In all cases a decision must comply with the Council’s Financial 
Regulations and Contracts Standing Orders, and the statutory 
and Constitutional requirements for the making, recording and 
publicising of decisions. 

 

 The action being taken and the reasons for it being taken must 
be reported as soon as possible to the Chief Executive (except 
for those decisions taken by the Chief Executive) and the Chair 
(or in their absence, the Deputy Chair) of the appropriate Policy 
Committee or of the Strategy and Resources Policy Committee. 

 

 Where the matter requires expenditure which has not been 
budgeted for, prior consultation must take place wherever 
possible with the Chief Finance Officer (except for those 
decisions taken by the Chief Finance Officer). 

 
Any matter: 

 The Chief Executive 
 
Where the matter falls within his/her portfolio, service or budget area or 
such other corporate area of responsibility to which s/he may be 
nominated from time to time: 

 Executive Director 

 Chief Legal Officer 

 Director of Finance and Commercial Services 
 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 98



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Part 4 
 

Rules of Procedure 
 

Page 99

Part 4



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 100



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 1 of 29 

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES  
 

These Procedure Rules are Standing Orders made under section 106 
and paragraph 42 of Schedule 12 to the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
1 Interpretation 
 
1.1 The expression "the Lord Mayor" when used in these Procedure Rules 

as relates to procedure at meetings of the Council shall, where the 
context so allows, include the Deputy Lord Mayor or the Chair of the 
meeting for the time being. 
 

1.2 The expression “Body” when used in these Procedure Rules shall mean 
the Council, Policy Committees, Audit and Standards Committee, 
Regulatory Committees, Area Committees and other such meetings. 

 
2 Council Procedure Rules to apply to all Bodies 
 
 These Council Procedure Rules shall, where appropriate, apply to the 

Council, Policy Committees, Audit and Standards Committee, 
Regulatory Committees, Area Committees and other such meetings. 

 
3 Ruling on Council Procedure Rules 
 
 The ruling of the Lord Mayor or Chair of a Body, after consultation with 

the Chief Executive or his/her representative as to the construction or 
application of any of these Council Procedure Rules, or as to any 
proceedings of the Council or other Body, shall not be challenged at any 
meeting of the Council or other Body. 

 
4 Suspension and Amendment of Council Procedure Rules  
 
4.1 All of these Council Procedure Rules, except Rules 6.1 and 18.5 may be 

suspended by motion on notice or without notice if a minimum of 42 
Members are present, and a majority of those present vote in favour. 
Suspension can only be for the duration of the meeting. 

 
4.2 Except in the case of a recommendation from the Governance 

Committee or Monitoring Officer, any motion put to the Council to 
permanently add to, vary or revoke these Council Procedure Rules shall, 
when moved and seconded, be deferred without discussion to the next 
ordinary meeting of the Council. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 101

Part 4a



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 2 of 29 

5 Meetings of the Council and Other Bodies 
 
5.1 The annual meeting of the Council shall be held in the Town Hall at 11.30 

a.m. on the third Wednesday in May or, in particular circumstances, at 
such other venue as may be determined by the Lord Mayor or the City 
Council. 
 

5.2 The annual meeting will: 
 
(a) elect a person to preside if the Chair is not present; 

 
(b) elect the Lord Mayor (Chair) of Council; 
 
(c) elect the Deputy Lord Mayor (Deputy Chair) of Council; 
 
(d) receive any apologies for absence from Members of the Council; 
 
(e) receive declaration from Members of interests in the matters to be 

considered at the meeting; 
 
(f) approve the minutes of the last meeting; 
 
(g) appoint a Leader and Deputy Leader of the Council; 
 
(h) receive any announcements from the Chair, Leader and/or Chief 

Executive; 
 
(i) appoint such Committees and Sub-Committees as the Council 

considers appropriate to deal with matters which are not reserved 
to Full Council (as set out in Part 3 of this Constitution); 

 
(j) decide the size and terms of reference for those Committees and 

Sub-Committees; 
 

(k) decide the allocation of seats and any substitutes to Political 
Groups in accordance with the political balance rules; 

 
(l) receive nominations of Councillors to serve on each Committee 

or Sub-Committee and appoint Members of those Committees 
and Sub-Committees;  

 
(m) receive nominations to the positions of Chair and Deputy Chair 

for each Committee and Sub-Committee (other than Area 
Committees and any other Committee which the Council has 
decided should appoint the Chair itself) and appoint the Chairs 
and Deputy Chairs of those Committees and Sub-Committees;  

 

Page 102



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 3 of 29 

(n) receive nominations to serve on and appoint Members to panels, 
advisory groups, working parties and miscellaneous other bodies 
and appoint Members (and/or other individuals) to outside bodies 
and organisations, except where appointment to those bodies has 
been delegated by the Council;  

 
(p) approve a programme of ordinary meetings of the Council and a 

schedule of Committee meetings for the year;  
 
(q) agree the formula for determining the order in which Notices of 

Motion will be set out in the Council Summons for ordinary 
meetings of the Council during the year; and  

 
(r) consider any other business set out in the notice convening the 

meeting. 
 

5.3 In the event that any of the tasks outlined in paragraph 5.2 above are 
unable to be completed at the annual meeting, they will be undertaken 
at the next, or subsequent, ordinary meeting. 
 

5.4 Ordinary meetings of the Council shall normally be held in the Town Hall 
at 2.00 p.m. on the first Wednesday in months to be determined at the 
Annual Council Meeting or, in particular circumstances, at such other 
dates and venues as may be determined by the Lord Mayor or the City 
Council. 

 
5.5 Ordinary meetings will terminate at no later than 5.30 p.m.  Any 

unfinished business will normally be voted on without debate at the end 
of that time.  Any meeting starting other than at 2.00 p.m. shall finish no 
later than three hours and 30 minutes after the start. Special and 
Extraordinary meetings of the Council shall also be subject to this rule. 
 

5.6 In exceptional circumstances, with the consent of the majority of 
Members present and voting, the Council meeting may be adjourned in 
accordance with the provisions of Council Procedure Rules 11(a)(iv) and 
17.14(d) and where an adjournment is agreed in the above 
circumstances, the remaining business of the day shall be considered at 
a date and time fixed by the Lord Mayor, or if he/she does not fix a date 
and time, at the next ordinary meeting of the Council. 

 
5.7 Ordinary meetings will: 

 
(a) elect a person to preside if the Chair and Deputy Chair are not 

present; 
 

(b) consider the extent to which the public and press may be 
excluded from the meeting; 

Page 103



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 4 of 29 

(c) receive any apologies for absence from Members of the Council; 
 

(d) receive declarations by Members of interest in the matters to be 
considered at the meeting; 

 
(e) receive any communications or announcements from the Lord 

Mayor, the Leader or the Chief Executive; 
 

(f) receive public questions and petitions in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rules 13 and 15; 

 
(g) receive questions from Members of the Council in accordance 

with Council Procedure Rules 16 and 32; 
 
(h) receive any reports relating to matters reserved to the Council. 
 
(i) consider motions of which notice has been submitted by Members 

of the Council in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 10. 
 
(j) receive any recommendations from the Council’s Committees.  
 
(k) receive any presentations on matters of significant interest to the 

City; 
 
(l) approve as a correct record the minutes of the last meeting; and 

 
(m) make any changes to the memberships of its Committees and 

appointments to other bodies. 
 
5.8 The Council will not ordinarily receive any reports requiring decision in 

respect of matters delegated to a Committee. Exceptionally, it may 
receive 

  

 a motion notice of which has been submitted by Members of the 
Council in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 10, or  

 a report from Strategy and Resources Policy Committee or from 
the relevant Policy Committee  

 
in either case recommending that the Council rescinds the authority of 
a Committee to make a decision on a particular matter within that 
Committee’s work programme where that decision has not yet been 
made. If such a recommendation is agreed then the decision will fall to 
be made by the Council itself on consideration of a report which meets 
the requirements of Access to Information Procedure Rule 13 in Part 4 
of this Constitution.  

 

Page 104



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 5 of 29 

5.9 Any five Members may give notice in writing to the Lord Mayor to call an 
Extraordinary Meeting of the Council to consider a specified item of 
business and this will take place at a date and time to be determined by 
the Lord Mayor in consultation with the Monitoring Officer. If the Lord 
Mayor refuses, or fails, to call an Extraordinary Meeting within seven 
days of receipt of such notice, then those five Members may call the 
meeting. An extraordinary meeting may also be called by the Lord 
Mayor, the Monitoring Officer or by resolution of the Full Council. 
 

5.10 In special circumstances, the Lord Mayor may fix some other hour of 
commencement of any meeting of the Council. 
 

5.11 Meetings of all Policy Committees shall last no longer than two hours 
and 30 minutes. Extraordinary meetings may be called by the Chair of 
the Committee, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer. 

 
5.12 Meetings of all other Bodies, with the exception of Regulatory 

Committees, shall be conducted according to the following procedures:- 
 

(a) Meetings shall last no longer than four hours, subject to the 
proviso that Members may, by agreement, continue beyond such 
time limit by a period of not more than 30 minutes. 

 
(b) Any unfinished business after the period of four hours (or four 

hours and 30 minutes by agreement) shall be deferred to the next 
meeting of the Body, or be voted on without debate. 

 
6 Signing of Minutes 
 
6.1  Where in relation to any meeting of the Council, the next meeting is a 

meeting called under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12 to the Local 
Government Act 1972 (an Extraordinary Meeting), then the next 
following meeting (being a meeting called otherwise than under that 
paragraph) will be treated as the next suitable meeting for the purposes 
of paragraph 41(1) and (2) of that Schedule relating to the signing of 
minutes. 
 

6.2 In relation to the signing of the minutes of other Bodies, the next suitable 
meeting of that Body shall be the next ordinary meeting and not a special 
meeting for the purposes of paragraph 44 of Schedule 12 to the Local 
Government Act 1972 

 
7 Quorum 
 
7.1 The quorum for a meeting of the Council shall be one quarter of the 

whole number of the Council (including vacancies). During any meeting 
at the instigation of the Lord Mayor, or at the request of a Member of the 

Page 105



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 6 of 29 

Council, the number of Members present shall be ordered to be counted 
and if there is not a quorum present, then the meeting will adjourn 
immediately. Remaining business will be considered at a time and date 
fixed by the Lord Mayor. If he/she does not fix a date, the remaining 
business will be considered at the next ordinary meeting. 
 

7.2 Provided that, where more than one third of the Members are disqualified 
at the same time and until the number of Members in office is increased 
to not less than two thirds of the whole, the quorum shall be determined 
by reference to the number of Members remaining qualified. 
 

7.3 The quorum for meetings of Policy Committees, Policy Committee Sub-
Committees and Regulatory Committees shall be three. The quorum for 
meetings of Area Committees shall be determined by the Council.  
Unless statutory regulations or legislation require otherwise, the quorum 
for meetings of other Bodies shall be two. 

 
8 Notice of and Summons to Council Meetings 
 
 The Director of Legal and Governance will give notice to the public of the 

time and place of any meeting in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rules 26 and 27 and existing legislation relating to access to information, 
as amended from time to time. At least five clear working days before a 
meeting, the Director of Legal and Governance will send a summons 
signed by him/her to every member of the Council giving the date, time 
and place of each meeting and specify the business to be transacted 
and will be accompanied by such reports as are available. 

 
9 Order of Council Business 
 
9.1 The business of the Council shall be ordered in the Council Summons 

so as to include items of public engagement and public interest before 
other business items, and the business shall be taken in the order in 
which it appears in the Council Summons. However, the Council may, 
by a resolution passed on a motion duly moved and seconded, direct the 
order of precedence to be changed, in circumstances where the subject 
of a motion proves to generate public interest reflected by a significantly 
increased attendance by members of the public at a Council meeting 
and it is therefore deemed appropriate to take the motion in question as 
an earlier item of business.  The motion to change the order of business 
shall be dealt with in accordance with the process set out in Council 
Procedure Rule 11(b). 
 

9.2 The Council shall, where appropriate, consider any item referred from a 
Committee and shall take such action on the issues as may be deemed 
appropriate.   

 

Page 106



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 7 of 29 

10 Notices of Motion to Council 
 
10.1 Deadline for receipt of notices of motion 

 
Except for motions which can be moved without notice, as set out under 
Council Procedure Rule 11, written notice of every motion to be included 
in the Council Summons for each ordinary meeting of the Council 
(except January) must be delivered to the Chief Executive not later than 
12.00 noon on the Tuesday in the week prior to the next meeting of the 
Council or the day earlier where a Bank Holiday falls within the 
intervening period.  

 
10.2 Motions set out in agenda 

 
(a) For each Motion delivered to the Chief Executive, the written 

notice must include a subject title and the names of the Members 
who propose to move and second the Motion at the meeting.  The 
subject title and names will be included in the Council Summons. 

 
(b) Unless the Member giving notice states, in writing, that he/she 

proposes to move it to a later meeting or withdraw it, motions for 
which notice has been given will be listed on the Council 
Summons in an order based on a pre-determined formula 
according to the relative size of the various Party Groups on the 
Council, with Motions being considered in an order of priority 
identified by the various recognised Groups. The formula shall be 
agreed at the start of each municipal year, to take account of any 
changes in size of the Groups etc.  The number of Motions 
submitted through the recognised groups for each ordinary 
meeting of the Council will be limited to no more than four. 
Provision shall also be made for the inclusion of any individual 
Motions that are not submitted through the recognised Groups. 
 

(c) In addition, the formula shall include an allocation for having the 
first Motion listed on the Council Summons, with the frequency 
being determined according to the relative size of the Party 
Groups. Any Group not sufficient in size to be entitled to a meeting 
at which it would have the first Motion listed on the agenda, shall 
be entitled to have the first Motion listed on the Council Summons 
once within a period of two Municipal years. In-year variations to 
the scheduling of a Group’s first Motion shall be permitted, in 
exceptional circumstances, with the prior agreement of each of 
the Groups. 

 
10.3 Scope 

 
The Chief Executive may reject a Motion if it:- 

Page 107



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 8 of 29 

(a) is not a matter for which the Council has a responsibility or which 
affects the City, or its inhabitants; 
 

(b) is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 
 
(c) is substantially the same as a Motion which has been put at a 

meeting of the Council in the past six months, unless Council 
Procedure Rule 10.4 has been complied with; 

 
(d) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information; 
 
(e) contains information which is factually inaccurate; or 
 
(f) seeks to overturn a resolution made by the Council to rescind the 

authority of a Policy Committee in the circumstances described in 
Council Procedure Rule 5.8. 
 

10.4 Motion similar to one previously rejected 
 
A motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been rejected 
at a meeting of the Council in the past six months cannot be moved 
unless the notice of motion or amendment is signed by at least ten 
Members. Once the motion or amendment is dealt with, no one can 
propose a similar motion or amendment for six months. 
 

10.5 Motions which commit the Authority to new or additional expenditure 
 

(a) Members moving a motion at Council the net effect of which, if 
accepted, is to commit the Authority to new or additional 
expenditure or cause loss of income shall before moving such 
motion clearly demonstrate that they have taken appropriate 
officer advice on all the following issues (1) whether or not the 
proposal set out in the motion is within current budgets, (2) what 
the implications of incurring the expenditure or loss of income 
would be, (3) if not within current budgets how any expenditure or 
loss of income is to be funded and (4) any change in priorities as 
a result of the proposal.  The relevant information and 
consequences of the proposal must be clearly set out in the 
motion together with the fact that, in voting for the motion, 
Members will also be voting to amend the previously agreed 
expenditure or income and/or change in priorities for the services 
or areas affected.   
 

(b) Failure to comply with the above requirements in total means that 
the motion cannot be implemented until such time as the 
requirements are met. 

 

Page 108



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 9 of 29 

10.6 Motions regarding a matter which is delegated to a Committee 
 

A motion will not be valid if it would have the effect of binding a 
Committee on a matter which falls within that Committee’s delegated 
authority, to the extent that the decision of that Committee becomes 
predetermined. The Committee will have regard to the resolution of the 
Council resolution when it considers the matter at a meeting which 
meets the requirements set out in the Access to Information Procedure 
Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 

11 Motions which may be moved without notice at Council Meetings 
 

(a) Subject, where appropriate, to the provisions of Council 
Procedure Rule 17.13, the following motions may be moved 
without notice:- 

 
(i) Appointment of Chair at a meeting from which the Lord 

Mayor and Deputy Lord Mayor are absent. 
 

(ii) Motions and Amendments where it is not reasonably 
possible to comply with Council Procedure Rules 10.1 and 
12.1. 

 
(iii) To proceed to the next business, subject to the provisions 

of Council Procedure Rule 17.14. 
 

(iv) That the question be now put, subject to the provisions of 
Council Procedure Rule 17.14. 

 
(v) That the meeting or debate be adjourned, subject to the 

provisions of Council Procedure Rule 17.14. 
 

(vi) Suspending all or any particular Council Procedure Rule 
and Financial Regulations, subject to the provisions of 
Council Procedure Rule 4. 

 
(vii) That a member be no longer heard and/or be excluded 

from the meeting, subject to the provisions of Council 
Procedure Rule 19. 

 
(viii) To vary the order of business, subject to the provisions of 

Council Procedure Rule 9.1.  
 

(ix) To alter a motion or amendment, subject to the provisions 
of Council Procedure Rule 17.10. 

 

Page 109



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 10 of 29 

(x) To withdraw a motion or amendment, subject to the 
provisions of Council Procedure Rule 17.11. 

 
(xi) Motions referred to in Council Procedure Rule 13.1 (a) and 

(b). 
 

(xii) To exclude the public and press pursuant to existing 
legislation relating to access to information, as amended 
from time to time, subject to the provisions of Council 
Procedure Rule 28. 

 
(xiii) In relation to the accuracy of the minutes. 

 
(xiv) To refer something to an appropriate body or individual. 

 
(xv) To appoint a Committee or Member arising from an item 

on the Summons for the meeting. 
 

(xvi) To give the consent of the Council where it is required by 
the Constitution. 

 
(b) After the mover has spoken to his/her motion for a maximum of 

30 seconds, it shall be formally seconded.  A maximum of one 
speaker from each political group officially recognised by the 
Council, other than that of the mover’s Group, shall be allowed to 
speak to the motion for a maximum of 30 seconds per speaker.  
The mover shall not have a right of reply.  The Lord Mayor will 
then put the motion to the vote. 

 
12 Amendments to Motions 
 
12.1 Subject to the provisions of Council Procedure Rules 11, 13 and 17.13, 

every amendment shall be submitted in writing to the Chief Executive 
(except for an amendment to any motion not detailed in the Council 
Summons), by not later than 12 noon on the day preceding the Council 
Meeting to which it is proposed to be submitted.  
 

12.2 An amendment to a motion must be relevant to the motion and will either 
be:- 
 
(i) to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for 

consideration or reconsideration. 
(ii) to leave out words; 
(iii) to leave out words and insert or add others; or 
(iv) to insert or add words, as long as the effect of (ii) to (iv) is not to 

negate the motion such that it departs from the subject of the 
motion. 

Page 110



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 11 of 29 

12.3 The Chief Executive may reject an amendment if it:- 
 
(a) negates the motion such that it departs from the subject of the 

motion; 
(b) is not a matter for which the Council has a responsibility or 

which affects the City or its inhabitants; 
(c) is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 
(d) is substantially the same as a motion or amendment which  has 

been put at a meeting of the Council in the past six months, 
unless Council Procedure Rule 10.4 has been complied with; 

(e) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information;  
(f) contains information which is factually inaccurate; or 
(g) seeks to overturn a resolution made by the Council to rescind the 

authority of a Policy Committee in the circumstances described in 
Council Procedure Rule 5.8. 

 
12.4 Each amendment shall be numbered and include the names of the 

Members who propose to move and second the amendment at the 
meeting, and a copy shall be placed on each Member's desk in the 
Council Chamber before the commencement of the Council Meeting. 
 

12.5 The names of the mover and the seconder of any motion or amendment 
may be changed at any time prior to its being spoken upon. 

 
13 Petitions 

 
13.1 The Council recognises that the presentation of petitions is one way in 

which citizens can express their concerns and priorities to the Council.  
The Council’s Petitions Scheme is at Part 5 of this Constitution.  Petitions 
that can be presented to a meeting of the Council, Policy Committee, 
Regulatory Committee or Area Committee fall into three main types:- 

 
(a) Ordinary Petitions 

 
Comprising at least five signatures from members of the public 
requesting some form of action.  As a courtesy, Democratic 
Services should be notified of the intention to present a petition at 
the earliest opportunity and no later than 9.00 a.m. two working 
days before the day of the meeting.  The Council, on a Motion 
which need not be in writing and which shall be put without 
discussion, may (i) refer the petition to the appropriate body for 
consideration or (ii) decide that no further action be taken on the 
matter. Where the appropriate Policy Committee Chair wishes to 
respond to the petition at the meeting, his/her speech shall be 
limited to 5 minutes. 
 

 

Page 111



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 12 of 29 

(b) Petitions requiring a Council Debate 
 

 A petition containing 5,000 signatures or more will trigger a 
debate by Full Council.  Seven working days' notice submitted to 
the Head of Democratic Services should be given prior to a 
Council meeting to ensure Members have adequate preparation 
time.  The Council will endeavour to consider the petition at its 
next meeting, but due to other Council business it may not be 
possible to debate every eligible petition at the next Council 
meeting, and it is unlikely that any more than two eligible petitions 
will be debated at any one meeting.  Therefore, on occasions, an 
eligible petition may be debated at the next but one Council 
meeting. 
 

 The debate will be conducted and concluded as follows:- 
 

 A 25 minute time limit for the item, with Members able to 
speak for up to two minutes each, except for the appropriate 
Policy Committee Chair’s initial contribution which shall be for 
up to five minutes. 

 

 The petition representative will be given 3 minutes to present 
the petition at the beginning of the debate at the meeting. 

 

 The Lord Mayor will facilitate discussion of the petition by 
Members, offering the relevant Policy Committee Chair and 
then the relevant Group Spokespersons the opportunity to 
make the first and next contributions. Members’ contributions 
will be summarised within the minutes of the meeting in order 
for the reasons for any subsequent referral to another body to 
be captured and communicated along with the petition, or for 
the reasons for the Council subsequently deciding to take no 
action on the petition to be recorded. 

 

 At the conclusion of the debate, the Lord Mayor will offer a 
“right of reply” to the representative of the petitioners so that 
he/she can respond for up to three minutes to any matters 
raised in the debate. With the consent of the Lord Mayor, the 
representative may nominate another representative, who is 
entitled to speak under the Constitution, to provide that reply. 

 

 The Lord Mayor shall then offer a Right of Reply to the 
relevant Policy Committee Chair who shall respond for up to 
two minutes and then propose the course of action to be taken 
in response to the petition.  The courses of action available to 
the Council will be either to:- 

 

Page 112



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 13 of 29 

o note and take no action for the reasons put forward in the 
debate, or 
 

o take the action requested by the petitioners (if it is within 
the Council’s remit to do so), or 

 
o refer the petition to either a Committee or an Executive 

Director for consideration having regard to the comments 
made by Members during the course of the debate. 

 

 The Lord Mayor shall seek a seconder for the motion 
proposed by the relevant Policy Committee Chair, and then 
enquire whether any Member wishes to propose an 
alternative course of action.  Any motion proposed will need 
to be seconded. 
 

 If only one motion has been proposed and seconded, the Lord 
Mayor will call for a vote on that motion, which will either be 
carried or lost. 

 

 Should multiple motions have been proposed and seconded, 
the Lord Mayor will outline each motion and then call for a 
vote on each motion in turn until a motion is carried and an 
outcome is achieved. 

 
(c) Petitions requesting evidence from an Officer 

 
A petition containing 2,500 signatures may ask that a Senior 
Officer gives evidence at a public meeting of a Policy Committee 
about something which falls within that Officer’s remit. 

 
13.2 Members of the public shall have an opportunity to address the Council 

or relevant Committee in respect of their petition for which they are the 
lead petitioner for a maximum of three minutes within the allocated time 
under Council Procedure Rule 15.1 for Public Question Time and 
Petitions, with the exception of petitions requiring a debate under Council 
Procedure Rule 13.1(b) in which a total of 25 minutes will be available 
for the debate, inclusive of the three minutes for the lead petitioner to 
present the petition. 

 
14 Communications 
 
 Each meeting of the Council will include an item of business to receive 

any communications or announcements that the Lord Mayor, the Leader 
of the Council or the Chief Executive may wish to place before the 
Council. 

 

Page 113



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 14 of 29 

15 Public Question Time and Petitions  
 

15.1 At Council Meetings 
 

(a) A period of up to one hour shall be allocated at each ordinary 
meeting of the Council for the presentation of ordinary petitions 
and for written or oral questions submitted by members of the 
public on matters relating to the City of Sheffield or the services 
provided by the Council. Questions will be answered by the 
Leader of the Council or the appropriate Committee Chair. 
Employees of the City Council will not be permitted to ask 
questions where they relate directly or indirectly to their 
employment and where there are other more appropriate 
channels of communication, unless previously authorised by the 
appropriate Executive Director in advance of the meeting and a 
copy of such authorisation has been passed to the Director of 
Legal and Governance before the meeting in question. 

 
(b) Questions should be submitted no later than 9.00 a.m. two 

working days before the day of the meeting. Advice will be given 
on the most appropriate Body to receive the question but a 
member of the public has the right to choose the meeting at which 
the question is submitted. Questions submitted after the deadline 
will be asked at the meeting subject to the discretion of the Chair.  

 
(c) Where a submitted question cannot be answered because time 

does not allow, or where a Committee Chair undertakes to 
provide a written answer, the written answer will be provided 
within ten working days of the Council meeting and will be 
published on the Council website. 

 
(d) With the consent of the Council, by a simple majority vote, the 

Lord Mayor may extend the one hour period of public question 
time, having regard to the number and type of issues to be 
covered.   

 
(e) On the advice of the Chief Executive, the Lord Mayor may not 

accept questions which relate to:- 
 
(i) matters not being within the responsibility of the Local 

Authority or which do not affect the City or its inhabitants; 
(ii) judicial or quasi-judicial matters; 
(iii) individual planning/licence/grant applications or appeals 
(iv) named officers or Members of the Council; 
(v) confidential matters of the type referred to in Schedule 12A 

to the Local Government Act, 1972; and 

Page 114



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 15 of 29 

(vi) matters of an irrelevant, repetitious, defamatory, frivolous 
or offensive nature or a general misuse of the opportunity. 

 
15.2 Meetings other than Council 

 
(a) A period of up to thirty minutes shall be allocated at meetings of 

Policy Committees and other appropriate Bodies for members of 
the public to present ordinary petitions or to ask questions of 
Members and officers present. Employees of the City Council will 
not be permitted to ask questions where they relate directly or 
indirectly to their employment and where there are other more 
appropriate channels of communication, unless previously 
authorised by the appropriate Executive Director in advance of 
the meeting and a copy of such authorisation has been passed to 
the Director of Legal and Governance before the meeting in 
question. 

 
(b) The ability of a member of the public to ask questions or present 

petitions in the allotted time at relevant meetings shall be subject 
to the discretion of the Chair and, in normal circumstances, such 
discretion shall be exercised in favour of the question being asked 
or petition being presented. However, the Chair may decide that 
the individual is asking irrelevant, repetitious, defamatory, 
frivolous or offensive questions or generally misusing the 
opportunity, in which event he/she may decline to allow the 
individual to put questions to the meeting and such person will 
instead be invited to put the questions in writing. At the discretion 
of the Chair, a period longer than the stipulated three minutes for 
the presentation of a petition may be allowed. 

 
16 Members' Questions at Ordinary Meetings of the Council 
 
16.1 Provision shall be made in the Council Summons for each ordinary 

meeting of the Council (except January), for Members of the Council to 
ask the Leader of the Council, any Policy Committee or Regulatory 
Committee Chair, or a Member appointed by the Council to serve on an 
external body or joint committee, any question on matters within the 
functions of that Body.  The Chairs of Regulatory Committees can only 
be asked questions relating to policy and practice rather than individual 
cases.  
 

16.2 Written notice of questions is required by not later than 12.00 noon on 
the Tuesday in the week prior to the next meeting of the Council or the 
day earlier where a Bank Holiday falls within the intervening period. The 
Member giving the reply shall have the option to reply by way of:- 

 
(a) an oral or written answer at the Council Meeting; 

Page 115



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 16 of 29 

(b) reference to a previously published document; or 
(c) a written reply provided, wherever possible, within 10 working 

days of the Council meeting and circulated to all Council Members 
and published on the Council website. 
 

16.3 Where an oral answer has not been commenced during question time, it 
shall be answered by written answer, wherever possible, within 10 
working days of the Council meeting and circulated to all Council 
Members and published on the Council website. 
 

16.4 No discussion shall be permitted on any such question or answer but, 
with the permission of the Lord Mayor and at the appropriate time as set 
out in the Council Summons, one supplemental question on each 
question may be asked by the Member who had submitted the original 
question within the time allocated for Members’ questions. 
 

16.5 If, in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer, a Member asks questions that 
are of no discernible value, that Member may be asked to justify the cost 
of supplying such information. 
 

16.6 Provision shall also be made in the Council Summons (i) for each 
ordinary meeting of the Council, for Members, with the permission of the 
Lord Mayor, to ask questions relating to the discharge of the functions of 
the South Yorkshire Joint Authorities and of the South Yorkshire Mayoral 
Combined Authority, and (ii) for each meeting of the Council, for 
Members, with the permission of the Lord Mayor, to ask questions 
relating to urgent business of which notice in writing has been given to 
the Chief Executive not later than 12.00 Noon on the day of the meeting. 
 

16.7 A period of up to 30 minutes shall be allocated for Members’ questions.   
 

17 Rules of Debate at Council Meetings 
 

The rules of debate set out in Council Procedure Rule 17 shall apply to 
all meetings of the Council and its Committees, Sub-Committees and 
Area Committees. 
 

17.1 Addressing the Lord Mayor 
 
When a Member speaks, he/she must stand (if possible) and address 
the meeting through the Lord Mayor. If more than one Member stands, 
the Lord Mayor will ask one to speak and the others to sit down. Other 
Members must remain seated whilst a Member is speaking unless 
he/she wishes to make a point of order or a point of personal explanation. 
Whenever the Lord Mayor addresses the meeting, all other Members 
shall not attempt to address the meeting.  When the Lord Mayor stands 

Page 116



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 17 of 29 

during a debate, any Member speaking at the time must stop and sit 
down.  The meeting must be silent. 

 
17.2 No speeches until motion seconded 

 
 No speeches may be made after the mover has moved a proposal and 

explained the purpose of it until the motion has been seconded, subject 
to the other provisions of these Council Procedure Rules and particularly 
Council Procedure Rules 17.13 and 17.14. 
 

17.3 Right to require motion in writing 
 

 Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the Lord Mayor may 
require it to be written down and handed to him/her before it is discussed. 
 

17.4 Seconder's speech 
 

 When seconding a motion or amendment, a Member may reserve their 
speech until later in the debate, subject to the other provisions of these 
Council Procedure Rules and particularly Council Procedure Rules 
17.13 and 17.14. 
. 

17.5 Content and length of speeches 
 

 Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a 
personal explanation or point of order. Subject to the provisions of 
Council Procedure Rules 11, 17.6, 17.13 and 17.14, speeches on 
motions or amendments shall be subject to a time limit of 3 minutes for 
the proposer of a motion and 2 minutes for the seconder of the motion, 
the mover and seconder of amendments, all other speakers on the 
debate, and for the right of reply for the mover of the motion. 
  

17.6 Time limit for debate  
 
 All Motions for which notice has been given in the Council Summons and 

all items of business relating to matters reserved to the Council, shall be 
subject to a maximum time limit of 25 minutes debate in total per 
Motion/item, including any amendments relating thereto. Upon expiry of 
the time limit, any and all outstanding business relating to that 
Motion/item, including any amendments relating thereto, will be voted 
upon without further debate. Presentations to be considered at ordinary 
meetings of the Council shall not be subject to a maximum time limit. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 117



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 18 of 29 

17.7 Procedure for debate 
 
 Debates on items of business relating to matters reserved to the Council, 

and on motions for which notice has been given in the Council 
Summons, shall be conducted as follows:- 

 
(a) The motion shall be moved and seconded; 
(b) Any amendments to the motion shall be moved and seconded in 

turn; 
(c) The subject matter under consideration shall be debated as a 

whole; 
(d) The mover of the original motion shall have a right of reply at the 

end of the debate; and 
(e) Votes shall be taken on each amendment and the substantive or 

original motion.  
 
17.8 When a member may speak again 

 
 A Member who has spoken on an item of business may not speak again 

whilst it is the subject of debate, except:- 
 
(a) in exercise of a right of reply; 
(b) on a point of order; and 
(c) by way of personal explanation. 
 

17.9 Amendments to motions  
 
(a) If an amendment is not carried, any further amendments that have 

been moved will apply to the original motion. If no further 
amendments have been moved, the original motion is put to the 
vote. 
 

(b) If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the 
place of the original motion.  This becomes the substantive motion 
to which any further amendments will apply.  If there are no further 
amendments, the substantive motion is put to the vote. 
 

(c) If an amendment submitted under Council Procedure Rule 11(a) 
(ii) is carried, no further amendment relating to the same matter 
shall be moved unless the further amendment has been handed 
in writing to the Lord Mayor prior to the vote being taken on the 
previous amendment. 

 
17.10 Alteration of motion or amendment 

 
(a) A member may alter a motion or amendment of which he/she has 

given notice with the consent of the meeting.   

Page 118



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 19 of 29 

(b) A member may alter a motion or amendment which he/she has 
moved without notice with the consent of both the meeting and 
the seconder.   

 
(c) The motion to alter a motion or amendment shall be dealt with in 

accordance with the process set out in Council Procedure Rule 
17.13(b). 
 

17.11 Withdrawal of motion or amendment 
 
(a) A member may withdraw a motion or amendment which he/she 

has moved, or given notice of, with the consent of both the 
meeting and the seconder.  No member may speak on the motion 
after the mover has asked permission to withdraw it unless 
permission is refused. 

 
(b) The motion to withdraw a motion or amendment shall be dealt 

with in accordance with the process set out in Council Procedure 
Rule 17.13(b). 

 
17.12 Right to reply 

 
(a) The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate 

on the motion, immediately before it is put to the vote.  
 

(b) The mover of an amendment has no right of reply to the debate 
on his or her amendment. 
 

(c) Subject to the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 17.14, a 
Member who has formally seconded a motion or amendment and 
who has been permitted to reserve his/her speech until a later 
period in the debate will not be deemed a speaker for the 
purposes of counting five persons, but will lose his/her right to 
speak if he/she has not spoken prior to the passing of a motion 
that the question be now put. 
 

17.13 Motions which may be moved during debate 
 
(a) When an item of business is under debate, no other motion may 

be moved except the following procedural motions:- 
 

(i) to withdraw a motion or amendment; 
(ii) to alter a motion or amendment; 
(iii) to proceed to the next business, subject to the provisions 

of Council Procedure Rule 17.14; 
(iv) that the question be now put, subject to the provisions of 

Council Procedure Rule 17.14; 

Page 119



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 20 of 29 

(v) to adjourn a debate or the meeting, subject to the 
provisions of Council Procedure Rule 17.14; 

(vi) to suspend a particular Council Procedure Rule, subject to 
the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 4; 

(vii) to exclude the public and press in accordance with existing 
legislation relating to access to information, as amended 
from time to time; 

(viii) to not hear further a Member or to exclude him/her from 
the meeting, subject to the provisions of Council Procedure 
Rule 19. 

 
(b) After the mover has spoken to his/her motion for a maximum of 

30 seconds, it shall be formally seconded.  A maximum of one 
speaker from each political group officially recognised by the 
Council, other than that of the mover’s Group, shall be allowed to 
speak to the motion for a maximum of 30 seconds per speaker.  
The mover shall not have a right of reply.  The Lord Mayor will 
then put the procedural motion to the vote. 

 
17.14 Closure motions 

 
(a) A Member may move the following motions at the end of a speech 

of another Member:- 
 
(i) to proceed to the next business; 
(ii) that the question be now put; 
(iii) to adjourn a debate; or 
(iv) to adjourn a meeting. 

 
(b) If a motion to proceed to next business is moved, seconded and 

spoken upon, and not less than five persons have spoken on the 
item of business under debate, and at least one member of each 
of the political parties recognised by the Council as constituting 
an identifiable and separate Party Group, having previously 
indicated to him/her a wish to contribute to the debate, has been 
given the opportunity so to do, then the Lord Mayor will give the 
mover of the original motion a right of reply and then put the 
procedural motion to the vote. 
 

(c) If a motion that the question be now put is moved, seconded and 
spoken upon, and not less than five persons have spoken on the 
item of business under debate, and at least one member of each 
of the political parties recognised by the Council as constituting 
an identifiable and separate Party Group, having previously 
indicated to him/her a wish to contribute to the debate, has been 
given the opportunity so to do, then the Lord Mayor will put the 
procedural motion to the vote.  If it is passed, he/she will give the 

Page 120



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 21 of 29 

mover of the original motion a right of reply and shall then put any 
outstanding amendments and the substantive or original motion 
to the vote. 
 

(d) If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is 
seconded and the Lord Mayor thinks the item has not been 
sufficiently discussed and cannot reasonably be so discussed on 
that occasion, then he/she will put the procedural motion to the 
vote without giving the mover of the original motion the right of 
reply. If a majority of Members vote in favour of the motion, the 
remaining business of the day shall stand adjourned to a time 
fixed by the Lord Mayor at the time the meeting is adjourned, or, 
if he/she does not fix a time, to the next ordinary meeting of the 
Council. 

 
17.15 Point of Order 

 
(a) A Member may raise a point of order at any time.  The Lord Mayor 

will hear the Member immediately.  A point of order may only 
relate to an alleged breach of these Council Procedure Rules or 
the law. The Member must indicate the Rule or law and the way 
in which he/she considers it has been broken.  The ruling of the 
Lord Mayor on the matter will be final. 
 

(b) A Member may call upon the Lord Mayor to advise the meeting 
as to whether an issue has arisen of factual inaccuracy, or 
defamation or discrimination.  The Lord Mayor, advised by the 
Chief Executive, will advise the meeting as to what action should 
be taken if such an issue has arisen. 

 
17.16 Personal Explanation 

 
A Member may, at any time, request to address the meeting to provide 
a personal explanation where he/she has made a mis-statement that is 
being quoted by a later speaker, or where another Member has 
misquoted or misunderstood what the Member had said.  The Lord 
Mayor will decide whether or not to permit the request, and the Lord 
Mayor's ruling shall not be challenged. The Member shall confine his/her 
personal explanation to correcting the misunderstanding. 

 
18 Voting at Meetings of the Council and Other Bodies 
 
18.1 Majority 

 
 Unless otherwise indicated within the Constitution or required by 

legislation, any matter will be decided by a simple majority of those 

Page 121



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 22 of 29 

Members present in the room and voting at the time the question was 
put. 

 
18.2 Chair's casting vote 

 
 If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Chair will have 

a second or casting vote.  There will be no restriction on how the Chair 
chooses to exercise a casting vote. 
 

18.3 Method of Voting 
 
 Unless a recorded vote is demanded in accordance with Rule 18.6, the 

Chair will take the vote by show of hands or electronically by using the 
available technology, or if there is no dissent, by seeking the affirmation 
of the meeting. In the interests of aiding clarity and transparency ’voting 
in parts’ shall not be permitted other than in exceptional circumstances 
at the discretion of the Chair. 

 
18.4 Show of Hands 

 
 Where there is not a consensus (and no electronic system is available), 
the Chair will ask for a show of hands, in turn, for those Members voting 
for, those voting against, and those abstaining from voting, and will 
announce the number of Members voting for, against and abstaining and 
then announce the outcome of the vote. 

 
18.5 Electronic voting 
 
 Where facilities for electronic voting or the electronic recording of votes 

are available, this system will be used. The vote will be recorded and 
published but (unless demanded) such a vote shall not be a recorded 
vote as described in paragraph 18.6 below and shall not be entered not 
the minutes as such. At the meeting the Chair will announce the number 
of Members voting for, against and abstaining and then announce the 
outcome of the vote. 

 
18.6 Recorded Votes 

 
(a) If not less than ten Members present at a meeting of the Council 

or, in the case of meetings of other Bodies, one third of the 
Members present demand it, the names for and against the 
motion or amendment or abstaining from voting will be taken down 
in writing and entered into the minutes. The recording of votes at 
a meeting of the Council shall be carried out by roll-call or 
electronically by using the available technology after a period of 
approximately one minute has elapsed. 

Page 122



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 23 of 29 

(b) In accordance with the requirements in the Local Authorities 
(Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 (as amended), on 
any vote relating to the calculation of the council tax taken at a 
budget decision meeting of the Council the names for and against 
the motion or amendment or abstaining from voting will be 
recorded and entered into the minutes. 

 
18.7 Right to require individual vote to be recorded 

 
 Where any Member requests it immediately after the vote is taken, 

his/her vote will be so recorded in the minutes to show whether he/she 
voted for or against the motion or abstained from voting. 

 
18.8 Voting on appointments 

 
 If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be filled 

and there is not a clear majority of votes in favour of one person, then 
the name of the person with the least number of votes will be taken off 
the list and a new vote taken.  The process will continue until there is a 
majority of votes for one person.  In the event of a tie between the last 
two persons, the Chair shall have a second or casting vote. 

 
19 Misconduct, Irrelevance Etc. 
 
19.1 The Chair of a Body of his/her own volition or at the request of any 

Member of the Body may call the attention of the Body to irrelevance, 
tedious repetition, repeated breach of order, unbecoming language, 
racist, sexist, homophobic or other offensive behaviour or conduct on the 
part of a Member of a manner which could reasonably be regarded as 
bringing his/her office or the Authority into disrepute and will issue a 
warning to such Member. If a Member disregards the warning, the Chair 
of the Body will, immediately and without debate, put to the vote that the 
Member be excluded for the remainder of the meeting  
 

19.2 If a majority of the Members of the Body present vote in favour, the Chair 
shall order the Member to leave the meeting and/or may adjourn the 
meeting for such period as he/she in his/her discretion shall consider 
expedient. 

 
19.3 In the event of a general disturbance which in the opinion of the Chair 

renders the due and orderly despatch of business impossible, the Chair 
in addition to any other power vested in him/her may, without the 
question being put, adjourn the meeting for such period as he/she in 
his/her discretion shall consider expedient. 
 

Page 123



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 24 of 29 

19.4 Any complaint about alleged misconduct on the part of a Member which 
may give rise to a breach of the Councillor Code of Conduct must be 
reported to the Monitoring Officer. 

 
20 Disturbance by Members of the Public 
 
 If a Member of the public interrupts proceedings of a meeting the Chair 

shall warn him/her.  If he/she continues the interruption or repeatedly 
interrupts, the Chair shall order his/her removal from the meeting room.  
In the case of meetings where there is a general disturbance in any part 
of the meeting room open to the public the Chair shall order that part to 
be cleared. 

 
21 Use of Equipment such as Mobile Phones and Recording 

Equipment 
 
21.1 Mobile telephones, pagers and other such equipment must be switched 

to silent mode during meetings of the Council and other Bodies so as not 
to disturb the conduct of the meeting.  Photography, video and sound 
recording of the proceedings of meetings whilst open to the public shall 
be permitted under the direction of the Chair of the meeting and in 
accordance with any protocols and guidance issued by the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer.   

 
21.2 The Chair has discretion to withdraw or suspend this permission should 

he or she deem it necessary, for example if the recording is disrupting 
the conduct of the meeting, or where a member of the public participating 
in a meeting objects to being recorded. In order to assist the Chair to 
manage the recording of the meeting, any member of the public wishing 
to record must inform the Chair and the recording must be clearly visible. 

 
22 Budget and Policy Framework  

 
22.1 In reaching a decision concerning the adoption of any plan, strategy or 

budget that forms part of the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework, 
the Council may either approve the proposals, amend them or substitute 
and approve its own proposals. 

 
22.2 The Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Finance Officer shall determine 

whether a decision is considered to be contrary to the Policy Framework 
or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the approved Budget. 
 

22.3 Further details are contained in the Budget and Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 
 

 
 

Page 124



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 25 of 29 

23 Minutes of Meetings 
 
23.1 Minute books of all meetings shall be open to the inspection of Members 

of the Council during normal office hours at the offices of Democratic 
Services and can also be accessed electronically on the Council's 
website. 
 

23.2 The minutes will be submitted to the next ordinary meeting of the Body 
for approval and will contain the names of Members and any co-opted 
Members present, those Members present who are not members of that 
particular Body and apologies for non-attendance by Members. 

 
24 Appointment and Removal of Leader and Deputy Leader  
 
24.1 The Council shall at its Annual Meeting appoint a Leader and a Deputy 

Leader for a period of one year.  If the Council fails to elect the Leader 
at the relevant Annual Meeting, the Leader is to be elected at a 
subsequent meeting. 
 

24.2 The Leader, and/or the Deputy Leader may be removed from office by 
resolution of the Council.  

 
24.3 Where there is a vacancy in the office of Leader, the Deputy Leader will 

assume the responsibilities of the Leader until a new Leader is 
appointed at an ordinary meeting of the Council. Where both the 
Leader and Deputy Leader cease to hold office at the same time, the 
Lord Mayor shall call a meeting of the Full Council as soon as possible, 
to appoint a new Leader and Deputy Leader.  

 
25 Appointment and Membership of Council Committees 
 
25.1 The Council shall at its Annual Meeting appoint and agree, in 

accordance with political balance rules if applicable, membership and 
terms of reference for its Committees. It shall also appoint such other 
Committees and Sub-Committees as it considers appropriate, such as 
Regulatory Committees, an Audit and Standards Committee, Area 
Committees and such other Bodies as it is required by law and as it 
deems necessary to appoint for the ensuing year. 
 

25.2 Those Bodies will be granted delegated powers, as appropriate, by the 
Council and may appoint any Task Groups as appropriate to assist in 
the completion of their duties save that each Policy Committee may have 
no more than one appointed Task and Finish Group at any time. 

 
25.3 A Policy Committee may not appoint a Sub-Committee but may 

delegate powers to a Sub-Committee appointed by the Council for that 

Page 125



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 26 of 29 

purpose. Other Committees may appoint Sub-Committees if permitted 
to do so by their Terms of Reference.  

 
25.4 A Policy Committee may co-opt non-voting members who are not 

elected Members of the Council to the Committee or a Task and Finish 
Group to assist in its consideration of an issue.  
 

25.5 Subject to any statutory provisions in that behalf, the Council may at any 
time dissolve a Body or alter its membership. 
 

25.6 Every Member of the Council shall be appointed a member of at least 
one Policy Committee or Regulatory Committee, unless otherwise 
determined by the Council. 
 

26 Urgent Business 
 
An item of business may be considered at a meeting of the Council, a 
Committee or Sub-Committee as a matter of urgency, where it has not 
been possible to give five clear working days’ notice, on the 
recommendation of the Chair but the reason for such urgency must be 
recorded in the minutes. Any non-confidential or non-exempt report 
relating to such item must be made available for public inspection once 
it has been issued. 

 
27 Public Notice of Meetings and Availability of Documents 
 
27.1 At least five clear working days’ notice must be given of the date, time 

and place of a meeting of a Body. 
 

27.2 The agenda and reports (except confidential or exempt reports) must be 
made available for public inspection at all reasonable times. The public 
may also inspect any non-confidential /exempt background documents 
used in the preparation of, and listed in, each report. The Council may, 
on request, supply a copy of any agenda, reports and background 
documents to a member of the public on payment of a reasonable fee. 
 

27.3 A number of copies of the agenda and non-confidential/exempt reports 
will be made available at meetings for public use free of charge. 

 
28 Public Admission to Meetings 
 
 Meetings of all Bodies are generally open to the public, but the public 

may be excluded from a meeting either in accordance with existing 
legislation relating to access to information as amended from time to 
time, or in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 20 relating to 
disturbance by the public. 

 

Page 126



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 27 of 29 

29 Casual Vacancy on a Body 
 
 A casual vacancy on a Body occasioned by the resignation of a Member 

from that Body may be filled by a resolution of the Council at the next 
following or any subsequent meeting. A casual vacancy on a Body 
occasioned by a Member ceasing to be a Member of the Council shall 
not be filled by the Council until after the consequential vacancy in the 
office of Councillor has been filled. 
 

30 Meetings of Bodies 
 
30.1 The Director of Legal and Governance, shall summon a meeting of every 

Body to be held within 14 days after its appointment. At its first meeting 
a Body will consider the meeting schedule approved by the annual 
meeting of the Council at its first meeting and may, within the constraints 
of the overall schedule, request alterations. Thereafter meetings shall be 
summoned by the Director of Legal and Governance to be held on such 
days and at such times as accord with the approved schedule as 
amended.  
 

30.2 An Extraordinary meeting of any Body shall be called by the Chair, in 
consultation with the Monitoring Officer, within 7 days of the receipt by 
the Monitoring Officer of a requisition in that behalf signed by not less 
than five members of the Body. An Extraordinary meeting may also be 
called by the Chair, the Monitoring Officer or by resolution of the Body. 

 
31 Appointment of Chair 
 
31.1 Unless appointments to the positions have been made at the annual 

meeting of the Council, every Body at its first meeting shall commence 
its proceedings by electing a Chair and a Deputy Chair. In the event that 
there are more than two people nominated for either position and there 
is not a clear majority of votes in favour of one person, then the process 
outlined in Council Procedure Rule 18.8 shall be followed.  However, in 
the event of a tie between the last two persons for the position of Chair, 
the person from the Group with the highest number of Members on the 
Council shall become the Chair.  

 
31.2 In the absence of the Chair and Deputy Chair at a meeting, the Body 

shall elect a Chair for that meeting. 
 
32 Questioning of Council Representatives on Companies 
 
32.1 In any case where a Member or Officer of the City Council has been 

authorised to act as its representative at a general meeting (or at 
meetings which include a general meeting) of a company which is an 
authorised company for the purposes of Part V of the Local Government 

Page 127



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 28 of 29 

and Housing Act 1989, members shall be entitled, subject to paragraphs 
32.2 and 32.3 below, to put to the Member or Officer concerned at 
meetings of the Council or other Body questions about the activities of 
the company. 
 

32.2 The right to put questions to Members or Officers contained in paragraph 
32.1 above shall only be exercisable where:- 
 
(a) the Member wishing to put the question has given notice to the 

Director of Legal and Governance of the precise wording of the 
question and the person(s) to whom it is to be addressed not later 
than 12.00 noon on the day which precedes by five normal 
working days of the Authority, disregarding the day on which the 
notice is given and the day of the meeting, the date of the meeting 
at which the question is to be put; 
 

(b) in the case of a question to be put at a meeting of a Body, the 
Director of Legal and Governance, or his/her nominee, in 
consultation with the Chair of the meeting to which the question 
is to be put, is satisfied that the activities of the company are of 
relevance to that meeting; and 
 

(c) it is reasonable in all the circumstances to expect the Member or 
Officer to whom the question is to be put to attend the meeting at 
which the question is to be put. 

 
32.3 Nothing in paragraph 32.1 above shall require any Member or Officer to 

whom a question is addressed to disclose any information about the 
company which has been communicated to him/her in confidence. 

 
33 Appointment of Substitutes on Committees 
 

Where an Appointed Member of a Committee is unable to attend a 
meeting of that Committee, he/she may arrange for a Substitute Member 
to attend, subject to the following conditions:- 
 
(a) a Committee Member wishing to be substituted will seek a 

substitute from the approved list for his/her Party Group; 
 
(b) the Chief Executive or his/her representative must be notified in 

writing of the substitution at least one full working day before the 
day of the Committee;   

 
(c) the substitution shall last for the duration of the meeting, including 

an adjourned meeting; and 
 

Page 128



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Council Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 29 of 29 

(d) Substitute Members are not permitted to attend a meeting of 
Strategy and Resources Policy Committee. 

 
 
 

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 130



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Contracts Standing Orders  
 

 
 

1 
 

STANDING ORDERS OF THE COUNCIL  

Summary and explanation 

The Council must operate in an open, fair and transparent manner in all its 
procurement and contract management activity.  
 
As such, these Standing Orders have been put together to help staff who need to 
obtain goods, services or construction work on behalf of the Council, to ensure 
that the process followed is fair and proportionate.  
 
These Orders are in addition to the Council’s decision-making processes under its 
Constitution.   

 
 

What is in this document? 

1. Who do these Standing Orders apply to? 
2. Commissioning goods, services and construction 
3. Do these Standing Orders apply to the proposal? 
4. Contract Value 
5. Goods, services or construction? 
6. Which process applies? 
7. Tenders 

8. Awarding the contract 
9. Contracts register 
10. Contract management 
11. Waivers of Standing Orders 

     12. Trading and charging 
13. Transparency 
14. Glossary of terms 

 
 
 

1. Who do these Standing Orders apply to? 
 
Everyone is responsible for ensuring that they refer to these Orders when they 
are applicable. Senior Responsible Officers (SRO) must ensure that all Contracts 
let by his or her Service comply with these Orders. 
 
All breaches of these Orders will be presented to the Audit and Standards 
Committee in the form of a report. 
 
  

Page 131

Part 4b



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Contracts Standing Orders  
 

 
 

2 
 

2. Commissioning goods, services and construction 

 
Before commencing any procurement exercise, it is important to consider whether 
the Council can deliver the goods, services or works internally. This is called a 
‘make or buy’ decision and involves consideration of the associated costs, quality, 
and social value aspects of delivery. It also involves consideration of the Council’s 
level of capability and capacity to deliver the requirements.  
 
Any ‘make or buy’ considerations must be documented and involve the relevant 
service area. 
 
All portfolio commissions are required to gain approval following their respective 
decision-making process and the arrangements for the delegation of functions in 
Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution and engage with Finance & Commercial 
Services and the Capital Programme Group for all capital projects at the beginning 
of the Commissioning process. 
 
Additionally, there are a range of factors which may affect the most appropriate 
commissioning route. These will include the matters below plus any specific factors 
relating to the commission: 
 

What is the best way to meet the need? Is it to make?  
something bespoke, or to buy an existing product or service? 
 

Which of the Council’s objectives and priorities does the proposed contract 
relate to? 
 

Have the relevant stakeholders been consulted? 
 

What approvals are required? (Consider the Council’s Arrangements for 
Delegation) 
 

How much is it likely to cost? Is it affordable? Has budget been allocated to 
this activity? 

 
The requirements: What are your desired quality standards and outcomes? 
 

If an in-house service exists that can fulfil this requirement, it must be used. 

 
Likely length of the need: Is it a one off? Is it a recurring need? 
 
Are there any existing contracts that meet the requirements? 
 
 

Consider the Council’s Ethical Procurement Policy.  
Does the proposal create any implications in relation to: 

 Human resource? 

 Sustainability? 

 Climate impact? 

 Health and Safety? 
Page 132



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Contracts Standing Orders  
 

 
 

3 
 

 Real Living Wage? 

 Legal implications & statutory duties e.g. (Equality Act, Best Value duty, 
Public Services (Social Value) Act  duties, public law consultation duties, 
requirements of Compact with voluntary sector etc.), Subsidy Control 
and Public Contracts Regulations 

 

 
The type of contract: eg goods/services/works/purchase order/concession 

 

 
The length of time the service will take to procure, or make and mobilise 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 133



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Contracts Standing Orders  
 

 
 

4 
 

3. Do these Standing Orders apply to the proposal? 
 
 
 

 

 

 
  

Is another local authority identifying and obtaining 
something on behalf of SCC? 

 

Are conditions applied to the funding available?  
(e.g. if SCC is using money from a grant which has 

conditions attached?) 
 

Is the proposed expenditure through a Framework 
Agreement? 

 

These orders apply  

The other local authorities may rely on its 
own financial regulations and procurement 
rules.  Where possible you should act in a 

way compatible with these orders 

You should comply with these Orders as far 

as is permitted by the funding conditions 

You should obtain the goods, works or 

services within SCC* 

You should use the existing contract** 

These types of expenditure are not subject 

to these orders 

No 

Yes 

Are the services, goods or works available from 
elsewhere in the council? 

 

Does the Council have an existing contract in 
place, which is capable of meeting the 

requirements? 
 

* In some circumstances the Director of Finance & Commercial Services will advise on using an external provider.  Benchmarking and a 
competitive process will likely apply 

** A list of existing contracts is held by Finance & Commercial Services and published at YORtender (eu-supply.com) 

No 

These Standing Orders will 

not apply 

No 

Yes 

Yes 

Is the proposed expenditure of a type listed in 
Fig A below? 

 

Yes 

No 

Yes 

No 

No 

Yes 

Yes 

Is the proposal to obtain something for the 
Council, using Council funds and facilities? 

 

Page 134

https://uk.eu-supply.com/login.asp?B=YORTENDER


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Contracts Standing Orders  
 

 
 

5 
 

 

 Page 135



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Contracts Standing Orders  
 

 
 

6 
 

 
4. Contract Value 

 
An estimated Contract Value must be established at the start of every procurement 
process. This will help ensure that you seek the appropriate level of support and 
approvals are gained for the procurement.  
 
The Contract Value is the estimated total value of the contract over its full duration 
(not just one year) and must include any extension options and permissible 
variations.  

 

Where the duration of the Contract cannot be determined, the Contract Value must 
be the estimated value of the Contract over 48 months.  

 

For example… 

A contract for goods or services which is £4000 per month: 

 £4000 x 48 = £192,000 

 The Contract Value is £192,000 and would therefore be subject to the Public 
Contracts Regulations 

 

The Contract Value must be referenced in any relevant reports required for 
approval as part of the Council’s Arrangements for Delegation.  

 

The Contract Value will also inform the procurement strategy and the appropriate 
contract award forms. 

 

For Concession Contracts, the relevant contract value is the anticipated turnover 
of the provider. Estimates of the benefit to the Council must be realistic. 
 
If the procurement relates to a recurring need or service (e.g. stationery supplies), 
or is for goods, services or works which may also be procured by another part of 
the Council, it could affect the Contract Value and the requirements for 
aggregation may apply. Officers should obtain guidance from Finance and 
Commercial Services before commencing any procurement activity for related 
services.  
 
The value of Contracts must never be deliberately or artificially underestimated or 
split. 
 
Deliberately or artificially underestimating or disaggregating the Contract value as 
part of any procurement procedure is a clear breach of Procurement Contract 
Regulations and these Orders.  
 
 

5. Goods, services or works 
 
Different processes apply to contracts for goods, services and works depending 

Page 136



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Contracts Standing Orders  
 

 
 

7 
 

on their value. The Procurement Professional is responsible for determining the 
most appropriate contracting terms in consultation with Legal Services where 
required.  
 

 
6. Which process applies? 

 
It is important that the right decision as to how goods and services should be 
acquired is made. See the Council’s acquisition model below for guidance for 
values below £150,000, if above this value contact Procurement and Supply 
Chain for assistance. 
 

 
 

 

 
      7. Tenders 

 
 

7.1 The Public Contract Regulations 2015 apply to all requirements (other than 
concessions for which The Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 apply) and 
the Construction Design and Management Regulations 2015 apply to all works 
requirements irrespective of size, duration, complexity and whether the project is 
notifiable to the Health and Safety Executive.  
 
A Procurement Professional will advise on the most suitable and compliant 
process in line with these regulations.  
 
 Page 137



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Contracts Standing Orders  
 

 
 

8 
 

 
7.2 Selecting the successful contractor 
 
Contracts must be awarded to the contractor submitting the most economically 
advantageous tender. 
 

The award of the contract will be made in line with the procurement procedure.  
 
The reasons for such a decision shall be formally recorded. 
 
 

8. Awarding the contract 

 

8.1 Authority to award contracts 

 
Contracts shall only be entered into in accordance with the Council’s 
Arrangements for Delegation. 
 

8.2 Forms of contract 
 

Goods and Service contracts with a value of >£2.5K must be evidenced in writing. 

 
8.3 Signed or sealed?  
 
A contract may only be signed or sealed when the necessary approvals are in 
place for the award of the Contract. 
 
The process of signing or sealing a contract will be determined by value and any 
special circumstances.  
 
 

Contract value Signed or sealed? Exceptions 

Up to £2,500 Signed A good reason not to 
sign. 

Between £2,500 and 

£500,000 

Signed The Director of Legal 
and Governance 
recommends that the 
contract should be made 
by way of a deed. 
 
The law requires that the 
contract has to be made 
by way of a deed or 
additional warranties are 
required. 

Over £500,000 Sealed The Director of Legal 
and Governance 
recommends that the 
contract can be signed. 
 Page 138



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Contracts Standing Orders  
 

 
 

9 
 

The contract is part of a 
framework requiring 
contracts to be signed or 
the use of a standard 
form. 

 
 
8.4 Who can sign? 
 
The following people are authorised to sign contracts on behalf of the Council 
using handwritten or electronic signatures: 
 

 The Director of Finance and Commercial Services; 

 The Head of Procurement 

 The Director of Legal and Governance; 

 Any Assistant Director of Legal and Governance; and  

 The relevant SRO. 
 

 
9. Contracts register 

 
The Council is required by the Government to publish all contracts above an 
estimated value of £5000 on an online Contracts Register.  
 
All contracts with an estimated value above £10,000 must also be published on 
the Government’s Contract Finder website. 
 
The e-tendering system automatically updates the Contracts Register for 
contracts awarded through e-tendering.   

 
Where the e-tendering system has not been used to let the contract, the SRO 
must ensure that full details are provided to Finance and Commercial Services as 
soon as possible to update the register.   
 
 

10. Contract management 
 
It is the responsibility of the SRO to ensure appropriate Contract management 
arrangements are put in place as defined by Finance & Commercial Services. The 
Contract management arrangements will relate to the value, scope and risk of the 
contract. 
 
Contract management arrangements must be defined in the Contract award. 
 
 
10.1 Payment 

 
The Councils standard payment terms are within 30 calendar days of the invoice 
date.  
 
Any variation to this standard must be agreed by the Director of Finance & Page 139



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Contracts Standing Orders  
 

 
 

10 
 

Commercial Services either as part of the letting of a contract or by ad-hoc 
exception to the standard terms, or where suppliers participate in the Council’s 
early payment scheme 
 
Approval to vary these terms must be in writing.  
 
 
10.2 Extensions and variations of contracts 

 
Sometimes it may be necessary or desirable to extend or otherwise change an 
agreement after it has been confirmed. If you wish to extend or change an 
agreement, you must engage with Finance & Commercial Services and obtain 
any necessary approvals prior to making any commitments. 
 
Consent should be sought at an early stage to allow for other procurement 
methods to be undertaken where appropriate.  
 
All extensions to agreements must demonstrate value for money and should not 
be instigated to avoid or delay the requirement to conduct a competitive 
procurement. 
 
All variations and extensions to agreements must be evidenced in writing. 
 
 
    11. Waiver of Standing Orders 

 
Where necessary, the Director of Finance and Commercial Services may grant a 
Waiver to all or part of the requirements of these Orders.  
 
When applying for a Waiver of these Orders, the procurement professional must 
set out why the competitive processes in these Orders should not apply.  
 
Where a Waiver request relates to a proposed contract value over £50,000, the 
request must be reviewed and approved by the relevant Executive Director. 
 

The Director’s decision to waive the requirements must be recorded and must 

include the reasons for the waiver. 
 
Waiver cannot, as a matter of law, excuse non-compliance with any law 
pertaining to public procurement.   

 
Guidance on Waivers is available from Finance and Commercial Services and 
must be adhered to. Applications for a Waiver shall be made in the form of a 
procurement strategy document. 
 
 

    12. Trading and charging 

 
Advice must be sought from the Director of Finance and Commercial Services 
when engaging in commercial trading activity in the following circumstances: 

Page 140



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Contracts Standing Orders  
 

 
 

11 
 

 

 Where the Council have not delivered the goods, service or works before 
 

 Where professional advice is being delivered 
 

 Where there are health & safety implications 
 
 

    13. Transparency 

 

The Council is required to publish any spending over £500 in accordance with the 

Local Government Transparency Code.  

 

Additionally, the Council is required to publish all tendered contracts that are 
awarded following a procurement process.  

 

Contracts will be published electronically with commercially confidential information 
subject to redaction. 

 

14. Glossary of terms 
 

In these Contracts Standing Orders the following words shall have the 
meanings given to them below: 

 

“Best Value” The Council’s duty to make arrangements to 
secure continuous improvement in the way in 
which its functions are exercised, having 
regard to a combination of economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness. 

“Commissioning” A continuous process through which 
Commissioners identify need, analyse, plan, 
source, deliver and performance 
management activity. See “The 
Commissioning Process‟ document available 
from Finance and Commercial Services for 
more information. 

“Concession” An agreement where the supplier has an 
obligation to the Council to deliver services or 
construction. This obligation is in exchange 
for a right, granted by the Council, to exploit 
some or all of those services or construction 
to make a profit.  It may also include a 
payment to and/or from the Council. 

“Contract” An agreement between the Council (or by a 
company under the control of the Council 
within the meaning of section 68 Local Page 141



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Contracts Standing Orders  
 

 
 

12 
 

Government and Housing Act 1989) and the 
supplier for the delivery of goods, 
construction, or services, in exchange for 
payment. This can include contracts made on 
a Concession basis. 

"Contractor" Includes a tenderer or any other person 
or organisation delivering a Contract. 
 

“Contract Value” The estimated total of the money 
payments to be made by the Council and 
the value of materials or other benefits to 
be retrieved or enjoyed by the 
Contractor for the whole period of the 
Contract, including any potential 
extensions, exclusive of VAT. 

“Framework Agreement” An agreement between one or more 
purchasers (including the Council or a party 
which gives access to the Council) and one or 
more Contractors, establishing the terms on 
which goods, construction or services may be 
purchased during the period of the 
agreement, in particular with regard to price 
and, where appropriate, the quantity 
envisaged. Framework Agreements may allow 
Contracts to be placed without the need for a 
further public procurement exercise. 

 

“Orders” These Standing Orders for Contracts. 

“Procurement 
Professional” 

A Council Officer who is either: a 
qualified procurement professional or a 
procurement professional by way of their 
role as a buyer of goods, construction or 
services.  

 “Regulations” The Public Contracts Regulations 2015, 
the Utilities Contracts Regulations 2016 
and the Concession Contracts 
Regulations 2016. 

"Senior Responsible 
Officer” or “SRO" 

In accordance with the Council’s 
Arrangements for Delegation in place at 
the time. 

 
 

 

Page 142



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 1 of 8 

ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE RULES     
 
1. SCOPE 
 

These rules apply to all meetings of the Council, its Policy Committees, 
Area Committees, the Audit and Standards Committee, Regulatory 
Committees and any other Committees established by the Council 
(together called meetings). 
 

 
2. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS TO INFORMATION 
 
 These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information 

contained elsewhere in this Constitution or the law. 
 
 
3. RIGHTS TO ATTEND MEETINGS 
 
3.1 Members of the public and the media shall, subject to the exceptions 

contained in these and other Rules in this Constitution, be entitled to 
attend all meetings to which these Rules apply. 

 
3.2  Attendance at meetings may be limited by the capacity of the room in 

which the meeting is held.  The Chair of the meeting may eject 
members of the public from a meeting in respect of disturbance or 
unruly behaviour.  At meetings of the Full Council, in addition to 
Members and officers of the Council, admittance to the floor of the 
Council Chamber shall be at the discretion of the Lord Mayor. 
 

3.3  Photography, video and sound recording at meetings shall be permitted 
under the direction of the Chair of the meeting in accordance with 
Council Procedure Rule 21. 

 
 

4. NOTICE OF MEETING 
 

The Council will give at least five clear working days’ notice (excluding 
the days on which the meeting is called and on which it is held) of any 
meeting to which these Rules apply by posting details of the meeting at 
Sheffield Town Hall and/or Howden House and on the Council’s 
website, except that where the meeting is convened at shorter notice in 
accordance with these Rules, details shall be posted from the time the 
meeting is convened. 

 

Page 143

Part 4c



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 2 of 8 

5. ACCESS TO AGENDA AND REPORTS BEFORE THE MEETING 
 
 The Council will make copies of the agenda and reports which are 

open to the public available for inspection at Sheffield Town Hall and 
on the Council’s website at least five clear working days before the 
meeting except that: 

 
(a) where the meeting is convened at shorter notice in accordance with 

these Rules, copies of the agenda and reports shall be available for 
inspection from the time the meeting is convened; and 

 
(b) where an item is added to an agenda in accordance with these Rules, 

copies of which are open to inspection by the public, copies of the 
item (and of the revised agenda) and copies of any report for the 
meeting relating to that item, shall be available for inspection for the 
time the item was added to the agenda. 

 
Nothing in this section requires copies of any agenda, item or report to 
be open to inspection by the public until copies are available to members 
of the Council. 
 

 
6. ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 

An item of business may not be considered at a meeting unless: 
 
(a) A copy of the agenda including the item (or a copy of the item) is 
available for inspection by the public for at least five clear days before 
the meeting; or, 
 
(b) Where the meeting is convened at shorter notice in accordance with 
these Rules, such copies are available for inspection from the time the 
meeting is convened; or 
 
(c) There are, in the opinion of the Chair of the meeting, special 
circumstances for considering the item as a matter of urgency, which 
shall be specified in the minutes of the meeting. 
 
 

7. SUPPLY OF COPIES 
 
 The Council will supply to any person, on payment of a charge for 

copying, postage and any other costs, copies of:-: 
 

(a) any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection; 
 

Page 144



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 3 of 8 

(b) any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the 
nature of the items on the agenda; and 

 
(c) if the Monitoring Officer thinks fit, any other documents supplied 

to Councillors in connection with an item. 
 
 

8. ACCESS TO MINUTES AND DOCUMENTS AFTER THE MEETING 
 

The Council will make available for inspection and, upon payment of a 
charge for copying, postage and any other costs, copies of the 
following for six years after a meeting: 

 
(a) the minutes of the meeting, excluding any part of the minutes of 

proceedings when the meeting was not open to the public or 
which disclose exempt or confidential information; 

 
(b) a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the 

minutes open to inspection would not provide a reasonably fair 
and coherent record; 

 
(c) the agenda for the meeting; and 

 
(d) reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public. 
 

 
9. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
9.1 List of background papers 
 

The officer responsible for a report will set out in it a list of those 
documents (called background papers) relating to the subject matter of 
the report which in his/her opinion: 

 
(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important 

part of the report is based; and 
 

(b) which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the 
report  

 
but does not include published works or those which disclose exempt 
or confidential information (as defined in these Rules). 
 

9.2 Public inspection of background papers 
 

The Council will make available for public inspection for four years after 
the date of the meeting one copy of each of the documents on the list of 

Page 145



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 4 of 8 

background papers. These documents will be available on the Council’s 
website and at the Sheffield Town Hall. 
 
 

10. SUMMARY OF THE PUBLIC’S RIGHTS 
 
10.1 A written summary of the public’s rights to attend meetings and to inspect 

and copy documents will be included in each agenda for Council 
meetings which will be available to the public at the Town Hall, Pinstone 
Street, Sheffield S1 2HH and on the Council’s website. 

 
 
11 EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO MEETINGS AND 

DOCUMENTS 
 
11.1 Confidential information – requirement to exclude public 
 

The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely that 
confidential information would be disclosed. 
 
Confidential information means: 
 
(a) information provided to the Council by a Government Department 
upon terms (however expressed) which forbid the disclosure of the 
information to the public; and 
 
(b) information the disclosure of which to the public is prohibited by or 
under any enactment or by order of the Court. 

 
11.2 Exempt information – discretion to exclude public 
 

The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view 
of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings that exempt information, as described in Schedule 12A to 
the Local Government Act 1972, would be disclosed. 

 
Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, 
or adversely affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 
1998 establishes a presumption that the meeting will be held in public 
unless a private hearing is necessary for one of the reasons specified in 
Article 6. 

 
Exempt information means information falling within one or more of the 
following categories, subject to the conditions relating to that category. 

  

Page 146



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 5 of 8 

Category Condition 

1. Information relating to an 
individual 
 

Information is exempt information if and so 
long as in all the circumstances the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information and provided the information does 
not relate to proposed development for which 
the Local Planning Authority may grant itself 
planning permission under Planning 
Regulations. 
  

2. Information which is likely to 
reveal the identity of an individual 

Information is exempt information if and so 
long as in all the circumstances the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information, provided the information does not 
relate to proposed development for which the 
Local Planning Authority may grant itself 
planning permission under Planning 
Regulations. 
 

3. Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including 
the authority holding the 
information) 
 

Information falling within this paragraph is not 
exempt if it must be registered under various 
statutes, such as the Companies Acts, 
Charities Acts, Friendly Societies Acts, Co-
operative and Community Benefit Societies 
Acts or the Building Societies Acts. Information 
is exempt information if and so long as in all 
the circumstances the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information, 
provided the information does not relate to 
proposed development for which the Local 
Planning Authority may grant itself planning 
permission under Planning Regulations.  
 

4. Information relating to any 
consultations or negotiations, or 
contemplated consultations or 
negotiations, in connection with 
any labour relations matter 
arising between the Council or a 
Minister of the Crown and 
employees of, or office holders 
under, the Council. 

Information is exempt information if and so 
long as in all the circumstances the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information, provided the information does not 
relate to proposed development for which the 
Local Planning Authority may grant itself 
planning permission under Planning 
Regulations. 
 

  

Page 147



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 6 of 8 

5.Information in respect of which 
a claim to legal professional 
privilege could be maintained in 
legal proceedings 
 

Information is exempt information if and so 
long as in all the circumstances the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information, provided the information does not 
relate to proposed development for which the 
Local Planning Authority may grant itself 
planning permission under Planning 
Regulations. 
 

6. Information which reveals that 
the Council proposes 

a) to give under any 
enactment a notice under 
or by virtue of which 
requirements are imposed 
on a person;  or 

b) to make an order or 
direction under any 
enactment 

 

Information is exempt information if and so 
long as in all the circumstances the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information, provided the information does not 
relate to proposed development for which the 
Local Planning Authority may grant itself 
planning permission under Planning 
Regulations. 

7. Information relating to any 
action taken or to be taken in 
connection with the prevention, 
investigation or prosecution of 
crime 
 

Information is exempt information if and so 
long as in all the circumstances the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information, provided the information does not 
relate to proposed development for which the 
Local Planning Authority may grant itself 
planning permission under Planning 
Regulations. 
 

 
11.3 Exclusion of access by the public to reports 
 

If the Monitoring Officer thinks fit the Council may exclude access by the 
public to reports which in his or her opinion relate to items during which, 
in accordance with this Rule, the meeting is likely not to be open to the 
public.  Where the whole or part of any report for a public meeting is not 
available for inspection by the public, every copy of the report shall be 
marked “not for publication” and it shall be stated on the report: 

 that it contains confidential or exempt information; and  

 Identifies which of the descriptions of confidential or exempt 
information in this Rule may apply. 
 

 
 
 

Page 148



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 7 of 8 

12. PUBLIC ACCESS TO MEETINGS 
 
12.1 A meeting of the Council or a Committee must comply with the public 

access requirements of these Rules when it meets collectively. 
 
 
13. BASIS OF DECISIONS 
 
13.1 A decision may only be taken: 

 
(a) on the basis of a written report, setting out key legal, financial, 

service, equal opportunities, human rights, land and property and 
corporate implications, as well as the reasons for report 
recommendations and the alternatives considered and rejected; and 

 
(b) when the Monitoring Officer or his or her nominee is present. 

 
 
14. DECISIONS MADE BY OFFICERS 
 
14.1 As prescribed by the Openness of Local Government Bodies 
           Regulations 2014 certain categories of decisions taken 
           by officers are required to be recorded. 
 

Officers must comply with the above Regulations and general 
principles of open and transparent decision making. The Director of 
Legal and Governance will provide guidance as to which decisions fall 
within the regulation.  

  
14.2  The written record must be produced as soon as is reasonably 

practicable after the decision is made and must contain the following 
information: 

  

 the date the decision was made;  
 

 a record of the decision taken along with reasons for the decision;  
 

 details of any alternative options considered and rejected when the 
decision was made; 

 

 (if the decision was made under an express specific authorisation) 
the name of any Member who has declared a conflict of interest in 
relation to the decision. 

 
14.3 The Regulations also require the written record, together with any 

background papers to be published on the website. To simplify this 
procedure a short report, including the key legal, financial, service, 

Page 149



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Access to Information Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 8 of 8 

equal opportunities, human rights, land and property and corporate 
implications, should be prepared for the decision maker to base their 

  decision on.        
 
 
15. ADDITIONAL COUNCILLORS’ RIGHTS OF ACCESS TO 

DOCUMENTS 
 
15.1 Material relating to previous business 
 

Subject to the following exception, all Councillors will be entitled to 
inspect any document (except those in draft form) which: 

 
(a) is in the possession of or under the control of the Council; and  

 
(b) contains material relating to any business which has been transacted 
at a meeting of the Council or a Committee or Sub-Committee of the 
Council. 
 

15.2 Exception 
 

This provision does not require a document to be available if it appears 
to the Monitoring Officer that it contains confidential or exempt 
information as defined in these Rules, (other than paragraphs 3 and 6 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as stated above). 

 
15.3 Rights to be additional 

 
These rights are additional to any other rights Councillors may have. 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 150



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 1 of 3 

BUDGET AND POLICY FRAMEWORK PROCEDURE RULES  
 
1. The Framework for Decisions 
 

In these Procedure Rules ‘Budget’ and ‘Policy Framework’ have the 
meanings given to them in Article 4 of the Constitution. 
 
For the avoidance of doubt, any of the functions or responsibilities of the 
Chief Finance Officer in these Procedure Rules may be discharged by 
such officers who may be nominated by her/him from time to time to 
exercise those duties on her/his behalf. 
 
The Council will be responsible for the adoption of its Budget and Policy 
Framework as set out in Article 4. Once a Budget or a Policy Framework 
(or any constituent part of this) is in place, it will be the responsibility of 
Committees of the Council to implement it to the extent that this involves 
the discharging of any functions delegated to a Committee in Part 3 of 
this Constitution. 

 
The arrangements for the management of the Council's Budget are set 
out in the Financial Procedure Rules (The Financial Regulations) which 
appear later in this part of the Constitution.  

 
In addition, the following provisions apply:- 

 
2. Process for preparing the Budget 
 

The process by which the Budget shall be developed is:- 
 

(a) The Strategy and Resources Committee will publish a timetable 
for making proposals to the Council for the adoption of the 
Revenue Budget and Capital Programme and its arrangements 
for any consultation after publication of those proposals. The 
consultation period will be not less than 6 weeks 

 
(b) At the end of the consultation period, the Committee will draw up 

firm proposals for submission to the Council, taking account of 
responses to the consultation. 
 

(c) The proposals drawn up by the Committee for the adoption of the 
Revenue Budget and Capital Programme must then be referred 
by the Proper Officer, at the earliest opportunity, to the Council 
for decision. 

 
(d) In reaching a decision on the Committee’s proposals, the Council 

may approve them, amend them, or substitute and approve its 
own proposals in their place. 

Page 151

Part 4d



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 2 of 3 

 
(e) In approving the Revenue Budget and Capital Programme, the 

Council will also specify the degree of in-year changes which may 
be made by a Committee of the Council under the rules relating 
to virement within the Revenue Budget and Capital Programme, 
as set out in the Financial Regulations and associated Codes of 
Practice (see 5 below). 
 
Any other changes to the Revenue Budget or Capital Programme 
are reserved to the Council. 

 
3. Decisions contrary to the Policy Framework, or contrary to or not 

wholly in accordance with the approved Budget. 
 
Subject to the rules relating to urgency (see 4 below) and virement (see 
5 below), a decision which is contrary to the Policy Framework, or 
contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the Budget approved by the 
Full Council may only be taken by the Full Council. 

 
If any Committee or any officers, Area Committees or joint arrangements 
which discharge Council functions have any doubt whether a proposed 
decision is in accordance with the approved Budget, they shall take 
advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
If the advice of either of those officers is that a decision would be 
contrary to the Policy Framework, or contrary to or not wholly in 
accordance with the Budget, then, again subject to the rules on virement, 
the decision may only be taken by the Council, unless it is a matter of 
urgency (see 4 below). 
 

4. Urgent decisions contrary to the Policy Framework, or contrary to 
or not wholly in accordance with the approved Budget 

 
A decision which is contrary to the Policy Framework, or contrary to or 
not wholly in accordance with the approved Budget but which is a matter 
of urgency may be taken other than by the Council only if: 
 
(i) it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of the Full Council; 

and 
 
(ii) if the Lord Mayor or the Deputy Lord Mayor agrees that the 

decision is a matter of urgency. 
 
The reasons why it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of the 
Council and the consent of the Lord Mayor or the Deputy Lord Mayor to 
the decision being taken as a matter of urgency must be noted on the 
record of the decision. 

Page 152



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 3 of 3 

 
Following the decision, the Chair of the Committee which made the 
decision, or if an officer the Decision Taker, will provide a full report to 
the next available Council meeting explaining the decision, the reasons 
for it and why the decision was a matter of urgency. 

 
5. Virement 
 

The rules relating to virement within the Revenue Budget and Capital 
Programme are set out in the Financial Regulations and associated 
Codes of Practice. 
 

6. In-year Changes to the Budget and Policy Framework  
 

The responsibility for agreeing the Budget and Policy Framework lies 
with the Council, and decisions by any Committee or any officer or joint 
arrangements discharging Council functions must be in line with it.  No 
changes to any policy or strategy which make up the Policy Framework 
may be made by those bodies or individuals except those changes: 

 
(a) which will result in the closure or discontinuance of a service or part 
of service to meet a budgetary constraint; 
 
(b) necessary to ensure compliance with the law, Ministerial direction or 
Government guidance; 
 
(c) in relation to the Policy Framework, in respect of a policy which would 
normally be agreed annually by the Council following consultation, but 
where the existing policy document is silent on the matter under 
consideration. 

 
 

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 154



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sheffield City Council 

Financial Regulations  

2022 

 

VERSION: 1  

DATE OF ISSUE: 19th May 2022  

AUTHOR: Ryan Keyworth - Director of Finance & Commercial Services (CFO)  

APPROVED BY:  AGM - 18th May 2022  

  

Page 155

Part 4e



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 2 

 

 

Contents 
 

Key Terms and Definitions ................................................................................................ 3 

1. Background ................................................................................................................ 10 

2. Financial Management ............................................................................................... 26 

3. Financial Planning ...................................................................................................... 29 

4. Financial Implications ................................................................................................ 34 

5. Capital Programme ..................................................................................................... 35 

6. External Funding / Grants .......................................................................................... 40 

7. Income Management .................................................................................................. 41 

8. Purchasing .................................................................................................................. 49 

9. Internal Charges ......................................................................................................... 53 

10. Payroll, Expenses and Petty Cash Floats ................................................................ 53 

11. Bank Accounts and Credit Cards .............................................................................. 54 

12. Taxation ....................................................................................................................... 55 

13. Stores, Stock, Assets and Security .......................................................................... 56 

14. Retention of Records ................................................................................................. 57 

15. Financial Systems ...................................................................................................... 57 

16. Accounting .................................................................................................................. 58 

17. Internal Audit .............................................................................................................. 59 

18. Companies, Joint Ventures, Partnerships, Joint Committees etc. ........................ 59 

19. Grant (Gift) Arrangements ......................................................................................... 60 

20. Council Supply Agreements ...................................................................................... 60 

 

Appendices: ..................................................................................................................... 61 

A. Financial Records: Recommended  Retention Schedule ....................................... 61 

 

 

 

Page 156



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 3 

Key Terms and Definitions 

Accountable Body (for 
external funding) 

A body receiving funding who becomes legally 
responsible for ensuring that requirements of the funder 
are met.  This usually includes, for example, putting in 
place audit trails, overseeing contract management with 
suppliers, ensuring the project has sufficient cash flow 
and generally meeting the liabilities (e.g. clawback) that 
flow from the conditions of the funding. 

Accountability 
Framework 

A written framework to explain accountability within a 
portfolio for the budgets held by each Director and Head 
of Service.  The Framework is reviewed annually to 
ensure it is still fit for purpose and refreshed when parties 
involved change. 

It has been developed to protect the Council’s overall 
financial interest and to meet all statutory requirements. 

Accounting Team and 
Finance & Commercial 
Business Partnering 
Team 

Members of Finance & Commercial Services with specific 
responsibility for supporting Executive Directors and their 
teams through the provision of financial advice and 
decision support. 

Accounting Policies Accounting policies are the rules used by an organisation 
to ensure that transactions are lawful, recorded properly 
and that the financial statements are produced correctly.  
At SCC, the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) must select the 
accounting policies and ensure they are properly followed.  

The Accounting Policies are included in the Statement of 
Accounts produced each year. 

Acquisition The process of getting something – this may be bought, 
leased or donated. 

Annual Revenue Budget This is the Council’s total Revenue spending plans for the 
year including the level of Council Tax for the coming 
year. It is set by Council following receipt of the Annual 
Budget Report. 

Asset(s) The CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the UK defines an asset as ‘a resource 
controlled by the authority as a result of past events and 
from which future economic benefits or service potential is 
expected to flow to the authority’. 

Bad and Doubtful Debt A bad debt is a debt which the Council thinks will never be 
paid by the customer.   A doubtful debt is a debt which is 
likely to become a bad debt, but there is still a chance that 
the customer will pay. 

Page 157



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 4 

 

Budget  As per the Council’s Constitution (Part 2, Article 4), the 
annual budget includes the allocation of financial 
resources to different service and projects, including: 

 Revenue expenditure 

 Proposed contingency funds including reserves and 
balances 

 Setting the Council Tax (and any other local tax which 
may be within the control of the Council) 

 Decisions relating to the control of the Council’s 
borrowing requirement 

 Capital expenditure, 

 The Treasury Management Strategy, and 

 The Housing Revenue Account. 

Budget carry forward A budget carry forward is an underspend of an amount of 
budget, which is planned for, and then transferred to an 
earmarked reserve to be spent in a future year(s), for a 
specified purpose. For the purposes of these Regulations 
this is treated as a Virement (See below). 

Budget Implementation 
Plan (BIP) 

Business planning is an ongoing process which ensures 
that we understand needs, agree priorities and strategic 
outcomes, for the medium to long-term, and allocate and 
develop resources needed to deliver them. The decisions 
from the process – both quantitative and qualitative - allow 
the production of the Budget Implementation Plans (BIPs) 
in the Budget Book. 

Business Rates Also referred to as National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) 
and are a levy on business properties based on a national 
rate in the pound applied to the ‘rateable value’ of the 
property. 

The Government determines the national rate multiplier 
and the Valuation Office Agency determine the rateable 
value of each business property. 

Business Rates are collected by the Local Authority and 
paid into their collection fund, this amount is then 
distributed 49% to the Local Authorities general fund, 1% 
to the South Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority and 
50% to Central Government. 

The Central Government share is then redistributed 
nationally, partly back to Local Authorities through 
Revenue Support Grant. 

Capital Expenditure Expenditure that is incurred to acquire, create or add 
value to a non-current asset. 

Page 158



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 5 

Capital Programme The sum of all the Council’s individual capital projects and 
programmes that the Council is planning to undertake, 
together with the funding to support the Programme. 

The Capital Programme is made up of several different 
projects, ranging from large scale projects, such as 
Building Schools for the Future, to smaller projects, such 
as children’s play equipment. 

The number and size of the projects may change, which 
means that Capital Programmes may not be comparable 
in terms of size and scope over time. 

Capital Project A project which spends capital resources to acquire 
assets, and/or build, improve, increase the market value 
of, or substantially lengthen the useful life of an asset. 

Capital Reporting and 
Approval Timetable 

This sets out the submission deadlines of Capital 
Approval Forms, dates of review meetings, monitoring 
and forecasting cycles, reporting dates and finance 
system schedules. 

Chief Finance Officer 
(CFO) 
 
 

the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) has a statutory 
responsibility under section 151 of the Local Government 
Act 1972 and s114/114A of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 to ensure that the Council makes 
arrangements for the proper administration of its financial 
affairs. These laws govern the way in which the 
Authority’s financial affairs are managed.  The CFO is the 
Director of Finance & Commercial Services. 

Chief Property Officer Authorised to make any decision in respect of property 
matters not reserved to a Committee or Full Council, 
except when an Executive Director can make a 
declaration that operational property is surplus to the 
requirements of a service within the Portfolio. 

The Chief Property Officer is responsible for Property 
Asset Management across the Council. 

Constitution It describes the arrangements made by the Council for the 
discharge of its functions, the appointment of its 
Committees and the way that it meets other statutory 
requirements concerning governance arrangements. 

The ways in which the Council’s functions will be 
discharged are set out in (Part 3) of the Constitution and 
include functions to be exercised by a Committee of the 
Council and functions delegated to officers. 

If any lawfully made provision of the Constitution 
contradicts any provision of these Financial 
Regulations, the Constitution shall prevail. 

 

Page 159

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/151
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/151
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1988/41/section/114A
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1988/41/section/114A


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 6 

Corporate Plan The Corporate Plan sets out the vision for the Council and 
Sheffield. It includes what the Council will do to deliver the 
vision. 

Council Supply 
Agreements 

A Council Supply Agreement is a contractually binding 
agreement under which the Council agrees to provide works, 
services or supplies to a third party in return for payment, in 
money or in-kind, otherwise than in fulfilment of a statutory 
duty, but does not include an agreement under which the 
Council receives grant aid. 

Council Tax 

 

A banded property tax that is levied on domestic 
properties. The banding is based on assessed property 
values at 1st April 1991, and ranges from Band A to H. 

Debtor Account 
(Account Receivable) 

Records which show who owes the Council money, what 
they owe the money for and the amount. 

Director Officer who is a member of the Council’s Director’s Group. 

Executive Director The Senior Managers who head each of the Council’s 
Portfolios. 

External Funding  External Funding is discretionary money not accounted for 
within the normal funding from central government or 
equivalent, distributed by various Funders on a business 
case and/ or competitive basis requiring an application. 

Financial Policies The Council has a detailed set of financial policies which 
support these regulations. 

Financial Protocol The Financial Protocol describes the roles and 
relationships of the main parties involved in the Council’s 
financial management arrangements.  The protocol is 
reviewed annually to ensure it is still fit for purpose and 
refreshed when parties involved change. 

Forward Capital 
Programme 

This is the term used to describe the projects that are 
planned to be in the Council’s Capital Programme for the 
following financial year. Information is usually prepared 
and collated in the autumn/ winter for presentation to 
Council in March. 

Internal Control An internal control is a procedure or policy put in place by 
the Council to: 

 protect assets and resources,  

 to deter and detect errors, fraud or theft,  

 to ensure accurate and complete accounting records, 

 to produce reliable and timely financial information. 

Irregularity Something that is irregular, such as improper or dishonest 
conduct. 

Page 160



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 7 

Liability Obligations that the Council may need to fulfil. 

Match Funding Funds that are set to be paid in equal amount to funds 
available from other sources.   Match funding 
requirements can be met by in-kind contributions of staff 
time/ resource as well as actual cash/ budget. 

Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) 

The Council’s MTFS presents an overview of the 
Council’s Financial position over the next three to five 
year period, including revenue and capital spending plans 
linked to priorities. 

Overhead Overheads are the expenses of a business which cannot 
be directly linked to the delivery of a service; but are 
necessary for the running of the organisation, e.g. building 
rent or light & heating costs. 

Overhead Apportionment The distribution of various overhead items, in proportion, 
to the department on a logical basis for example, building 
rents apportioned to services based on the floor space 
used by departments. 

Portfolio A group of sections and services managed by an 
Executive Director. 

Project Manager The officer who is responsible for the day to day running 
of the project on behalf of the Project Sponsor / Board.  
They are also responsible for delivery of the projects to 
budget, time and specification. Project Managers are also 
known as Budget Managers. 

Property Asset 
Management 

A mechanism to ensure that property assets are managed 
and used efficiently and effectively to support the main 
objectives of an organisation. 

Provision Amounts charged to revenue during the year for costs 
with uncertain timing, though a reliable estimate of the 
cost involved can be made. 

Reconciliation An accounting process that compares two sets of records 
to check that figures are correct and in agreement. 

Revenue Spending Any expenditure by the Council that falls outside the 
definition of Capital Spending. Typically, the day-to-day 
running costs of the Council, such as, salaries, rent, utility 
bills and payments to service providers. 

Reserves Money set aside from anticipated expenditure postponed 
or cancelled, or by capital accounting arrangements. 

Risk Management Risk management refers to the practice of identifying 
potential risks in advance, analysing them, and taking 
steps to reduce/ curb the risk.  Risks could include 
financial uncertainty, legal liabilities, strategic 
management errors, accidents and natural disasters. 

Page 161

http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31646/MTFS%2018-23%20FINAL.pdf
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31646/MTFS%2018-23%20FINAL.pdf


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 8 

The Risk Management Framework has been produced by 
the Corporate Risk Management Group (CRMG).   

Financial Risk Management is built into the Financial 
Regulations and the processes that staff are expected to 
follow daily.  Key processes that promote good financial 
risk management include: 

 monitoring budgets, 

 complying with the processes in these Regulations, 

 following the decision-making framework, 

 maintaining and monitoring key financial risk registers. 

Sundry Debt Miscellaneous income that is due to the Council that can 
be collected by payment up front or raising a sundry debt 
invoice. Local taxation, housing benefit overpayments and 
rental income are not included in this definition. 

Transfer to a specific 
reserve 

This is funding that is being put to one side (in a reserve) 
as part of the service’s budget strategy. The funding will 
be used in future years for reinvestment back into the 
service area. For the purposes of these Regulations this is 
treated as a Virement (See below). 

Treasury Management The management of the local authority’s borrowing, 
investments and cash flows, its banking, money market 
and capital market transactions; the effective control of 
the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit 
of optimum performance consistent with those risks. 

Utilities/ Utility Bill As approved by the CFO, payments for the following 
services are Utilities (Gas, Electricity, Water, Telecoms, 
Mail Services and Photocopiers). 

Variation/ Change in 
Scope (Capital) 

This is where there are changes in the agreed capital 
project cost or outputs. This could be an increase in the 
cost of the project, a change in available funding, or what 
will be delivered (the outputs). For example, funding to 
refurbish six schools is reduced to three schools. This 
would create a financial variation and change of scope, 
requiring approval in accordance with the Constitution. 

Variations (Revenue)  Variations are changes to the total amount of expenditure 
across either a Service, Portfolio or the Council resulting 
in a change to the Council’s overall Budget. 

Virement The transfer of underspending on one budget head to 
finance additional spending on another budget head. 
Virements are also used to move budgets where a 
function is moved from one Portfolio or Service to another. 

Where cash limit is moved to be spent on achieving a 
different purpose to that approved in the annual budget, 

Page 162



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 9 

this is a policy choice and is classed as a virement. 

Write-Off Removing a debt from the Council’s accounts using 
money that has been set aside as part of the bad and 
doubtful debt provision. It relates to debts that are 
correctly due to the Council but are no longer collectable. 

Back to Contents page 

Page 163



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 10 

1. Background 

This section explains what the Financial Regulations are, who must follow them and 
how the Council knows they are being followed. 

It also outlines what training is available to help understand the Regulations. 

The Financial 
Regulations are 
rules and 
instructions to 
help officers and 
Members to 
manage the 
Council’s 
finances properly 

These Regulations are part of the Council’s Constitution (part 4). 
The Regulations set out the policies that are in place to help 
officers and Members of the Committees to manage the Council’s 
finances.  They are a key part of the Council’s financial 
governance arrangements. 

They are very technical in places as they describe accounting 
practices and standards that have been set by law and/or 
professional accountancy bodies.  They are used by officers who 
have an accepted level of understanding of the subject matter.  As 
such there is likely to be content that will not be easy for the public 
to understand. 

The CFO must make sure that standards, procedures, and 
processes are in place across the Council to support the 
implementation of these Regulations. 

These Regulations are regularly checked to ensure they reflect 
accounting best practice, legislation and changing needs of 
services. 

Officers should initially contact the Accounting Team if they wish to 
query the content of these Regulations.  Any changes to the 
Regulations must be approved by Full Council. 

If any part of these Regulations contradicts another part of the 
Constitution that other part shall take precedence. 

All officers, 
including 
voluntary staff 
must follow the 
rules in the 
Regulations 

All officers, including those working for the Council on a voluntary 
basis, must follow the rules set out in these Regulations. It is 
important that all managers and staff are familiar with these 
Regulations and the rules they contain. Using the Council’s 
financial system (Integra) properly is also essential to ensure the 
Regulations are followed. 

If managers and staff do not follow the rules this may result in the 
withdrawal of delegated financial authority and/ or the application 
of disciplinary procedures. 

Directors and 
Executive 
Directors must 
confirm they 
follow the 
Regulations as 
part of their 
Annual 
Governance 
statement 

As part of the Annual Governance process, all Directors and 
Executive Directors must sign a statement to say that they comply 
with the governance arrangements of the Council including the 
Financial Regulations and Risk Management Framework. 

They also must confirm that they have appropriate internal 
controls in place in their portfolio to protect the Council’s assets.  
Any occasions where the internal controls have not worked 
properly must be declared. 

An Annual Governance Statement is produced that describes the 
governance framework and highlights any significant issues which 

Page 164



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 11 

have occurred in a financial year.  The Annual Governance 
Statement is approved by the Audit & Standards Committee and is 
published with the Annual Accounts. 

To support 
understanding, 
procedures and 
processes are 
available 

Financial 
Protocol 

E-Learning about 
the finance 
System (Integra) 
and Qtier is also 
available 

 

Guidance is available which supports these Regulations.  The 
guidance sets out in more detail the Council’s procedures and 
processes related to financial management and administration. 

The Financial Protocol also complements the Regulations and 
Policies by describing the roles and relationships of the main 
parties involved in the Council’s financial management 
arrangements, helping to ensure sound financial management. 

Training is made available by Finance and Commercial Services 
to support these Regulations.  This includes e-training and 
guidance for the finance system (Integra) and Qtier reporting tool. 

All staff should follow the guidance and other documentation to 
ensure full compliance with the Financial Regulations. 

Who Has Responsibility for Finance? 

Many of the Council’s responsibilities for finances are delegated from Council to its 
Committees.  Ensuring expenditure remains within the resources available to it. 

The table below summarises the key financial responsibilities: 

Full Council 

 

Functions that can only be carried out by Full Council include: 

 Approving or adopting the Policy Framework 

 Approving or adopting the Budget, including approval of variations. 

 Agreeing the capital strategy and programme 

All the functions carried out by Full Council are set out in Part 2, Article 
4 of the Council’s Constitution and/ or prescribed by law. 

Strategy & 
Resources 
Policy 
Committee 

The Strategy & Resources Policy Committee has a co-ordinating role 
across all other Policy Committees and exercises a corporate view of 
outcomes, performance, budget monitoring and risk management. 

The Strategy & Resources Policy Committee has overarching 
responsibility for the development and submission to Full Council for 
adoption of the Budget and Policy Framework. 

The Strategy & Resources Policy Committee, alongside the Finance 
Sub-Committee, will ensure revenue and capital budget monitoring 
takes place with sufficient regularity. 

Both Committees will receive: 

 At least a quarterly budget monitoring report outlining the financial 
position for the whole Council. 

 The out-turn report following the end of the financial year to 
approve decisions on the carry-forward/ carry-back of resources 

Page 165

http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=512


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 12 

from one year to the next. 

 Financial information during the year if support is needed for an in-
year decision on the Council’s budget (variation). 

Finance Sub-
Committee 

The Finance Sub-Committee is established as a sub-committee of the 
Strategy & Resources Policy Committee. It may take decisions in 
respect of the following Finance and Property matters which are 
otherwise reserved to the Strategy & Resources Policy Committee: 

 Strategic financial overview 

 Property decisions 

 Accountable Body decisions 

 Corporate Revenue and Capital monitoring and capital allocations 

The Finance Sub-Committee is also responsible for: 

 Agreement upon the annual budget for Services within Portfolios 
including the application of the overall capital programme (within 
the Budget and Policy Framework). 

 Agreement of Council policies in respect of fees and charges. 

 Commitments to funding in future years not covered by the MTFS. 

 Agreement upon virements of £500,000 and over or representing a 
major change of policy (any value) from one division of a Service to 
another or between Services within Portfolios or between 
Portfolios, and within the approved budget. 

 Approval of all new capital schemes, except expenditure relating to 
feasibility works up to the value of £100,000. 

 Approval of a variation to an existing capital scheme which 
increases the value of the scheme by more than £100,000 

Any reference in these Financial Regulations to the Finance Sub-
committee shall mean the Finance Sub-committee or Strategy & 
Resources Policy Committee. 

Policy 
Committees 

Once a Budget and/or a Policy Framework (or any constituent part of 
this) is in place, it will be the responsibility of the Policy Committees to 
implement it to the extent that this involves the discharging of any 
functions delegated to a Committee in Part 3 of the Constitution. 

No changes to any policy or strategy which make up the Budget 
(revenue or capital) and Policy Framework may be made, as they are 
reserved to the Council, except those changes which will result in the 
closure or discontinuance of a service or part of service to meet a 
budgetary constraint. 

Agreeing fees and charges (other than any set by Full Council as part 
of the budget process) in line with the MTFS and any policies in 
respect of fees and charges. 

All Policy Committees will receive at least a quarterly budget 
monitoring reports for their areas of responsibility, via their Accounting 

Page 166

http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31646/MTFS%2018-23%20FINAL.pdf
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31646/MTFS%2018-23%20FINAL.pdf


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 13 

Team contact. 

Local Area 
Committees 
(LACs) 

 

LACs have powers to approve expenditure of any amounts delegated 
to them by the Council.  LACs cannot spend money other than that 
allocated by Council. 

Whenever LACs spend money, they must comply with these Financial 
Regulations, Contract Standing Orders, Procurement Guidelines and 
any other relevant policies or procedures. 

LACS are constituted and operate in accordance with Part 2, Article 11 
of the Constitution, and the Procedure Rules in Part 4. 

Audit & 
Standards 
Committee 

The Audit & Standards Committee is a key part of the governance of 
the Council. The terms of reference for the Audit & Standards 
Committee are set out in the Council’s Constitution (Part 3.3). 

Finance 
Design 
Assurance 
Group (FDA) 

The FDA ensures changes to the Council’s financial systems and 
processes are effectively managed. 

It aids compliance with relevant legal, regulatory and policy 
requirements and ensures changes integrate effectively with existing 
financial systems and processes. 

Assessing and reviewing proposals that have a material impact on the 
Council’s financial systems and processes. 

Provides assurance to the CFO on relevant project and programme 
deliverables and outcomes and compliance with the Council’s financial 
strategies. 

Standards 
and Policy 
Group 

The Group develops, maintains, and communicates the principles and 
standards applied to all financial activities (policies, procedures, and 
systems). 

Developing, maintaining and communicating the standard for 
documents, setting out the format, the ownership and the review 
frequency. 

Ensuring that there is clear line of sight to the Financial Regulations 
and Contract Standing Orders. 

The Group reviews operating policies and procedures from other 
services, making suitable recommendations on their content and 
application to the appropriate decision-making body.  

The Group works in conjunction with the FDA to participate in high-
level project design activities to ensure alignment with key financial 
principles and accounting standards. 

Detailed Officer Roles and Responsibilities 

The following tables provide details about the financial management roles and 
responsibilities of key officers within the Council. 

The responsibilities have been broken down into the main areas of financial 
management and be read alongside these sections of the Financial Regulations. 

Page 167

http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=512
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=512
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=512
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=512
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=512
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=512


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 14 

The Director of Finance & Commercial Services 

S151 and 
deputy s151 
officers 
 
 

Fulfilling the statutory role of the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) for 
the purposes of s151 of the Local Government Act 1972 and 
s114/114A of the Local Government Finance Act 1988. 

A statutory responsibility to ensure that the Council plans for the 
proper administration of the Council’s financial affairs. 

Ensuring the production and monitoring of these Financial 
Regulations. 

Ensuring that the s151 role is fulfilled at a strategic level. 

On a day-to-day basis, all s151 responsibilities may be discharged 
by the Head of Accounting and the Head of Finance & 
Commercial Business Partnering.  They will act on behalf of the 
CFO in ensuring proper discharge of these statutory 
responsibilities. 

Nothing in the above paragraph diminishes the ultimate financial 
responsibilities of the CFO. 

Financial 
Management 
 

If the Head of Accounting or the Head of Finance & Commercial 
Business Partnering is unavailable, signing grant Funder offer 
letters, or documentation, to accept a grant of £1m or more. 

If the Head of Accounting or the Head of Finance & Commercial 
Business Partnering is unavailable, signing statutory returns or 
other documents that require the authority of the CFO. 

Reporting significant risks to the Council’s Leadership Boards and 
to the Policy Committees in quarterly budget monitoring reports. 

Agreeing borrowing and investment transactions if the Head of 
Accounting and nominated deputies are unavailable. 

Maintaining a record of all financial information and approvals in 
relation to leases, and other credit arrangements, and work with 
service to approve all leases, except property related leases. 

Ensuring that appropriate training is made available to support the 
Financial Regulations and operational procedures. 

Writing financial standards, policies, procedures, forms, etc. which 
support the Financial Regulations. 

Overall responsibility for the financial elements of Council’s Asset 
Register and for making sure all necessary accounting 
requirements are followed. 

Arranging the insurances considered necessary to cover risks to 
which the Council is exposed. 

Determining the premiums to be charged to Portfolios for 
Insurance as part of the Annual Budget process. 

Financial 
Planning 

Producing the MTFS with Executive Directors. 

Preparing Portfolio spending proposals with the Finance & 
Commercial Business Partnering Team and Executive Directors. 

Page 168

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/151
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1988/41/section/114A
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31646/MTFS%2018-23%20FINAL.pdf


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 15 

Advising on any contingency budgets required to cover 
exceptional in-year costs, such as price increases and 
commitments which are uncertain in terms of their timing and cost. 

Approving the in-year flow of money to and from reserves, and/or 
creating or consolidating reserves. 

Ensuring the Budget meets relevant statutory requirements. 

Issuing guidance regarding decisions referred. 

Signing off all Financial Implications summaries, directly or by an 
authorised officer on their behalf. 

Purchasing 
 

Ensuring Contracts Standing Orders are correct, up to date and fit 
for purpose and adhered to. 

Reporting all unauthorised breaches of the Contracts Standing 
Orders to the Audit & Standards Committee in the form of a report. 

Consider requests for waivers of the Contracts Standing Orders 
and allowing them where appropriate. 

Ensuring procedures are in place for the ordering and 
procurement of goods and/ or services. 

Providing advice and guidance on the procurement process. 

Ensuring training and guidance is available for all officers involved 
in the Purchasing to Payment (P2P) process. 

Approving suppliers of goods and/ or services. 

Setting and revising the values in the Authorisation Matrix for the 
authorisation of Purchase Orders. 

On a day-to-day basis these responsibilities are carried out by 
Procurement. 

Internal 
Charges 

Making sure that there are proper processes and procedures in 
place to support the internal charging system. 

Internal Audit Maintaining a continuous internal audit of all the Council’s financial 
systems, records and operations. 

On a day-to-day basis these responsibilities are carried out by 
Internal Audit. 

Companies, 
Joint Ventures, 
Partnerships, 
Joint 
Committees 

Agreeing the arrangements for robust financial governance and 
control where the Council is involved as a minority interest in 
partnership arrangements or Joint Committees that use their own 
finance systems. 

Council 
Supply 
Agreements 

Providing an opinion to Executive Directors on the financial 
aspects of Council Supply Agreements. 

Grant (Gift) 
Arrangements 

Ensuring there are proper processes and procedures in place for 
the making of grant aid. 

 
Page 169

http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=512


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 16 

The Head of Accounting 

Financial 
Management 

Undertaking day-to-day s151 responsibilities on behalf of the CFO. 

Signing grant Funder offer letters, or documentation, to accept a 
grant of £1m or more. 

Signing statutory returns or other documents that require the 
authority of the CFO. 

Recommending amendments of the Financial Regulations to 
Council to mirror any changes to recommended best practice or 
essential service requirements. 

Fulfilling the role of the Money Laundering Reporting Officer 
(MLRO). 

Co-Chair of the FDA and the Standards and Policy Group. 

Budget 
Monitoring 

Treasury 
Management 

Carry forward 
requests 

Virements 

Annually producing the budget monitoring reporting timetable. 

Reporting to the Strategy & Resources Policy Committee and 
Finance Sub-Committee on the overall revenue out-turn position 
including details of reserves, balances and provisions held by 
Portfolios. 

Producing an annual Borrowing and Treasury Management 
Strategy for approval by Council. 

Agreeing any borrowing or investment on behalf of the Council 
ensuring compliance with the Borrowing Strategy and the Treasury 
Management Strategy. 

Producing an annual report to Council on treasury management 
activities, transactions and decisions. 

Reviewing requests by Directors to carry forward underspends into 
the following financial year. 

Approving virements under £500,000. 

Reviewing Budget variations and ensuring correct approval as per 
these Financial Regulations and the Constitution. 

Income 
Management 

Reporting on levels of debts, and the changes in the bad debts 
provision, to the Audit & Standards Committee as part of the annual 
accounts process. 

Purchasing – 
verbal orders, 
urgent and 
non-order 
payments 

Ensuring verbal orders have appropriate supporting documentation. 

Approving non-order payments, e.g. multiple, one-off, BACS, 
CHAPS payments, direct creditors payments or Interfaces, with 
assurance from the FDA.  Keeping the arrangements under regular 
review and maintaining a list of these payments and exemptions. 

Authorising urgent payments that do not require a Purchase Order 
and do not comply with the Authorisation Matrix.  Additional 
assurance is provided by the FDA. 

Payroll, 
Expenses, 
and Petty 

Approving the arrangements made by the Director of Human 
Resources & Customer Services for approving and controlling 
payments to all current and former employees. 

Page 170

http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=512


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 17 

Cash Floats Developing and approving procedures related to payments to 
individuals and the management of petty cash floats. 
 
Approving changes to the accounting and taxation elements of the 
payroll system. 

Bank 
Accounts 

Banking 

Procurement 
/ Credit Cards 

Opening or closing bank accounts in the name of Sheffield City 
Council; this includes associated bank accounts which the Council 
does not directly control such as joint arrangements. 

Responsibility for all negotiations of banking terms with the 
Council’s Bankers. 

Maintaining an authorised signature list for banking transactions. 

Authorise the execution of Amendment Agreements. 

Opening, closing and managing all credit cards, charge cards and 
other payment cards held in the Council’s name. 

Approving officer applications for procurement/ credit cards. 

Determining monthly credit and individual transaction limits for each 
card.  Reviewing requests for alterations to these limits. 

Ensuring that reconciliations of bank accounts and credit cards are 
supported by evidence/ documentation, reviewed and certified. 

Ensuring that a register of all procurement cards is kept, containing 
employee details, credit and transaction limits and the date of issue. 

On a day-to-day basis these responsibilities are carried out by the 
Treasury Team. 

Retention of 
Records 

Producing and maintaining a schedule on the retention periods of 
financial records in accordance with current best practice. 

Financial 
Systems 

Maintaining the Council’s accounting system, which the Council’s 
Accounts are produced from. 

Controlling access to the Council’s systems and information. 

Ensuring both the accuracy and security of the data held in the 
Council’s accounting system. 

Ensuring the financial controls of feeder systems to Integra are 
robust and in line with information governance regulations. 

On a day-to-day basis these responsibilities are carried out by the 
Finance Systems / Training Team. 

Accounting Producing the Council’s Accounts in line with Accounting 
Standards, for approval by the Audit & Standards Committee. 

Producing a timetable and guidance to produce the Final Accounts. 

Reviewing the evidence supporting material year-end accruals. 

On a day-to-day basis these responsibilities are carried out by the 
Financial Accounting Team. 

 Page 171

http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=512


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 18 

Head of Finance & Commercial Business Partnering 

Financial 
Management 

Undertaking day-to-day s151 responsibilities on behalf of the CFO. 

If the Head of Accounting is unavailable, signing grant Funder offer 
letters, or documentation, to accept a grant of £1m or more. 

If the Head of Accounting is unavailable, signing statutory returns or 
other documents that require the authority of the CFO. 

Act on behalf of the Head of Accounting, as and when required, if 
the delegations in these Financial Regulations are not clear. 

Recommending amendments of the Financial Regulations to 
Council to mirror any changes to recommended best practice or 
essential service requirements. 

Reserves Produce an annual Reserves Strategy for approval by Council. 

Approving the transfer of restricted grants to reserves. 

Capital 
Programme 

 

Proposing the Capital Programme for the next financial year and 
then present this to the Capital Programme Group, Finance Sub-
Committee and/or the relevant Policy Committees and then Council. 

Ensuring that Capital projects have financial approval. 

Report on the overall Capital outturn position to the Strategy & 
Resources Policy Committee and Finance Sub-Committee. 

Producing a timetable for reviewing, approving, managing and 
reporting Capital spending. 

Approving projects with expenditure of up to £100,000, for feasibility 
works on potential projects to be carried out, provided that: 

 Evidence confirms that the project is viable.  Any 
recommendations from the feasibility works should be able to be 
implemented so that the cost of the works is not wasted. 

 There is sufficient funding in place to cover the entire project, 
including the feasibility works. 

 The project is classified as Capital expenditure, in line with the 
capital accounting rules. 

Approving Capital expenditure in line with the emergency approvals 
procedure together with the Executive Directors. 

As budget holder for the Council’s Capital Financing costs, 
approving Financial Implications. 

On a day-to-day basis these responsibilities are carried out by the 
Capital Team. 

External 
Funding 

Ensuring grant applications are correctly completed and submitted 
by the required date. 

Ensuring all grant offers of External Funding made to the Council 
are appropriately accepted and approved. 

Ensuring all completed grant claims and certifications are approved. 

Providing advice and guidance on funder requirements regarding 
Page 172



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 19 

match funding sources and approving documentation. 

Ensuring all statutory financial returns related to external funding 
are completed and submitted in line with relevant guidelines. 

Confirming the income due from grant claims is received. 

Ensuring the required financial records are kept for the 
reconciliation of grant income to meet External Audit requirements. 

On a day-to-day basis these responsibilities are carried out by the 
External Funding Team (EFT). 

Taxation Ensuring compliance with relevant legislation by ensuring 
appropriate taxation advice is available to Executive Directors. 

Seeking appropriate external advice where the tax implications of a 
project are sufficiently complex. 

Ensuring the employment status of individuals, limited companies 
and partnerships are valid, and records are stored in line with 
HMRC requirements. 

Complying with the requirements of the Construction Industry 
Scheme (CIS) in relation to tax deductions on the payment of 
invoices for construction work, repairs and renovation. 

Establishing an appropriately skilled team to manage the Council’s 
VAT responsibilities. 

Preparing and submitting VAT Returns to HMRC which maximise 
the cash flow benefit to the Council, but no later than the deadlines 
agreed with HMRC. 

Ensuring Value Added Tax (VAT) related records (e.g. invoices or 
credit notes) are stored and in line with HM Revenue and Customs 
(HMRC) requirements. 

On a day-to-day basis these responsibilities are carried out by the 
Tax Team. 

Procurement 
/ Credit Cards 

If the Head of Accounting is unavailable, approve officer 
applications for procurement/ credit cards. 

Head of Revenues & Benefits 

Financial 
Management 

Recommending amendments of the Financial Regulations to 
Council to mirror any changes to recommended best practice or 
essential service requirements. 

Co-Chair of the FDA and the Deputy Chair of the Standards and 
Policy Group. 

Income 
Management 
 

Determining the standard payments methods that may be used to 
collect income. Approve any exceptions to the standard methods. 

Providing training and advice on these payment methods and 
raising of invoices. 

Approving procedures for the receipting and banking of income. 

Page 173

https://www.gov.uk/what-is-the-construction-industry-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/what-is-the-construction-industry-scheme


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 20 

Providing advice on best practice for cash storage and banking. 

Managing all debt recovery actions except Housing Rents. 

Approving exceptions to the 60-day debt rule. 

Agreeing payment arrangements that last longer than 12 months. 

Having procedures and policies in place for the administration of 
Direct Debits for the collection of Sundry Debts. 

Review debts covered by a Land Charge that remain outstanding 
after 6 years, to determine whether the debt should be written off in 
the Finance system. 

Approving proposed write offs. 

Receiving information about suspected Money Laundering activities 
within the Council. 

On a day-to-day basis these responsibilities are carried out by the 
Income Collection and Management Team (ICAM). 

Council Tax Administration, billing and collection of Council Tax. 

On a day-to-day basis these responsibilities are carried out by the 
Revenues & Benefits Team. 

Business 
Rates 

Administration, billing and collection of Business Rates. 

On a day-to-day basis these responsibilities are carried out by the 
Revenues & Benefits Team. 

Benefits Administration and payment of Housing Benefit, Discretionary 
Housing Payment & Council Tax Hardship Schemes as well as the 
recovery of any overpayments. 

On a day-to-day basis these responsibilities are carried out by the 
Revenues & Benefits Team. 

Accounts 
Payable 

Ensuring arrangements are in place for paying supplier invoices. 

On a day-to-day basis these responsibilities are carried out by the 
Accounts Payable Team. 

Executive Directors 

Financial 
Management 

Ensuring the proper financial management of their portfolio. 

 

Accountability 
Framework 

Producing and maintaining an up-to-date Accountability Framework 
for the Directors and Heads of Service in each Portfolio. 

All their Portfolio staff comply with the Financial Regulations. 

Ensuring the training available on the Financial Regulations is 
accessed by their staff. 

Asset 
management  

 

Ensuring adequate arrangements are in place for maintaining and 
protecting the Council’s property assets. 

Ensuring that any acquisition, including leases, or disposal of 
assets is approved in accordance with the Constitution, the 

Page 174



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 21 

Council’s Disposal Framework policy and Finance are informed. 

Financial risk 
management 
and Money 
Laundering 

 

Ensuring that risk management and business continuity are 
embedded at all levels within their portfolios in line with the Risk 
Management Framework. 

Identifying and controlling risks in their area. 

Notifying the CFO of any circumstances which could result in the 
Council incurring a substantial liability. 

Ensuring adherence to the Anti-Money Laundering Policy. 

Notifying the CFO (or deputy) where there is any actual or 
suspected irregularity affecting the Council’s assets. 

Insurance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ensuring that the insurance cover chargeable to their Portfolio 
budgets is accurate and up to date.  

Providing renewal information annually to the Insurance Team. 

Notifying the Insurance Team of any loss, liability or damage or any 
event likely to lead to a claim and taking any action that may be 
necessary to satisfy any policy conditions. 

Informing the CFO of any vehicle purchases (or leases) or 
disposals, premises purchases (or leases) or disposals and of any 
occupations or vacations of premises. 

Financial 
Planning 
covers 

MTFS 

Annual 
revenue 
budget setting 
and approval 

Budget 
Monitoring 

Virements and 
variations 
including 
approvals 

Financial 
Implications 
and sign-off 

 

Preparing detailed spending proposals for their portfolio in 
conjunction with Finance & Commercial Business Partnering and 
the CFO. 

Informing the CFO of any exceptional expenditure items so that an 
appropriate level of contingency can be agreed. 

Ensuring their approved Portfolio Revenue Budget is not overspent. 

Managing their approved Revenue Budgets within the cash 
allocations and financial targets approved by the Council, unless 
specific and approved additional resources are provided in year. 

Reviewing requests to carry forward underspends. This should be 
linked to the annual revenue budget and, where possible, identified 
in the business planning process. 

Not making commitments to spend in future years without 
consultation with the CFO and the Finance Sub-Committee. 

Ensuring that all managers in their portfolios adhere to the budget 
monitoring and reporting timescales set by the CFO. 

Proposing budget variations – please see the Virements and 
Variations to the Annual Revenue Budget section below. 

Ensure all reports supporting decisions that go to the Policy 
Committees or Council, contain a section, ‘Financial Implications’. 

Capital 
Programme 

Ensuring that managers within their Service Area comply with the 
procedures and timescales related to capital project management. 

Approving capital expenditure in line with the emergency approvals 

Page 175

http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31075/7%20-%20Appendix%20E%20-%20Revised%20Anti%20Money%20Laudering%20Policy.pdf
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31646/MTFS%2018-23%20FINAL.pdf


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 22 

procedure, together with the Head of Finance & Commercial 
Business Partnering. 

Ensure adherence to SCC’s Project Management Guidelines. 

Ensuring that the relevant procurement procedures have been 
followed in relation to Capital projects. 

External 
Funding 

Ensuring all applications for external funding are made in line with 
the Funder requirements and EFT are consulted. 

Ensuring all offers of external funding are only accepted in 
accordance with the Constitution. 

Ensuring all the terms and conditions attached to a grant are met 
and evidence to confirm this is collected and retained. 

Ensuring grant claims are prepared, checked by the Accounting 
Team and EFT, and submitted as per the Funder’s requirements. 

Managing all external funding within their area of responsibility 
using the Council’s systems and processes. 

Income 
Management 

Setting fair fees and charges to cover the cost of the spending in 
their services. 

Allowing customers to make payment up front wherever possible 
and ensuring that their services can safely store and bank cash. 

Ensuring that cash can be transported securely and that their 
services have insurance to cover the storage and transport of cash. 

Immediately informing the Police, Internal Audit and the Insurance 
Team where any theft of cash (or its equivalent e.g. debit or credit 
cards) is discovered or suspected. 

Ensuring that where customers do not pay up front, that account 
receivable accounts are created, and the customer(s) are informed 
within the required timescales. 

Ensuring that staff use only approved payment methods to collect 
payments from customers and that more than one option is offered 
so that customers have a choice. 

Determining how their Portfolio and, where applicable, their partner 
organisations, manage each payment option. 

Ensuring partner organisations only use the standard payment 
methods which are approved by the Head of Revenues & Benefits. 

Ensuring that all systems and processes related to customer 
payments comply with all relevant legal and security requirements 
e.g. the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS). 

Effectively managing the level of debt within their Portfolio, in 
conjunction with the ICAM Team: 

 Reduce the level of payments which are not automatically linked 
to a specific debt. 

 Resolve customer disputes within the required timescales. 

Page 176



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 23 

 Identify debts that will never realistically be paid by the customer 
and recommend for write off (joint authorisation with the Head of 
Revenues & Benefits). 

Ensuring that all relevant documentation is kept and is accessible in 
case it is required for debt recovery procedures, up to and including 
court action. 

Ensuring that their staff are aware of the possibility of money 
laundering activities and that they comply with the Council’s Anti-
Money Laundering Policy. 

Purchasing Ensuring expenditure is not incurred if it represents a departure 
from Council policy or not in line with the approved budget. 

Ensuring expenditure incurred in the name of the Council is 
appropriate and legal. 

Ensuring suppliers of the Council have the necessary HMRC 
certification enabling them to be paid through the Council’s 
payments system. 

Ensuring that P2P arrangements comply with The Council’s 
Constitution and Contract Standing Orders, HMRC requirements, 
Health and Safety Regulations, Environmental Policy and Domestic 
Law. 

Informing the Head of Accounting, if action must be taken to cancel 
stolen or lost credit/procurement cards, or those issued to 
employees who have resigned from the Council. 

Internal 
Charges 

Ensuring that their managers and staff follow the procedures for 
internal charges, including the requirement for an internal order and 
the use of specified financial codes. 

Payroll, 
Expenses and 
Petty Cash 
Floats 

Providing correct payroll information, as per the agreed timetables. 

Ensuring any changes to the payroll, (e.g. post, establishment and 
contract of employment changes, etc.) are communicated in line 
with the procedures approved by the Director of HR & Customer 
Services. 

Ensuring all payments to employees are: 

 Made through the payroll. 

 Made only to official employees. 

 In accordance with individual contracts of employment. 

Ensuring all necessary information is supplied so that deductions 
such as PAYE and superannuation are correctly applied. 

Determining petty cash requirements for their portfolio. 

Taxation Ensuring that the VAT element of any transaction is considered with 
the objective of maximising VAT recovery and minimising the level 
of irrecoverable VAT being incurred by the Council. 

Ensuring that VAT is properly accounted for on all transactions 
entered by the Council. 

Page 177

http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31075/7%20-%20Appendix%20E%20-%20Revised%20Anti%20Money%20Laudering%20Policy.pdf
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31075/7%20-%20Appendix%20E%20-%20Revised%20Anti%20Money%20Laudering%20Policy.pdf


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 24 

Keeping VAT records within their area of activity. 

Complying with all VAT legislation and regulations applicable to the 
delivery of their service. 

Monitoring and planning for any changes in VAT legislation or 
regulations which affect their areas of activity. 

Advising the Head of Finance & Commercial Business Partnering of 
any capital projects that are under consideration which contain the 
risk of irrecoverable VAT being incurred by the Council, whether by 
way of exempt input tax or otherwise. 

In circumstances where an individual, rather than a company, is 
engaged to provide a service to the Council; ensuring that all 
HMRC regulations relating to that engagement are adhered to. 

Stores, 
Stocks, 
Assets and 
Security 

Controlling access to stores, etc. and making sure that stocks and 
assets are only used on Council business. 

Ensuring the control arrangements are robust for additional stock to 
stores and items issued.   Appropriate records must be maintained. 

Maintaining a record of stock levels for each item which should be 
physically checked at a frequency agreed by Executive Directors 
which reflects factors such as stock values, usage etc. 

Maintaining an inventory of all assets over £100 in value, together 
with all attractive and portable items below this figure. 

Ensuring an annual physical check of assets is undertaken. 

Reporting obsolete or missing items for write-off. Documenting 
approval and amending Inventory Records accordingly. 

Maintaining a register of assets removed from Council premises for 
use on official Council business. 

Providing the Head of Accounting with a certificate of the stock 
value held by their Portfolios at the end of the financial year. 

Retention of 
Records 

Ensuring that all records, are managed in line with the Council’s 
Document and Records Management Policy. 

Ensuring records are retained for a period that meets the 
requirements of HMRC, the Council’s External Auditors and any 
other appropriate Body.  

Financial 
Systems 

Reconciling portfolio feeder systems to the information reported in 
the Council’s financial system. 

Ensuring that Portfolio systems, e.g. Controcc, promptly produce 
financial returns in a format required by the Head of Accounting. 

Controlling the access to Portfolio systems and information and 
ensuring both the accuracy and security of the data. 

Ensuring that the data on their systems (whether this is hard copy 
or in electronic format) is held in accordance with domestic data 
protection legislation. 

Ensuring that the CFO and the Business Change & Information 

Page 178



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 25 

Systems (BCIS) Team are consulted prior to the purchase and 
implementation of new computerised financial systems. 

Internal Audit Engaging with Internal Audit to produce an annual Internal Audit 
plan for the following financial year. 

Agreeing and implementing relevant Audit recommendations. 

Companies, 
Joint 
Ventures, 
Partnerships, 
Joint 
Committees 

Reporting at least annually to the appropriate Policy Committee on 
the financial affairs of any partnership bodies. 
 

Grant (Gift) 
Arrangements 

Ensuring that any funds set aside to make individual grants are 
properly approved in line with the Constitution. 

Ensuring that all grant payments to voluntary organisations (or 
other recipients) are properly approved in line with the Constitution, 
these Financial Regulations and all other relevant documentation. 

Where a grant payment is withdrawn or reclaimed, ensuring that 
this is agreed in line with the Constitution. 

Ensuring that the external relationship with any recipient of grant 
aid is managed in line with all guidance provided by the Director of 
Legal & Governance. 

Ensuring that any Grant/ Gift arrangements within their area of 
responsibility are made in line with the Constitution. 

Council 
Supply 
Agreements 

Ensuring that Council Supply Agreements within their area of 
responsibility are approved in accordance with the requirements of 
the Constitution. 

This includes seeking the opinion of the CFO. 

Back to Contents page 

Page 179



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 26 

2. Financial Management 

The Cycle 

The following diagram shows the financial management process starting with Service 
Planning and ending with the review of performance before the cycle starts again. 

These Financial Regulations and the operational financial policies and procedures 
issued by the CFO support the financial management process. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Asset Management 

This section outlines how the Council will manage, maintain and protects its assets. 

The Asset 
Management 
Strategy 

The Chief Property Officer is responsible for Property Asset 
Management across the Council.  When market conditions are good 
this includes considering the disposal of surplus capital assets as 
part of the Council’s Asset Management Plan. 

Any acquisition or disposal of assets must be approved in line with 
the Constitution and the Council’s Disposal Framework policy. 

One Council 

Planning 

Performance 

Review 

Budget 
Implementation 
Plans / Budget 

Setting 

Financial 
Planning / 
Business 

Plans 

Financial 

Regulations 

Financial 
Monitoring & 

Administration 

Standards, Policies, 
Procedures & 

Processes 

Page 180



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 27 

Risk Management 

This section details the arrangements for risk management, including financial risk 
management. 

Risk 
management is 
the practice of 
identifying 
potential risks 
in advance, 
analysing them 
and taking steps 
to reduce/curb 
the risk 

 

Specific responsibilities relating to risk management are set out in 
the Risk Management Framework and Guidance. 

The Council's Risk Management Strategy is based on good risk 
management being an integral part of good management and not a 
separate activity. 

Risk management and business continuity must be embedded at all 
levels within portfolios in line with the Risk Management 
Framework. 

Directors are responsible for maintaining and monitoring a Service 
Risks and Assurances log which must include financial risks. 

Financial risk management is built into these Financial Regulations 
and many of the core processes that the Council expects managers 
to follow on a day-to-day basis. 

Good practices for good financial risk management include: 

 monitoring budgets, 

 complying with the processes in these Regulations, 

 following the decision-making framework, and 

 maintaining and monitoring key financial risk registers. 

Money 
Laundering 

The Anti-Money Laundering Policy was produced by Internal Audit 
on behalf of the CFO. 

In line with the Anti-Money Laundering Policy, the Head of 
Accounting is the Officer nominated to receive information about 
possible Money Laundering activity within the Council – the MLRO. 

The roles and responsibilities of the MLRO are set out in Appendix 
B to the Policy. 

Where there are significant cash payments, i.e. £1,000 or more in 
cash, or up to £2,500 in linked transactions, officers should check 
the identity of the client in line with the Council’s Anti-Money 
Laundering Policy. 

Payments in cash must not be accepted by employees of the 
Council or any of its agents where the amount is over the current 
limit of £2,500.  This limit is set by the Council’s MLRO. 

Fraud The Council’s “Code of Conduct for Employees” and 
‘Whistleblowing Policy’ requires any Council officer, who becomes 
aware of potential theft, fraud or corruption, to bring this to the 
attention of the appropriate manager. 

Executive Directors are responsible for notifying the CFO (or 
deputy) where there is any actual or suspected irregularity affecting 
the Council’s assets.  The reporting of concerns to the Council’s 
Internal Audit Service is considered adequate for discharging this 

Page 181

http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31075/7%20-%20Appendix%20E%20-%20Revised%20Anti%20Money%20Laudering%20Policy.pdf
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31075/7%20-%20Appendix%20E%20-%20Revised%20Anti%20Money%20Laudering%20Policy.pdf
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31075/7%20-%20Appendix%20E%20-%20Revised%20Anti%20Money%20Laudering%20Policy.pdf
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31075/7%20-%20Appendix%20E%20-%20Revised%20Anti%20Money%20Laudering%20Policy.pdf


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 28 

responsibility. 

Insurance 

 

Appropriate Insurances will be in place to cover the risks that the 
Council is exposed to.  The cost of insurance cover will be 
chargeable to portfolios. 

Insurance arrangements are reviewed regularly in consultation with 
the Executive Directors. 

On a day-to-day basis, Insurance arrangements are managed by 
the Insurance Team.  This team should be notified of any loss, 
liability or damage or any event likely to lead to a claim. 

Additionally, the Insurance Team should be promptly notified of any 
circumstances involving both existing and new risk, which could 
result in the Council incurring a substantial liability. This will include 
details about Members, Officers, service users, third parties, 
property, vehicles, plant/ other assets, trading activities undertaken 
with organisations external to the Council, and any alterations 
affecting existing insurances. 

Back to Contents page 

Page 182



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 29 

3. Financial Planning 

There are 3 key elements to Financial Planning at Sheffield City Council: 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). 

 Capital Programme. 

 Annual Revenue Budget. 

Each element has a specific purpose and is designed to ensure the robustness of the 
Council’s overall financial arrangements. 

The MTFS is an 
integrated 
financial plan 

The MTFS is a key part of good governance and is a tool to help the 
Council deliver its priorities. 

The MTFS links closely to the Corporate Plan.  The Corporate Plan 
in turn, informs the spending priorities included in the MTFS. 

The CFO will be responsible for producing the MTFS along with 
Executive Directors. This will be supported by policy options, 
savings and efficiencies, and both financial and non-financial 
information to assist decision-making. 

The MTFS sets an integrated financial plan, usually for a three to 
five year period, and will form the basis for the following years 
Annual Revenue Budget and Capital Programme, with projections 
for future years. 

This includes details of the amount of money available or financial 
targets for Executive Directors for the forthcoming financial year and 
guideline allocations / targets for the following years. 

The MTFS will also include projections of the Council’s reserves 
and balances. 

Capital 
Programme lists 
the projects that 
involve capital 
expenditure 

The Capital Programme is a list of planned capital projects, together 
with their supporting funds, that are linked to the Council’s 
outcomes and objectives. 

The Programme is agreed by Council in March each year. 

The Revenue 
Budget sets the 
budget 
proposals for 
the Council for a 
one-year period. 

It also sets the 
City Council 
element of the 
Council Tax 

 

The Budget is informed by the policy options that form part of the 
MTFS. 

Each Portfolio will prepare detailed spending proposals.  These 
financial estimates are then finalised with Executive Directors 
before inclusion in the Revenue Budget. 

The CFO will advise on any contingency budgets required to cover 
exceptional in-year costs such as price increases and commitments 
which are uncertain in terms of their timing and likely cost. 

Executive Directors must inform the CFO as soon as they become 
aware of any exceptional items.  An appropriate level of 
contingency can then be provided for. 

As part of the Revenue Budget, the CFO will ensure that the budget 
proposed meets relevant statutory requirements. 

 

Page 183

http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31646/MTFS%2018-23%20FINAL.pdf
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31646/MTFS%2018-23%20FINAL.pdf
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31646/MTFS%2018-23%20FINAL.pdf
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31646/MTFS%2018-23%20FINAL.pdf
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31646/MTFS%2018-23%20FINAL.pdf
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31646/MTFS%2018-23%20FINAL.pdf
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31646/MTFS%2018-23%20FINAL.pdf
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31646/MTFS%2018-23%20FINAL.pdf
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31646/MTFS%2018-23%20FINAL.pdf


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 30 

The Revenue 
Budget approval 
must be 
complete by 11th 
March each year 

 

The Council is responsible for agreeing the annual budget for 
services within Portfolios, including the overall capital programme, 
within the Budget and Policy Framework. 

The Strategy & Resources Policy Committee will recommend the 
Budget to Council for final approval together with a recommended 
level of Council Tax to be set for the coming financial year. 

To meet statutory requirements this must be done by the 11th March 
each year. 

Once the Revenue Budget has been approved by Council, 
Executive Directors may spend up to the amount approved for the 
period covered by that budget. 

Individual items of expenditure within the budget must still be 
approved in line with the Council’s Contract Standing Orders, 
Procurement Guidelines and must follow the requirements of the 
Constitution. 

Revenue Budget 
Monitoring is 
undertaken in 
line with an 
agreed 
timetable 

 

An annual timetable for budget monitoring reporting is produced 
and the following principles will apply: 

 Monitoring reports, prepared on an accrued basis, will be 
reported to Portfolio Management Teams monthly (except month 
1). 

 At least quarterly overall monitoring reports will be reported to 
the Leadership Boards, Finance Sub-Committee and the Policy 
Committees. 

As soon as practical after the end of the financial year, the Head of 
Accounting will report to the the Strategy & Resources Policy 
Committee on the overall revenue out-turn position including details 
of reserves, balances and provisions held by Portfolios. 

The report should include recommendations relating to the 
treatment of any under and overspending by Portfolios. 

Virements and Variations to the Annual Revenue Budget 

This section explains what virements and variations are and how they should be 
approved. 

A virement is 
the transfer of 
monies from 
one budget 
head to another  

For example, 
one budget is 
overspending, 
or a function 
has moved from 
one portfolio or 
service to 

Virements allow the Executive Directors to manage budgets with 
some flexibility, provided they remain within the overall Budget and 
Policy Framework as agreed by Council. 

Key controls for virements are that: 

 They must be approved in line with these Regulations. 

 They must not create an increase in expenditure, for example by 
creating future commitments from one-off additional spending. 

 Both parties to the virement must agree to it. 

Virements will not be allowed from capital financing charges, levies 
or other areas of spending without the specific approval of the Head 

Page 184



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 31 

another of Accounting. 

Virements 
between 
Services and 
Portfolios must 
be approved in 
line with 
specific limits 

Approval of virements must be made in line with the following limits:  

 Less than £500,000:  the virement may be approved by the 
Head of Accounting. 

 £500,000 and over or represents a major change of policy: the 
virement may only be approved by the Finance Sub-Committee. 

Budget 
underspends 
carry forward 
requests and/ or 
transfers to 
reserves 

The Annual 
Reserves 
Strategy 

Requests by Executive Directors to set up earmarked reserves, 
may only be done following approval by the CFO. 

Approving the in-year flow of money to and from reserves, and/or 
creating or consolidating reserves is at the discretion of the CFO. 

The condition for assessing requests for underspend carry forwards 
is that the overall budget position of the requesting Portfolio cannot 
exceed its approved budget or its under spending. 

The carry forward request should be submitted no later than the 
Month 8 forecast in December. 

Carry-forwards or transfers to earmarked reserves should be linked 
to the Revenue Budget and, where possible, identified in the 
business planning process. 

Once reviewed by the Head of Accounting, carry forward requests 
will be presented to the Finance Sub-Committee as part of the 
quarterly Revenue Budget monitoring process. 

Approved requests will be included, where feasible, in the Budget 
Implementation Plan for the relevant Service. 

An annual Reserves Strategy is produced for approval in line with 
the Constitution. The Head of Finance & Commercial Business 
Partnering, or delegated officer, will then manage the need for 
transfers to and from reserves. 

Where the proposed transfer does not relate to an approved 
strategy and is not a restricted grant then, subject to the urgency 
procedure, the decision may only be taken by Full Council. 

Restricted 
grants and the 
treatment of the 
carry forward 

The Head of Finance & Commercial Business Partnering, or 
delegated officer, can approve the transfer to reserves of a 
restricted grant where the expenditure is not expected to happen in 
the current financial year. 

Restricted grants must be used for a specific activity/ purpose and 
any restricted grant balances carried forward at year end will be 
drawdown in full in M1 (April) of the following financial year. 

Variations are 
changes to the 
total amount of 
expenditure 

Variations are changes to the total amount of expenditure across a 
portfolio, service or the Council as a whole that results in a change 
to the Council’s overall level of resources as set out in the Revenue 
Budget Report that is approved by Council. 

Any changes to Changes to the overall level of available resources as per the 

Page 185



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 32 

the overall level 
of resources set 
out in the 
budget must be 
appropriately 
approved 

Budget must be approved in line with the Constitution. 

Requests for variations may be submitted to Council for approval as 
detailed below: 

 Under £500,000 and not representing a major change of policy:  
may be approved by an Executive Director after consulting with 
the Head of Accounting and the Chair of relevant Policy 
Committee. 

 £500,000 and over or representing a major change of policy:  
may only be approved by Council in line with the Constitution.  
These will be proposed by the relevant Executive Director and 
Policy Committee and actioned by the Head of Accounting. 

Variations requiring support will be presented to the Policy 
Committees initially and included as part of budget monitoring. 

All approved Virements and Variations must be recorded on the 
Council’s Finance System. 

Cash Limit 
Adjustments 

Cash Limit adjustments can be done between services, within a 
service or between months on the Qtier system. 

If the adjustment does not meet the definition of a virement and is 
under £100,000, these can be signed off by the relevant Finance 
Manager (one for each side of the transaction). 

Over £100,000 and a Senior Finance Manager for the Portfolio will 
need to authorise the adjustment. 

Borrowing and Investment (Treasury Management) 

The Council must make sure it has sufficient money to cover payments, such as 
salaries, supplier payments and interest payments, when they become due. 

This section outlines the arrangements for entering and agreeing any borrowing or 
investments that may be required. 

Treasury 
Management 
involves 
undertaking 
investments and 
borrowing 
transactions for 
the Council 

 

An annual Treasury Management Strategy is produced for 
approval by Council in line with the Constitution.   This covers the 
borrowing and investment strategies and Capital Programme 
financing. 

The Head of Accounting must ensure compliance with the 
Treasury Management Strategy. 

Managing borrowing and investments is key to supporting the 
Council’s Strategic Planning process. 

The capital programme provides a guide to the borrowing needs 
of the Council; informing longer term cash flow planning to make 
sure that the Council can meet its capital spending obligations. 

The Head of Accounting must agree any borrowing or investment 
on behalf of the Council.  In an emergency the CFO can agree 
borrowing and investment transactions. 

Twice per year (mid-year and at the end of a financial year) a 
report is produced for the Strategy & Resources Policy 

Page 186



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 33 

Committee on treasury management activities, transactions and 
decisions. 

The reports will focus on the identification, monitoring and control 
of risk as this is key to the effectiveness of Treasury 
Management.   The mid-year report is presented alongside 
budget monitoring information. 

If income over 
£50,000 is 
expected, the 
Treasury Team 
should be notified 

 

Where amounts of £50,000 or over is expected, e.g. completion 
of property purchases, this must be reported to the Treasury 
Team. 

Knowing that a large receipt is due will help the Treasury Team 
to manage the Council’s cash flow which may well reduce the 
need for short term loans to cover Council expenditure. 

If services have 
any special 
payment 
requirements over 
£50,000, the 
Treasury Team 
should be notified 

The Treasury Team should be notified a week in advance of any 
special payment requirements above £50,000. 

If this is not possible, to make any special payments, the 
Treasury Team must be notified by no later than 10am on the 
day the payment is expected to be made. 

Back to Contents page 

Page 187



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 34 

4. Financial Implications 

This section explains the process for considering the financial implications of decisions.  

Before any 
decision is made 
by Officers, the 
financial 
implications of 
that decision 
need to be 
considered 

 

The financial implications section of reports must summarise the 
capital and revenue implications of the proposals, together with 
details of any potential risks. 

Officers involved in making decisions (that are not published) must 
also give proper thought to the financial implications. This includes 
consulting with their Finance contact where necessary. The 
implications identified should be documented and retained, in case 
of future challenge or audit requirement. 

Whilst it is not compulsory, it is good practice, for reports made to 
other meetings, such as management team meetings, etc. to also 
include a Financial Implications section. 

Arrangements for 
the sign–off of 
Financial 
Implications 

 

All Financial Implications summaries must be signed off by the 
CFO, or an authorised officer on their behalf. 

Only the Head of Finance & Commercial Business Partnering, as 
the budget holder for the Council’s Capital Financing costs, (or 
officers specifically authorised to do this on their behalf) may 
approve Financial Implications which impacts on cash-flow. 

Before signing off Financial Implications, the officer who has 
prepared the report has taken all relevant advice, e.g. specialist 
financial, commercial or taxation advice. 

The name of the Officer who has signed-off the Financial 
Implications must appear on the Financial Implications section of 
the covering checklist. 

Back to Contents page 

Page 188



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 35 

5. Capital Programme 

The following section explains what the capital programme is, factors that are 
considered when it is planned and the arrangements for approving and amending 
capital projects. 

What is the 
Capital 
Programme? 

The Capital Programme is a list of planned projects which involve 
capital expenditure, together with their supporting funds, that are 
linked to the Council’s outcomes and objectives. The Programme 
is agreed by Council in March each year. 

As the Capital Programme is made up of several different projects, 
the size and scope of the Programme can vary over time.  

The International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the 
Statement of Recommended Accounting Practice (SORP) provide 
guidance on accounting for Capital projects. 

The revenue expenditure implications of the proposed Capital 
Programme will be considered as part of the approval process, as 
well as the Revenue Budget and MTFS processes. 

How is the 
Capital 
Programme 
approved? 

The proposed Capital Programme for the next financial year is put 
together by the Head of Finance & Commercial Business 
Partnering, together with the Executive Directors. 

The Programme must be reviewed by the Capital Programme 
Group before being recommended to the Leadership Boards. It is 
then taken to the Finance Sub-Committee and/or the Strategy & 
Resources Policy Committee, before being presented to Council at 
the same time as the Revenue Budget. 

Just because a project is included within the Programme, this 
does not mean it has automatic approval to take place. 

What are Capital 
Approval Forms 
(CAFs) used for? 

CAFs are used to obtain financial approval for projects within the 
Capital Programme.   Capital expenditure can only occur if fully 
funded, unless any funding gaps are approved by the Head of 
Finance & Commercial Business Partnering. 

A CAF must be completed for any new projects added to the 
Programme, or changes to existing approved projects. 

A CAF must be approved, via email, by the appropriate manager 
and include all relevant documentation. The CAF is then approved 
at the Finance Sub-Committee. 

The CAF requires the following signatures (email approval): 

 For new projects and changes to existing projects - the 
signatures of the Project Manager, sponsoring Director, and 
Capital Team. 

 For emergency approvals - the signatures of the Project 
Manager, sponsoring Director, Capital Team, an Executive 
Director and the Head of Finance & Commercial Business 
Partnering. 

 For cases considered sensitive by the Executive Director 

Page 189

http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31646/MTFS%2018-23%20FINAL.pdf


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 36 

and/or the Head of Finance & Commercial Business 
Partnering, the signatures of the Project Manager, sponsoring 
Director, Capital Team and the relevant Policy Committee. 

Project Stage 
Approval 

 

Approval for the Design, Procure and Build stages of a project will 
not be granted without recommendations from the Head of 
Finance & Commercial Business Partnering in respect of funding 
implications.  As part of this process the Head of Finance & 
Commercial Business Partnering will need to consider both the 
Revenue and Capital implications of these approvals. The level of 
contractual commitments in future years must be considered. 

The Project Manager must obtain approval for each stage of the 
project from the Head of Finance & Commercial Business 
Partnering, the Chief Property Officer (if appropriate) and the 
Capital Programme Group. 

Only the Capital Programme Group can recommend to the CFO 
the award of a contract for Capital works in line with the Council’s 
Contract Standing Orders. 

The build stage of a project cannot take place until a thorough 
review has been completed by the Project Manager.  This must be 
approved by the sponsoring Director, as well as reported to the 
Capital Programme Group. 

What to do if 
External 
Funding is used 
to support a 
capital project? 

If external funding, e.g. a grant is needed to support a Capital 
project, this must be approved by either the Head of Finance & 
Commercial Business Partnering or an authorised Finance Officer. 

If the grant requires the Council to become the Accountable 
Body for the funding, agreement for this must be obtained 
BEFORE any offers of funding are accepted. 

Funding can only be accounted for once all conditions of the grant 
have been met.  Before this point, expenditure must be covered by 
either the relevant Portfolio’s budget, or by corporate funding 
sources by agreement. 

If any part of a Capital project involves the Council guaranteeing 
the liabilities of a third party, then this must also be approved in 
accordance with the requirements of the Constitution. 

Capital Grant Funding cannot be used to fund day-to-day revenue 
expenditure. 

Arrangements 
for making 
variations to 
Projects in the 
Capital 
Programme 

Changes to a project’s finance are known as ‘Variations’. Any 
variations made to a project require approval and will depend on 
whether there are the Capital resources available. 

For existing projects, the approval levels for variations are: 

 Variations of up to £25k can be approved by the responsible 
Director. 

 Variations between £25k and £100k require approval from the 
Executive Director. 

Page 190



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 37 

 Variations above £100k require Finance Sub-Committee 
approval. These are raised in the monitoring reports. 

For approval purposes, the limits apply to the total of all variations 
since the last time approval was granted was by Council. 

Virements between Capital projects are not allowed. Any change 
to a project budget is treated as a variation. 

Emergency 
Approvals 

 

Where an emergency approval is required, this must be obtained 
in line with urgency procedures in the Constitution. 

Emergency approvals must also be referred to the CFO, the Head 
of Finance & Commercial Business Partnering, or delegated 
officer to act on their behalf. 

All emergency approvals within a month should be reported to the 
Finance Sub-Committee in the next monitoring report. If, by the 
time the decision has been reported, and no action has been 
taken, the emergency approval may be cancelled. 

Slippage and / or 
accelerated 
spend within a 
project 

When projects are approved, an annual profile is created which 
forecasts at which point in the year spending will occur. 

Accelerated spend occurs when a project has spent more than 
expected at a set point in time.  Slippage occurs when a project 
has spent less than expected at a set point in time. 

This should be reflected in monthly forecasts, and Capital Finance 
should be made aware of the situation. 

Where spending is forecast to move between financial years, this 
must be included in the monitoring reports to the Finance Sub-
Committee requesting approval. 

Where an overspend is anticipated, despite actions being taken to 
prevent this, the overspend must be covered from revenue. 

Capital Receipts 

 

Capital Receipts are the proceeds the Council receives from a 
buyer when it sells a capital asset. This can be used to fund new 
Capital projects. 

Any decision on the use of Capital Receipts will be taken as part of 
the overall approval for the project through recommendation by the 
Capital Programme Group. 

Procurement for 
capital projects 

 

Directors and Executive Directors must ensure relevant 
procurement procedures are followed for Capital projects. 

The Head of Capital Delivery Service (CDS) and the CFO must be 
made aware of any procurement activity. 

Where the project is financed, either fully or in part through 
external funding, then the requirements of the Funder in relation to 
procurement must also be met. 

 

 Page 191



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 38 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Several specific groups, teams and managers have additional roles in relation to the 
capital programme.  These are included in the table below: 

The Capital 
Programme 
Group 

Is responsible for: 

 Overseeing Capital Management. 

 Providing advice and recommendations to the Leadership 
Boards on new projects. These recommendations will be made 
to the Finance Sub-Committee. 

 Approving variations to existing projects, as well as the 
progression of projects to their next stages. 

 Approving the use of Capital receipts and grants. 

Directors and 
Project Managers 

Are responsible for: 

 Ensuring that all projects comply with the relevant laws and 
regulations. Complying with the Constitution. 

 Complying with the relevant external funding procedures. 

Project/ Budget 
Managers 

All projects must be managed in line with the Council’s Project 
Management Guidelines. 

Project Managers are responsible for: 

 Considering revenue, environmental, property, and opportunity 
costs related to a project. 

 Considering the legal, human resources, equalities impact and 
sustainability implications of the project. 

 Considering the impact of VAT on Capital projects and 
property transactions (disposals, purchases and leasing of 
land/property) and seek the advice of the Head of Finance & 
Commercial Business Partnering if required.  On a day-to-day 
basis this advice will be provided by the Council’s Tax 
Manager. 

Managing the project within budget and preventing overspends. 

Project Managers must consider the risks of, and the solutions to, 
any forecast Capital overspends. 

The Capital Team Are responsible for: 

 Steering a project through the financial approval process, 
alongside the Project Manager. 

 Reviewing, quality checking and challenging the monthly 
actuals and forecast expenditure and income. 

Reporting monthly on Capital expenditure and its financing, in line 
with the Capital Projects Approval Route. 

 

Page 192



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 39 

Capital Projects Approval Route 

The diagram below shows the stages a project must go through to be approved for 
inclusion in the Capital Programme. 

Financial Management and Reporting for Capital Accounts 

This section details how projects within the Capital Programme are monitored and 
reported on. 

Financial 
Management 

The Council’s financial management system is used to manage the 
projects within the Capital Programme. 

Project Managers are required to carry out monthly monitoring and 
forecasting for both Revenue and Capital expenditure. 

Reporting 
Process 

Monthly Capital reporting is based on CAF, Project Closure Forms 
(PCF), financial monitoring and approval request reports. 

At year end, the Head of Finance & Commercial Business Partnering 
reports on the overall Capital outturn position to the Strategy & 
Resources Policy Committee and Finance Sub-Committee. The 
Revenue outturn position is also reported at this time. 

Back to Contents page 

Approval for New Projects (inclusions) 
Regardless of £ value 

Full Council - used for approval of the Capital Forward Programme only 

Finance Sub-Committee &/or Policy Committees 

Leadership Boards 

Capital Programme Group (CPG) 

Portfolio Leadership Team (PLT) 

Director (Discussions only) 

D
e
c
is

io
n
 m

a
k
in

g
 

Page 193



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 40 

6. External Funding / Grants 

External Funding refers to additional resources, above and beyond those normally 
provided to the Council.   This funding can be used to develop and improve the quality 
of services, better meet the needs of clients or to do something that would not 
otherwise be affordable. 

Accountable 
Body status 
must be agreed 
before any 
external funding 
is accepted 

The Accountable Body is legally responsible for making sure that 
the requirements of the funder are met. 

The decision to agree to the Council becoming the Accountable 
Body for external funding must be taken BEFORE any offers of 
funding are accepted, in line with the Constitution. 

Grant Funder offer letters, or documentation, requiring signature to 
accept a grant of £1m or more must be completed by the CFO (or 
deputy) as per these Financial Regulations. 

Offer letters or documentation of less than £1m can be signed off by 
any of the Senior Finance Managers (SFM), except for the SFM’s 
that are responsible for Internal Audit and EFT or are not CCAB. 

Where the Council is guaranteeing the liabilities of a third party this 
must also be approved in line with the Constitution. 

The External 
Funding Team 
(EFT) have day-
to-day 
responsibility 
for the 
management of 
external funding 

EFT, on behalf of the Head of Finance & Commercial Business 
Partnering, is responsible for ensuring grant applications and 
subsequent offers are appropriately completed and authorised. 

Completing grant claims, statutory grant returns or other grant 
related documents can be done by the SFM’s, except for the SFM’s 
that are responsible for Internal Audit and EFT or are not CCAB. 

Grant claims of less than £100k can be signed off by the EFT 
Finance Manager. 

Grant claims that are submitted via a Funder portal still require sign 
off as per these Financial Regulations. 

If a grant requires match funding, EFT will provide guidance on 
sources of match funding and how this can be evidenced. 

Audits of 
External 
Funding may be 
required 

Internal and External audits may be carried out.  If required, this will 
be detailed in the terms and conditions from the grant Funder. 

Any associated costs will need to be funded from the relevant 
business unit’s budget. 

Retention of 
documentation 

 

All evidence required by the funding body must be collected and 
held in line with the terms and conditions of the grant. 

Documents supporting European projects must be stored for at 
least 3 years after the UK receives its final payment to the 
programme or for the period defined by the Funder. 

Where the retention period in the grant agreement is longer than the 
one prescribed in the Financial Records Retention Schedule 
(Appendix A), the funder’s requirements will take priority. 

In all other cases, the Records Retention Schedule should be 

Page 194



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 41 

followed. 

Back to Contents page 

 

7. Income Management 

Many of the services which are delivered by the Council are funded by Government 
grants and local taxation (Council Tax and Business Rates). There are also some 
services that service users and other customers pay a fee for. 

This section explains how fees and charges are set, how income is collected and what 
the Council will do to recover debts. 

Separate detailed rules apply to Housing Rent, Council Tax, Business Rates and 
Benefit Overpayment debt, so the Regulations below do not apply to these. 

Refer to section 20 for Council Supply Agreements. 

Roles and Responsibilities 

Committees and Officers involved in the sundry debt process have the following 
specific roles and responsibilities in relation to income management: 

Policy 
Committees 

 

Policy Committees are responsible for agreeing fees and charges 
in relation to their Portfolio areas, other than any set by Full 
Council as part of the budget process. 

The fees and charges must be in line with the MTFS and any 
policies in respect of fees and charges 

All Officers 
involved in the 
sundry debt 
process 

Officers who are responsible for raising invoices, credit notes, 
refunds, debt recovery and write-offs must not carry out these 
activities where they relate to debts owed by themselves or family 
members, or where they have a vested interest. 

Officers with 
Authority to 
collect cash 

Only officers with specific authorisation from their manager may 
collect cash on behalf of the Council.  These officers will be issued 
with a “Style 1” photo identification card, which clearly states that 
they are authorised to collect cash. 

Before any new Style 1 photo identification card is issued, the 
request must be approved by the Head of Revenues & Benefits, or 
delegated officer, in line with the procedure for the issue of photo 
identification cards. 

Managers should keep a register containing details of the style of 
card held by each member of staff and ensure that the card held is 
appropriate to the officer’s current duties. 

Separation of Duties  

The system in place for the collection and banking of income must include separation of 
duties between the different functions as a key form of internal control. This means that 
a single person should not be responsible for all the activities related to the collection 
and banking of income.  The activities should be carried out by different people. This is 
to help prevent fraud. Page 195

http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31646/MTFS%2018-23%20FINAL.pdf


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 42 

To comply with this principle, Managers must ensure that an officer does not carry out 
functions from both Table 1 and Table 2 (below) in any given period. This ensures that, 
for example, an officer does not check that the amount of money they themselves have 
collected equals the money that they have banked. 

Table 1 

Function Examples 

Identifying charges or 
taking a booking 

Telling a customer the cost of a particular service, e.g. 
removing a wasp’s nest. 

Booking an appointment for removal of a wasp nest. 

Billing Sending an invoice (if appropriate to do so). 

Collection and receipt 
of income 

Collecting the payment, irrespective of the method of payment 
(i.e. cash/ credit card) for removing the nest and giving the 
customer a receipt for the payment. 

Receipts might be a ‘till receipt’ or handwritten one from a 
preprinted receipt book. 

Table 2 

When money needs to be transferred between members of staff, this must be 
evidenced by the recorded signature of the officer receiving the money. 

Paying Fees and Charges 

All systems and processes related to customer payments must comply with all relevant 
legal and security requirements, e.g. the Payment Card Industry Data Security 
Standard (PCI DSS), which is a set of guidelines designed to help keep customer’s 
payment card data secure. 

Non-invoiced 
income  

Wherever possible, customers should be asked to pay for services up-
front or at the time they receive the service they are paying for. 

Allowing customers to pay on credit, e.g. by issuing an invoice, should 
be avoided as often as possible. This reduces both the potential for 

Function Examples 

Reconciling receipts to 
income 

Adding up the payments received, and all the receipts issued 
and then making sure they come to the same amount. 

Banking income Doing the Cash Management lodgment journals so the income 
appears on the finance system as being in the bank. This also 
puts it into the correct Business Unit. 

Arranging for cash to be physically put into the Council’s Bank 
Account. This may be done via the cash collection service – 
currently provided by LOOMIS. 

Monitoring income 
received, banked and 
outstanding 

Checking money that has been banked equals the amount that 
is on the receipts. 

Monthly monitoring of outstanding debts. 

Page 196



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 43 

invoices not being paid by customers and the administration costs to 
the Council. 

The Council is legally required to provide a tax invoice, if a customer 
asks for one. Any requests received should be referred to the Tax 
Team within Finance & Commercial Services. 

Invoiced 
Income 

The minimum value for a sundry debt invoice is £25.  If a Council 
service area wishes to raise an invoice for lower than this amount, 
they will need to obtain the approval of the Head of Revenues & 
Benefits, or delegated officer. 

All sundry debt accounts must be raised on the Accounts Receivable 
section of the finance system unless exceptions have been agreed 
with the Head of Revenues & Benefits, or delegated officer. 

Invoices should be issued within 10 working days of the: 

 goods or services being supplied, or 

 month end if there is an on-going service provision. 

In line with standard accounting practice, income will be credited to the 
relevant Business Unit at the point the invoice is raised on the finance 
system - not when the money is received. 

To comply with all relevant HMRC regulations, the date of the invoice 
must be within 60 days of the actual date that the goods or services 
were supplied. If you cannot meet this timescale, you must contact the 
Council’s Tax Manager for advice. 

The information on the Sundry Debt invoice must be correct, complete 
and supported by all necessary and relevant evidence to show that the 
Council is actually owed the income.  If debt recovery action needs to 
be taken, including Court proceedings, this evidence will be required. 

Officers raising invoices are also responsible for ensuring that the 
correct amount of VAT is applied. If an officer is not sure what the 
correct VAT treatment is, they should contact the Tax Team. 

To ensure that invoices are raised correctly, they must only be raised 
by officers who have had appropriate training. 

Standard Payment Methods 

Only the payment methods outlined in the tables below can be used by all Services and 
partner organisations. These are the payment methods which have been approved by 
the Head of Revenues & Benefits. 

Not all methods are relevant to every Council service area or customer group, but they 
are all the options the Council will support. 

Page 197



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 44 

Debit/Credit 
cards 
(including the 
payment of 
transaction 
fees) 

 

The Council will accept all major debit and credit cards, except 
American Express, Diners Club, JCB and Solo. 

Credit cards may be used for both non-commercial debts (such as 
Business Rates and rent arrears) and commercial debts (such as hire 
of sporting facilities and pest control). 

Card transaction fees will be funded centrally from within Finance & 
Commercial Services, subject to annual reviews of costs.  They may 
also be recharged to the Housing Revenue Account. 

Direct Debits Direct debits must only be used to collect payment: 

 For invoices that are raised on a regular basis (e.g. monthly rental 
agreements). 

 Where an arrangement to pay an invoice in instalments has been 
agreed by the Head of Revenues & Benefits, or delegated officer. 

Direct debits should not be used where the annual value to be 
collected is less than £100. This amount may be changed at any time 
by the Head of Revenues & Benefits. 

If a customer’s Direct Debit fails twice in a 12-month period then the 
option to pay by Direct Debit must be withdrawn from that customer 
and may only be reinstated with the agreement of the Head of 
Revenues & Benefits, or delegated officer. 

Under the Direct Debit Guarantee scheme, the Council must give 
customers at least 10 working days notice if the amount that is due to 
be collected will change. If the amount changes on a regular basis, 
such as Home Support, an invoice must be issued. This is for 
information purposes only and the customer does not need to pay the 
invoice separately to their Direct Debit. 

Cash The option of cash payments is considered on a case-by-case basis. 

Cash can be used to pay bills at Post Offices and PayPoint outlets 
subject to maximum values of £1000 and £200 respectively. 

Where there are significant cash payments, i.e. £1,000 or more in 
cash, or up to £2,500 in linked transactions, officers should check the 
identity of the client as per the Council’s Anti-Money Laundering 
Policy. 

Payments in cash must not be accepted by employees of the Council 
or any of its agents where the amount is over the current limit of 
£2,500.  This limit is set by the Council’s MLRO. 

Administration 
Costs 

If there are any administrative costs associated with implementing a 
particular payment method, this will be funded by the Service 
requesting the method. 

Expected 
income over 
£50,000 

 

Where amounts of £50,000 or over is expected, e.g. completion of 
property purchases, this must be reported to the Treasury Team. 

Knowing that a large receipt is due will help this Team to manage the 
Council’s cash flow, which may well reduce the need for short term 

Page 198

http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31075/7%20-%20Appendix%20E%20-%20Revised%20Anti%20Money%20Laudering%20Policy.pdf
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31075/7%20-%20Appendix%20E%20-%20Revised%20Anti%20Money%20Laudering%20Policy.pdf


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 45 

loans to cover Council expenditure. 

Payment Channels  

The following tables outline the payment methods and payment channels for both 
invoiced and non-invoiced income: 

Invoice/ Not 
Invoiced 

Payment Method Payment Channel 

Invoice/ Not 
Invoiced   

Credit or debit card online via the Council 
website. 

On-line - Customer self-
service 

Invoiced Credit or debit card using an automated 
telephone service. 

Telephone - Customer 
self-service 

Invoice/ Not 
Invoiced   

Credit or debit card over the phone where a 
member of staff transfers the customer to 
Call Secure so they can enter the payment 
details using touch-tone functionality. 

Telephone - Customer 
assisted service 

Invoice/ Not 
Invoiced   

Credit or debit card using chip-and-pin 
machine (either mobile or at a Council/ 
partner office). 

Face to face - Customer 
assisted service 

Invoiced Cash at a Post Office; or PayPoint up to a 
certain value. 

Face to face - Customer 
assisted service 

Invoiced Cheques and debit card at a Post Office up 
to a certain value. 

Face to face - Customer 
assisted service 

Invoiced Direct Debit – within the parameters set by 
the Head of Revenues & Benefits. 

Face to face - Customer 
assisted service 

Invoiced BACS/ CHAPS – within the parameters set 
by the Head of Revenues & Benefits. 

Face to face - Customer 
assisted service 

Credit Notes and Refunds 

The following section outlines the use of credit notes and refunds on invoiced income. 

Credit notes 
are used to 
correct an 
invoice that 
has been 
raised 
incorrectly 

Credit notes are issued to customers to correct an invoice that has 
been incorrectly raised. However, credit notes represent a control risk 
and as such must be appropriately authorised.  Credit notes must be 
authorised by the manager responsible for the corresponding budget. 

Customers can use credit notes to pay future invoices, but they can 
also request a refund if they have already paid an incorrect invoice, or 
paid money into a Council bank account in error. Refunds may only be 
actioned by the Head of Revenues & Benefits, or delegated officer. 

Where a refund is for a significant amount, i.e. £1,000 or more, officers 
should check the identity of the client in line with the Council’s Anti-
Money Laundering Policy, fees and interest charges. 

 Page 199

http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31075/7%20-%20Appendix%20E%20-%20Revised%20Anti%20Money%20Laudering%20Policy.pdf
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/documents/s31075/7%20-%20Appendix%20E%20-%20Revised%20Anti%20Money%20Laudering%20Policy.pdf


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 46 

Banking of Collected Income 

The following section outlines arrangement for receipting, storing and banking collected 
income. 

All income 
must be 
receipted and 
banked 
promptly 

All income received by the Council must be receipted and paid into 
the appropriate bank account as soon as possible following the 
procedures approved by the Head of Accounting for the banking of 
income. 

Income must be paid into the bank account in full.  Third party and 
personal cheques must not be cashed from monies held on behalf of 
the Council. 

Collected 
income must 
be stored 
safely and 
adequately 
insured 

 

Executive Directors are responsible for ensuring that all income 
collected prior to banking is kept in a safe location and that adequate 
insurance cover has been arranged. 

The amount of cash which a Service can keep in a safe overnight will 
depend on the insurance arrangements. If the amount needed to be 
stored is higher than the agreed limit, then arrangements must be 
made to bank the income as soon as possible. 

Reconciliation 
of receipts to 
banked income 
should be 
performed at 
least monthly 

Reconciliation of receipts to banked income should be performed at 
least monthly. The higher the value and quantity of the receipts, the 
more often reconciliations should be performed. 

Staff responsible for reconciliation should not be involved in day-to-
day banking or receipting procedures.  There needs to be a clear 
separation of duties. 

Debt Recovery 

The Council will do everything in its power to recover money owed to it.  The following 
sections outline the recovery process and debt management arrangements. 

Recovery 
Process 

The Council’s standard payment terms and conditions state sundry 
debts should be paid immediately and in full, unless there is a 
contract in place to agree alternative payment terms, or unless the 
debt is payable by installments. 

The Council will do everything within its power, up to and including 
Court action, to recover money owed to it. The costs of recovering 
sundry debts, including court fees, will be funded by the relevant 
Business Unit which is owed the debt. 

Arrangements 
to Pay 

If a customer is unable to pay the full amount of a sundry debt invoice 
immediately, arrangements can be negotiated to clear the debt in the 
shortest possible amount of time. 

These arrangements can be negotiated by the ICAM Team on behalf 
of the Business Unit Manager, or directly by the Manager. If the 
Business Unit Manager chooses to negotiate arrangements 
themselves, they must tell the ICAM Team so that the arrangement 
can be documented and monitored. 

The Head of Revenues & Benefits, or delegated officer, must agree 

Page 200



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 47 

payment arrangements that last longer than 12 months. 

If the customer does not follow the arrangement to pay, then debt 
recovery action will be commenced or continued. 

Interest on late 
payment of 
debt 

Interest on late payment of debt by commercial customers will be 
applicable where agreed by the Head of Revenues & Benefits. 

Disputed 
Debts 

A ‘dispute’ is an issue that must be resolved before a customer pays 
an outstanding sundry debt. 

When a debt is put into dispute, debt recovery action is suspended to 
allow time for the issue to be resolved. 

The relevant Business Unit Manager is responsible for resolving the 
dispute and they must do so within 28 days. 

Where the Business Unit Managers thinks that a longer timescale is 
required to resolve the dispute, they must contact the ICAM Team to 
request an extension. 

The request must be supported by details about the customer, what 
the dispute is about, and the extra time required. 

If a request to extend a dispute beyond 28 days has not been 
received, the appropriate debt recovery action will be re-instated, or 
where appropriate the debt will be written off. 

Legal action 

 

Legal action will only be used as the last resort in the recovery 
process, and the final decision to act will be made by the ICAM Team 
Finance Manager. 

Legal action will only be taken if: 

 The full end to end legal enforcement process can be used (e.g. 
County Court bailiffs, High Court Enforcement action, etc.). 

 The total balance of the debt is greater than £500.  The ICAM 
Team Finance Manager can agree to lower this balance. 

 The debt is less than 12 months old, meaning the invoice date is 
less than 12 months ago.  This deadline may be extended in 
exceptional circumstances by the ICAM Team Finance Manager. 

Bad and Doubtful Debt Provisions 

When an invoice is raised, the Business Unit is immediately credited with the income, 
but if the debt is not paid within 60 days, the Business Unit Manager should not rely on 
that income to cover expenditure. 

Bad and 
doubtful debt 
provision  

Unless agreed otherwise by the CFO, if a debt is not paid by day 60 
after the invoice date, the Business Unit will be debited to make full 
provision for the debt not being paid. This means that money is set 
aside in the Council’s accounts to cover the possibility of the debt not 
being paid. 

Exceptions to this can only be approved by the Head of Revenues & 

Page 201



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 48 

Benefits.  A list of the agreed exceptions is kept by the ICAM Team. 

At the year-end, a bad debt provision will be estimated based on 
historic trends in debts not being recovered. 

Creating a provision for bad or doubtful debt does not mean that 
recovery action will stop. The Council will continue to take recovery 
action after the provision is made. 

Payments 
received after 
60 days  

 

Unless agreed otherwise by the CFO, if an outstanding debt is paid 
after day 60 and before day 91 the Business Unit will be credited with 
50% of the income. The remaining 50% will be diverted to help 
balance the Council’s overall budget. 

If the debt is paid after day 90, 100% of the income will be diverted to 
help balance the Council’s overall budget and the Business Unit will 
not receive any income. 

Bad Debt Write-offs 

If recovery action is unsuccessful, the Council may write-off debts or register the debt 
as a local land charge.  The following section explains these processes. 

Write-off of 
bad debts  

Bad debt write-offs will usually be done after 12 months have passed 
since the invoice date and all debt recovery procedures have been 
attempted, unless: 

 The debt is covered by an on-going payment arrangement. 

 There is on-going action, up to and including Court action, to 
recover the debt. 

 The debt has been recorded on the Local Land Charges Register. 

Write-offs must be proposed by the Executive Director of the Portfolio 
which holds the debt.  A list of proposed write offs will be passed to the 
Head of Revenues & Benefits to approve. 

The ICAM Team, on behalf of the Head of Revenues & Benefits, will 
then update Integra to complete the write off. 

If a debt is to be written off a full provision must have been created. 

The Head of Accounting will report debts, and changes in the bad debt 
provision, to the Audit Committee as part of the annual accounts 
process. 

Local Land 
Charges 

 

One option for recovering a debt is to register the debt as a local land 
charge. 

By law, the Council must keep and regularly update a register of all the 
local land charges they have created, e.g. road and other financial 
charges, home improvement grants, tree preservation orders, notices 
of restriction, etc., that will either secure the payment of a sum of 
money or limit the use of the said property.  This is known as the Local 
Land Charges Register. 

Anybody who is thinking of purchasing a piece of land or property can 
then search the register and establish if there are any charges. 

Page 202



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 49 

When Services secure a Sundry Debt account in the Local Land 
Charge Register, the following will apply: 

 Sundry Debt accounts recorded in the Land Charge Register will 
be managed using the Council’s standard debt recovery process 
and taking a bad debt provision. 

 The Business Unit Manager who is responsible for any debt that is 
listed in the Land Register must ensure that the debt is still valid 
and collectible on an annual basis. 

 Debts covered by a Land Charge that remain outstanding after 6 
years will be reviewed by the Head of Revenues & Benefits to 
determine whether the debt should be written off. 

The above requirements relate specifically to sundry debt invoices, 
and do not apply to any debts in the Local Land Registry manually 
raised outside of the Finance System. 

Back to Contents page 

8. Purchasing  

Roles and Responsibilities 

Budget managers and all officers involved in the P2P process have the following 
specific roles and responsibilities: 

Budget 
Managers 

 

Ensuring that the Council is obtaining value for money, and that all 
expenditure complies with the Council’s Contract Standing Orders. 

Using in–house and existing contracted providers wherever possible. 
If not possible, advice must be sought from Finance & Commercial 
Services on choosing an alternative supplier. 

Complying with the relevant procurement processes, with all steps 
documented and evidenced. 

Declaring any relationships with existing or potential Council 
contractors prior to obtaining quotations or awarding of contracts. 

All Officers 
involved in 
P2P process 

 

Referring to the Council’s Contract Standing Orders for details of 
procurement procedures, with special attention to the need to use in–
house and existing contracted providers. 

Formally declaring any relationships with existing or potential Council 
contractors, prior to obtaining quotations, or the awarding of 
contracts. (Failure to do so may be punishable as a criminal offence) 

Withdrawing from any P2P process when either they themselves, a 
member of their family or one of their close associates are involved 
directly or indirectly with the transaction. 

Ordering and Authorisation of Expenditure 

This section covers the principles of procurement in the Council. These are standard 
across the Council and must be complied with unless written exception has been 
approved by the CFO. 

Page 203



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 50 

General 
Procurement 
Principles  

All orders for goods or services are to be placed on the Council’s 
Finance system.  The controls, approval routes and processes 
detailed in these regulations will apply. 

All procurement must comply with Contract Standing Orders and the 
Constitution.  Any breaches are immediately reported to the CFO.  

Suppliers of the Council must have the necessary HMRC certification 
enabling them to be paid through the Council’s payments system. 

Contractors who do not comply with these conditions, or those who 
do not provide the necessary evidence, should be set up as 
temporary employees and paid through payroll. 

Ordering of 
Goods and 
Services 

 

A Purchase Order is required for all purchases and must be fully 
approved before requesting the supply of goods and services. 

Exceptions to this would be for the payment of those deemed as 
‘employed’ by the HMRC Employment Status Enquiry Tool, for which 
payment has to be made via Payroll in order to account for the 
correct taxation, recurring payments, ‘multiple’ and ‘one-off’ 
payments. 

Verbal orders should take place only in exceptional circumstances 
and should be followed immediately by a fully authorised order. 
Officers making verbal orders will be asked to support their decision 
by the Head of Accounting. 

Orders must fully detail the goods and services to be supplied and 
the budget from which the expenditure is to be met.  Final costs or an 
estimate of the costs (net of VAT) should also be provided in the 
order. 

Orders can only be raised for goods and services provided to the 
Council or for official Council business. Individuals must not raise 
official orders for their own private use. 

Variations to an order can only be made if properly authorised, 
issued orders cannot be verbally amended. 

Procurement 
Cards 

A small number of credit and procurement cards are available. The 
use of credit/ procurement cards is intended to complement, rather 
than replace, the Purchase Order procedure, and should only be 
used when the use of a Purchase Order is not possible. 

Executive Directors must promptly inform the Head of Accounting, if 
action must be taken to cancel stolen or lost cards, or those issued to 
employees who have resigned from the Council. 

Authorisation 
of Expenditure 

 

Before authorising an order, approvers must ensure that the decision 
to spend the money has been taken in line with the Constitution. 

These Officers must also ensure that the Council’s procurement 
rules and Contract Standing Orders have been complied with before 
approving. 

Approvers should be satisfied that: 

 The Order represents a legitimate cost to the Council. 

Page 204

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/check-employment-status-for-tax


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 51 

 The required checks have been evidenced and necessary 
documentation attached. 

 Sufficient budgetary provision exists to cover the payment. 

 Expenditure will be paid through the correct business unit. 

An 
Authorisation 
Matrix will be 
held in the 
Finance 
System 

A list will be held in the finance system containing the officers 
authorised to approve Purchase Orders, Recurring Payments, 
Foreign Payments and Individuals paid via payroll. 

Non-order payments, e.g. multiple, one-off, BACS, CHAPS 
payments, direct creditors payments or Interfaces must only be used 
in exceptional circumstances and must only be approved by the 
Head of Accounting, in consultation with the FDA. 

This matrix will apply to all orders including those connected to the 
spending of grant funding, payments made by the Treasury Team, 
contract payments and partnership arrangements. 

A report approving a grant payment or awarding a contract will not 
over-ride this authorisation hierarchy. 

This hierarchy, in conjunction with approval from the Head of 
Accounting and assurance from the FDA, will apply to the 
authorisation of payments that do not require a Purchase Order. 

Authorisation Matrix 

All Purchase Orders must be approved in line with the Council’s authorisation hierarchy 
levels, as set by the CFO and shown below: 

Order Amount Financial Approval Limits 

< £100 No further financial approval 

Up to £250 Supervisor / Line Manager 

Up to £500 Middle Manager 

Up to £2,500 Business Unit Manager 

Up to £25,000 Assistant Head of Service / Assistant Director 

> £25,000 Head of Service / Director / Assistant Chief 
Executive / Chief Executive 

Delivery of Goods and Services 

The following section details arrangements for checking and receipting goods and 
services. 

Goods 
receipting 

When goods/services are delivered, they should be checked against 
the following to ensure the delivery is correct: 

 Cost. 

 Quantity. 

 Quality. 

Page 205



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 52 

 Fitness for purpose. 

Delivery notes must be retained in accordance with the Financial 
Documents Retention Schedule (appended to these Financial 
Regulations). Where possible, the reference from these documents 
should also be recorded in the Finance system. 

Officers are required to enter a receipt (Goods Received Note) on the 
Council’s finance system to confirm delivery of the goods or services. 

Payments to Suppliers 

The table below details the arrangements for paying supplier invoices together with the 
standard payment terms of the Council. 

Supplier 
invoices 

 

Suppliers will be expected to provide an electronic invoice. These 
should be sent directly to the accounts payable processing facility, as 
detailed on the Council’s Purchase Order. 

Where paper invoices are unavoidable these should be sent directly to 
this same address for prompt processing. On no account should they 
be sent to the service requesting the supply. 

Failure to adhere to this rule may result in delays to the payment 
process. Paper invoices will be scanned and attached to the invoice 
records. 

Payments No payment will be made unless it is supported by an authorised 
Purchase Order and Goods Received Note, to acknowledge the 
receipt of goods and services. 

Exceptions to this are Recurring, Multiple, One-Off, Individuals paid via 
Payroll, Foreign Payments and purchases made using a Credit or a 
Procurement Card. 

Where the details on the supplier invoice, the Goods Received Note 
and the Purchase Order are the same, the matching process will clear 
the invoice for payment.  This is referred to as a 3-way matching 
process. 

Where the details are not the same, the order raiser should liaise with 
the supplier to resolve the mismatch. 

Standard 
payment 
terms 

The Council’s standard payment terms are to make payment within 30 
calendar days of the invoice date. 

Any variation to this standard must be agreed by the Head of 
Procurement, either as part of the letting of a contract or by ad-hoc 
exception to the standard terms. 

Where a supplier makes a request for payment in advance, advice 
must be sought from the Head of Procurement. 

 Back to Contents page 

 

 Page 206



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 53 

9. Internal Charges  

This section explains what internal charges are, and when they will be used. 

Internal charges 
are used to 
recharge costs 
between services/ 
portfolios 

The Council’s internal charging system covers: 

 Specific ordering and the recharges for these. 

 Agreed Annual Service Level Agreements and the recharges 
for these. 

 Overhead apportionment. 

All parties must 
be clear that the 
charging system 
exists 

A key requirement of the internal charging system is that both 
customers and suppliers are clear that the system is in operation 
and that they adhere to the relevant procedural guidance. 

This includes the need for an internal order and the use of 
specified financial codes. 

Back to Contents page 

 

10. Payroll, Expenses and Petty Cash Floats 

This section details arrangements for payments to all employees and the use of petty 
cash. 

Payroll Payments to all employees and former employees of the Council 
must only be made under arrangements approved and controlled by 
the Director of HR & Customer Services and approved by the Head 
of Accounting.   This includes, salaries, wages, pensions, expenses, 
and any other payments. 

Amendments to the payroll, e.g. for absences and variations to pay, 
is limited to those Officers authorised to do so. 

Payment of fees to individuals who are not Council employees must 
be made through the P2P system, in accordance with HMRC 
requirements and relevant procedures laid down by the CFO 

All Payment and personnel records must be held securely. 

Expenses Members and officers are only entitled to incidental, subsistence 
and travel expenses if these are incurred legitimately in performing 
Council duties. 

Claims must be made in line with relevant Council policies including 
the requirement to upload receipts to the iTrent (Payroll/HR) system. 
All such payments will be made through the payroll system and are 
paid in line with the agreed policy and rates. 

Payments of expenses to individuals who are not Council 
employees must be made through the P2P system, following the 
procedures set out by the CFO. 

Any Expense incurred by agency staff is included in the Agency 
charge and paid through the P2P system. 

Page 207



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 54 

Petty Cash – 
payments from 
a float and 
reimbursements 

The use of money from petty cash floats must be limited to non-
payroll related expenditure up to a maximum of £25, which does not 
justify an order being raised through the P2P system. 

Petty cash should not be used for the payment of regular suppliers 
other than in exceptional circumstances, with prior approval from 
Heads of Service. 

Wherever possible purchases should be made in advance and, if 
applicable, VAT receipts provided before the petty cash is issued. 

At the manager’s discretion, a maximum of £5 employee-related 
expenses may be paid from a petty cash float where an employee 
has been asked to travel to meet a service need and has no way of 
funding this. 

The following rules apply to the use of petty cash floats: 

 Personal or third-party cheques must not be cashed. 

 Money cannot be borrowed from petty cash floats. 

 Private monies must not be used to supplement the floats. 

Cash income from other sources must not be used to reimburse 
petty cash unless specific arrangements are in place. 

Officers who have been assigned responsibility for a float must 
follow the administration procedures of petty cash floats as laid 
down by the Head of Accounting. 

Back to Contents page 

 

11. Bank Accounts and Credit Cards  

The following sections details arrangements for opening and closing bank accounts, 
banking transactions, credit cards and reconciliations.  On a day-to-day basis these 
responsibilities are carried out by the Treasury Team. 

Bank Accounts Bank accounts can only be opened or closed in the name of 
Sheffield City Council with the authority of the Head of Accounting.  
This includes associated bank accounts which the Council does not 
directly control, such as joint arrangements. 

The Head of Accounting is responsible for all negotiations of banking 
terms with the Council’s Bankers and is approved to authorise the 
execution of Amendment Agreements when required. 

All stand-alone systems which create payments and do not link with 
the financial ledgers must have a separate bank account and 
subsequent local reconciliation responsibilities. 

The Payroll interfaces and systems which create BACS files or print 
cheques are currently the stand-alone systems which have these 
additional requirements. 

Page 208



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 55 

Banking 
transactions 

The authorised signatories list for banking transactions is developed 
and approved by the Head of Accounting. 

Authorised signatories will normally be senior Finance officers, as 
per the Financial Protocol. 

Credit/ 
Procurement 
cards 

Credit cards, charge cards and other payment cards held in the 
Council’s name are opened, closed and managed by the Head of 
Accounting. 

Reconciliations Bank reconciliations and reconciliations of credit cards, etc. are 
completed on at least a monthly basis by an officer who is not 
responsible for the processing of transactions through the bank 
accounts. 

The Head of Accounting, or delegated officer, is responsible for 
ensuring that reconciliations, together with supporting 
documentation, are reviewed and appropriately certified. 

Back to Contents page 

 

12. Taxation 

The following section outlines the arrangements for managing the impact of VAT. 

Overall aim to 
maximise VAT 
recovery and 
minimise 
unrecoverable 
VAT incurred 

The overall aim of SCC in relation to taxation is to maximise VAT 
recovery where this is consistent with effective delivery of the service, 
while minimising the level of irrecoverable VAT being incurred. 

In practice this means: 

 Ensuring that VAT is properly accounted for on all transactions 
entered by the Council. 

 Keeping VAT records with a proper allocation of costs to exempt 
and other activities. 

 Complying with all VAT legislation and regulations. 

 Monitoring and planning for any changes in VAT legislation or 
regulations. 

The Tax Team An appropriately skilled team has been established to manage the 
Council’s VAT responsibilities. This Team will receive all training 
necessary to provide appropriate service delivery and challenge. 

The Tax Team prepare and submit VAT Returns to HMRC.  Such 
returns are submitted at times to maximise the cash flow benefit to the 
Council, but no later than the deadlines agreed with HMRC. 

Where required appropriate external advice is sought where the tax 
implications of a project are sufficiently complex. 

Tax 
avoidance 

SCC will not knowingly and actively co-operate with third-party 
schemes designed purely for tax avoidance purposes. 

Penalties and Portfolio budgets will bear the financial impact of any penalties or 

Page 209



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 56 

charges other charges imposed by HMRC for transactions entered into by that 
Portfolio. 

Back to Contents page 

 

13. Stores, Stock, Assets and Security 

This section details the controls required to effectively manage stores, stock and 
assets. 

Stores and 
Stock 

Access to stores is controlled and measures are in place to ensure 
that stocks and assets are only used on Council business. 

Appropriate records must be maintained for adding new stock to 
stores and for controlling the issue of items. 

The record of stock levels for each item is physically checked at a 
frequency agreed by Executive Directors, which reflects factors such 
as stock values, usage, etc. 

At the end of each financial year a certificate of the stock value held 
by each Portfolio, as well as information required for the accounting, 
costing and financial records. 

This should be provided to the Head of Accounting. 

Assets and 
Security 

An inventory of all assets over £100 in value, together with all 
attractive and portable items below this figure is maintained within 
each portfolio.  The inventory will include the make, model, serial 
number and purchase value of each item. 

Items should be recorded promptly in the inventory, at the point of 
purchase. 

A physical check of assets is undertaken on an annual basis.  This 
should be completed by an officer not involved in control of the 
inventory. 

The Head of Service will be informed of obsolete or missing items for 
approval to write-off.  Following formal, documented approval, the 
inventory records should be amended accordingly. 

A register of assets removed from Council premises for use on 
official Council business is maintained by each portfolio. This 
includes assets such as laptops, mobile phones and RAS cards 
issued to officers. 

Assets should not be used other than for official Council purposes or 
in line with arrangements sanctioned by Council, an Executive 
Director or Director. 

All information assets such as non-public paper records, IT 
equipment used to access information and the computer network, 
must be identified, recorded and have an appointed asset owner. 

All information assets must always be appropriately protected.  
Further details can be found in the Council’s Information Governance 

Page 210



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 57 

and Security Policy. 

Back to Contents page 

 

14. Retention of Records 

The following section details requirements for retaining records. 

Record 
retention 

All records must be managed in line with the Council’s Document and 
Records Management Policy.   

Records must be retained for a period that meets the requirements of 
HMRC, the Council’s External Auditors and any other appropriate 
Body or Funder.  

The Financial Records Retention Schedule, provides guidance on 
appropriate retention schedules (Appendix A). 

Back to Contents page 

 

15. Financial Systems 

The following section outlines the key function of the finance system and how it is 
controlled. 

Integra The Council’s finance system (Integra) is the source of accounting and 
financial information to produce the Annual Financial Accounts. 

Any Portfolio systems that feed into Integra must have robust financial 
controls in place for ensuring both the accuracy and security of the 
data. 

Access to all Council’s systems must be controlled. 

Data on these systems, whether held as hard copy or in electronic 
format, must be retained in accordance with domestic data protection 
legislation. BCIS should be consulted for advice and guidance on data 
protection and information management issues. 

Prior to the purchase and implementation of any new computerised 
financial systems, including any income collection systems, the CFO 
and BCIS must be consulted. 

Back to Contents page 

Page 211



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 58 

16. Accounting 

The following section details arrangements for producing the Council’s Accounts as 
well as accounting requirements throughout the year and at year-end. 

Statement of 
Accounts  

The Council’s Accounts are produced annually for approval by the 
Audit & Standards Committee. 

The Accounts must present a true and fair view of the financial 
position and transactions for that financial year and must be prepared 
in accordance with statutory requirements and all applicable 
professional Codes of Practice. 

The Accounts will be prepared on an accruals basis. 

The Accounts will be prepared on a prudent basis with income only 
included if it is likely to be received.  Proper allowance should be made 
for known liabilities and losses. 

Accounting 
during the 
Financial 
Year 

 

All Accounts and Accounting Systems must be properly maintained 
throughout the year to provide timely and accurate information. 

All financial transactions must be adequately supported and 
referenced back to original documents and working papers, which 
started the transaction. 

Control Accounts, Holding and Suspense Accounts must be reconciled 
at least monthly. Reconciliations must be produced and authorised by 
Officers not directly responsible for the transactions in the accounts. 

Year-end 
requirements 

Each financial year end the Head of Accounting will produce a 
timetable and guidance to produce the Final Accounts. 

All balances on Control Accounts, e.g. Account Receivables Control, 
must be explained.  Balances may only be carried forward into the 
next year if there is a reasonable prospect that they will be cleared. 

The Accounts for the year should be “closed” at the end of business 
on 31st March and all income received and payments made to that 
date must be accounted for.  The Officers responsible must certify 
sums held, i.e. not banked, at the close of business on 31st March. 

Accruals must be supported by evidence and the Head of Accounting 
will require evidence for material accruals. The process and amounts 
will be included in the year-end guidance issued on behalf of the Head 
of Accounting. 

The Officers responsible for cash floats and other cash accounts must 
balance and certify the amount of cash held at the close of business 
on 31st March.  Officers responsible for stocktaking must certify the 
value of stock/ stores at close of business on 31st March. 

Expenditure and income due for the year, but not paid or received by 
31st March must be accounted for.  The Officers responsible must 
certify the transactions concerned. 

Appropriate working papers, records and prime documentation must 
be maintained in support of the above requirements. These will be 
used to support the Accounts and provide a clear Audit trail for the 

Page 212

http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=512


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 59 

external auditors. 

Back to Contents page 

 

17. Internal Audit 

This section outlines the role and remit of Internal Audit. 

Internal Audit  A continuous internal audit of all the Council’s financial records and 
operations must be maintained. 

Internal Audit has the authority to access any Council officer and 
information necessary to carry out their duties on behalf of the CFO. 

An annual audit plan is prepared by the Senior Finance Manager 
(Internal Audit) and agreed by the Audit & Standards Committee 
and the CFO. 

The strategy for Internal Audit work is to focus on areas of high-risk 
activity to provide assurance that risk and internal control systems 
are being properly managed by Directors in service areas. 

As part of the audit planning process Executive Directors are 
responsible for managing risk and for informing Internal Audit of the 
risks in their area. They are also responsible for agreeing and 
implementing relevant Audit recommendations. 

Internal Audit reports on the output of its activity to the Council’s 
Audit & Standards Committee.  The Senior Finance Manager will 
provide an annual audit opinion to assess the adequacy of the risk 
management, governance and internal control framework. 

This opinion supports the Annual Governance Statement. 

Back to Contents page 

 

18. Companies, Joint Ventures, Partnerships, Joint Committees etc. 

This section details the arrangements where the Council has a controlling or minority 
interest in a Company, Joint Venture, Partnership or Joint Committee. 

Companies, 
Joint Ventures, 
Partnerships 
and Joint 
Committees 

Where the Council has a controlling interest in Companies, Joint 
Ventures, Partnerships, Joint Committees, or is the Lead Authority, 
then these organisations will be required to use the Council’s 
finance system and to follow these Regulations. 

Where the Council is involved as a minority interest in partnership 
arrangements or Joint Committees that use their own finance 
systems, the CFO must agree the arrangements for robust financial 
governance control. 

The controls in these Regulations will be used as a starting point for 
that agreement. 

No agreement shall be entered into with a Partnership which Page 213

http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=512
http://democracy.sheffield.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=512


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 60 

commits the Council to additional expenditure or other financial risk 
without approval as set out in the Constitution. 

The relevant Executive Director, in conjunction with the CFO will 
report at least annually to the appropriate Policy Committee on the 
financial affairs of the partnership body. 

Back to Contents page 

 

19. Grant (Gift) Arrangements 

The following sections outlines the control and approvals required for grant (gift) 
arrangements. 

Grant (Gift) 
Arrangements 

Any funds set aside from which to make individual grants must be 
properly approved in line with the Constitution. 

All grant payments to voluntary organisations (or other recipients) 
must be approved in line with the Constitution, these Financial 
Regulations and all other relevant documentation. 

Where a grant payment is withdrawn or reclaimed, Executive 
Directors are responsible for ensuring that this is agreed in line with 
the Constitution. 

The external relationship with any recipient of grant aid must be 
managed in line with all guidance provided by the Director of Legal 
& Governance. 

Any Grant/ Gift arrangements must be made in line with the 
Procurement Guidelines, and all other relevant processes and 
procedures. 

Back to Contents page 

 

20. Council Supply Agreements 

This section details arrangements for the Council delivering non-statutory services, 
works or supplies to individuals or other organisations and receiving payment for this. 

What is a 
Council Supply 
Agreement? 

A Council Supply Agreement is a contractually binding agreement 
where the Council agrees to provide works, services or supplies to 
a third party in return for payment, either in money or in-kind. 

This does not apply to the delivery of statutory services, or 
instances where the Council receives a grant to fund an activity. 

Executive Directors are responsible for ensuring that Council 
Supply Agreements within their area of responsibility are approved 
in accordance with the requirements of the Constitution.  This 
includes seeking the opinion of the CFO. 

Back to Contents page 

Page 214



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 61 

Appendices:  

A. Financial Records: Recommended Retention Schedule 

(Note that all figures used relate to years, e.g. Current + 6 is Current Year’s records 
plus the previous 6 years documents). 

A.1. Accountancy/Financial 

General example of 
type of Record 

Recommended 
Retention 

Action after retention 

Abstract of accounts Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Annual Budget Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Annual statements Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Budgetary control records Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Costing records Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Estimate working papers Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

Financial ledgers Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Grant claim records Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Investment records Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

Journals Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Leasing Records Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

Record re closing ledgers Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

School Fund records Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Telephone call records Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

VAT claims Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

VAT records Current + 3 Destroy as confidential records 

Voluntary fund accounts Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

A.2. Bank related records 

Type of Record 
Recommended 

Retention 
Action after retention 

Bank pay-in books/slips Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Bank reconciliation Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Bank statements Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Cancelled cheques Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

Cheque books and 
counterfoils 

Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Cheque lists (creditors/ 
payrolls) 

Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

Loan records and Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

Page 215



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 62 

correspondence 

Paid cheques Current + 4 Destroy as confidential records 

Returned cheque records Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

A.3. Contracts 

Type of Record 
Recommended 

Retention 
Action after retention 

Pre Contract Advice 

The process of calling for 
expressions of interest 

2 years after 
contract let or not 
proceeded with 

Destroy as confidential records 

Specification and Contract Development 

The process involved in 
the development and 
specification of a contract 

Ordinary Contract: 

6 years after the 
terms of contract 
have expired. 

Contracts Under 
Seal: 

12 years after the 
terms of the 
contract have 
expired. 

Destroy as confidential records 

 

 

Destroy as confidential records 

Tender Issuing and Return 

The process involved in 
the issuing and return of 
a tender (Opening Notice) 

1 year after start of 
contract 

Destroy as confidential records 

Evaluation of Tender 

Successful tender 
document 

Ordinary Contract: 

6 years after the 
terms of contract 
have expired. 

Contracts Under 
Seal: 

12 years after the 
terms of the 
contract have 
expired. 

Destroy as confidential records 

 

 

Destroy as confidential records 

Unsuccessful tender 
document 

1 year after start of 
contract 

Destroy as confidential records 

Post Tender Negotiation 

The process in 
negotiation of a contract 
after a preferred tender is 

1 year after the 
terms of contract 

Destroy as confidential records 

Page 216



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 63 

selected have expired 

Awarding of Contract 

The process of awarding 
contract 

Ordinary Contract: 

6 years after the 
terms of contract 
have expired. 

Contracts Under 
Seal: 

12 years after the 
terms of the 
contract have 
expired. 

Destroy as confidential records 

 

 

Destroy as confidential records 

Contract Management 

Contract operation and 
monitoring 

2 years after terms 
of the contract have 
expired. 

Destroy as confidential records 

Management and 
amendment of contract 

Ordinary Contract: 

6 years after the 
terms of contract 
have expired. 

Contracts Under 
Seal: 

12 years after the 
terms of the 
contract have 
expired. 

 

Destroy as confidential records 

 

Destroy as confidential records 

A.4. Creditor records 

Type of Record 
Recommended 

Retention 
Action after retention 

Copy orders Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

Credit notes Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Creditor invoices Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Delivery notes Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

Imprest documentation 
(petty cash) 

Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

Period payment records Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

A.5. Income records 

Type of Record 
Recommended 

Retention 
Action after retention 

Page 217



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 64 

Cash books Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Correspondence 
(income) 

Current + 2 

 

Destroy as confidential records 

Debtor accounts (records 
non-current) 

Current + 2 

 

Destroy as confidential records 

Dinner/milk registers Current + 6  Destroy as confidential records 

Income posting slips and 
tabulations 

Current + 2 

 

Destroy as confidential records 

Periodic income records Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

Receipt books Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

Record of receipt books 
issued 

Current + 2 

 

Destroy as confidential records 

Registrar’s quarterly 
returns 

Current + 2 

 

Destroy as confidential records 

Sales records Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

 

A.6. Insurance records 

Type of Record 
Recommended 

Retention 
Action after retention 

Expired insurance 
contracts 

Current & 
Permanent 
preservation 

Destroy as confidential records 

Insurance claims  Current + 7 from 
date of closure or 
year in which 
claimant reaches 
21 (paper) 

Up to 60 years 
(electronic) 

Destroy as confidential records 

Insurance policy 
documentation 

Current & 
permanent  

Destroy as confidential records 

Insurance register Current & 
permanent  

Destroy as confidential records 

A.7. Miscellaneous records 

Type of Record 
Recommended 

Retention 
Action after retention 

Capital works tabulations Current + 2  Destroy as confidential records 

Car leasing and mileage Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Page 218



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 65 

records 

Car Loans Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Computer system 
documentation 

Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

Inland Revenue docs Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Internal requisitions Current + 1 Destroy as confidential records 

Inventory records Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Land searches Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Member allowance 
(statutory registers) 

Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

Minutes Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

Postal remittance 
registers 

Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

Road fund licence 
records  

Current + 2  Destroy as confidential records 

School meal records Current + 2  Destroy as confidential records 

Small holdings records Current + 2  Destroy as confidential records 

Stock lists Current + 2  Destroy as confidential records 

Travel claims Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Vehicle logs Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

A.8. Payroll Records 

Type of Record 
Recommended 

Retention 
Action after retention 

BACS amendments and 
output 

Current + 3 Destroy as confidential records 

Copy payslips Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Correspondence Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Payroll adjustment 
documentation 

Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Part – time employees’ 
claim forms 

Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

SSP records Current + 4 Destroy as confidential records 

SSP variations Current + 3 Destroy as confidential records 

Staff transfer records Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Starters forms Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

Tax and NI records Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Tax code notifications Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

Page 219



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 

Part 4 – Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)  
 
 

 66 

Timesheets and Pay 
Returns  

Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Union documentation Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

Personnel files  Current + 2 Destroy as confidential records 

Staff contracts  Current + 6 Destroy as confidential records 

Unsuccessful applications Current + 1 Destroy as confidential records 

Back to Contents page 

 

Page 220



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Officer Employment Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 1 of 8 

OFFICER EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES 
 
1.  Officers 

 

a) For the purposes of Section 4 of the Local Government and 

Housing Act 1989 the Head of Paid Service shall be the Chief 

Executive. 

 

b) For the purposes of Section 5 of the Local Government and 

Housing Act 1989 the Monitoring Officer shall be the Director of 

Legal and Governance. 

 

c) For the purposes of Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 

the Officer with responsibility for the administration of the financial 

affairs of the Council, the ‘Chief Finance Officer’, shall be the 

Director of Finance and Commercial Services. 

 

d) Chief Officer for the purpose of these Officer Employment 

Procedure Rules means the Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance 

Officer, any Executive Director, any Officer who reports directly to 

the Chief Executive, or any Statutory Chief Officer as defined in 

section 2 (6) (a), (c) or (d) of the Local Government and Housing 

Act 1989: 

 

 Director of Children’s Services appointed under section 18 of the 

Children Act 2004, who shall be the Executive Director of People 

 

 Director of Adult Social Services appointed under section 6 of 

the Local Authority Social Services Act 1970, who shall be the 

Director of Adult Health and Social Care 

 

 Director of Public Health appointed under section 73A National 

Health Service Act 2006 (local authorities and NHS), who shall 

be the Director of Public Health. 

And any Officer who reports directly to any of the Officers listed 
above for all or most of their duties, but not any person whose 
duties are solely secretarial or clerical. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 221

Part 4f



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Officer Employment Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 2 of 8 

2.  Recruitment and Appointment 

 

2.1 Where the Council recruits officers, the Council will: 

(a) Draw up a job description, person and health specification which 
includes: 

 
(i) The duties of the officer concerned; 

(ii) Any skills, knowledge and attainments to be sought in the 

person to be appointed; and 

(iii) The identification of any job duties which have a potential to 

cause harm to the employee’s health. 

 

(b) Make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as 
is likely to bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to 
apply for it; 

 
(c) Make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned in 

paragraph (a) to be sent to any person on request; and 
 

(d) Where no qualified person has applied, the Council shall review 
(a) and (b) above and where required shall make further 
arrangements for advertisement. 

 

2.2 Declarations 

 

(a) The Council will draw up a statement requiring any candidate for 

appointment as an officer to state in writing whether they are the 

parent, grandparent, partner, child, stepchild, adopted child, 

grandchild, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece of an 

existing Councillor or officer of the Council, or of the partner of 

such persons. 

 

(b) No candidate so related to a Councillor or an officer will be 

appointed without the authority of the relevant chief officer or an 

officer nominated by him/her. 

 

2.3 Seeking support for appointment 

 

(a) The Council will disqualify any applicant who directly or indirectly 

seeks the support of any Councillor for any appointment with the 

Council. The content of this paragraph will be included in any 

recruitment information.  No Councillor will seek support for any 

person for any appointment with the Council; and 

Page 222



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Officer Employment Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 3 of 8 

 

(b) Councillors may provide a reference for a candidate if they are not 

directly involved in the recruitment process.  However, any 

attempt by a Councillor to influence the process in the favour of 

the applicant will result in the applicant’s disqualification. 

 

2.4 Where a post has been advertised, the Council shall: 

 

(a) Interview all qualified applicants for the post, or 

 

(b) Select a shortlist of such qualified applicants and interview those 

included on the shortlist. 

 

2.5 Where the Council is seeking to reduce the number of employees, the 

Council may seek to mitigate redundancy through internal recruitment 

processes. 

 

3.  Recruitment of Head of Paid Service and Chief Officers 

 

3.1 Where the Council proposes to appoint a Chief Officer, the Council will 

 follow Procedure Rule 2 above. 

 

4. Appointment of Head of Paid Service 

 

4.1 The Full Council will approve the appointment of the Head of Paid 

Service following the recommendation of such an appointment by a 

committee or sub-committee of the Council (the Senior Officer 

Employment Committee or a sub-committee thereof). Full Council will 

approve the appointment before an offer of appointment is made to that 

person. 

 

5. Appointment of Chief Officers 

 

(a) A committee or sub-committee of the Council will appoint Chief 

Officers.   

 

(b) After the offer of appointment has been accepted, the 

appointment will be reported to the next available meeting of the 

Council for information. 

 

Page 223



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Officer Employment Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 4 of 8 

(c) Full Council is to approve any salary package for any post (not 

including schools) that is in excess of £100,000, before an offer of 

appointment is made. 

 

6. Appointment of Director of Public Health 

The Council is to act jointly with the Secretary of State for Health and 
Social Care when appointing a Director of Public Health.  The Council 
is to follow its established Officer Employment Procedure rules, as set 
out here, and is also to: 
 
(a) Involve the UK Health Security Agency on behalf of the Secretary 

of State for Health and Social Care in all stages of the recruitment 

and appointment process and follow the guidance issued by the 

Secretary of State on appointing Directors of Public Health; 

 

(b) Engage with the Faculty of Public Health on the draft job 

description, person specification and advert to ensure it covers 

the statutory responsibilities of this role and necessary areas of 

professional and technical competence; 

 

(c) Ensure all candidates meet the statutory requirements for 

appropriate regulation and registration; and 

 

(d) Organise the Appointment Committee to include: 

 

 Members of the Committee at Procedure Rule 5 above 

 Chief Executive or his/her nominated deputy 

 UK Health Security Agency Regional Director or another 

senior professionally qualified member of Public Health 

Committee acting on his/her behalf 

 External professional assessor appointed after consultation 

with the Faculty of Public Health 

 Senior NHS representation. 

 

7. Other Appointments 

 

7.1 Officers below Chief Officer 

Appointments of officers below Chief Officer (other than Assistants to 
Political Groups) are the responsibility of the Head of Paid Service, or 
his/her nominee, and may not be made by Councillors. 

 

Page 224



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Officer Employment Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 5 of 8 

7.2 Appointment of Consultants in Public Health 

The Council is to be supported by the UK Health Security Agency and 
follow the statutory guidance on appointing Consultants in Public 
Health and is to: 

 

(a) Incorporate Faculty of Public Health role template into the job 

description and person specification; 

(b) Ensure all candidates are appropriately qualified and formally 

regulated; and 

(c) Consider who is to be involved in the appointment process, 

having regard to the list provided in the statutory guidance. 

 

7.3 Assistants to Political Groups 

 

(a) The Council can create up to three assistants for political groups, 

subject to certain qualifying criteria as defined in Section 9 of the 

Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 

(b) The Council can only allocate one Political Assistant post to each 

of the qualifying groups. 

 

(c) The Council shall only make an appointment to any Political 

Assistant post once it has allocated a Political Assistant to each of 

the qualifying groups. 

 

(d) Appointment of Political Assistants shall be an Officer 

Responsibility.  The selection process may include members of 

the relevant Political Group. 

 

(e) The Chair of the recruitment process shall be an Officer and the 

final recruitment decision shall be an Officer Responsibility, i.e. it 

is a matter for the Council as employer, under Section 112 of the 

Local Government Act 1972, to decide the terms on which the 

Political Assistant is employed. 

 

(f) The Political Assistant Post is a fixed term contract which must 

end at the first Annual Council meeting after the person has been 

in post for 3 years, as set out in the HR Protocol for Political 

Assistants held by the Director of Human Resources and 

Customer Services. 

 

Page 225



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Officer Employment Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 6 of 8 

8. Disciplinary Action and Dismissal of Certain Officers: 

Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer 

 

8.1 Suspension – The Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief 

Finance Officer may be suspended whilst an investigation takes place 

into alleged misconduct.  That suspension will be on full pay and last 

no longer than two months. 

 

8.2 The Panel will be established as set out in Appendix A of these 

procedure rules and will be responsible for advising the Council on 

Dismissal. The Panel will: 

 

 Commission an independent person to carry out an 

investigation of the alleged misconduct; 

 Hear the evidence from the relevant officer;  

 Consider the conclusions of the investigation; 

 Decide whether dismissal is an appropriate disciplinary 

action. 

 

8.3 If the Panel considers dismissal to be the appropriate action they will: 

 

 Formulate advice, views or recommendations;  

 Present a report to Council, incorporating: 

 any advice, views or recommendations of the Panel; 

 the conclusions of any investigation into the proposed 

dismissal; 

 any representations from the relevant officer. 

 

8.4 The Council will make the decision on the dismissal, considering the 

above. The Panel’s recommendations are not binding on the Council. 

 

8.5 If the Panel do not consider dismissal to be appropriate, the Panel will 

refer the matter to the Senior Officer Employment Committee for a 

decision on any other disciplinary action. 

 

9. Disciplinary Action and Dismissal of other Chief Officers 

 

9.1 Suspension –Chief Officers may be suspended whilst an investigation 

takes place. 

 

Page 226



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Officer Employment Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 7 of 8 

9.2 Disciplinary Action and Dismissal – The Senior Officer Employment 

Committee will take into account the recommendations of the report 

made by an Investigator appointed by the Committee and will make the 

decision to dismiss Chief Officers (except for the Head of Paid Service, 

the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer). 

 

9.3 Appeals against dismissal of these Officers will be heard by the 

members of the Senior Officer Employment Committee who were not 

involved in the original decision. 

 

9.4 No decision to dismiss the Director of Public Health will be taken unless 

the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care (or the UK Health 

Security Agency on his behalf) has been consulted; 

 

9.5 That Committee will take disciplinary action against any Chief Officer, 

including the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and the Chief 

Finance Officer. 

 

10. Disciplinary Action and Dismissal of other Officers 

 

(a) Councillors will not be involved in the disciplinary action against any 

officer below Chief Officers, except where such involvement is 

necessary for any investigation or inquiry into alleged misconduct 

though the Council’s disciplinary, capability and related procedures, as 

adopted from time to time, may allow a right of appeal to members in 

respect of disciplinary action. 

 

(b) Appeal against Dismissal for disciplinary, capability or other 

substantial reasons shall be to the Appeals and Collective Disputes 

Committee, which shall comprise of three Members who have been 

accredited by attending appropriate training sessions. 

 

(c) Appeals against dismissal by reason of redundancy shall be to a 

panel of authorised Chief Officers. 

Page 227



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Officer Employment Procedure Rules  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 8 of 8 

Appendix A: The Panel 
 
1.0 A statutory officer cannot be dismissed unless these provisions relating 

to the Panel are complied with. 
 

2.0 The Panel is appointed (under section 102(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972) as an advisory committee of the Council and shall be a sub-
committee of the Senior Officer Employment Committee. The Panel is 
subject to all the legal requirements for committees, including the 
proportionality rules. 

 
3.0 The Council must invite independent persons (who have been 

appointed by this or another authority under section 28(7) of the 
Localism Act 2011) to be considered for appointment to the Panel. 

 
4.0 The Council must appoint to the Panel at least two independent 

persons who have accepted an invitation, in the following priority order: 
 

 an independent person who has been appointed by this authority 
and who is a local government elector; 

 any other independent person who has been appointed by this 
authority; 

 an independent person who has been appointed by another 
authority or authorities. 

 
5.0 The remuneration, allowances or fees paid to an independent person 

appointed to the Panel must be no more than the level of the 
remuneration, allowances or fees payable to them for their role as an 
Independent Person for the Standards regime. 

 
6.0 The Panel must be appointed at least 20 working days before a 

meeting of the authority to consider whether or not to approve a 
proposal to dismiss a statutory officer. 

 
7.0 A decision to dismiss must be taken by Full Council. In making the 

decision Council must take into account the factors as specified: 

a) any advice, views or recommendations of the Panel;  
b) the conclusions of any investigation into the proposed dismissal; 

and 
c) any representations from the relevant officer. 

The Panel’s recommendations are not binding on the Council 

Page 228



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Area Committee Procedure Rules  
 

 

 

AREA COMMITTEE PROCEDURE RULES 
 
1. ARRANGEMENTS FOR AREA COMMITTEES 
 
1.1   Composition 
 

There shall be seven Area Committees as set out in the table below. They shall 
be constituted and operate in accordance with Article 10 of this Constitution and 
these Procedure Rules. 

 

Name of Area Committee Comprising these Wards 
 

Central Broomhill and Sharrow Vale 
City  
Hillsborough 
Walkley 
 

East Darnall  
Manor Castle 
Park and Arbourthorne  
Richmond 
 

North East Ecclesfield  
Stannington  
Stocksbridge and Upper Don 
West Ecclesfield 
 

North East Burngreave  
Firth Park 
Shiregreen and Brightside 
Southey 
 

South Beauchief and Greenhill 
Gleadless Valley 
Graves Park  
Nether Edge and Sharrow 
 

South East Birley  
Beighton 
Mosborough 
Woodhouse 
 

South West Crookes and Crosspool 
Dore and Totley 
Ecclesall  
Fulwood 
 

 

Page 229

Part 4g



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Area Committee Procedure Rules  
 

 

 

1.2   Delegation of functions 
 

The Area Committees shall operate according to the Terms of Reference set 
out in Part 3 of this Constitution. They shall carry out such functions as are 
delegated by the Full Council. 

 
1.3   Sub-delegation of Functions 
 

(a) Where functions have been delegated to an Area Committee, they may be 
delegated further to an officer of the Council.  
 

(b) The further delegation of a function does not prevent it from being discharged 
by the Area Committee. 
 

1.4   Conflicts of Interest 
 

(a) Where the Chair or any Member of an Area Committee has a conflict of 
interest this will be dealt with as set out in the Councillor Code of Conduct in 
Part 5 of this Constitution.  

 
(b) If the exercise of a function has been delegated to an Officer, and should a 

conflict of interest arise, then the function will be exercised in the first instance 
by the person or body by whom the delegation was made and otherwise as 
set out in the Councillor Code of Conduct in Part 5 of this Constitution. 

 
2 THE OPERATION OF AREA COMMITTEES 
 
2.1   Frequency and location of meetings 
 

Each Area Committee will meet at least 4 times each year at a publicly 
accessible location agreed by its Chair. Meetings shall be convened more 
regularly if the Chair decides it is necessary. 

 
2.2   Public access to meetings and papers 
 

Meetings, agenda and minutes of Area Committees will be open to the public 
and press, except as provided under legislation and the Access to Information 
Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

 
2.3   Quorum 
 

The quorum for a meeting of an Area Committee shall be half of its 
membership. 

 
2.4   Meetings of and decisions taken by an Area Committee 
 

Meetings of Area Committees will be convened and conducted in accordance 
with the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution.  

Page 230



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Area Committee Procedure Rules  
 

 

 

2.5   The Chair of Meetings 
 

Each Area Committee shall appoint a Chair and Deputy Chair for the year 
from its membership comprising the Ward Councillors of that Area Committee. 
Meetings will be chaired by the Chair if present and, in his or her absence, the 
Deputy Chair will chair. In the absence of both the Chair and the Deputy 
Chair, the Members present shall elect one of their number to chair. 

 
2.6   The Business to be Conducted 
 

At each meeting of an Area Committee, the following business will be 
conducted: 

 
(i) exclusion of the public and press;  

 
(ii) consideration of the minutes of the last meeting; 
 

(iii) declarations of interest, if any;  
 

(iv) public questions and petitions;  
 

(v) any matters referred to the Area Committee for consideration by the 
Full Council or a Council Committee;  

 

(vi) matters set out in the agenda for the meeting. 
 

2.7   Placing items on the Area Committee agenda 
 

(a) A Chief Officer may, in consultation with the Chair and subject to compliance 
with the Access to Information Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution, put on the 
agenda of an Area Committee meeting, any matter which he or she considers 
necessary or appropriate,  
 

(b) A matter referred to an Area Committee by Full Council or a Council 
Committee shall be placed on the agenda for the next Area Committee 
meeting, subject to compliance with the Access to Information Rules. The 
Leader of the Council, or the Chair or other Member of a referring Council 
Committee may address the Area Committee on a matter referred to it but 
shall not be entitled to participate in debate or to vote on the item unless he or 
she is a Member of the Area Committee  
 

(c) The Chief Executive, the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer 
may, subject to compliance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules in 
Part 4 of this Constitution, put any matter they consider necessary or 
appropriate on the agenda of any Area Committee meeting. Any of those 
officers may, where they consider it necessary to do so, require a meeting of 
an Area Committee to be called to consider a particular matter. 
 

Page 231



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 4 – Area Committee Procedure Rules  
 

 

 

2.8   Attendance by others 
 

(a) Area Committees may, through the Chair, invite representatives of other 
public, private or voluntary/community organisations with an interest in the 
issue and/or members of the general public to meetings to contribute to their 
discussions. 
 

(b) External experts and other persons identified as possible contributors may be 
invited to attend meetings to give evidence and advice and answer questions 
put to them by an Area Committee, but cannot be required to do so and 
therefore their participation will be on a voluntary basis. 

 
2.9   Placing items on a Council Committee agenda 
 

(a) An Area Committee can request that an item discussed at one of its meetings 
is placed on the agenda of the next meeting of the relevant Committee of the 
Council; 

  
(b) The request will be forwarded in writing by the Chair to the Chair of the 

relevant Committee who will take one of the following actions: 
(i) refer the matter to an Executive Director  
(ii) refer the matter to another relevant officer  
(iii) refer the matter to the Committee by way of a report; 
 
 

 

Page 232



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Part 5 
 

Codes and Protocols 

Page 233

Part 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 234



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Councillor Code of Conduct  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Sheffield City Council 

COUNCILLOR CODE OF CONDUCT 

Joint statement of Councillors 

The role of councillor across all tiers of local government is a vital part of our country’s 

system of democracy. It is important that as councillors we can be held accountable 

and all adopt the behaviours and responsibilities associated with the role. Our conduct 

as an individual councillor affects the reputation of all councillors. We want the role of 

councillor to be one that people aspire to.  

We also want individuals from a range of backgrounds and circumstances to be putting 

themselves forward to become councillors. As councillors, we represent residents, 

work to develop better services and deliver local change. The public have high 

expectations of us and entrust us to represent our local area, taking decisions fairly, 

openly, and transparently.  

We have both an individual and collective responsibility to meet these expectations by 

maintaining high standards and demonstrating good conduct, and by challenging 

behaviour which falls below expectations. Importantly, we should be able to undertake 

our role as a councillor without being intimidated, abused, bullied, or threatened by 

anyone, including the general public.  

This Code has been designed to protect our democratic role, encourage good conduct, 

and safeguard the public’s trust in local government. 

 

Definitions  

For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, a “councillor” means a member or co-opted 

member of a local authority or a directly elected mayor. A “co-opted member” is 

defined in the Localism Act 2011 Section 27(4) as “a person who is not a member of 

the authority but who  

a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority, or;  

b) b) is a member of, and represents the authority on, any joint committee or joint 

subcommittee of the authority.  

and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any meeting of 

that committee or sub-committee”. For the purposes of this Code of Conduct, “local 

authority” includes county councils, district councils, London borough councils, parish 

councils, town councils, fire and rescue authorities, police authorities, joint authorities, 

economic prosperity boards, combined authorities and National Park authorities. 

 

Page 235

Part 5a



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Councillor Code of Conduct  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Purpose of the Code of Conduct  

The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist you, as a councillor or co-opted 

member, in modelling the behaviour that is expected of you, to provide a personal 

check and balance, and to set out the type of conduct that could lead to action being 

taken against you. It is also to protect you, the public, fellow councillors or co-opted 

members, local authority officers and the reputation of local government. It sets out 

general principles of conduct expected of all councillors and co-opted members and 

your specific obligations in relation to standards of conduct. The LGA encourages the 

use of support, training and mediation prior to action being taken using the Code. The 

fundamental aim of the Code is to create and maintain public confidence in the role of 

councillor and local government. 

General principles of councillor conduct  

Everyone in public office at all levels; all who serve the public or deliver public services, 

including ministers, civil servants, councillors, co-opted members and local authority 

officers; should uphold the Seven Principles of Public Life, also known as the Nolan 

Principles. Building on these principles, the following general principles have been 

developed specifically for the role of councillor and co-opted member. In accordance 

with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions:  

• I act with integrity and honesty  

• I act lawfully  

• I treat all persons fairly and with respect; and  

• I lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the role of 

councillor. 

In undertaking my role:  

• I impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local community  

• I do not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any 

person  

• I avoid conflicts of interest  

• I exercise reasonable care and diligence; and  

• I ensure that public resources are used prudently in accordance with my local 

authority’s requirements and in the public interest. 

Application of the Code of Conduct  

This Code of Conduct applies to you as soon as you sign your declaration of 

acceptance of the office of councillor or attend your first meeting as a co-opted 

member and continues to apply to you until you cease to be a councillor or co-opted 

member. This Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting in your capacity 

as a councillor or co-opted member which may include when:  

Page 236



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Councillor Code of Conduct  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 you misuse your position as a councillor or co-opted member 

 Your actions would give the impression to a reasonable member of the public 

with knowledge of all the facts that you are acting as a councillor  or co-opted 

member;  

The Code applies to all forms of communication and interaction, including: 

 at face-to-face meetings  

 at online or telephone meetings  

  in written communication  

 in verbal communication  

 in non-verbal communication  

 in electronic and social media communication, posts, statements and 

comments.  

You are also expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show leadership at all 

times when acting as a councillor or co-opted member.  

Your Monitoring Officer has statutory responsibility for the implementation of the Code 

of Conduct, and you are encouraged to seek advice from your Monitoring Officer on 

any matters that may relate to the Code of Conduct. Town and parish councillors are 

encouraged to seek advice from their Clerk, who may refer matters to the Monitoring 

Officer. 

Standards of councillor conduct  

This section sets out your obligations, which are the minimum standards of conduct 

required of you as a councillor or co-opted member. Should your conduct fall short of 

these standards, a complaint may be made against you, which may result in action 

being taken. Guidance is included to help explain the reasons for the obligations and 

how they should be followed. 

General Conduct  

1. Respect As a councillor or co-opted member:  

1.1 I treat other councillors and members of the public with respect.  

1.2 I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of 

partner organisations and those volunteering for the local authority 

with respect and respect the role they play.  

Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written word. 

Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a councillor 

or co-opted member, you can express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, 

Page 237



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Councillor Code of Conduct  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

ideas, opinions and policies in a robust but civil manner. You should not, however, 

subject individuals, groups of people or organisations to personal attack. 

In your contact with the public, you should treat them politely and courteously. Rude 

and offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in 

councillors. In return, you have a right to expect respectful behaviour from the public. 

If members of the public are being abusive, intimidatory or threatening you are entitled 

to stop any conversation or interaction in person or online and report them to the local 

authority, the relevant social media provider or the police. This also applies to fellow 

councillors, where action could then be taken under the Councillor Code of Conduct, 

and local authority employees, where concerns should be raised in line with the local 

authority’s councillor officer protocol. 

2. Bullying, harassment and discrimination  

As a councillor or co-opted member:  

2.1 I do not bully any person.  

2.2 I do not harass any person.  

2.3 I promote equalities and do not discriminate unlawfully against any 

person.  

The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) characterises bullying as 

offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power 

through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the recipient. Bullying 

might be a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off incident, happen face-to-face, on 

social media, in emails or phone calls, happen in the workplace or at work social 

events and may not always be obvious or noticed by others. 

The Protection from Harassment Act 1997 defines harassment as conduct that causes 

alarm or distress or puts people in fear of violence and must involve such conduct on 

at least two occasions. It can include repeated attempts to impose unwanted 

communications and contact upon a person in a manner that could be expected to 

cause distress or fear in any reasonable person.  

Unlawful discrimination is where someone is treated unfairly because of a protected 

characteristic. Protected characteristics are specific aspects of a person's identity 

defined by the Equality Act 2010. They are age, disability, gender reassignment, 

marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 

and sexual orientation.  

Members must promote equality and inclusion by providing an environment free from 

harassment, discrimination, and victimisation and bullying and by treating people with 

Page 238



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Councillor Code of Conduct  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

respect, regardless of their age, disability, gender, race, religion/ belief, sexual 

orientation or marriage/ civil partnership status. 

The Equality Act 2010 places specific duties on local authorities. Councillors and co-

opted members have a central role to play in ensuring that equality issues are integral 

to the local authority's performance and strategic aims, and that there is a strong vision 

and public commitment to equality across public services. 

Members should be aware of the Council’s Equality Objectives 2019-22 and act in 

accordance with the Council’s Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy and Dignity and 

Respect at Work Policy. 

3. Impartiality of officers of the council  

As a councillor or co-opted member:  

3.1 I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of 

anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the local authority.  

Officers work for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless 

they are political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a way 

that would undermine their neutrality. You can question officers in order to understand, 

for example, their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the content of a 

report that they have written. However, you must not try and force them to act 

differently, change their advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so would 

prejudice their professional integrity. 

4. Confidentiality and access to information  

As a councillor or co-opted member:  

4.1 I do not disclose information:  

a. given to me in confidence                                                                                                                 

b. by anyone acquired by me which I believe, or ought reasonably to be 

aware, is of a confidential nature, unless  

i. I have received the consent of a person authorised to give it;  

ii. I am required by law to do so;  

iii. the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining 

professional legal advice provided that the third party agrees not to 

disclose the information to any other person; or 

iv. the disclosure is:  

 

1. reasonable and in the public interest; and  

2. made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable 

requirements of the local authority; and  

Page 239



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Councillor Code of Conduct  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

3. I have consulted the Monitoring Officer prior to its release. 

4.2 I do not improperly use knowledge gained solely as a result of my role as a 

councillor for the advancement of myself, my friends, my family members, my 

employer or my business interests.  

4.3 I do not prevent anyone from getting information that they are entitled to by 

law.  

Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and 

printed materials are open to the public, except in certain legally defined 

circumstances. You should work on this basis, but there will be times when it is 

required by law that discussions, documents and other information relating to or held 

by the local authority must be treated in a confidential manner. Examples include 

personal data relating to individuals or information relating to ongoing negotiations. 

5. Disrepute  

As a councillor or co-opted member:  

5.1 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute.  

As a councillor or co-opted member, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of 

your community and your actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than 

that of ordinary members of the public. You should be aware that your actions might 

have an adverse impact on you, other councillors and/or your local authority and may 

lower the public’s confidence in your or your local authority’s ability to discharge 

your/it’s functions. For example, behaviour that is considered dishonest and/or 

deceitful can bring your local authority into disrepute. You are able to hold the local 

authority and fellow councillors to account and are able to constructively challenge 

and express concern about decisions and processes undertaken by the council whilst 

continuing to adhere to other aspects of this Code of Conduct. 

6. Use of position  

As a councillor or co-opted member:  

6.1 I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the advantage or 

disadvantage of myself or anyone else.  

Your position as a member of the local authority provides you with certain 

opportunities, responsibilities, and privileges, and you make choices all the time that 

will impact others. However, you should not take advantage of these opportunities to 

further your own or others’ private interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly. 

 

Page 240



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Councillor Code of Conduct  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

7. Use of local authority resources and facilities  

As a councillor or co-opted member:  

7.1 I do not misuse council resources.  

7.2 I will, when using the resources of the local or authorising their use 

by others:  

a. act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; and  

b. ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes 

unless that use could reasonably be regarded as likely to facilitate, 

or be conducive to, the discharge of the functions of the local 

authority or of the office to which I have been elected or appointed.  

You may be provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to assist you 

in carrying out your duties as a councillor. 

Examples include:  

• office support  

• stationery  

• equipment such as phones, and computers  

• transport  

• access and use of local authority buildings and rooms.  

These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a councillor more effectively 

and are not to be used for business or personal gain. They should be used in 

accordance with the purpose for which they have been provided and the local 

authority’s own policies regarding their use. 

8. Complying with the Code of Conduct  

As a Councillor or co-opted member:  

8.1 I undertake Code of Conduct training provided by my local authority.  

8.2 I cooperate with any Code of Conduct investigation and/or 

determination.  

8.3 I do not intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is likely to 

be involved with the administration of any investigation or 

proceedings.  

8.4 I comply with any standards investigation or sanction imposed on me 

following a finding that I have breached the Code of Conduct.  

Page 241



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Councillor Code of Conduct  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

It is extremely important for you as a councillor to demonstrate high standards, for you 

to have your actions open to scrutiny and for you not to undermine public trust in the 

local authority or its governance. If you do not understand or are concerned about the 

local authority’s processes in handling a complaint you should raise this with your 

Monitoring Officer. 

You must not make trivial, malicious or vexatious allegations against other 

Councillors/Officers. 

9. Interests  

As a councillor or co-opted member:  

9.1 I register and disclose my interests.  

Section 29 of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Monitoring Officer to establish and 

maintain a register of interests of members of the authority. You need to register your 

interests so that the public, local authority employees and fellow councillors know 

which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest. The register is a public 

document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue arises. The register also 

protects you by allowing you to demonstrate openness and a willingness to be held 

accountable.  

You are personally responsible for deciding whether or not you should disclose an 

interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for you to know early on if others think that 

a potential conflict might arise. It is also important that the public know about any 

interest that might have to be disclosed by you or other councillors when making or 

taking part in decisions, so that decision making is seen by the public as open and 

honest. This helps to ensure that public confidence in the integrity of local governance 

is maintained.  

You should note that failure to register or disclose a disclosable pecuniary interest as 

set out in Table 1, is a criminal offence under the Localism Act 2011. 

Appendix B sets out the detailed provisions on registering and disclosing interests. If 

in doubt, you should always seek advice from your Monitoring Officer. 

10.Gifts and hospitality  

As a councillor or co-opted member:  

10.1 I do not accept gifts or hospitality, irrespective of estimated value, 

which could give rise to real or substantive personal gain or a 

reasonable suspicion of influence on my part to show favour from 

persons seeking to acquire, develop or do business with the local 

authority or from persons who may apply to the local authority for 

any permission, licence or other significant advantage.  

Page 242



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Councillor Code of Conduct  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

10.2 I notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of any gift, benefit or 

hospitality with a value in excess of £10, or accumulatively in excess 

of £10 from the same source over the four-year term of office which 

you have been offered as a Member from any person or body other 

than the Authority within 28 days of receipt. 

10.3 I register with the Monitoring Officer any significant gift or hospitality 

that I have been offered but have refused to accept.  

In order to protect your position and the reputation of the local authority, you should 

exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you 

reasonably believe to be) offered to you because you are a councillor. The 

presumption should always be not to accept significant gifts or hospitality. However, 

there may be times when such a refusal may be difficult if it is seen as rudeness in 

which case you could accept it but must ensure it is publicly registered. However, you 

do not need to register gifts and hospitality which are not related to your role as a 

councillor, such as Christmas gifts from your friends and family. It is also important to 

note that it is appropriate to accept normal expenses and hospitality associated with 

your duties as a councillor. If you are unsure, do contact your Monitoring Officer for 

guidance. 

11. Bias 

11.1 I must not place myself under any financial or other obligation to 

outside individuals or organisations that might seek to influence me in 

the performance of my official duties. 

11.2 When making a decision, I consider the matter with an open mind 

and on the facts before the meeting at which the decision is to be taken. 

Where you have been involved in campaigning in your political role on an issue which 

does not impact on your personal and/or professional life you are not prohibited from 

participating in a decision in your political role as member.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 243



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Councillor Code of Conduct  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Appendices  

Appendix A – The Seven Principles of Public Life  

The principles are:  

Selflessness  

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest.  

Integrity  

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people 

or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They 

should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for 

themselves, their family, or their friends. They must disclose and resolve any interests 

and relationships.  

Objectivity 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 

using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

Accountability  

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions 

and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.  

Openness  

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 

manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and 

lawful reasons for so doing.  

Honesty  

Holders of public office should be truthful.  

Leadership  

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They 

should actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge 

poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

 

 

 

Page 244



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Councillor Code of Conduct  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Appendix B - Registering interests  

Within 28 days of becoming a member or your re-election or re-appointment to office 

you must register with the Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the 

categories set out in Table 1 (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) which are as 

described in “The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 

2012”. You should also register details of your other personal interests which fall within 

the categories set out in Table 2 (Other Registerable Interests).  

“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means an interest of yourself, or of your partner if 

you are aware of your partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in Table 1 

below.  

"Partner" means a spouse or civil partner, or a person with whom you are living as 

husband or wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you are civil partners.  

1. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 

28 days of becoming aware of any new interest, or of any change to a 

registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer.  

2. A ‘sensitive interest’ is as an interest which, if disclosed, could lead to the 

councillor, or a person connected with the councillor, being subject to 

violence or intimidation.  

3. Where you have a ‘sensitive interest’ you must notify the Monitoring Officer 

with the reasons why you believe it is a sensitive interest. If the Monitoring 

Officer agrees they will withhold the interest from the public register. 

Non participation in case of disclosable pecuniary interest  

4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in Table 1, you must disclose the 

interest, not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not 

remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a 

‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just 

that you have an interest. Dispensation may be granted in limited 

circumstances, to enable you to participate and vote on a matter in which 

you have a disclosable pecuniary interest.  

5. Where you have a disclosable pecuniary interest on a matter to be 

considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet member in exercise 

of your executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the 

interest and must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart from 

arranging for someone else to deal with it. 

 

Page 245



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Councillor Code of Conduct  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests  

6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your 

Other Registerable Interests (as set out in Table 2), you must disclose the 

interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also 

allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any 

discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you 

have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not 

have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

Disclosure of Non-Registerable Interests  

7. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial 

interest or well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest  set out in 

Table 1) or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, 

you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members 

of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting. Otherwise you  must 

not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in 

the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 

interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest.  

8. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects –  

a. your own financial interest or well-being;  

b. a financial interest or well-being of a  relative, close associate; 

or  

c. a body included in those you need to disclose under Other 

Registrable Interests as set out in Table 2.  

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain 

in the meeting after disclosing your interest the following test should be 

applied:  

 9. Where a matter affects your financial interest or well-being:  

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the 

majority of inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;  

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would 

believe that it would affect your view of the wider public interest  

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed 

to speak at the meeting. Otherwise, you must not take part in any discussion 

or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been 

granted a dispensation.  

Page 246



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Councillor Code of Conduct  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to disclose the nature of the 

interest.   

10. Where you have a personal interest in any business of your authority and 

you have made an executive decision in relation to that business, you must 

make sure that any written statement of that decision records the existence 

and nature of your interest.  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 247



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Councillor Code of Conduct  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Table 1: Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  

This table sets out the explanation of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests as set out in the 

Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012.  

Subject 
 

Description 

Employment, office, trade, profession 
or vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. [Any unpaid directorship.] 
 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other 
financial benefit (other than from the 
council) made to the councillor during the 
previous 12-month period for expenses 
incurred by him/her in carrying out 
his/her duties as a councillor, or towards 
his/her election expenses. This includes 
any payment or financial benefit from a 
trade union within the meaning of the 
Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.  
 

Contracts Any contract made between the 
councillor or his/her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which 
such person is a partner, or an 
incorporated body of which such person 
is a director* or a body that such person 
has a beneficial interest in the securities 
of*) and the council — (a) under which 
goods or services are to be provided or 
works are to be executed; and (b) which 
has not been fully discharged.  
 

Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which is 
within the area of the council. ‘Land’ 
excludes an easement, servitude, 
interest or right in or over land which 
does not give the councillor or his/her 
spouse or civil partner or the person with 
whom the councillor is living as if they 
were spouses/ civil partners (alone or 
jointly with another) a right to occupy or 
to receive income.  
 

Page 248



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Councillor Code of Conduct  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) 
to occupy land in the area of the council 
for a month or longer Corporate 
tenancies Any tenancy where (to the 
councillor’s knowledge)— (a) the 
landlord is the council; and (b) the tenant 
is a body that the councillor, or his/her 
spouse or civil partner or the person with 
whom the councillor is living as if they 
were spouses/ civil partners is a partner 
of or a director* of or has a beneficial 
interest in the securities* of.  
 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a 
body where— (a) that body (to the 
councillor’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the 
council; and (b) either— (i) ) the total 
nominal value of the securities* exceeds 
£25,000 or one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that body; or (ii) if 
the share capital of that body is of more 
than one class, the total nominal value of 
the shares of any one class in which the 
councillor, or his/ her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the 
councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners has a beneficial 
interest exceeds one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that class. 
 

 

* ‘director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and 

provident society.  

* ‘securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of 

a collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and 

Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money 

deposited with a building society.  

 

 

 

 

Page 249



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Councillor Code of Conduct  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Table 2: Other Registrable Interests 

You have a personal interest in any business of your authority where it relates to 
or is likely to affect:   
  
 
a) any body of which you are in general control or management and to which you 
are nominated or appointed by your authority  
  
 
b) any body  
 

i. exercising functions of a public nature  
ii. any body directed to charitable purposes or   
iii. one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or 

policy (including any political party or trade union)  
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 250



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Councillor Code of Conduct  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Appendix C – the Committee on Standards in Public Life  

The LGA has undertaken this review whilst the Government continues to consider the 

recommendations made by the Committee on Standards in Public Life in their report 

on Local Government Ethical Standards. If the Government chooses to implement any 

of the recommendations, this could require a change to this Code.  

The recommendations cover:   

 Recommendations for changes to the Localism Act 2011 to clarify in law when 

the Code of Conduct applies  

 The introduction of sanctions  

 An appeals process through the Local Government Ombudsman  

 Changes to the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) 

Regulations 2012  

 Updates to the Local Government Transparency Code  

 Changes to the role and responsibilities of the Independent Person  

 That the criminal offences in the Localism Act 2011 relating to Disclosable 

Pecuniary Interests should be abolished  

The Local Government Ethical Standards report also includes Best Practice 

recommendations. These are:  

Best practice 1: Local authorities should include prohibitions on bullying and 

harassment in codes of conduct. These should include a definition of bullying and 

harassment, supplemented with a list of examples of the sort of behaviour covered by 

such a definition.  

Best practice 2: Councils should include provisions in their code of conduct requiring 

councillors to comply with any formal standards investigation and prohibiting trivial or 

malicious allegations by councillors.  

Best practice 3: Principal authorities should review their code of conduct each year 

and regularly seek, where possible, the views of the public, community organisations 

and neighbouring authorities.  

Best practice 4: An authority’s code should be readily accessible to both councillors 

and the public, in a prominent position on a council’s website and available in council 

premises.  

Best practice 5: Local authorities should update their gifts and hospitality register at 

least once per quarter, and publish it in an accessible format, such as CSV.  

Best practice 6: Councils should publish a clear and straightforward public interest 

test against which allegations are filtered.  

Page 251



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Councillor Code of Conduct  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Best practice 7: Local authorities should have access to at least two Independent 

Persons.  

Best practice 8: An Independent Person should be consulted as to whether to 

undertake a formal investigation on an allegation and should be given the option to 

review and comment on allegations which the responsible officer is minded to dismiss 

as being without merit, vexatious, or trivial.  

Best practice 9: Where a local authority makes a decision on an allegation of 

misconduct following a formal investigation, a decision notice should be published as 

soon as possible on its website, including a brief statement of facts, the provisions of 

the code engaged by the allegations, the view of the Independent Person, the 

reasoning of the decision-maker, and any sanction applied.  

Best practice 10: A local authority should have straightforward and accessible 

guidance on its website on how to make a complaint under the code of conduct, the 

process for handling complaints, and estimated timescales for investigations and 

outcomes.  

Best practice 11: Formal standards complaints about the conduct of a parish 

councillor towards a clerk should be made by the chair or by the parish council, rather 

than the clerk in all but exceptional circumstances.  

Best practice 12: Monitoring Officers’ roles should include providing advice, support 

and management of investigations and adjudications on alleged breaches to parish 

councils within the remit of the principal authority. They should be provided with 

adequate training, corporate support and resources to undertake this work.  

Best practice 13: A local authority should have procedures in place to address any 

conflicts of interest when undertaking a standards investigation. Possible steps should 

include asking the Monitoring Officer from a different authority to undertake the 

investigation.  

Best practice 14: Councils should report on separate bodies they have set up or 

which they own as part of their annual governance statement and give a full picture of 

their relationship with those bodies. Separate bodies created by local authorities 

should abide by the Nolan principle of openness and publish their board agendas and 

minutes and annual reports in an accessible place.  

Best practice 15: Senior officers should meet regularly with political group leaders or 

group whips to discuss standards issues.  

  

  

 

Page 252



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Councillor Code of Conduct  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Appendix D - LIST OF POLICIES 

 

 Sheffield City Council Electronic Communications Policy 

 

 Members’ ICT Usage Policy 

 

 Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy  

 

 Sheffield City Council Equality Objectives 2019-22 

 

 

Page 253



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 254



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Monitoring Officer Protocol  
________________________________________________________________________ 
 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 1 of 16 

MONITORING OFFICER PROTOCOL  
 
 
1.  STATUTORY RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
1.1 The Monitoring Officer is a statutory appointment pursuant to Section 5 of the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989 This Protocol sets out the Monitoring Officer's 
role in relating to the statutory duty to promote and maintain high standards of 
conduct under the Localism Act 2011.  

 
1.2 The role of the Monitoring Officer rests with the Director of Legal and Governance.  

The Monitoring Officer may nominate a member of staff to act as Deputy Monitoring 
Officer while absent or ill and has appointed the Assistant Directors of Legal and 
Governance as Deputy Monitoring Officers.  The Deputies will act only in the 
absence of the Monitoring Officer. 

 
1.3  This Protocol should be read in conjunction with Articles 13 and 16 of the 

Constitution which set out all Monitoring Officer functions. It should also be read in 
conjunction with the procedure for investigating standards complaints.  A list of the 
functions of the Monitoring Officer appears in the attached Schedule. 

 
 
2. WORKING ARRANGEMENTS 
 
2.1 It is vital that Members and Officers work with the Monitoring Officer and his or her 

staff, to effectively discharge the Council business, statutory responsibilities and 
promote the corporate health of the Council.  

 
2.2 The Monitoring Officer’s duties will be discharged in accordance with the Council’s 

Constitution, legislative requirements and relevant Government guidance.  The 
Monitoring Officer’s ability to discharge these duties and responsibilities will 
depend, to a large extent, on Members and Officers:- 

 
(a) complying with the law (including any relevant Codes of Conduct); 
 
(b) complying with any general guidance, codes or protocols issued from time to 

time by the Monitoring Officer; 
 
(c) making lawful and proportionate decisions; 
 
(d) generally, not taking action that would bring the Council, their offices or 

professions into disrepute; 
 
(e) seeking early advice on issues relating to constitutional or ethical matters; 
 

Page 255

Part 5b



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Monitoring Officer Protocol  
________________________________________________________________________ 
 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 2 of 16 

(f) raising alerts to issues that may become of concern to the Authority about 
legal powers to do something or not, ethical standards, probity, propriety, 
procedural or other constitutional issues that are likely to (or do) arise; and 

 
(g) Reporting to the Monitoring Officer at the earliest opportunity convictions of 

criminal offences which might amount to a breach of the Members Code of 
Conduct. 

 
2.3 The Monitoring Officer will: 
 

2.3.1 Have advance notice and access to information (including agendas, minutes, 
reports and related papers) of all relevant meetings of the Authority, 
(including meetings at which Officer delegated decisions are taken) at which 
a binding decision may be made (including meetings where there may be a 
failure to take a decision which should be taken); 

 
2.3.2 Have the right to attend (and be heard) any meeting of the Authority 

(including meetings at which Officer delegated decisions are taken) before 
any binding decision is taken (including a meeting where there may be failure 
to take a decision where one should be taken). 

 
2.3.3  Meet regularly with the Head of Paid Service and the Chief Finance Officer to 

consider and recommend action in connection with corporate Governance 
issues, matters of concern regarding legal, ethical standards probity, 
procedural, constitutional issues that are likely and do arise; 

 
2.3.4 In undertaking or arranging investigations will have unqualified access to any 

information held by the Council and to any Officer who can assist in the 
discharge of the functions. 

 
2.3.5 Report to Council as necessary on resources. 
 

 
3. RELATIONSHIPS 
 
3.1 The Monitoring Officer will develop effective working liaison and relationship to 

ensuring effective and efficient discharge of Council business with: 
 

(a)   The Lord Mayor, Chairs of Policy, Regulatory, Audit and Standards and 
other Committees of the Council; and 

 
(b)  The Local Auditor and the Local Government Ombudsman or their 

successors; 
 

3.2 Refer any breaches to, or give and receive any relevant information, whether 
confidential or otherwise, (through appropriate protocols, if necessary), to the 
bodies in 3.1 (b).  

Page 256



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Monitoring Officer Protocol  
________________________________________________________________________ 
 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 3 of 16 

4. PROCEDURE FOR DEALING WITH COMPLAINTS REGARDING CITY, PARISH 
AND TOWN COUNCILLORS AND CO-OPTED MEMBERS 

 
4.1 The procedure for dealing with complaints that a member of the City Council, 

Parish and Town Councils or a Co-opted Member has failed to comply with the 
Councillor Code of Conduct is set out in Appendix A. 

 
4.2 The Monitoring Officer reserves the right to deal with any issues arising in the 

course of business that concerns the conduct or alleged conduct of a Member, in 
the absence of a complaint, if the Monitoring Officer deems it reasonable and 
appropriate to do so. 

 
  

Page 257



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Monitoring Officer Protocol  
________________________________________________________________________ 
 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 4 of 16 

SCHEDULE  
 
A list of the functions of the Monitoring Officer 
 

1.  Report on contraventions or likely 
contraventions of any enactment or 
rule of law   

Section 5 Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989 

2.  Report on any maladministration or 
injustice where Ombudsman has 
carried out an investigation  

Section 5 Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989 

3.  Appointment of Deputy Section 5 Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989 

4.  Report on resources Section 5 Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989 

5.  Maintain register of Members Interests 
and gifts and hospitality 

Localism Act 2011 

6.  To be responsible for the operation 
and maintenance of the whistleblowing 
policy 

Whistleblowing Policy and Procedure (in 
the Officers’ Code of Conduct) 

7  Proper Officer – Local Government 
Access to Information Regulations 

Part 2 of the Constitution Article 13.03  

8  Advise on vires, maladministration, 
impropriety, probity 

Part 2 of the Constitution Article 13.03  

 
  

Page 258



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Monitoring Officer Protocol  
________________________________________________________________________ 
 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 5 of 16 

Appendix A 
 
SHEFFIELD CITY COUNCIL  
 
PROCEDURE FOR DEALING WITH COMPLAINTS REGARDING CITY, PARISH AND 
TOWN COUNCILLORS AND CO-OPTED MEMBERS 
  
1. Introduction 
  
1.1 Under the Localism Act 2011, the Council has a duty to promote and 

maintain high standards of conduct for its elected and co-opted 
members and have arrangements in place to deal with complaints. 

  
1.2 This Procedure sets out how the Council will deal with a complaint 

alleging a breach of the Councillor Code of Conduct by:-  
  
  Sheffield City Councillors   
  Voting and non-voting co-opted members of the Council 
  Bradfield Parish Councillors 
  Ecclesfield Parish Councillors 
  Stocksbridge Town Councillors 
  
 (In this Procedure the term ‘Member’ is used to describe a Councillor or 

Co-opted Member) 
  
1.3 In dealing with complaints we will be fair to both the complainant and 

Member and progress matters in accordance with the timescales set out 
in the Procedure. Complaints will be handled in the strictest confidence 
at all times. 

  
1.4 The Council has a duty to ensure no conflict of interest with officers 

when undertaking standards investigations.  If a conflict of interest is 
identified, it will be determined in consultation with the Independent 
Person whether the matter should be dealt with by an alternative 
Monitoring Officer. 

  
1.5 The Council has a clear and straightforward public interest test, which is 

used by the Monitoring Officer when considering complaints.   
  
2. Monitoring Officer 
  
2.1 Gillian Duckworth, Director of Legal and Governance, is the Council’s 

Monitoring Officer. This is a statutory role, responsible for ensuring that 
the Council, its Members and officers carry out their functions in a lawful 
and ethical manner. The role includes supporting the Audit and 
Standards Committee and the three Independent Persons in dealing 
with complaints alleging a breach of the Councillor Code of Conduct. 

Page 259



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Monitoring Officer Protocol  
________________________________________________________________________ 
 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 6 of 16 

  
3. Independent Persons 
  
3.1 The Council appoints Independent Persons from outside the Council to 

assist the Monitoring Officer and the Audit and Standards Committee in 
considering complaints. This is statutory requirement under the 
Localism Act 2011. Sheffield has appointed two Independent Persons - 
David Waxman and Jo Cairns. 

  
3.2 The Independent Person must be consulted at various stages in the 

complaints process: 
 

1. The Independent Person should be consulted on an allegation 
and should be given the option to review and comment on 
allegations which the Monitoring Officer is minded to dismiss as 
being malicious, without merit, vexatious or trivial. 
 

2. As to whether to undertake a formal investigation. 
 

3. Before the Hearing Sub-Committee. 
  
4. Making a Complaint/Withdrawing a Complaint 
  
4.1 Complaints alleging a breach of the Councillor Code of Conduct should 

be made in writing using the complaint form and sent to Gillian 
Duckworth, Monitoring Officer, Sheffield City Council, Town Hall, 
Sheffield S1 2HH or email gillian.duckworth@sheffield.gov.uk. The 
complaint form is available from:- 

  
  Website -  http://www.sheffield.gov.uk/home/your-city-

council/council-meetings 
  Email - committee@sheffield.gov.uk 
  Phone -  Democratic Services on 0114 273 4015 
  
4.2 If you need advice or assistance in submitting a complaint please 

contact Sarah Hyde in Democratic Services (email 
sarah.hyde@sheffield.gov.uk or phone 0114 273 4015). 

  
4.3 Details of the complaint, including the name of the complainant, will be 

shared with the Member. The complainant can request at section 2 of 
the complaint form for their identity to be kept confidential. Requests for 
confidentiality will be considered by the Monitoring Officer, in 
consultation with the Independent Person, and the complainant will be 
informed in writing of the outcome. In the interest of fairness and natural 
justice, we believe Members who are complained about have a right to 
know who has made the complaint.  We are unlikely to withhold your 
identity unless there are exceptional circumstances; for example, that 

Page 260

mailto:gillian.duckworth@sheffield.gov.uk
http://www.sheffield.gov.uk/home/your-city-council/council-meetings
http://www.sheffield.gov.uk/home/your-city-council/council-meetings
mailto:committee@sheffield.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.hyde@sheffield.gov.uk


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Monitoring Officer Protocol  
________________________________________________________________________ 
 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 7 of 16 

you can demonstrate that you will suffer significant harm or distress as 
a result of disclosure. In exceptional circumstances where the matter 
complained about is very serious, we can proceed with an investigation 
or other action and disclose your name even if you have expressly 
asked us not to. 

  
4.4 Anonymous complaints will not be considered. 
  
4.5 The complainant can withdraw their complaint at any time by informing 

the Monitoring Officer in writing. The Monitoring Officer will confirm this 
in writing with the complainant within 5 working days and also inform the 
Member that the complaint has been withdrawn. 

  
4.6 Where a complaint has been withdrawn, the Monitoring Officer reserves 

the right to pursue the issues in the complaint. 
  
5.0 Acknowledging the Complaint/Rejecting a Complaint/Informing the 

Member 
  
5.1 The Monitoring Officer will acknowledge receipt of the complaint in 

writing within 5 working days, with details of how the complaint will be 
dealt with and providing a copy of this Procedure and the Code of 
Conduct.  

  
5.2 If necessary, the Monitoring Officer will clarify any matters with the 

complainant as soon as possible before the Member is informed. 
 

5.3 The Monitoring Officer also reserves the right to reject a complaint if it is 
considered to be trivial, vexatious, repetitious, not a standards matter or 
a general misuse of the opportunity. The complainant will be informed of 
the reasons why a complaint has been rejected.  

  
5.4 The Member will be informed in writing within 5 working days that a 

complaint has been made about them, subject to paragraph 5.2. This 
will include the name of the complainant (unless the Monitoring Officer 
has agreed to the complainant’s request that their name is kept 
confidential) and details of the complaint. They will also receive a copy 
of this Procedure and the Code of Conduct. To assist the Monitoring 
Officer in assessing the complaint, the Member will be invited to submit 
within 10 working days a written statement of fact in response to the 
complaint. 

  
5.5 The Monitoring Officer will also inform the Leader of the relevant 

political Group, Group Whip and Chair of the Audit and Standards 
Committee that a complaint has been received and provide a summary 
of the complaint. 

  

Page 261



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Monitoring Officer Protocol  
________________________________________________________________________ 
 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 8 of 16 

5.6 Where a complaint relates to a Parish or Town Councillor, the 
Monitoring Officer will also inform the Clerk of that Council of the name 
of the Member and details of the complaint. The Clerk will also be kept 
informed of the progress and the outcome of the complaint. 

  
6. Assessment by the Monitoring Officer 
  
6.1 Before assessment of the complaint, it may be necessary for the 

Monitoring Officer to request further information or clarification from the 
complainant and/or Member and, where necessary, obtain other 
available information, such as the minutes of a meeting. 

  
6.2 The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person, will 

consider (a) the complaint, any remedy sought by the complainant, any 
written statement of fact submitted by the Member and any other 
information obtained; (b) whether the member was acting in their official 
capacity and that the Code of Conduct does apply; (c) if the allegation 
constitutes a potential breach of the Code of Conduct; and (d) would 
consideration of the complaint be in the public interest; and then take 
one of the following courses of action:- 

  
 1. Take no action or 
 2. Take other action through informal resolution or 
 3. Refer the matter for investigation 
 4. Refer the matter to the Consideration Sub-Committee 
  
6.3 The complainant and the Member will be informed in writing within 10 

working days of the outcome and the reasons for the decision. 
  
6.4 The Monitoring Officer will also inform the Leader of the relevant 

political Group, Group Whip and Chair of the Audit and Standards 
Committee of the assessment decision. Where a complaint relates to a 
Parish or Town Councillor, the Monitoring Officer will also inform the 
Clerk of that Council. 

  
6.5 Where a complaint is not referred for investigation, the Monitoring 

Officer will seek to deal with the matter within 8 weeks. 
  
6.6 Take No Action 
  
6.6.1 It is likely that no action will be taken where:- 
  
  A significant amount of time has elapsed since the events 

which are the subject of the complaint. 
 

Page 262



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Monitoring Officer Protocol  
________________________________________________________________________ 
 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 9 of 16 

 The allegation relates to a cultural or recurring issue relating 
to standards within the Council.  
 

 The matter should be dealt with by some other method. 
 

 Complaints have been made about the Member relating to 
similar issues that have previously been dealt with through 
this Procedure. 
 

 The complaint appears to be trivial, vexatious, repetitious or a 
general misuse of the opportunity. 
 

 The conduct occurred during political debate or could be 
regarded as a political expression of views or opinion. 

  
6.7 Take Other Action Through Informal Resolution 
  
6.7.1 Informal resolution may be the simplest and most cost effective way of 

resolving the complaint and without determining if an actual breach of 
the Code has taken place. It may be appropriate where: 

  
  The Monitoring Officer considers that this is the most effective 

way of resolving the matter to the complainant’s satisfaction; 
  
  The Member appears to have a poor understanding of the Code 

of Conduct and/or related Council procedures;  
  
  The conduct complained of appears to be a symptom of wider 

underlying conflicts which, if unresolved, are likely to lead to 
further misconduct or allegations of misconduct;  

  
  The conduct complained of appears to the Monitoring Officer not 

to require a formal sanction; 
  
  The complaint appears to reveal a lack of guidance, protocols 

and procedures within the District or Parish/Town Council; 
  
  The complaint consists of allegations and retaliatory allegations 

between councillors; 
  
 
 

 The complaint consists of allegations about how formal meetings 
are conducted; and 

  
  The conduct complained of may be due to misleading, unclear or 

misunderstood advice from officers. 
  

Page 263



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Monitoring Officer Protocol  
________________________________________________________________________ 
 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 10 of 16 

6.7.2 The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person, 
may take any of the following actions:- 

  
  Take such steps as they think appropriate to prevent a future  

breach of the Code including training, guidance and introducing 
or amending policies/protocols. 

  
  Ask the Whips to address the issue raised within their political 

parties or with an individual Member. 
  
  Mediate between the parties involved to resolve the issues. 
  
  Seek an apology from the Member. 
  
  Any other action capable of resolving the complaint. 
  
6.7.3 If a member of the public making a complaint is not satisfied with the 

action to be taken through informal resolution they can make a request 
in writing to the Monitoring Officer for reconsideration. If appropriate, the 
Monitoring Officer may then recommend additional mediation, 
reconsider the original action proposed, or refer the complaint to 
Consideration Sub-Committee.  

  
6.8 Refer the Matter for Investigation 
  
6.8.1 It is expected that the Monitoring Officer will refer only the most serious 

breaches for investigation or where the Member fundamentally disputes 
or does not accept the allegations in the complaint. 

  
6.8.2 If a complaint has been referred for investigation, the Monitoring Officer, 

in consultation with the Independent Person, will appoint a person to 
undertake the investigation and this may be either a Council Officer or 
an outside agent, depending on the complexity and subject of the 
complaint. 

  
6.8.3 The Investigating Officer will inform the complainant and Member of the 

process and proposed timescale of the investigation. The investigation 
may involve interviewing both parties and possibly other witnesses, 
together with reviewing any relevant documentation or paperwork.  

  
6.8.4 The Investigating Officer will prepare a draft report on the outcome of 

the investigation and provide the complainant and Member with a copy 
for review and comment. 

  
6.8.5 The Investigating Officer will submit a final version of the report to the 

Monitoring Officer that will make a finding that either (a) there has been 
a breach of the Code of Conduct or (b) there has not been a breach of 

Page 264



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Monitoring Officer Protocol  
________________________________________________________________________ 
 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 11 of 16 

the Code of Conduct. The final report will also be sent to the 
complainant and Member. 

  
6.8.6 The Monitoring Officer will submit the Investigating Officer’s report to 

the Consideration Sub-Committee. 
  
6.8.7 An investigation will be completed within 12 weeks of a referral by the 

Monitoring Officer. The Consideration Sub-Committee will meet within 
two months of the final report being submitted to the Monitoring Officer. 

  
6.9 Refer the matter to the Consideration Sub-Committee 
  
6.9.1 The Monitoring Officer can refer a complaint direct to the Sub-

Committee if it is considered that there is a breach of the Code but there 
is no dispute over the events in relation to the complaint and an 
investigation is not considered necessary. 

  
6.9.2 If a member of the public making a complaint is not satisfied with the 

action to be taken through informal resolution they can make a request 
in writing to the Monitoring Officer for reconsideration. If appropriate, the 
Monitoring Officer may then recommend additional mediation, 
reconsider the original action proposed, or refer the complaint to 
Consideration Sub-Committee. 

  
7 Consideration Sub-Committee 
  
7.1 The Consideration Sub-Committee comprises 3 Councillors and 1 non-

voting co-opted Independent Member. 
  
7.2 The complainant and Member are not required to attend the meeting of 

the Sub-Committee. 
  
7.3 The Monitoring Officer will submit a report on the outcome of an 

investigation or a matter referred to the Sub-Committee. The 
Investigating Officer will attend the meeting. 

  
 7.4 The Sub-Committee will consider the Monitoring Officer’s report and, 

after taking the views of the Independent Person into account, can:- 
  
 (a) take no action; or 
  
 (b)  take other action including any of the following actions:- 
  
  Take such steps as the Sub-Committee considers appropriate to 

prevent a future breach of the Code including training, guidance 
and introducing or amending policies/protocols. 
 

Page 265



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Monitoring Officer Protocol  
________________________________________________________________________ 
 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 12 of 16 

 Ask the Whips to address the issue raised within their political 
parties or with an individual Member. 
 

 Request the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the 
Independent Person, to mediate between the parties involved to 
resolve the issues. 
 

 Seek an apology from the Member. 
 

 Any other action capable of resolving the complaint. 
  
 (c) refer the matter to a Hearing Sub-Committee. 
  
7.5 Where the Consideration Sub-Committee is considering a report on the 

referral of a complaint where a member of the public is not satisfied with 
the action to be taken through informal resolution, the only option 
available to the Sub-Committee is to ratify the original informal 
resolution, or to take other action including any of the following actions:- 

  
  Take such steps as the Consideration Sub-Committee considers 

appropriate to prevent a future breach of the Code including 
training, guidance and introducing or amending policies/protocols. 
 

 Ask the Whips to address the issue raised within their political 
parties or with an individual Member. 
 

 Request the Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the 
Independent Person, to mediate between the parties involved to 
resolve the issues. 
 

 Seek an apology from the Member. 
 

 Any other action capable of resolving the complaint. 
  
7.6 The Monitoring Officer will inform the complainant and Member in 

writing within 10 working days of the outcome and the reasons for the 
Sub-Committee’s decision. 

  
8. Hearing Sub-Committee 
  
8.1 The Hearing Sub-Committee comprises 3 Councillors and 1 non-voting 

co-opted Independent Member. 
  
8.2 The Sub-Committee will meet within two months of a referral by the 

Consideration Sub-Committee to consider the allegation. 
  

Page 266



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Monitoring Officer Protocol  
________________________________________________________________________ 
 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 13 of 16 

8.3 The Sub-Committee will meet in public unless it decides that all or part 
of the meeting should be held in private in accordance with the Access 
to Information Procedure Rules in the Council’s Constitution. 

  
8.4 In advance of the Hearing, there will be a pre-hearing process to allow 

matters at the Hearing to be dealt with more fairly and economically. 
  
8.5 The complainant and member will be given the opportunity to attend the 

Hearing and present witnesses. The Monitoring Officer, any 
Investigating Officer and Independent Person will also attend. The 
procedure at the Hearing will include:- 

  
  Making findings of fact 
  Deciding if there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct 
  Consider the remedies/sanctions available if there is a finding 

that the Member has breached of the Code of Conduct 
  
8.6 Full details of the pre-hearing and hearing process are set out in the 

Procedure at Hearings. The Member and complainant will be provided 
with a copy of the Procedure. 

  
8.7 A Finding of No Breach of the Code of Conduct 
  
8.7.1 If the Sub-Committee finds that the Member did not breach the Code of 

Conduct no further action will be taken in respect of the complaint. 
However, the Sub-Committee can make a recommendation to the 
authority with a view to promoting and maintaining high standards of 
conduct in general (e.g. proposed changes to internal procedures or 
training for Members). 

  
8.8 A Finding of a Breach of the Code of Conduct 
  
8.8.1 If the Sub-Committee finds that a breach of the Code of Conduct has 

occurred they may make any of the following recommendations and 
may specify to whom they wish them to be directed:- 

  
  Recommending to the Member’s Group Leader and/or Group Whip 

(or in the case of un-grouped members, recommend to Council or to 
Committees) that he/she be removed from any or all Committees or 
Sub-Committees of the Council. 
 

 Instructing the Monitoring Officer to arrange training for the member. 
 

 That policies/procedures are amended. 
 

 That a briefing/information note be issued. 
 

Page 267



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Monitoring Officer Protocol  
________________________________________________________________________ 
 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 14 of 16 

 That an apology be given. 
 

 That the Member is censured in writing and a copy of the letter is 
published on the Council’s website.  
 

 Take no action where it is not considered appropriate in the 
circumstances to impose a sanction. 

  
8.8.2 The Monitoring Officer will inform the complainant and the Member of 

the outcome from the Sub-Committee hearing in writing within 10 
working days. 

  
8.8.3 The findings and decision of the Sub-Committee will be also be 

available on the Council’s website and copies will be supplied to the 
Chief Executive, Leaders of all the political Groups and the Group 
Whips. 

  
8.8.4 Where the matter relates to a Parish or Town Councillor, the Clerk of 

that Council will be informed of the outcome of a Hearing. 
  
9. Appeals 
  
9.1 There is no right of appeal for the complainant or Member against a 

decision of the Monitoring Officer, Consideration Sub-Committee or 
Hearing Sub-Committee. 

  
9.2 If the complainant feels that the Council has failed to deal with their 

complaint properly, they can make a complaint to the Local Government 
and Social Care Ombudsman (http://www.lgo.org.uk/make-a-
complaint/how-to-complain or phone 0300 061 0614). 

  
10. Reports 
  
10.1 An annual report will be submitted to the Audit and Standards 

Committee with a summary of all Standards Complaints received and 
their outcome.   

  
11. Data Protection 
  
11.1 Complaints will be handled in the strictest confidence at all times. We 

will ensure that any information received as part of the handling of the 
complaint is disclosed only to those who can demonstrate a valid need 
to know it. However, when a complaint is considered at a Standards 
Committee Hearing then any information will be dealt with in 
accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules in the 
Council’s Constitution. 

  

Page 268



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Monitoring Officer Protocol  
________________________________________________________________________ 
 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 15 of 16 

11.2 Complaints records will be stored safely and securely. Records of the 
number of complaints received, the outcomes and the subject 
Members, will be kept for so long afterwards as we consider it may be 
required to deal with any questions or complaints about the service 
which we provide. Personal information about the complainant and 
details of the complaint itself will be deleted after 7 years unless we 
elect to retain it for a longer period in order to comply with our legal and 
regulatory obligations. 

  

12. Review and Changes to the Procedure 
  

12.1 The Monitoring Officer will review the Procedure annually, in 
consultation with the Independent Persons, and submit a report on any 
proposed changes to the Audit and Standards Committee for 
consideration. In accordance with the Constitution, any changes will 
require final approval at Full Council. 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 269



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Monitoring Officer Protocol  
________________________________________________________________________ 
 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
  Page 16 of 16 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

Complaint 
Received 

Initial 

Assessment  

Take No 
Action 

No Breach 
 
 

N 

Informal 
Resolution 

Breach 
Found 

Refer for 
Investigation 

Refer to 
Consideration 

Sub-
Committee 

Investigation submitted to 
Consideration Sub-
Committee 

Consideration 
Sub-

Committee 

Take No 
Action 

No Breach 

Take Other 
Action 

Breach Found 

Refer to Hearing 
Sub-Committee 

Hearing 
Sub-

Committee 

No Breach 
Found 

Breach 
Found 

If a breach is found, the following options are available: 

 Recommending to the Member’s Group Leader and/or Group Whip (or in the case 
of un-grouped members, recommend to Council or to Committees) that he/she be 
removed from any or all Committees or Sub-Committees of the Council. 

 Instructing the Monitoring Officer to arrange training for the member. 

 That policies/procedures are amended. 

 That a briefing/information note be issued. 

 That an apology be given. 

 That the Member is censured in writing and a copy of the letter is published on the 
Council’s website. (only after Hearing Sub-Committee) 

 Take no action where it is not considered appropriate in the circumstances to 
impose a sanction. 

Page 270



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 1 of 116 
 

 
 

Sheffield City Council 

 
 

Officers’ Code of Conduct, including appendices 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Publication Date: September 2019 
 
 
 
 
 

Author:   HR Service 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

   

Page 271

Part 5c



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 2 of 116 
 

Officers’ Code of Conduct 
 
This Code of Conduct applies to all non-school based employees. The Code of Conduct 
adopted by the relevant Governing Body will apply to employees within schools.  
 
Section Contents 

 

Page No 

1 Introduction   3 

2 Public Duty, Private Interest, Fraud and Theft 
(i) General 
(ii) Financial Inducements, Gifts and Hospitality 
(iii) Employee Declaration of Financial and Other Interests. 

  4 

   
3 Contractors   7 
   
4 Relationships with prospective or current Contractors   7 
   
5 Information Governance, Security and Social Networking   8 
   
6 Use of Council Systems, Property and Facilities   8 
   
7 Other Employment   9 
   
8 Disclosure of Information, Confidentiality and References   9 
   
9 Communications with the Media 10 
   
10 Political Neutrality 11 
   
11 The Local Community and Service Users 11 
   
12 Recruitment and other Employment Matters 12 
   
13 Equalities 12 
   
14 Dress and Personal Appearance 13 
   
15 Health and Safety 13 
   
16 Criminal Convictions/Barring 13 
   
17 Alcohol, Drugs and Substances 15 
   
18 General Conduct 16 
   
19 Date of Implementation 16 
20 List of Appendices 16 

Page 272



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 3 of 116 
 

1.0  INTRODUCTION 
 
 About this Code of Conduct 
 
1.1 In the Code of Conduct, when we use the word “you” we mean a Council 

employee, casual worker, agency staff, contractors, volunteers, and consultants 
and self-employed people engaged in work for the Council. 

 
When we use the words “we” or “us”, we mean the Council. 

 
1.2 This Code of Conduct for Employees is based on key principles. These principles are 

developed from the work of the Nolan Committee for standards in public life. 
 
1.3 In the Code of Conduct you will find the minimum standards that all Council employees 

must keep to. These standards also apply to casual workers, agency staff, contractors, 
volunteers, and consultants and self-employed people engaged in work for the Council. 

 
1.4 If you are an employee, this Code of Conduct is part of your terms and conditions of 

employment. Some parts of the Council may have their own Codes in addition to this 
one.  

 
1.5 If your service area has its own Code, you should keep to that Code as well as this Code. 

You also need to follow any security policies or Codes of Practice that the council has. 
 
1.6  We believe that you are responsible for your own actions. That means it is your 

responsibility to read the Code of Conduct, and any other Code which may apply to your 
job. 

 
1.7 If there are any parts of this Code, or other Code, that you are unsure of or do not 

understand, you must ask your manager or someone in HR, to help you. This will ensure 
you are able to follow the Code. 
 

1.8 You can find explanations for some of the words and phrases in this Code in the glossary 
section, on page 16 of this document. 

 
1.9 This Code is not a full list of what you are expected to do or not to do. There may be 

other things that the Council will look at as misconduct, or gross misconduct. If there is 
anything that you are unsure about, please ask your manager or HR Adviser. 

 
1.10 People who live in Sheffield expect you to have high standards of behaviour. If someone 

has suspicions that you could be influenced unfairly, this could damage confidence in the 
Council. You must not put yourself in a situation where anyone might think that you are 
dishonest. 

 
1.11 The Council has the right to monitor employees. This includes surveillance. If the Council 

monitors employees in this way, it will keep within the laws that deal with monitoring.  
 

Page 273



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 4 of 116 
 

1.12 You may have disciplinary action taken against you if you: 
 

 Do not keep to this Code of Conduct. 

 Commit a criminal offence. 

 Do something we would classify as misconduct. 

 Do something that may bring the Council into disrepute, whether during working hours 
or outside of them. 

 Do not properly perform your duties as an employee. 
 
Disciplinary action includes the possibility of being dismissed without notice being given. 

 
1.13 This Code is in accordance with the rules in the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 
2.0 PUBLIC DUTY, PRIVATE INTEREST, FRAUD AND THEFT 
 

(i) General 
 

2.1 Your duty as an employee and any interests outside your job must not conflict. If there is 
anything you are involved in outside of work which might affect your job, you must 
declare this to your manager. Read Declaration of Interests Policy (DO!) Appendix A 

 
2.2 You must always do your job safely. To make sure you do not put the public, other 

employees or yourself at risk, you must follow Corporate and Directorate Health and 
Safety policies. You must also follow safe systems of work and any Codes of practice 
that apply to your job. 

 
2.3 If you are a member of an organisation that: 
 

 Is not open to the public 

 Requires formal membership and an oath of allegiance 

 Has any secrecy about its rules, the process of becoming a member, or conduct of 
members. 

 
2.4 You must declare this in writing to your Head of Service or Director. See Declaration of 

Interests Policy Appendix A. 
 
2.5 The Council has responsibility for the administration of public money. We emphasise to 

the public and to employees that we think honesty and that having proper control of 
finances is very important. 

 
2.6 The Council is committed to the fight against fraud, whether an employee, a contractor, 

or a member of the public has committed the fraud. 
  
2.7 You must not use the fact that you are a Council employee to obtain, gain directly or 

indirectly - for yourself, any business associates, your friends or your family.  This is 
covered in the Council’s Anti-Bribery Policy in Appendix B. 

 

Page 274



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 5 of 116 
 

2.8 As the Council is committed to the prevention and detection of fraud, we have a policy 
statement on Fraud and Corruption. This is shown in Appendix B. 

 
2.9 We also have a Gifts and Hospitality Policy and Code of Practice. This is shown in 

Appendix C. 
 
2.10 In addition to these two policies, we have a Whistleblowing Policy and Procedure, so that 

you can report any fraud or corruption more easily. This is shown in Appendix D. 
 
2.11 If you are using public funds, you must use them responsibly, and you must keep within 

the law. You must make sure that we use our resources sensibly and legally, and that the 
community gets value for money. 

 
2.12 You must keep to the rules within the Council’s Standing Orders and Financial 
 Framework. The Standing Orders are available on the Council’s Internet site. 
 
2.13 If you: 
 

 Commit fraud against the Council, or any person or organisation, or try to. 

 Steal from the Council, or any person or organisation, or try to. 
 

2.14 This will be considered misconduct and may be considered gross misconduct. This 
includes deliberately putting false information on time sheets, subsistence claims or 
mileage claims. 

 
2.15 If you have concerns that someone is stealing, committing fraud or behaving in a way 

that might be unethical, you must report this to your manager, or someone named in the 
Whistleblowing Policy and Procedure. This procedure is shown in Appendix D. 

 

2.16 We know that it is not always easy to report on the behaviour of other people. We will 
give you full support if you raise concerns. If you wish to remain anonymous, we will 
make every effort to respect this.  

 
2.17 We know there are two sides to a story, and we will ensure hearings are fair. 
 
2.18 Sometimes allegations will turn out to be wrong. If you deliberately make false or 

malicious allegations, this will be treated as misconduct. 
 

(ii) Financial Inducements, Gifts and Hospitality 
 

2.19 You must never accept a financial payment, bribes or inducement from any individual, 
body, or organisation. For example: payments or inducements from contractors, 
developers, or consultants.  This is covered in the Council’s Anti-Bribery Policy in 
Appendix B. 

 
2.20 To take financial payments or inducements is against the law. It is an offence under 

Section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972. 

Page 275



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 6 of 116 
 

 
2.21 You must refuse any gift or hospitality offered to you or your family that others may think 

could influence you. 
 
2.22 You may accept gifts of small value such as pens, diaries and calendars. 
 
2.23 For further guidance on gifts, hospitality and inducements, you can read the Gifts and 

Hospitality Policy and Code of Practice. This is shown in Appendix C. 
 
2.24 Any gifts or hospitality you have been offered, whether you have turned them down or 

accepted them, must be recorded. If you are unsure of the process of recording goods 
and hospitality in your service area, seek advice from your manager. 

 
(iii) Employee Declarations of Financial and other interests 

 
2.25 You have a legal duty to declare any financial or other interest in an existing or proposed 

contract. See Declaration of Interests Policy (DOI) Appendix A. 
 
2.26 If the Council gives support in the community, through financial help or other help, you 

must make sure that any advice you give is fair and balanced. You must make sure that 
there is no conflict of interest. 

 
2.27 You are free to use all Council services. If you do so, you will not be treated more or less 

fairly because you work for the Council. 
 
2.28 Members of the public expect you to be fair and treat people equally, no matter who you 

are delivering services to.  
 
2.29 You must make sure you don’t do anything in your job that might make people think you 

are being unfair or biased. 
 
2.30 You must not try and obtain services in a different way to the public because you work for 

the Council. This includes putting pressure on colleagues to get services. 
 
2.31 If you think there might be a conflict of interest, you must look at the Declarations of 

Interest Policy (DOI), Appendix A. If you are not sure, you should ask your manager to 
help you. 

 
2.32 The Monitoring Officer will review any declarations that have been made every year. If 

the Monitoring Officer needs to make declarations, the Chief Executive will review them 
every year. 

 
2.33 The Director of Human Resources and Customer Services is responsible for making sure 

all the Employment Policies, Practices and Procedures that the Council has are kept to. 
 

Page 276



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 7 of 116 
 

2.34 Every Head of Service, Director and Executive Director is responsible for monitoring their 
employees activities, making sure they have kept to this Code and any other Codes and 
made declarations when they need to.  Any monitoring will comply with all relevant laws.  

 
3.0 CONTRACTORS 
 
3.1 As part of your job, you may be required to supervise or engage contractors or have an 

official relationship with them. If you have any work relationship with contractors, or 
potential contractors, you must tell your Head of Service or Director in writing if you have 
ever had a private or domestic relationship with the contractors. 

 
3.2 The orders we place and contracts we give should be given fairly. This means that we 

must award orders and contracts based on merit and fair competition against other 
tenders. You must not show favouritism in doing this. For example, if your friends, 
partners or relatives run a business, you could not award them a contract unfairly 
because of this. You must not discriminate against anyone unfairly if you deal with 
tenders, evaluation or awarding contracts. 

 
4.0  RELATIONSHIPS WITH PROSPECTIVE AND CURRENT CONTRACTORS 
 
4.1 If you are involved in the process of tendering and dealing with contractors you should 

understand that being a client and being a contractor are two separate roles. If you have 
a client or contractor responsibility, you need to be open and accountable for your 
actions. 

 
4.2 If you work in a contractor or client unit you must be fair and impartial when you deal with 

customers, suppliers and any other contractors or subcontractors. 
 
4.3 If you have access to any information about contracts or costs for contracts that is not 

public, you must not disclose that information to anyone unauthorised. 
 
4.4 You must make sure that you don’t show special favour to anyone who works for us or 

used to work for us when you award contracts. You must make sure you do not show 
special favour to anyone who is a partner, associate or relative of an employee when you 
award contracts. 

 
4.5 If you are thinking about a ‘management buyout’, you must inform the Chief Executive as 

soon as you definitely intend to do it. You must also inform your Executive Director and 
Head of Service or Director. You must withdraw from doing any work for us that includes 
preparation, tendering, evaluation, and awarding contracts or orders. 

 
4.6 If Competitive tendering is being carried out, and you are involved in the process, you 

must let your Head of Service or Director know when you are a member of an 
organisation that is interested in tendering. You must also let your Head of Service or 
Director know if you have affiliation to an organisation that is interested in tendering. 

 
 

Page 277



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 8 of 116 
 

5.0  INFORMATION GOVERNANCE, SECURITY AND SOCIAL NETWORKING 
 
5.1 You are responsible for the information you handle for or on behalf of the Council and 

must ensure it is safe from unauthorised access, use, alteration, disclosure or deletion.  
 
5.2  You must comply with the Council’s information policies and take the time to read and 

understand the Information Governance and Security Policy ICT Acceptable Usage 
Policy and Data Protection Policy, see Appendix E, F and G. If you are unsure about 
these policies, you should speak to your manager in one to one discussions 
/supervision’. The Council also has Information Management Officers who can help. 

 
5.3 You are personally responsible for content that you publish on-line and must follow the 

Social Networking Policy, Appendix  H. 
 
5.4  You must take time to read the Social Networking Policy and understand your 

responsibilities and behaviours expected, when using social networking in a personal or 
work capacity. Ask you manager if you are unsure about the Social Networking Policy 
and Guidance. 

 
5.5  The City Council records the use of some electronic communication use in 

accordance with the law.  
 
5.6  Failure to comply with Council policy and / or the misuse any City Council  information or 

resources could result in disciplinary action. 
 
6.0  USE OF COUNCIL SYSTEMS, PROPERTY AND FACILITIES 
 
6.1 Anything that belongs to the Council, including: 
 

 Telephones - including mobile phones, handsets, BlackBerry, smartphones 

 Computers - including laptops, tablets, i-pads 

 IT equipment –  including monitors, cameras, memory sticks, hard drives  

 Stationery 

 Offices  

 Car parks 

 Vehicles 

 Facilities 
 
 can only be used for Council business unless permission is given by management.  
 
6.2 If, with your managers’ permission, you use a Council telephone or mobile telephone to 

make private calls or text messages, or send private faxes using a Council fax machine, 
you must pay for this through the approved systems in place. If you are unsure about 
how to pay for calls, speak to your manager. 

 
6.3 The Council has systems in place that log telephone, email and Internet usage. These 

systems may be used to identify any usage for private purposes. We may monitor any 

Page 278

http://intranet/ict/howdoi/report-a-fault/intranet-and-internet-access/control-internet-use


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 9 of 116 
 

communications using Council systems. If we monitor your use of Council resources, we 
will do it within the law and Council policy. 

 
6.4 You must keep to any Council system security measures. 
 
7.0 OTHER EMPLOYMENT 
 
7.1 If you do have any other employment whilst you are working for the Council, the work you 

do must not conflict with the interests of the Council or bring it into disrepute. You must 
only do other work outside of your working hours with the Council. You need formal prior 
permission of your manager to do any work outside your role with the Council. See 
Appendix A: Declaration of Interests Policy 

 
7.2 If you do any work that is damaging to the interests or reputation of the Council, we may 

take disciplinary action against you, even if you have declared this work to your manager. 
 
7.3 If you are a: 

 School Governor 

 Councillor for another Local Authority 

 Member of a Voluntary Reserve Forces - Reservists and Adult  Instructor of Cadets 

 Justice of the Peace 

 Member of an Employment Tribunal 
 
 These roles do not count as other employment. You should still make your manager 

aware of these duties and ask for any time off you need in a reasonable and timely 
manner. Unpaid voluntary work in the Community is not classed as other employment, 
but you still need to declare it to your manager, as there may be a conflict of interest with 
your Council job. 

 
7.5 You can find further guidance on receiving payment or fees for other work in Appendix 

F. 
 
8.0  DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION, CONFIDENTIALITY AND REFERENCES 
 
8.1 You should be fair and open when you deal with others. You should make sure that 

elected members and members of the public have access to information they need 
unless there is a good reason not to allow this, according to the Freedom of Information 
Act 2000. 

 
8.2 You must act in accordance with the law when handling personal and other information. 

You must take special care when handling personal and confidential information, and 
never use it inappropriately. You may be prosecuted personally under the Data 
Protection Act 2018, so it is important you know what your responsibilities are. Please 
read the Council’s Data Protection Policy at Appendix F  If you are unsure about this, 
consult your manager. The Council also has Information Management Officers who can 
help. 

 

Page 279



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 10 of 116 
 

8.3 You must not disclose any confidential, personal or financial information about an 
employee to an unauthorised person. You must not disclose any personal or financial 
information about an employee to any external agency without their approval. If you are 
not sure who is an authorised person, you should consult the Director of Human 
Resources and Customer Services. 

 
8.4 If you are asked for personal information for a reference, for example for a job or 

mortgage application, you may provide information only after you confirm the identity of 
the enquirer. To do this, you can reply in writing to the enquirer, or call them back to 
make sure they are who they say they are.  

 

8.5 If the request is for a reference for a colleague or ex-employee, only the employee’s line 
manager can provide an employment reference. Any employee may give a reference in a 
personal capacity. If you misrepresent the Council, this will be treated as misconduct. 

 
8.6 You must not disclose confidential information to a third party. This includes information 

relating to: 

 Competitive tendering or tendering for work. 

 Exempt items under Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972  

 An employee, elected member or service user. 
 
8.7 You must not use any information that you get in the course of your employment for 

personal gain, or give it to anyone else who may use it in this way. 
 
8.8 If in the course of your job, you deal with someone you’re related to, or have a close 

relationship with, declare it to your manager. You must be fair and act in a professional 
way. 

 
8.9 Inappropriate disclosure of confidential information can be considered misconduct, and 

may be considered gross misconduct which can lead to dismissal. 
 
9.0 COMMUNICATIONS WITH THE MEDIA 
 
9.1 All contact with the media that is about Council activities is handled by the 

Communications service, together with Heads of Service, Directors and Executive 
Directors. If you have an idea for a positive story about something the Council is doing, 
or if a journalist approaches you, you must contact the Communications Service to get 
approval before you give any information. This includes giving information verbally, 
through e-mail or in writing. 

 

9.2 If you are writing something that will be published, and it doesn’t talk about the Council 
but does relate to your job, you should tell your Head of Service or Director before it is 
published. An example of this might be an article in a professional journal. 

 
 
 

Page 280



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 11 of 116 
 

10.0  POLITICAL NEUTRALITY 
 
10.1 You must not allow your personal or political opinions to interfere with your work. Some 

posts are “politically restricted”. If this applies to you, you should already have been told 
about the restrictions separately.  

 
10.2 More information on this is available in Appendix I. If you need any more advice or 

information, ask your manager or HR Adviser. 
 
10.3 You work to all elected members and must ensure their rights are respected. You must 

not be biased in dealing with members of one political group rather than another.  
10.4 If your job requires you to advise political groups, you must make sure you take a neutral 

stance and point of view. 
 
10.5 If you have contact with an elected member, whether work related or of a personal 

nature, you must keep to the Protocol for Member/Officer Relations. 
 

10.6 If you are on Council business, you must not wear anything that shows you are in  
favour of or against a political party or a pressure group. You may not display any items 
showing political affiliation or opposition on your vehicle, or items like tools or other 
equipment. 

 
11.0 THE LOCAL COMMUNITY AND SERVICE USERS 
 
11.1 You must remember that you have a responsibility to people in Sheffield. You must make 

sure that you deliver services politely, efficiently and fairly to everyone in the community. 
 
11.2 You should be as open as possible about what you do, and the work of the Council. 
 
11.3 You must not do anything that might affect confidence in the Council. 
 
11.4 You should make sure that you keep to the law and any other guidance.  
 
11.5 We will not accept it if any employee physically or emotionally abuses a service user, 

member of the public or other employee. This includes any harassment, discrimination, 
victimisation or bullying. 

 
11.6 We have an Equality and Diversity Policy. You must keep to this policy at all times.  
 
11.7 If you act in this way it may be decided that is misconduct or gross misconduct, which 

can result in disciplinary action including dismissal. 
 
11.8 When you work with young people or vulnerable adults you are in a position of trust. If 

you abuse that trust, it will be regarded as potential gross misconduct.  
 
11.9 Any sexual misconduct or assault will be regarded as potential gross misconduct.  
 

Page 281



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 12 of 116 
 

11.10 If you do not follow any policies or procedures meant to keep vulnerable service users or 
others safe, this will be regarded as potential gross misconduct. 

 

11.11 Any act of gross misconduct may lead to disciplinary action and the possibility of 
dismissal without notice. 

 
11.12 If you work with young people or vulnerable adults, you must read any relevant Codes of 

practice as well as this Code, and keep to them. You must keep to any relevant laws, 
such as the Children Act 1989 and the Child Protection and Adult Abuse Protection 
Procedures. 

 
11.13 If you see any abusive behaviour, you must report it to your line manager, or use the 

Whistleblowing policy (see Appendix D) to report it. 
 
12.0 RECRUITMENT AND OTHER EMPLOYMENT MATTERS 
 
12.1 If you are involved in recruitment, you must take care not to discriminate against anyone, 

or in favour of anyone. You must keep to the Recruitment and Selection Code of Practice 
in full. 

 
12.2 To make sure you are not acting unfairly, you must not be involved  in any selection and 

appointment (for example, interviewing someone) when you are related to an applicant. 
You must not be involved in selection or appointment where you have a close 
relationship with an applicant- personal or business. 

 
12.3 If you think there might be a conflict of interest, you must inform your manager or HR 

Adviser. 
 
12.4 Decisions that you make at work should be fair and unbiased. You must not be involved 

with decisions to do with discipline, promotion, or pay for anyone who is related to you, or 
someone you have a close relationship with. This includes personal relationships and 
business relationships. 

 
12.5 If there are any reasons why 12.1-12.4 should not be followed, or you need help and 

advice with what to do next, you should contact the Director of Human Resources and 
Customer Services. 

 
13.0 EQUALITIES 
 
13.1 You must at all times make sure you keep to the Council’s policies on equality, diversity 

and inclusion including behaving and working in a way which eliminates discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation, advances equality of opportunity and fosters good 
relations. See Dignity and Respect at Work Policy. Appendix K 

 
13.2 All employees, customers, elected members, partners, trade  union representatives, and 

members of the public must be treated in a way that creates mutual respect. You should 
promote equality, diversity and inclusion by providing an environment and services free 
from harassment, discrimination, victimisation and bullying and by treating people with 

Page 282



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 13 of 116 
 

respect, regardless of their age, disability, race, religion/ belief, sex, sexual orientation or 
marriage/civil partnership. 

 
13.3 At all times you must create an environment that, promotes fairness, equality, diversity 

and inclusion, promotes dignity and respect for all, recognises and values individual 
differences and the contributions of all and actively prevents and opposes intimidation, 
discrimination, harassment, bullying or victimisation.  

 
13.4 The Equality Act 2010 provides the legal framework for the Council in relation to equality, 

diversity and inclusion.  
 

13.5 Breaching equality policies and the law may be treated as misconduct, up to and 
including gross misconduct, which carries the possible penalty of dismissal without 
notice. 

 
14.0 DRESS AND PERSONAL APPEARANCE 
 
14.1 When you work for the Council, you are a representative of your service, and of the 

Council. You must dress in a way that is appropriate, or required, for your workplace and 
the work you are doing. You must be clean and tidy and make sure you have good 
personal hygiene.  

 
14.2 If you are provided with clothing for uniform or health and safety reasons, you must wear 

it. This includes your name badge and other identity badges where provided. 
 
15.0 HEALTH AND SAFETY 
 
15.1 You have a responsibility to work safely and make sure your working environment is 

healthy and safe. You are required to keep to Corporate Health and Safety Policies. You 
are also required to follow any policy, regulations or Codes of practice on Health and 
Safety that apply to your Portfolio or area of work. 

 
15.2 You must keep to any relevant Health and Safety laws. 
 
16.0 CRIMINAL CONVICTIONS/ BARRING 
 
16.1 Before you started working for us, you must have told us about any unspent criminal and 

unprotected spent convictions and cautions. If you have more than one conviction or 
caution the rules of declaration apply to each individually, rather than all having to be 
automatically disclosed 

 
If you applied for a role which involves working with children and vulnerable adults and 
your job is covered by the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions) Order 1975 
as amended by the 2013 and 2020 Amendment Orders  you must have told us about  all 
convictions, formal cautions, warnings, reprimands, binding over or other orders, pending 
prosecutions or criminal investigations that are not ‘protected’ as defined by the 

Page 283



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 14 of 116 
 

Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions) Order 1975 as amended by the 2013 
and 2020 Amendment Orders  before you started working for us. 
 
For information on which convictions are protected visit www.gov.uk/dbs and 
22TUhttp://hub.unlock.org.uk/knowledgebase/filtering-cautions-convictions/U22T   
If you do not have internet access or do not understand what this means to you please 
discuss this with your line manager. 
 

You must tell us about : 
 

 All unspent convictions 

 Cautions relating to 22TUspecified offencesU22T  as listed by Government  
 Cautions given less than 6 years ago (where individual over 18 at the time of 

caution)  

 Convictions that resulted in a custodial sentence (regardless of whether served)  

 Convictions given less than 11 years ago (where individual over 18 at the time of 
conviction)  

 Similar offences committed overseas and in other legal jurisdictions 
 

16.2 If you are required, under the Act, to provide us with your Disclosure and Barring Service 
(DBS) Certificate, we will ask you to:- 

 
 Complete a DBS Application Form 

 Or give written permission for us to check your status on-line 
 Or give permission for us to view your personal file of a previous/other role within the 

Council to check the outcome from a recent Enhanced DBS check. 
 

You must bring in your DBS Certificate to show and discuss with us, when required 
 

16.3   If you have been barred from working with children and/or vulnerable adults and you seek 
employment to do so, this is a criminal activity and against the law and you will be 
dismissed without notice and immediately reported to the Police Authority. 

  
16.4   If your work involves driving, you must tell your manager about any driving offences, or 

pending driving offences. 
 
16.5 If you use your own vehicle for Council Business and carry passengers, you must also 

tell your manager about any driving offences or pending driving offences. 
 
16.6   When employed by us, you must tell your manager, if you have any criminal proceedings 

pending against you, if you are bound over, receive a conviction, formal caution, 
reprimand or warning. 

 
16.7  Once employed by us, you must tell your manager immediately, if you know that you are 

on, or will appear on, one or both of the DBS barred lists. 
 

Page 284

http://hub.unlock.org.uk/knowledgebase/filtering-cautions-convictions/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dbs-list-of-offences-that-will-never-be-filtered-from-a-criminal-record-check


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 15 of 116 
 

16.8  If you do not tell us about these convictions, formal cautions, warnings, reprimands, 
binding over or other orders, pending prosecutions or criminal investigations,  this may be 
treated as possible gross misconduct and might lead to disciplinary action – including the 
possibility of dismissal without notice. 

 
16.9   If you work with young people or vulnerable adults and you believe that you are or might 

be thought of as a risk to these groups it is extremely important that you seek advice from 
your manager. If you do not disclose this, this may be treated as possible gross 
misconduct and might lead to disciplinary action – including the possibility of dismissal 
without notice. 

 
16.10 If you work in a childcare role, as part of early or later years childcare provisions, or are 

directly involved in the line management of such provision, you must not be disqualified 
from working in such provision. Certain cautions, convictions, care orders may mean that 
you are automatically disqualified from such work.  

 
16.11 You must complete a childcare disqualification declaration in relation to yourself and 

discuss with us when required.  
 
16.12 You must tell your manager immediately, if you receive any convictions, cautions or other 

orders that may lead to your disqualification under the Childcare (Disqualification) and 
Childcare (Early Years Provision Free of Charge) (Extended Entitlement) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2018. 

 
17.0 ALCOHOL, DRUGS AND SUBSTANCES 
 
17.1 While you are at work, you must be in a condition to do your job safely. 
 
17.2 The effects of drinking alcohol cause you to perform your work less well. It is a health and 

safety risk. Because of this, you must not drink alcohol: 
 

 Before you start work 

 During your working hours 

 During a lunch break from work 

 On any other break during your working day 

 At functions such as conferences within working hours. 
 
17.3 If you drink alcoholic drinks at these times, this may be regarded as misconduct or gross 

misconduct, which could lead to dismissal. 
 
17.4 If you use substances, illegal drugs, or prescription drugs that have not been prescribed 

for you, or are not taken in accordance with your physician’s directions, this will not be 
accepted. This may result in the Council contacting the police to report it. Use of illegal 
drugs or prescription drugs that have not been prescribed for you or are not taken in 
accordance with your physician’s directions   before or during work, on breaks or at 
functions may be considered misconduct or gross misconduct, which could lead to 
dismissal.  

Page 285



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 16 of 116 
 

 

17.5 If you are concerned that you may have a dependence on alcohol, drugs or any other 
substances, you are encouraged  to seek help and advice from your General Practitioner 
and speak to your manager in confidence, who will discuss actions, that you could take 
to address the problem. See Alcohol, Drug and Substance Misuse Policy, Appendix L. 

 
18.0 GENERAL CONDUCT 
 
18.1 You must follow instructions, providing they are lawful. You must make sure you do not 

do anything that might affect the Council’s legal position. You should show respect for 
service users, colleagues and elected members. 

 
18.2 We expect you to use good judgement, and take account of other people’s views. We 

expect you to take responsibility and decide your own view on any issue that comes up 
while you work for the Council. 

 
18.3 If you need further information or advice about what to do in a situation, you should 

contact your manager, an HR Adviser or the Chief Internal Auditor. 
 
18.4 You should read this Code together with the appendices, and any other Codes of  

Practice or policies that are about conduct or security. 
 
19.0 DATE OF IMPLEMENTATION 
 

Revised  4 September 2019 
  
20.0 APPENDICES  
 

A Declaration of Interests Policy (February 2016) 
 
B Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement and Framework (including the Anti-

Bribery Policy and Procedures) (May 2018) 
 
C Gifts and Hospitality Corporate Policy (January 2018) and Procedure (April 2018) 
 
D Whistleblowing Policy and Procedure (June 2018) 
 
E Information Governance and Security Policy (July 2015) 
 
F ICT Acceptable Use Policy (June 2015) 
 
G  Data Protection Policy (May 2019) 
 
H Social Networking Policy (July 2015) 
 
I Other employment related to activities – fees (July 2015) 
 
J Politically Restricted Posts (April 2015) 

Page 286



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 17 of 116 
 

 
K Dignity and Respect at Work Policy (August 2011) and Procedure (November 

2018) 
 
L Alcohol, Drug and Substance Misuse Policy (July 2015) 

 

 
  

Page 287



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 18 of 116 
 

 
GLOSSARY TO CODE OF CONDUCT 
 
Contractor- An individual, partnership, company or other service that has a contract with us to 
do or provide something. For example, to design, develop, manufacture, maintain or provide 
services. 
 

Conflict of Interest- A conflict between private interests and your duties with the Council. This 
can exist whether or not money is involved, and whether the conflict is actual or just perceived. 
 

Competitive Tender- Where several potential contractors are invited to prepare proposals to 
provide a project or service, on the basis of quality and price.  
 

Disciplinary- Disciplinary action is action taken by an employer for violating policy or procedure 
(including the Code of Conduct). For more details on this, see the Council’s Disciplinary Policy. 
 

Disrepute- To bring something into disrepute is to lower its reputation, damage its image. 
 

Misconduct- Breaking the Code of Conduct, another Code or terms and conditions may be 
considered misconduct. There are different types of misconduct depending on the exact 
circumstances and consequences. The most serious type is gross misconduct. For more 
information on this, see the Council’s Disciplinary Policy. 
 

Inducement- something that encourages you towards an action- an incentive. This could be 
money, food, gifts, or anything else that might benefit you. If you are offered or take something 
that people may think is an inducement, you could be accused of making decisions unfairly 
based on what you received.  
 

Whistleblowing (also ‘whistle blowing’) - Revealing wrongdoing to someone in authority. For 
more information on this, see Appendix D, the Whistleblowing policy. 
 

RELEVANT LAW 
This section points to relevant law on some topics from the Code of Conduct. It should 
not be considered an exhaustive list as legislation frequently changes. If you are unsure 
about whether an action would be lawful, please investigate further. 
 

Monitoring and Surveillance: 
The Regulatory and Investigatory Powers Act, the Data Protection Act 2018, and the Human 
Rights Act 1998. 
 

Use of IT Equipment: 
The Data Protection Act 2018, The Obscene Publications Act 1959, 
The Computer Misuse Act 1980, The Theft Act 1968. 
 
Equalities: 
Equality Act 2010  

Page 288



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 19 of 116 
 

 

 
 

 APPENDIX A 
 

Sheffield City Council 

 
Policy and Procedure 
Declaration of Interest 

 
 
 
 

Publication Date: February 2016 
 

Author:    HR Service 
 
 
 
 

   

Page 289



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 20 of 116 
 

Declaration of Interest - Policy and Procedure 
 

 Policy 
 

1.  Introduction 
 
1.1  All customers are entitled to the highest standards of fairness and equity from all 

employees providing our services. This Policy and Procedure exists to protect you and 
service users against any allegations of favour or disadvantage. 

 
1.2 It is important that employees and the Council are protected from accusations of 

impropriety. Therefore an employee must declare any interest to their manager that they 
may have with any organisation, services, activity or person that may cause a direct or 
indirect conflict of interest with their employment or that may bring the Council into 
disrepute.  To ensure this happens, all employees are to complete and submit an annual 
Declaration of Interest Form. 

 
1.3 Employees are responsible for declaring any private interests relating to their public 

duties. You should declare both financial and non-financial interests including, where 
relevant, those of your spouse or partner or members of your family if you are benefiting 
from such arrangements. 

 
1.4 Employees should declare if they are a member of an organisation, which is not open to 

the public 
 
1.5 Employees should declare if they have any other employment, business or voluntary 

work 
 
1.6 In many cases the interests may not create a conflict or the fact that they are known 

interests will allow the individual’s manager to ensure they are not placed in a position 
where conflict could arise. 

 
1.7 It is not possible to give comprehensive examples or detailed definitions of everything 

that might give rise to a conflict of interest between their duties and these interests or 
their ability to carry out their role effectively  

 
1.8 Where an employee does not have any interests to declare, they should complete the 

annual Declaration of Interest Form and submit a ‘nil return’. 
  
1.9 Every Head of Service, Director and Executive Director is responsible for  ensuring their 

managers and staff are aware of the need to make of interests or declaration of no 
interests.  Any monitoring will comply with all relevant laws.  

 
1.10 Any potential conflicts of interest will be recorded in accordance with the Declaration of 

Interest Procedure. 
 

Page 290



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 21 of 116 
 

1.11 The Council’s Monitoring Officer will review any declarations (or a random selection of) 
that have been made each year. If the Monitoring Officer needs to make declarations, the 
Chief Executive will review them each year. 

 
1.12 If an employee fails to follow the requirements of this policy or procedure they may be 

subject to disciplinary action. 
 
1.13 Any employee, who considers they have been unfairly treated under the terms of the 

policy, may raise a grievance under the Council’s Individual Grievance Procedure.  The 
grievance should be submitted to their line manager or with the person making the 
decision.    

 
2.  Scope 
 
2.1  This policy applies to all non-school based employees. The Policy adopted by the 

relevant Governing Body will apply to employees within schools.  
 
3.  General Declaration of Financial and Other Interests 
 
3.1 Employees should ensure they declare financial interest in order to  comply with their 

statutory duty under 22TUSection 117 of the Local Government Act 1972U22T  
 
3.2  As an employee of Sheffield City Council, you have a legal duty to declare any financial 

or other interest in an existing or proposed contract or any proposed or existing council 
activity or service which could cause potential conflict. This declaration includes 
involvement with voluntary organisations, which the council supports and/or services 
carried out for the council by its commercial partners, for example Capita, Kier, Amey and 
other similar partner organisations. 

 
3.2 You have a legal duty to declare any interest or associations that may cause direct or 

indirect conflict with your work for the Council. You must declare interests in or 
associations with any organisation, service, and activity or person. 
 

3.3 If the Council has sponsored an event or a service, you must inform your line manager if 
you may benefit from it in any way. You must also tell your line manager if you are aware 
that anyone connected with you will benefit from it (this includes your relatives, your 
partner or spouse, or any business associates you may have). 

 
3.4 You must declare an interest if anyone connected with you will benefit from the position 

you hold in the Council. This includes your relatives, your partner or spouse, or any 
business associates you may have. This is to ensure the status gained from working for 
the council is not utilised to influence a member of the public’s choice when 
commissioning work or a service. 
 

3.5 If you apply for a service or make representations for services on behalf of relatives, 
colleagues or friends or people with whom you have a close relationship, you must 
declare an interest where your employment position gives you significant influence. 

Page 291

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1972/70/section/117


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 22 of 116 
 

 

3.6 You must also declare a personal interest, if you help someone you know from outside 
your job to:- 
 

 Apply for a service that you have influence over or are responsible for  

 Improve the chances of success of an agency within a tendering process 
 
4.  Declaration of Membership of Organisations Not Open to the Public  
 
4.1 You must declare and provide information about any organisation in which you have a 

personal interest that is not open to the public which requires formal membership, oaths 
of allegiance and has secrecy about rules, membership or conduct. 
 

4.2 The following is the Council’s definition of what constitutes a society with secret rules 
(secret society). 

 ‘Any lodge, chapter, society, trust or regular gathering or meeting, which: 
 

a)  is not open to members of the public who are not members of that lodge, chapter, 
society or trust; and  

b) includes in the grant of membership an obligation on the part of the member a 
requirement to make a commitment (whether by oath or otherwise) of allegiance to 
the lodge, chapter, society, gathering or meeting; and 

c) includes, whether initially or subsequently, a commitment (whether by oath or 
otherwise) of secrecy about the rules, membership or conduct of the lodge, chapter, 
society, trust, gathering or meeting. 

 
4.3 A lodge, chapter, society, trust, gathering or meeting as defined above should not be 

regarded as a secret society if it forms part of the activity of a generally recognised 
religion. 

 
5. Declaration of Other Employment or Engagement in Other Business or Voluntary 

Work 
  
5.1 If you have secured other employment or voluntary work whilst you are working for the 

Council, you must first complete a ‘Declaration of Interest Form – see procedure’.  Your 
manager should respond within the agreed timescale and advise if there may be any 
possible conflict of interest before you commence the work.  This includes paid work for 
another employer and working in a self-employed or business partnership basis.    
 

5.2 If you do undertake other work, you must ensure the additional hours do not impact on 
your performance of your duties undertaken for Sheffield City Council. 

 
5.3 When considering undertaking other work, consideration must be given to compliance 

with the statutory requirements of the Working Time Regulations. The council must be 
made aware of any additional work that could mean you exceed an average of 48 hours 
of work in total in a week. 
 

Page 292



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 23 of 116 
 

5.4 Those undertaking additional work outside the authority must sign a Working Time 
Regulations ‘Opt out Agreement’ and to confirm they understand the health and safety 
implications of working excessive hours. This must be held on your personal file in HR 
Connect.  
 

5.5 You must not refer to your role in Sheffield City Council in any promotional material, 
which may be used to assure members of the public or give credence to another 
organisation. 

 
5.6 The Council accepts no liability for your other work or engagement in other business or 

voluntary work and will not be responsible for any payments, expenses or demands 
however incurred. 
 

5.7 With regard to any other work or engagement in other business or voluntary work you are 
responsible for:- 

 

 ensuring that you have the correct insurance; and  

 that you are registered with the relevant professional or regulatory bodies; and  

 that you pay any tax, national insurance, or other statutory payments due; and  

 for ensuring that you have the correct membership of trade or professional 
organisations; and that you comply with any statutory requirements or professional or 
trade codes of conduct. 

 
5.8 There may be circumstances where  the Council may need to retract permission, for 

example:- 
 

 Where attendance or timekeeping is of concern and may be attributed to you 
undertaking other work 

 

 Where your performance falls below an acceptable standard and may be attributed to 
you undertaking other work 

 

 Where a new conflict of interest arises that previously did not exist or where a conflict 
later becomes apparent for any reason 

 
 
6.  Reporting of Declarations of Interest 

 
6.1 If you think there might be a conflict of interest, you must speak to your line manager and 

follow the Declaration of Interest Procedure. 
 

Procedure 
 

1. On joining the Council, as part of your induction, you must complete a ‘Declaration of 
Interest Form’ to declare any interests or that you have no interests. 
 

Page 293



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 24 of 116 
 

2. Each year, you will be asked to complete a ‘Declaration of Interest Form’ to ensure that 
your’ declaration of interests register’ is up-to-date. 
 

3. If at any point during the year, your circumstances change, for example, you undertake 
other work or become aware of a potential conflict of interest, you must complete a new ‘ 
Declaration of Interest’ Form. You must do this within 28 days of becoming aware of any 
new  interest or change to any interest that you have previously registered 
 

4. You can find this Declaration of Interest Form in your 22TUMyViewU 22T account. Use the menu on 
the left to access the Form.  
 

If you do not have access to the Intranet/MyView 
 
If you do not have access to the intranet/ 22TUMyViewU22T, you should discuss your application 
with your manager. If your manager is approving your request, your manager should 
complete your application in the MyPeople section of 22TUMyViewU22T with you present and will 
then approve and submit your application.  
 
Your manager will print off the accepted form. You and your manager will sign that this 
information is a true and accurate record of your application. Your manager will then 
scan the signed form and email this to HRConnect. 
 

 
 

5. For declarations relating to financial and other interests you must give an explanation as 
to the way you or someone connected with you may benefit. 
 

6. For declarations relating to membership of an organisation not open to the public, you 
should provide information about the organisation, including details of the purpose 
behind the organisation, wherever possible.  However, if this act would cause a breach in 
confidentiality or the organisation’s protocols, then you should discuss this with your line 
manager, who may need to seek further advice from Human Resources.   
 
Additionally, the Council would expect that such membership would not be in conflict with 
your role with the Council.  You should seek advice from your manager or Human 
Resources if necessary.   

 
7. For declarations related to participation in other work or engagement in other business or 

voluntary work, you should provide details of the name of the organisation for which the 
work is undertaken and give a description of the activity concerned and the potential 
number of hours to be undertaken. 

 
8. If you are in any doubt as to whether an interest constitutes a conflict (this could be an 

actual or potential conflict, or something that could be perceived to be a conflict by a third 
party) then you should declare the interest on the form and your manager will determine 
what action is appropriate. 
 

Page 294

https://myview.sheffield.gov.uk/dashboard/
https://myview.sheffield.gov.uk/dashboard/
https://myview.sheffield.gov.uk/dashboard/


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 25 of 116 
 

9. If having considered all categories of interest as listed in 5-8 above, you do not have any 
interests to declare, then you should tick that you have ‘no interests to declare’ and 
submit this form. 
 

10. Once you have completed and submitted the form, your manager will review this and 
prior to responding electronically to your request, your manager will arrange to discuss 
the application with you and if necessary seek further advice from Human Resources. 
 

11. For the purpose of considering whether there is any conflict of interest, the Council may 
need to contact any other organisation or individual whose details you have provided on 
your Declaration of Interest Form or in any updated information that you have provided.  
Your line manager would seek permission from you first before this action takes place.   
 

12. Your manager will then accept or reject your application and you will receive an email 
confirming this.  
 

13. If your interest is accepted, this will be added to your electronic personal file.  We will 
keep this in confidence in accordance with the requirements of the Data Protection Act 
1998 and will only use this information to determine if a conflict of interest arises and/or 
for taking any necessary decisions or actions under this policy. 
 

14. The Monitoring Officer will review any declarations (or a random selection of) that have 
been made each year to ensure adherence with the Policy and the Annual Governance 
Procedure. 
 

15. If your registered personal interest changes, you must complete a new Declaration of 
Interest Form, as above. 
 

16. All employees are to have an up-to-date Declaration of Interest Register.  
 

17. If you have not registered any interests, which are found to conflict with your role in the 
Council, you may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
 

  

Page 295



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 26 of 116 
 

  

Page 296



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 27 of 116 
 

 
          APPENDIX B  

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Officers’ Code of Conduct 

Appendix B 
 
 

Anti-Fraud & Corruption Policy Statement & 
Framework 

 
Anti-Bribery Policy & Procedures 

 
 
 

Publication Date: May 2018 
 

Author: Finance & Commercial Services 
 
 
  

Page 297



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 28 of 116 
 

1. Statement from the Chief Executive 
 

Sheffield City Council takes its responsibilities to protect public funds very seriously and is fully committed 
to the highest ethical standards, in order to ensure the proper use and protection of public funds and 
assets. The Council has an ongoing commitment to continue to improve its resilience to fraud, corruption 
(including bribery and money laundering) and other forms of financial irregularity. 
 
Underpinning all of the ambitions laid out in the corporate Plan, is the requirement for the 
Council to manage its resources effectively.   
 
The public is entitled to demand the highest standard of conduct from our employees and 
members and it is essential that we are able to demonstrate this and maintain the publics’ trust 
and confidence. Every pound lost to fraud or misappropriation is a pound which cannot be 
invested in our services. The Council has a zero tolerance environment in relation to fraud and 
corruption. 
 
We are committed to the prevention, detection and investigation of potential fraud and 
corruption and, where proven, we will seek the strongest appropriate sanctions against those 
responsible and will recover any assets or funds obtained by fraud wherever this is possible. 
 
It is the duty of each of us, as members and employees of the Council, to maintain standards as 
detailed in Codes of Conduct and I would encourage anyone to report any suspicions of fraud 
through appropriate channels.  

 

 

 
 
 

John Mothersole 
Chief Executive 
(signature) 
 
  

Page 298

https://www.google.co.uk/imgres?imgurl=http://res.cloudinary.com/jpress/image/fetch/w_700,f_auto,ar_3:2,c_fill/http://www.thestar.co.uk/webimage/1.5660534.1368175274!/image/985113981.jpg&imgrefurl=http://www.thestar.co.uk/news/top-earners-revealed-in-council-s-salary-list-1-5660536&docid=22nHg-U1H53nQM&tbnid=sW4t86-mSLR6jM:&vet=10ahUKEwiJm6Cek6nVAhVJEVAKHQfiD2gQMwhSKCEwIQ..i&w=700&h=467&bih=929&biw=1009&q=john mothersole&ved=0ahUKEwiJm6Cek6nVAhVJEVAKHQfiD2gQMwhSKCEwIQ&iact=mrc&uact=8


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 29 of 116 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
Sheffield City Council 
 
Finance and Commercial 
Services 
 
 
 
 

 

Anti- Fraud and 
Corruption 

Policy 
Statement and 

Framework 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Revised 
May 2018  

 
  

Page 299



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 30 of 116 
 

 
Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy Statement  
 

1. This Statement sets out Sheffield City Council’s (the Council’s) policy in relation to fraud 
and corruption. It has the full support of both the Council’s senior management in the form 
of the Executive Management Team (EMT) and elected Members through Audit and 
Standards Committee.  
 

2. The Council takes its responsibilities to protect the public purse very seriously and is fully 
committed to the highest ethical standards, in order to ensure the proper use and protection 
of public funds and assets. To achieve the objectives set out within the Corporate Plan, 
the Council needs to maximise the financial resources available to it. In order to do this, 
the Council has an ongoing commitment to continue to improve its resilience to fraud, 
corruption and other forms of financial irregularity.  
 

3. The Council advocates strict adherence to its anti-fraud framework and associated 
policies. A zero tolerance approach to all proven to fraud and corruption in all of its forms 
is taken. The Council will not tolerate fraud or corruption by its councillors, employees, 
suppliers, contractors, partners, service users or members of the general public and will 
take all necessary steps to investigate all allegations of fraud or corruption and pursue 
sanctions available in each case, including removal from office, disciplinary action, 
dismissal, civil action for recovery and/or referral to the Police and/or other agencies. The 
required ethical standards are included in our Members’ Code of Conduct and Officers’ 
Code of Conduct, with both documents forming part of the overall Constitution of the City 
Council.  
 

4. Sheffield City Council fully recognises its responsibility for spending public money and 
holding public assets. The prevention, and if necessary the investigation, of fraud and 
corruption is therefore seen as an important aspect of its duties which it is committed to 
undertake. The procedures and also the culture of the City Council are recognised as 
important in ensuring a high standard of public life.  
 

5. The Council's general belief and expectation is that those associated with it (employees, 
members, school governors, service users, contractors and voluntary bodies) will act with 
honesty and integrity. In particular members and employees are expected to lead by 
example and will be accountable for their actions.  
 

6. The City Council will take steps to help ensure high standards of ethical behaviour are 
adopted in partnerships of which the City Council is a member. This will be done through 
applying appropriate elements of this framework to all partnership working, where it is 
relevant to do so. With regard to partnership working, responsibility for Codes of Conduct 
and policies of this nature (and so for enforcement action for breach of those codes or 
policies) generally lies with the relevant individual organisation in the partnership. Where 
appropriate, the City Council will draw the attention of the partner organisation to its 
concerns.  

  

Page 300



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 31 of 116 
 

Anti-Fraud Framework 
Introduction  
 
1. This framework is designed to give an overview of the arrangements and policies regarding 

the anti-fraud work of the Council. It is supported by a number of additional documents which 
together allow the organisation to develop a broad and coherent approach to the prevention, 
detection and investigation of potential fraud and irregularities across the Council.  
 

2. Sheffield City Council (the Council) advocates strict adherence to its anti-fraud framework 
and associated policies and adopts a zero tolerance approach to all forms of fraud, corruption 
and theft, arising both from within the Council and externally. The Council recognises that 
fraud and other forms of financial irregularity can:  



 Undermine the standards of public service that the Council seeks to achieve;  

 Reduce the level of resources and services available for the residents of Sheffield; and  

 Result in major consequences which reduce public confidence in the Council.  
 
3. This framework defines both the proactive and reactive components of a good practice 

response to fraud risk management. It sets out the key responsibilities within the Council with 
regard to fraud prevention, what to do if fraud is suspected and the action that will be taken by 
management. The framework provides overarching governance to the Council’s suite of 
counter fraud policies and procedures which include: -  

 

 The Council’s Constitution 

 Members’ Code of Conduct 

 Officers’ Code of Conduct 

 Guide to Managing Fraud Risks 

 Fraud Response Plan 

 Financial Regulations 

 Financial Protocol 

 Financial Framework of Accountability 

 Contract Standing Orders  

 Financial Procedure Rules 

 Whistleblowing Policy 

 Gifts & Hospitality Policy 

 Policy on the Declaration of Personal Interests 

 Anti-Bribery Policy 

 Anti-Money Laundering Policy 

 Information Security Policy 
 
4. This Strategy adheres to the CIPFA Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and 

Corruption 2014 (the Code). The Code requires leaders of public sector organisations to have 
a responsibility to embed effective standards for countering fraud and corruption in their 
organisations, in order to support good governance and demonstrate effective financial 
stewardship and strong public financial management.  

Page 301



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 32 of 116 
 

 
5. The five key elements of the CIPFA Code are:  
 

Acknowledge the responsibility of the governing body – in 
the Council’s case Elected Members and the Executive 
Management Team – for countering fraud and corruption. 
 

Acknowledge 

Identify the fraud and corruption risks 
 

 

Maintain an appropriate anti-fraud and corruption strategy 
 

Prevent 

Provide resources to implement the strategy 
 

 

Take action in response to fraud and corruption 
 

Pursue 

 
 
6. Sheffield City Council has developed its Anti-fraud and corruption framework under these 

three keys themes: Acknowledge, Prevent and Pursue, these form the basis of the Council’s 
work to reduce fraud. 

 

Acknowledge 
Acknowledge 

responsibility and 
understand fraud risks 

 Prevent 
Preventing and detecting 

more fraud 

 Pursue 
Being stronger in 

punishing fraud and 
recovering loses 

 
 
 
 

    

Assessing and 
understanding fraud risks. 
 

 Having better use of 
information and technology. 

 Prioritising fraud recovery 
and use of civil sanctions. 

Committing support and 
resource to tackling fraud. 

 Enhancing fraud controls 
and processes. 

 Developing capability and 
capacity to make fraudsters 
accountable. 
 

Maintaining a robust anti -
fraud response. 
 

 Developing a more effective 
anti-fraud culture. 
 

 Collaborating across local 
authorities and with law 
enforcement. 
 

 

What does the framework cover? 
 
7. The framework covers the Council’s response to fraud, theft and corruption. It also covers the 

areas of bribery and money laundering. 
 
 

 

Page 302



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 33 of 116 
 

The framework in practice 
 
8. The Council has developed a framework of processes and policies which, when implemented 

appropriately, allow services to demonstrate that an anti-fraud culture is fully embedded into 
the operation of the Council. Below is a chart that shows how each of these documents mesh 
together to give the overall coverage and responsibilities of the Council towards fraud: 

 

Acknowledge – Prevent - Pursue 
 

A
c
k
n

o
w

le
d

g
e

 

The Council’s commitment to tacking fraud is clear. The Council has in 
place strong governance arrangements for dealing with fraud. The Chief 
Executive, Chief Financial Officer and Monitoring Officer along with the 
Executive Management Team of the Council, have overall responsibility to 
ensure that the Council has in place strong controls to prevent fraud. The 
Council’s Audit and Standards Committee allows Member oversight of 
these arrangements. 
 

The Council has in place the following documents that clearly lay out the 
Council’s stance on fraud and corruption and the expectations on 
individuals to act in an appropriate manner, as well as to report any 
instances of fraud or irregularity.  

 The Council’s Constitution. 

 Members’ Code of Conduct.  

 Officers’ Code of Conduct. 

The Council has in place a number of policies covering specific areas which 
support officers and members in understanding the requirements on them 
in relation to the various expectations. 
 

 Gifts & Hospitality Policy.  

 Policy on the Declaration of Personal Interests.  

 Anti-Bribery Policy.  

 Anti-Money Laundering Policy.  

 Information Security Policy.  
 
The Council has an eLearning package available to all staff on Fraud and 
Corruption. There is also a document to support schools in their 
understanding of the fraud risks that they face. 

 
 
 
  

Page 303



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 34 of 116 
 

 

P
re

v
e
n

t 

The Council has in place a strong governance framework to ensure that 
anti-fraud controls are included in all of its financial systems and 
processes, these are: 
 

 Financial Regulations. 

 Financial Protocol. 

 Financial Framework of Accountability. 
 

There is also a requirement on all services to have in place robust 
processes to combat potential fraud. Increasingly computer controls are 
being introduced to prevent and detect fraudulent activity. These elements 
are designed into systems that are being developed with the Council. 

The Council has in place a robust risk management process which ensures 
that all risk pertaining to the delivery of its objectives are identified and 
managed at an appropriate level. To support this there is a Fraud Risk 
Guide for management to allow them to identify and manage any potential 
fraud risks that they face. Risk is reported to and overseen by the 
Executive Management Team and Audit and Standards Committee.  

All Directors are required to review their governance arrangements and 
report any issues as part of the Annual Governance Statement sign-off 
process. 
Internal Audit undertakes risk based reviews across the Council and will 
report any control deficiencies found. In addition they carry out a number 
of proactive fraud reviews in specific high risk areas each year in order to 
test the anti-fraud controls in place.  

 
 

P
u

rs
u

e
 

The Council has a number of detective controls that are built into systems 
to allow it to detect or prevent fraudulent activity.  
It is a requirement of all staff contained within the Code of Conduct to 
report fraud and irregularities, so that these can be investigated. 
If the normal lines of communication are not appropriate, then the Council 
has a whistleblowing process in place that allows officers to report any 
issues with the appropriate safeguards in place. 
 

Where fraud is detected the Council has a comprehensive document 
“Fraud, Theft and Corruption Response Plan” to assist managers in the 
investigation of fraud issues. This is to be used alongside the Human 
Resources document that is used in all management investigations. There 
is support available from Internal Audit and Human Resources so that 
managers can be confident and consistent to their approach to 
investigating fraud. All outcomes are monitored for patterns and potential 
weaknesses in systems that may arise. 

Page 304



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 35 of 116 
 

The Council will, following a thorough investigation, report on the issues 
found and management will then undertake the appropriate levels of 
disciplinary. This will potentially be the dismissal of the employee for 
gross misconduct. All cases are investigated  in line with best practice and 
any mitigating factors will be sought and taken into account in deriving the 
outcome. Any criminal activity will be reported to the appropriate 
authorities. Where a loss is identified, this will be pursued through the civil 
processes or insurance routes as appropriate.  
 

 

Responsibilities 
9. The table below shows the responsibilities of groups and individuals in relation to the 

Counter Fraud arrangements of the Council. 

 
Stakeholder Specific Responsibilities 

 

Chief 
Executive 
 

Accountable for the effectiveness of the Council’s arrangements for 
countering fraud and corruption. 

 

Monitoring 
Officer 
 

To advise Councillors and Officers on ethical issues, standards and powers 
to ensure that the Council operates within the law and statutory Codes of 
Conduct/Practice. Overall responsibility for the maintenance and 
operation of both Officers’ and Members’ Codes of Conduct, the 
Whistleblowing Policy and other policies.  
 
Provide guidance on whether a case should be referred to the Police.  
 

Chief Financial 
Officer (S.151 
officer) 

Legal duties with regard to the proper administration of financial affairs 
including ensuring that the Council’s accounting control systems include 
measures to enable the prevention and detection of inaccuracies and 
fraud. The reconstitution of any lost records and a requirement for an 
adequate and effective internal audit of accounting records and of the 
system of internal control in accordance with the proper practices. 
.Additionally, they are the Head of Profession responsible for 
implementing appropriate measures to prevent and detect fraud and 
corruption. 
 

Audit and 
Standards 
Committee 

To monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the arrangements in place 
for ensuring an adequate internal control environment and for combating 
fraud and corruption.  
 

Elected 
Members 

To comply with the Members’ Code of Conduct and related Council policies 
and procedures, to be aware of the possibility of fraud, corruption and 
theft, and to report any genuine concerns accordingly.  

Page 305



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 36 of 116 
 

External Audit Statutory duty to ensure that the Council has adequate arrangements in 
place for the prevention and detection of fraud, corruption and theft.  
 

Senior 
Finance 
Manager 
(Internal Audit) 

Responsible for developing and maintaining advice and guidance on the 
Council’s approach to managing the risks of fraud, bribery and corruption. 
Compiles a risk-based annual Internal Audit Plan designed to evaluate the 
effectiveness of the control environment. Responsible for ensuring that 
all suspected irregularities reported to them and are dealt with promptly 
and in accordance with this framework and that action is identified to 
improve controls and reduce the risk of recurrence. Advises on (or, where 
appropriate, conducts) investigations.  
 

Executive 
Directors. 

To ensure along with their Directors of Business Strategy that 
adequate fraud controls are in place and operating effectively for 
the portfolio that they control. They are also responsible for 
reporting any potential fraud or irregularities.  
 

Directors/ 
Heads of 
Service 

To promote staff awareness and ensure that all suspected or reported 
irregularities are immediately referred to the Director of Legal and 
Governance (Monitoring Officer) and the Chief Financial Officer (s151 
Officer) via Internal Audit. To ensure that there are mechanisms in place 
within their service areas to assess the risk of fraud, corruption and theft 
and to reduce these risks by implementing strong internal controls. To 
provide assurance through the Annual Governance process that fraud 
controls are operating effectively 
 

Sheffield City 
Council Staff 

To comply with Council policies and procedures, to be aware of 
the possibility of fraud and corruption, and to report via the normal 
lines of reporting or Whistleblowing procedure (where appropriate) 
any genuine concerns to management or the Director of Legal and 
Governance  (Monitoring Officer) or Chief Financial Officer (s151 
Officer).  
 

 

Public, Service 
Users, 
Partners 
Contractors 
etc.  

To be aware of the possibility of fraud and corruption against the Council 
and to report any genuine concerns / suspicions.  
 

 

 
Additional Information 
10. In order to be able to implement this framework effectively a number of policies have been 

developed and are available on the intranet to support  staff and managers, these include: 

 

 Sheffield City Council’s Constitution 

Page 306



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 37 of 116 
 

 Sheffield City Council’s Code of Conduct for Members 

 Sheffield City Council’s Code of Conduct for Officers 

 The Fraud reporting page 

 The Council’s Whistle Blowing Policy 

 The Council’s Guidance for identifying fraud risks 

 The Council’s Fraud Response Plan 

 The Council’s Anti-Money Laundering Policy 

 The Council’s Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy 

 The Council’s Guide to Knowing your customer 

 The Council’s Guide for Fraud in Schools 

 
11. The Council also has a number of Corporate HR, IT and Finance and Commercial Services 

procedures which cover key areas of process and have controls to prevent or detect varied 

acts of fraud, these include (this is not an exhaustive list): 

 

 Recruitment Processes 

 DBS Checking 

 Capability Procedures 

 Disciplinary Procedures 

 Business Travel and Subsistence Policy 

 Gifts and Hospitality 

 Declarations of Interest 

 

 Information Governance Framework  

 Information Governance Systems and Processes  

 

 Risk Management Processes 

 Procurement Processes 

 Insurance Procedures 

 Financial Framework 

 
12. These primary policies are also underpinned by a number of other procedures which are 

built into processes at service level, with the aim of preventing or detecting fraud.  

Page 307



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 38 of 116 
 

  

Page 308



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 39 of 116 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

 
Sheffield City Council 
 
Finance and Commercial 
Services 
 
 
 
 
 

Anti-Bribery 
Policy and 
Procedures 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Revised 
May 2018  

Page 309



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 40 of 116 
 

Anti-Bribery Policy Statement  
 
1. This Statement sets out Sheffield City Council’s (the Council’s) policy in relation to bribery. It 

has the full support of both the Council’s senior management in the form of the Executive 
Management Team (EMT) and Elected Members through the Audit and Standards 
Committee.  

 
2. The Council takes its responsibilities to protect finances very seriously and is fully committed 

to the highest ethical standards, in order to ensure the proper use and protection of public 
funds and assets. To achieve the objectives the Council needs to maximise the financial 
resources available to it. In order to do this, the Council has an ongoing commitment to 
continue to improve its resilience to fraud, corruption (including bribery) and other forms of 
financial irregularity.  

 
3. The Council advocates strict adherence to its anti-fraud framework. This is a series of 

separate but related documents on the following areas, all of which can be found on the 
Council intranet. 

 

 Anti-fraud and Corruption Strategy 

 Fraud Risk 

 The Fraud response plan 

 Anti-Bribery Policy 

 Anti-Money Laundering Policy 

 Whistle Blowing Policy 
 
4. Whilst individual circumstances of each case will be carefully considered, in the majority of 

cases there will be a zero tolerance approach to fraud and corruption (including bribery) in all 
of its forms. The Council will not tolerate fraud or corruption by its councillors, employees, 
suppliers, contractors, partners or service users and will take all necessary steps to investigate 
all allegations of fraud or corruption and pursue sanctions available in each case, including 
removal from office, disciplinary action, dismissal, civil action for recovery and/or referral to 
the Police and/or other agencies. The required ethical standards are included in both the 
Members’ Code of Conduct and Officers’ Code of Conduct, both documents form part of the 
overall Constitution of the City Council.  

 
5. The Council fully recognises its responsibility for spending public money and holding public 

assets. The prevention, and if necessary the investigation, of fraud and corruption (including 
bribery) is therefore seen as an important aspect of its duties which it is committed to 
undertake. The procedures and also the culture of the Council are recognised as important in 
ensuring a high standard of public life. 

 
6. The Council's general belief and expectation is that those associated with it (employees, 

members, school governors, service users, contractors and voluntary bodies) will act with 
honesty and integrity. In particular members and employees are expected to lead by example 
and will be accountable for their actions.  

 
 

Page 310



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 41 of 116 
 

 
7. The Council will take steps to help ensure high standards of ethical behaviour are adopted in 

partnerships to which the Council is a member. This will be done through applying appropriate 
elements of this document to all partnership working, where it is relevant to do so. With regard 
to partnership working, responsibility for Codes of Conduct and policies of this nature (and so 
for enforcement action for breach of those codes or policies) generally lies with the relevant 
individual organisation in the partnership. Where appropriate, the Council will draw the 
attention of the partner organisation to its concerns.  

 

 
 

 
 
  

Page 311



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 42 of 116 
 

 
Introduction 
 
1. The Bribery Act 2010 came into effect from 1st July 2011 and replaced common law offences 

and the Prevention of Corruption Acts 1889-1916. The legislation was introduced to counter 
the threat that bribery poses to democracy, the rule of law, emerging economies and the 
operation of free markets. The legislation is not intended to impose burdensome procedures 
on organisations and places proportionality as a core principle. 

 
What is Bribery?  
 
2. Bribery is an inducement or reward offered, promised or provided to gain personal, 

commercial, regulatory or contractual advantage.  
 
Objective of this policy  
 
3. This policy lays out the Council’s stance on bribery. The Council is explicit in that it will not 

offer bribes or improper inducements to anyone for any purpose nor will it accept bribes or 
improper inducements.  

 
4. This policy provides a framework to enable employees and members to understand and 

implement arrangements enabling compliance. In conjunction with related policies referred 
to below, it will enable employees and members to identify and report a potential breach.  

 
5. We require all staff, including temporary agency staff and all contractors and their employees 

working on behalf of the Council and all elected members to:  
 

 act honestly and with integrity at all times and to safeguard the Council’s resources for 
which they are responsible; and  

 comply with the spirit, as well as the letter, of the laws and regulations in respect of the 
lawful and responsible conduct of activities.  
 

6. The Council’s Officers’ Code of Conduct provides the minimum standards to which all 
employees are expected to keep. Section 2 relates to public duty, private interest, fraud and 
theft states “You must never accept a financial payment, bribes or inducement from any 
individual, body or organisation. For example: payments of inducement from contractors, 
developer or consultants”. 

 
Scope of this policy  
 
7. This policy applies to all of the Council’s activities. For strategic partners, contractors and 

suppliers, we will seek to promote the adoption of policies consistent with this policy.  
 
8. Within the Council the responsibility to control the risk of bribery occurring rests at all levels. 

It does not rest solely within assurance and audit functions, but is embedded in all services 
of the organisation and members exercising their Council functions.  

 

Page 312



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 43 of 116 
 

9. This policy covers all staff at all levels and grades, those permanently employed, temporary 
agency staff, contractors, non-executives, agents, members (including independent 
members), volunteers and consultants.  

 
Summary of Bribery Act 
 

Definition 
 
10. The Bribery Act contains two general offences and two further offences which address 

commercial bribery. 
 
11. The four criminal offences created by the Bribery Act 2010:  
 

 bribery of another person (section 1) to induce or reward them to perform a function 
improperly  

 requesting or accepting a bribe (section 2) as a reward for performing a function 
improperly  

 bribing a foreign official (section 6) to gain a business advantage  

 failing to prevent bribery (section 7)  

 
General offences 

 
The offering, promising or giving of a bribe (section1). 
The requesting, agreeing to receive or accepting of a bribe (section 2). 
 
12. These offences may apply where it is intended to bring about improper performance by 

another person of a relevant function or activity or to reward improper performance.  
 
13. In summary, improper performance is defined as; performance which amounts to a breach of 

an expectation that a person will act in good faith, impartially, or in accordance with a 
position of trust. 

 
14. The general offences apply to any function connected to business or of a public nature and 

therefore covers both private and public sectors. 
 

Commercial offences 
 
Bribery of a foreign public official in order to obtain or retain business or an advantage in 
the conduct of business (section 6). 
Failing to prevent bribery on behalf of a commercial organisation (section 7). 
 
15. The term foreign public official includes elected or appointed officials that hold a legislative, 

administrative or judicial position of any kind of a country or territory outside of the UK.         
 
16. The Act does not intend to criminalise bona fide hospitality, promotional or other business 

expenditure to improve commercial image or establish cordial business relationships. It is 
clear that these can be employed as bribes, however, for an offence to be committed there 

Page 313



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 44 of 116 
 

must be an intention for the financial or other advantages to influence the official’s role 
thereby securing business or business advantage.   

 
17. A commercial organisation will be liable to prosecution if a person associated with it bribes 

another person intending to obtain or retain business advantage for that organisations (is or 
it would be guilty on an offence under sections 1-6).  

 
18. The Government expects that this offence will apply to incorporated organisations or 

partnerships that engage in commercial activities irrespective of the purpose for which profits 
are made – this includes educational or public functions.  

 
A person associated with an organisation is defined as a person who performs services 
for or on behalf of an organisation. Guidance provides that contractors and suppliers may 
be included as “associate persons”. 
 

19. The last offence – section 7 is a corporate offence of failure by a commercial organisation to 
prevent bribery intended to obtain or retain business, or an advantage in the conduct of 
business. An organisation will have a defence to this offence if it can show that it had in 
place adequate procedures (see below) designed to prevent bribery by or of persons 
associated with it. The standard of proof required by an organisation to prove the defence is 
balance of probabilities 
 

Penalties  
 
20. An individual guilty of an offence under sections 1, 2 or 6 is liable:  
 

 On conviction in a magistrates court, to imprisonment for a maximum term of 12 months 
or to a fine not exceeding £5,000, or to both  

 On conviction in a crown court, to imprisonment for a maximum term of ten years, or to 
an unlimited fine, or both  

 
Organisations are liable for these fines and if guilty of an offence under section 7 are liable to an 
unlimited fine.  
 
Facilitation Payments 
 
21. These are small bribes paid to facilitate routine Government action and may trigger an 

offence under section 6 or section 1 (and therefore under section 7) when intended to induce 
improper conduct. The Bribery Act does not provide any exemption for such payments 
although it is recognised that eradication in some parts of the world is a long term objective. 
Prosecution of facilitation payments in England and Wales is referred to the Director of the 
Serious Fraud Office and the Director of Public Prosecutions.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 314



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 45 of 116 
 

Anti-Bribery procedures 
 
22. It is for the Council to determine the anti-bribery procedures that it puts in place 

proportionate to the risk it faces. The procedures applied by other organisations may 
therefore differ depending upon the scale of challenges that they encounter. 

 
23. The Government recommends that the Anti-bribery procedures should be informed by 6 non 

prescriptive principles. These are described below together with the associated procedural 
arrangements applied by the Council to prevent the offering or acceptance of bribes and 
improper inducements. 

 
Principle 1 – proportional procedures.  
 
24. The procedures implemented by the Council are proportionate to the risk of bribery that it 

faces and are practical, accessible and enforced. Anti-bribery procedures operate through a 
variety of polices and other internal controls that apply to Council employees, agents and 
representatives. 

 
These controls include:- 

 Standing Orders (decision making and procurement procedures) 

 Financial Regulations and Protocol 

 Financial Procedures 

 Officers’ Code of Conduct  

 Code of Conduct for Members 

 Gifts and Hospitality Policy / code of Practice 

 Risk Management Policy 

 Statement on Fraud and Corruption 

 Recruitment Policy 

 Annual Governance Statement 

 Whistle Blowing Policy 

 Procurement procedures and contractual terms and conditions. 
 
25. The Council (in line with the transparency code) also publishes the details of all individual 

payments to suppliers and other organisations over £250 in value on a monthly basis that 
are paid through creditors and details of all payments made by procurement cards.  

 
Gifts and Hospitality policy 
 
26. The Council’s policy on Gifts and Hospitality forms part of the Officers’ Code of Conduct and 

states that Council employees must not accept gifts, loans, fees and rewards from any 
person or organisation in particular those who may potentially expect to receive and 
advantage or benefit in return. This includes gifts, loans, fees and rewards from contractors, 
outside suppliers or members of the public. Breaches of this policy may be viewed as gross 
misconduct and be subject to disciplinary procedure. 

 

Page 315



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 46 of 116 
 

27. The Policy/Code of Conduct includes guidance on incidental gifts and hospitality that may be 
accepted and provides that all offers of gifts, hospitality and inducements should be 
recorded on the appropriate form and retained by the relevant Head of Service.  

 
28. The Council is undertaking some work overseas to seek potential inward investment. The 

Council is developing a policy to underpin the guidance given to staff in this area regarding 
not only gifts and hospitality received but also gifts and hospitality provided by the Council. A 
record of this activity is agreed and signed off by the relevant Head of Service. 

 
Principle 2 – Top-level commitment 
 
29. The Council’s Executive Management Team (EMT) has maintained a consistent message 

that acts of impropriety are unacceptable. The Council has in place a Statement on Fraud 
and Corruption that contains a statement from the Chief Executive expressing a zero 
tolerance environment in relation to fraud and corruption. The Statement on Fraud and 
Corruption forms part of the Officers’ Code of Conduct. 

 
Sheffield City Council’s commitment to action  
 
30. Sheffield City Council commits to:  

 

 Setting out a clear anti-bribery policy and keeping it up to date 

 To having clear, up-to-date date policies on gifts and hospitality  

 Making all employees and members aware of their responsibilities to adhere strictly 
to this policy at all times  

 Enabling all employees and members to recognise and avoid the use of bribery by 
themselves and others  

 Encouraging its employees and members to be vigilant and to report any suspicions 
of bribery, providing them with suitable channels of communication and ensuring 
sensitive information is treated appropriately 

 Rigorously investigating instances of alleged bribery and assisting police and other 
appropriate authorities in any resultant prosecution  

 Taking firm and vigorous action against any individual(s) involved in bribery  

 Providing information to all employees and members on how to report breaches and 
suspected breaches of this policy  

 Maintaining appropriate clauses in contracts to prevent bribery.  

 
Principle 3 – Risk Assessment. 
 
31. The Council has in place a formal risk management process to assess and document its 

exposure to risk, the acceptable level of risk appetite and/or mitigating actions that have 
been implemented to control risk. 

 
32. Each Service Director is required to sign an Annual Governance Statement (AGS) that 

contains assurance on the application of risk management, fraud risk management and 

Page 316



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 47 of 116 
 

procurement arrangements amongst others. The Annual Governance Statements will make 
specific reference to Anti-Bribery Policy within the risk management context.   

 
33. The Council recognises that it works and contracts with external organisations in sectors that 

may be susceptible to acts of bribery. Through the application of procurement and risk 
management procedures the Council will assess and mitigate the exposure to the risk 
associated with bribery. Where a risk of bribery is identified, managers will document the risk 
and appropriate mitigating controls within their Service Risk Management Plans in 
accordance with the risk management framework.  

 
Principle 4 – Due Diligence 
 
34. The Council applies proportionate due diligence processes in respect of persons and 

organisations that perform or will perform services on its behalf to mitigate the risk of bribery. 
The Council’s recruitment policy contains mandatory pre-employment checks that must be 
completed before a formal, contract of employment can be issued. A bribery clause is 
contained in the standard terms and conditions of any new contracts entered into by the 
Council. 

 
Principle 5 - Communication 
 
35. The Council has embedded and communicated to staff a range of policies and procedures to 

deter and detect fraud and corruption. The tone of internal communication has been to 
consistently condemn acts of irregularity and to establish a culture where employees are 
encouraged to report any suspicions and inappropriate behaviour. Communication methods 
include induction training, fraud awareness, staff briefings and intranet articles. An in-house 
fraud awareness eLearning facility has been introduced and includes information on the 
Bribery Act. 

 
Principle 6 Monitoring and Review. 
 
36. Internal Audit maintains ongoing scrutiny of the Council’s internal control framework as 

determined by application of a risk based planning process and consultation with senior 
management. The activities of Internal Audit are reported to the Audit and Standards 
Committee. In addition each Service Director is required to sign off their AGS to verify that 
the service has adequate levels of internal control. This is done on an annual basis. Where 
any areas of noncompliance are identified, the service has to formulate a plan of action to 
correct these deficiencies and allocate responsivity for ensuring that they take place within 
the required timescales. This is then monitored. 

 
Staff responsibilities 
 
37. It is the responsibility of all personnel employed by or acting on behalf of the Council to 

report any concerns that someone may be committing fraud or behaving in a way that is 
unethical, this includes the offering or acceptance of a bribe. Reports can be made via an 
employee’s line management or any or the contacts listed in the Whistleblowing Policy and 

Page 317



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 48 of 116 
 

Procedure. The Whistleblowing Procedure explains the protection that is afforded to the 
person reporting concerns and how the concern will be handled. 

 
38. All personnel should therefore: 

 Read, understand and comply with this policy. 

 Report any actions that may conflict with this policy. 
 
Further Information 
 
39. If you have any questions about this policy you should contact your line manager or 

alternatively contact Internal Audit. 
 
Other relevant policies  
 
40. Further information on relevant Council policy and practice can be found in the following 

internal documents:  

 The Constitution  

 Members Code of Conduct 

 Officers Code of Conduct  

 Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy  

 Confidential Reporting Procedure Whistleblowing Policy  

 Gifts & Hospitality Policy  

 Anti-Money Laundering Policy  
 
Useful links  
 

 The Bribery Act 2010  

 Bribery Act guidance  

 CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption  

 Local Government Fraud Strategy – Fighting Fraud Locally  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 318



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 49 of 116 
 

 
APPENDIX C 

 
GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY 

 
CORPORATE POLICY  

 AND PROCEDURE 
 

(Version 0.2.2 
Revised January 2017) 

 
The purpose of this document is to clearly inform employees of the policy 
and procedure in relation to offers of gifts and hospitality from any source. 

 
1. Policy 
 
1.1 The City Council’s Code of Conduct states that the public is entitled to demand of a local 

government employee conduct of the highest standard. Employees’ actions must not be 
influenced by offers of or provision of gifts or hospitality and their actions must not give the 
impression that they have been influenced in this way whilst acting in an ‘official capacity’. 

 
1.2 Council employees must not accept or provide gifts, loans, fees or rewards from or to any 

person or organisation in particular those who may potentially expect to receive an 
advantage or benefit in return.  This includes gifts, loans, fees or rewards from contractors, 
outside suppliers, service users or members of the public.  However, some incidental gifts 
or hospitality can be accepted or provided, as detailed in this Policy & Procedure 

 
1.3 This Policy & Procedure applies to all employees of the City Council, including Executive 

Directors and the Chief Executive. 
 

1.4 If an employee fails to follow the requirements of this policy or procedure they may be 
subject to disciplinary action. . 

 
1.5 Definitions 
For the purposes of the policy external parties shall include but not be limited to: 

 

 Contractors or suppliers 

 Potential contractors or suppliers involved in a tendering process 

 Service users 

 Customers 
 

Gifts shall be understood to mean: 

 Any personal, material and/or financial advantage or reward. 
 
 

Page 319



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 50 of 116 
 

Hospitality shall be understood to mean: 

 An offer of food, drink, invitation to events, travel and/or accommodation 
 
Examples 
 
Examples of gifts and hospitality are but not limited to: 

 Bottle of wine or any kind of alcohol 

 Box of chocolates 

 Hamper 

 Invitation to a meal at a restaurant 

 Electrical equipment 

 Cash or cash equivalent (such as gift certificates or vouchers) 

 Tickets to a show 

 Invitation to a sporting event 

 Round of golf 

 Offer of use of a holiday home 

 Offer to have accommodation and/or travel paid for by an external party 
 
2. Scope 
 
2.1 This policy applies to all non-school based employees. The Policy adopted by the relevant 

Governing Body will apply to employees within schools.  
 

3.   Principles 
 
3.1 Employees must maintain a good working relationship with their customers including service 

users and the public avoiding favouritism towards any group or individual in the course of 
their work. 

 
3.2 Employees must act with integrity at all times. 
 
 
3.3 If it is suspected that a contractor, outside supplier or other person/organisation is acting in 

an improper manner, employees should report it to their line manager as a matter of 
urgency. 

 
4.  Process 
 
4.1 Receiving Gifts 
 
4.1.1 Without causing offence, employees should discourage service users or other 

organisations from offering gifts.  However, where small gifts up to the individual value of 
£10, e.g. chocolates, calendars etc. are given as thanks for service provided, for example 
from a customer or person in residential care they can be accepted including multiple 
gifts from different individuals where each gift has a value of £10 or less. 

 

Page 320



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 51 of 116 
 

4.1.2 If gifts have a higher value than £10, employees should tactfully refuse them.  If gifts of 
this value are delivered, they should be returned with an appropriate explanation.  If gifts 
cannot be returned, the senior manager should dispose of them to charity and record this 
fact. 

 
4.1.3 All gifts above a value of £10 should be registered on the appropriate form (Form A), 

even if the gift is returned. Please see 5.1 of this policy & procedure. 
 
4.1.4 Gifts of cash should not be accepted. 
 
4.2 Receiving Hospitality 
 
4.2.1 Employees may accept incidental hospitality, such as light refreshments, tea or coffee, 

as offered at a visit, conference, meeting or promotional exercise. 
 
4.2.2 Where other than incidental hospitality is offered by an existing or potential contractor or 

by an organisation likely to be involved in a contract, the hospitality should be refused.  
Employees should not accept invitations to social events from individuals or 
organisations that they have involvement with through work to avoid conflict of interest 
regarding both parties unless authorised by Head of Service 

 
4.2.3 Invitations to social events offered as part of normal working life, e.g. opening 

celebrations, annual dinners, may be accepted if authorised by the appropriate Head of 
Service. 

 
4.2.4 Invitations to any types of hospitality that are of no benefit to the Council, e.g. sporting 

events, must not be accepted. 
 
4.2.5 All offers of hospitality, other than incidental, must be registered on the appropriate 

declaration form – Form A please see section 5.1 of this procedure. 
 
4.3 Inducements 
 
4.3.1 Employees must not accept inducements, e.g. a bribe. 
 
4.3.2 All offers of inducement must immediately be reported to the appropriate senior 

manager and be registered as per section 5.1 of this policy & procedure. 
 

4.3.3 The Bribery Act 2010 highlights two specific types of bribery that could lead to the 
prosecution of the council; 
 

 The liability to prosecution if a person associated with it bribes another person, where 
an associated person is one who performs services on or behalf of the organisation; 
and 
 

 Bribery of a foreign public official, where an official is one who holds a legislative, 
administrative or judicial position in a territory or country outside the UK. 

Page 321



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 52 of 116 
 

 
4.4  Giving Gifts & Hospitality 
 
4.4.1  Staff may:- 

 
 Give gifts of a minimal value (such as items to promote the city); 
  
 With prior management approval (by someone not attending the event), provide meals 

and other entertainment at venues outside the Council, provided that the expenses are 
kept at a reasonable level. For the avoidance of doubt, the per capita cost of a meal 
should not exceed £50 and would normally be much less; 

 
 Provide other hospitality where this is agreed in advance. 

 
 
5. Procedure  
 
5.1 All gifts or hospitality (other than incidental) with a value individually of more than £10 

must be entered on Gifts & Hospitality Declaration – Form A). You can find this 
declaration form in your MyView account.  
 

If you do not have access to the Intranet/MyView 
If you do not have access to the intranet/MyView you should discuss your declaration 
with your manager.  
Your line manager can complete the declaration for you in the MyPeople section of 
MyView with you present and submit the form. Your manager will then print off the 
submitted form.  
You and your manager will sign that this information is a true and accurate record of 
your application.  
 The completed form will then be passed on to the relevant Section Head. 

 
5.2 Section Heads will keep completed Declaration Form A’s as a register of offers.  
 
5.3 A report to Portfolio Leadership Team will be presented in April annually summarising 

the information. 
 
5.4 Where gifts, hospitality or inducements are offered to the Head of Service, the 

Declaration form submitted via MyView will go to the appropriate Executive Director for 
approval. 

 
5.5 Where gifts, hospitality or inducements are offered to the Executive Director, the 

Declaration form submitted via MyView will go to the Chief Executive for approval. 
 
5.6 A central record of all gifts, hospitality or inducements offered/made, declined or 

accepted by Executive Directors or the Chief Executive will be maintained by the Chief 
Executive. 

 

Page 322



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 53 of 116 
 

5.7 If any employees are uncertain how to deal with an offer of a gift or hospitality, he/she 
should contact their manager. 

 
5.8 If an employee’s interpretations of this policy & procedure and/or their actions are called 

into question, it is the responsibility of the appropriate manager to investigate whether 
the person acted in good faith according to their understanding of the policy & 
procedure.  

 

  

Page 323



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 54 of 116 
 

  

Page 324



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 55 of 116 
 

 

APPENDIX D 

 
 
 

Sheffield City Council 

 
 

Whistleblowing Policy 
(June 2018) 

 

See it - Say it 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

   

Page 325



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 56 of 116 
 

 
Whistleblowing – Public Interest Disclosure  
 
1 Introduction 
 
Sheffield City Council is committed to the highest standards of ethics, transparency, integrity 
and accountability.  It seeks to conduct its affairs in a responsible manner taking into account 
the requirements of the proper use of public funds and the standards required in public life.  If 
you feel that this is not happening then you need to tell us, we call this Whistleblowing. 
 
We have a Whistleblowing policy to enable employees to raise matters of concern that are in 
the public interest so that they may be investigated and where appropriate acted upon. 
 
Whistleblowing is legally known as qualifying disclosures. This is where an employee 
reasonably believes (and it is in the public interest) that one or more of the following is either 
happening, has taken place, or is likely to happen in the future: 
 

 A criminal offence. 

 A failure to comply with any legal obligation. 

 Fraud, theft or corruption. 

 A danger to the health and safety of any individual ( including risks to the general public 

as well as other employees). 

 Damage to the environment. 

 
‘Public interest’ means that whistleblowing cannot be used to challenge financial and business 
decisions properly taken by Sheffield City Council or to seek reconsideration of any matter 
already addressed under other internal procedures e.g. grievance, disciplinary, dignity and 
respect. 
 
Sheffield City Council has a designated Monitoring Officer, this is the Director of Legal and 
Governance and Monitoring Officer, who has a statutory duty to consider issues, which have or 
may result in Sheffield City Council being in contravention of the law or code of practice.  As the 
Monitoring Officer has overall responsibility for the maintenance and operation of this policy 
they will receive an updated log of whistleblowing complaints on a quarterly basis including 
details of complaints received, action taken and analysis of trends.  The Monitoring Officer will 
also provide information relating to whistleblowing issues and trends to the Council as 
appropriate. 
 
 
  

Page 326



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 57 of 116 
 

 
2. Your Protection 
 
Where an employee raises a concern that they reasonably believe, and is in the public interest, 
then they are protected under the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 even if the belief is later 
found to be mistaken.  This is regarded as a protected disclosure and as such the individual will 
not suffer any form of punishment as a result of this disclosure for example losing their job or 
victimisation.   
 
3. How to raise a concern. 
 
There are a number of ways to raise a Whistleblowing concern and you can choose the one that 
suits you however please ensure that you state you are raising your concern under 
Whistleblowing.  You can do this verbally, in writing by a letter or email.  However if you choose 
to use email, please take extra care to make sure that your message is sent to the correct 
person and be aware that, due to the nature of email it may be read by other people.  To make 
sure that your concerns are handled quickly, mark the subject box: 
 
Whistleblowing – confidential – recipient only. 
 
a) Raise it with your Supervisor, Manager or a more Senior Manager in your Service. 
 
It is expected that many concerns will be raised openly with supervisors or managers as part of 
day to day practice.  You can do this verbally or in writing by a letter or email.  If your concern 
relates to your line manager then you should raise your concern with another manager within 
your service or choose another route to do so. 
 
b) Raise it directly with a Whistleblowing Co-ordinator.  
 
You can raise your concern directly with a Whistleblowing Co-ordinator whose role is to receive 
complaints relating to their specific professional area.   
 
Human Resources   
   
Lynsey Linton Head of Human Resources 07816181838 
   
Legal   
 
Steve Eccleston 

 
Assistant Director of Legal & Governance  

 
       273 5012 
 

 
Finance 

  

 
Dave Phillips 

 
Head of Strategic Finance 
 

 
      273 5872 

  

Page 327



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 58 of 116 
 

 
Health, Safety and Well-Being  
 
Gary Lund 

 
HR Service Manager  

 
      27 34082 
 

   
Safeguarding    
 
Simon Richards 

 
Head of Quality and Safeguarding 

 
07790805029 

Victoria Horsefield Assistant Director        27 34450 
   

 
c) Raise it with a Contact Advisors. 
 
Sheffield City Council has trained and prepared Contact Advisors, who are also employees, and 
can be a point of contact for you as an alternative to your supervisor or manager.  Contact 
Advisors are not a point of long term support for employees and will not be involved in the 
investigation process.  They will give advice and signpost you to the appropriate route for 
raising your concern. 
 
Contact Advisors can be contacted by telephone http://intranet/employment/behaviour-and-
relationships-at-work/dignity-and-respect/contact-advisers  
 
d) Raise it with external organisations. 
 
If you feel unable to raise your concern internally or if you are not happy with the outcome of the 
internal investigation you can raise this with the appropriate agency: 
 

 Your local Council member (if you live in Sheffield) 

 Relevant professional bodies or regulatory organisations 

 A Solicitor 

 South Yorkshire Police 

 Other bodies prescribed under the Public Interest Disclosure Act, e.g. 

Information Commissioner’s Office 
Serious Fraud Office 
The Environment Agency 
The Health and Safety Executive 
Sheffield City Council’s External Auditor 
 

If you do take the matter outside Sheffield City Council you need to ensure that you do not 
disclose confidential information and you should contact the HR Consultancy and Advice Team 
for advice. 
 
You are also able to raise any whistleblowing concerns with your trade union representative. 
 
  

Page 328

http://intranet/employment/behaviour-and-relationships-at-work/dignity-and-respect/contact-advisers
http://intranet/employment/behaviour-and-relationships-at-work/dignity-and-respect/contact-advisers


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 59 of 116 
 

 
Anonymous Whistleblowing Concerns 
 
All disclosures within Whistleblowing will be treated in a confidential and sensitive manner.  If 
required, the identity of the employee raising the concern will be kept confidential for as long as 
possible provided that this is allows for an effective investigation and we will not disclose your 
identity until we have discussed this with you.  However should your concern result in your 
evidence being needed in any external process for example in court or an employment tribunal 
then we will be unable to keep your identity confidential and we will discuss this with you. 
 
If you do not tell us who you are when raising a Whistleblowing concern it will be much more 
difficult for us to look into the matter, protect your position or give feedback on the disclosure. 
 
4. What will happen when you raise a Whistleblowing Concern. 
 
Concerns raised under this procedure may be resolved by the person that you raise them with.   
 
Step 1 Verification. 
The Manager/Whistleblowing Co-ordinator will meet with you to clarify the facts of your concern.  
This is known as a verification meeting this will be held within 5 working days of you raising your 
concern.  As with all City council procedures you have the right of representation at all 
meetings, which can either be a Trade Union representative or another employee of Sheffield 
City Council who is not involved in the area of work to which the concern relates and who also 
could not be called as a witness.   
 
There are three possible outcomes to the verification stage: 
 

 There are no grounds for proceeding further.  You will be informed of this in writing with 

the reasons for no further action needed. 

 The matter falls within another procedure.  You will be advised of the relevant procedure 

and this will be referred to the relevant Manager for action. 

 An investigation will be commissioned into your concerns. 

 
 
Step 2 Investigation. 
 
The Manager/Whistleblowing Co-ordinator will appoint an Investigating Manager and 
Investigation Team who are not from the same service in which the concerns are about.  The 
Investigation Team will have access to an HR Consultant who will provide professional advice 
on the conduct of the investigation and procedural issues.  The investigation will be carried out 
as quickly as possible whilst being mindful of the nature and complexity of your concern. 
 
The Investigating Manager may ask you to put your concerns in writing and provide as much 
evidence as possible.  It may also be necessary to interview you and provide a witness 
statement which you will be asked to confirm that it is accurate and complete. 
 

Page 329



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 60 of 116 
 

 
If you would like more information on how and investigation are conducted follow this link 
https://myteam.sheffield.gov.uk/HRPoint/PublicLibrary/Forms/Conduct.aspx 
 
Step 3 Outcome. 
 
As the employee raising the concern you will be kept informed as to the handling of the matter 
throughout the investigation and informed of the outcome, as long as it does not break the duty 
of confidence owed to someone else.  If no action is to be taken the reason for this will be 
explained to you. 
 
If no action is taken as a result of the investigation it does not mean that action will be taken 
against the employee raising the concern.  However should false allegations knowingly be 
made then Sheffield City Council may consider taking action within its procedures which may 
include disciplinary action. 
 
5. Responding to a Whistleblowing Concern 
 
Managers and Whistleblowing Co-ordinators guidance  
(see Manager and Whistleblowing Co-ordinator Whistleblowing Flowchart).  
 
Step 1 Verification. 
 
As the Manager/Whistleblowing Co-ordinator you will complete an initial verification of the 
whistleblowing concern by meeting with the employee within 5 working days of the concern 
being raised and decide whether there are grounds for an investigation or not by checking and 
confirming the facts.  You need to contact HR for support through this process.  Where the 
whistleblowing concern arises out of potential fraudulent activity this should be reported to 
Internal Audit. 
 
As with all Sheffield City Council procedures the employee has the right of representation at all 
meetings, which can either be a Trade Union representative or another employee of the City 
Council who is not involved in the area of work to which the concern relates and who also could 
not be called as a witness. 
 
There are three possible outcomes to the verification stage: 
 

 There are no grounds for proceeding further.  You will need to write to the employee and 

inform them of this with the reasons for no further action needed. 

 The matter falls within another procedure.  You will need to advise the employee of the 

procedure that you think is appropriate and refer this to the relevant Manager for action.   

 An investigation is required.  You will need to commission an investigation. 

 
  

Page 330

https://myteam.sheffield.gov.uk/HRPoint/PublicLibrary/Forms/Conduct.aspx


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 61 of 116 
 

 
Step 2 Investigation. 
 
You will commission an Investigation and appoint an Investigating Manager and an 
Investigation Team from another Service Area or Portfolio.  The Investigation Team will have 
access to an HR Consultant who will provide professional advice on the conduct of the 
investigation and procedural issues.  The investigation will be carried out as quickly possible, 
whilst being mindful of the nature and complexity of the concern disclosed.  Follow this link for a 
more detailed description of how an investigation should be conducted Investigation Guidance 
 
Step 3 Outcome. 
 
On completion of the investigation, the Investigating Manager will produce a short written report 
that will outline the nature of the Whistleblowing concern, the process of the investigation, a 
summary of the findings of the team and recommendations for action. 
 
Upon receipt of the report you will make a decision as to what action, if any, should be taken 
based upon the recommendations of the report.  This may include using formal action within the 
City Council’s procedures or reference to an appropriate government department or regulatory 
agency depending upon the circumstances of the case.  
 
You will keep the employee who has raised the Whistleblowing concern informed as to the 
handling of the matter throughout the investigation and give them as much feedback as 
appropriate in respect of the outcome, as long as it does not break the duty of confidence owed 
to someone else.  If no action is to be taken the reason for this will also be explained to the 
employee. 
 
In exceptional circumstances, where the complainant feels unable to continue within their role 
as a result of their complaint, redeployment may be considered at the complainant’s request. 
Redeployment should be considered as an option not a right, and will not be considered where 
an employee has made false allegations.  
The request for redeployment will be dealt with via the Redeployment policy and procedure 
under “other circumstances” within the Eligibility Criteria. The possible outcomes, timescales 
and arrangements must be discussed and understood by all parties before proceeding. If the 
request for redeployment is accepted and the employee enters the Talent Pool, they should not 
face dismissal for a reason associated with this situation. 
 
A written record should be kept of each stage of the procedure including copies of any written 
feedback provided on the form attached. 
 
 
 
 

Page 331

https://myteam.sheffield.gov.uk/HRPoint/PublicLibrary/Forms/Conduct.aspx


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 62 of 116 
 

  

Page 332



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 63 of 116 
 

 
APPENDIX E 
 
Council Policies on Handling Information 
 
We have polices to help us handle information in accordance with our information governance framework, 

best practice and the law. 

Please take the time to read these policies because they are intended to help you because if you breach a 

policy (knowingly or not), it may result in significant consequences for you, the Council or our customers. 

All these policies have been approved by the Information Governance Board. These policies are:- 

 

1. Appendix E: Information Governance and Security Policy 
2. Appendix F: ICT Acceptable Use Policy 
3. Appendix G: Data Protection Policy 

 
Please also see the Council’s Social Networking Policy (Appendix H, Code of Conduct) 
 

40TInformation Governance & Security Policy 
 

1. 1. Policy Introduction and Background 
Information and data are necessary for Sheffield City Council to comply with its statutory 
duties and to arrange and provide services for the citizens of Sheffield.  

 
All Members, employees, contract and temporary workers and volunteers have a 
responsibility to ensure that information and data are managed properly and are secure and 
safeguarded from inappropriate release, modification or misuse.  
 
This includes the associated supporting technology.  
 
Information Governance is the way in which we bring together all of the requirements and 
standards that apply to the handling of information in all formats.  This ensures that the 
organisation and individuals have readily available information that is accurate, meets legal 
requirements, is dealt with efficiently and is secure.  
 
An overall Information Governance Framework has been developed to support this policy.  

 
2. Policy Explanation 
 
The objective of this Information Governance, & Security Policy is to protect Sheffield City 
Council’s information and data assetsP0F

1
P from all threats, whether internal or external, 

                                            
1 This includes data & information printed or written on paper, stored electronically, and transmitted by post or electronic means, stored on tape 
or video, spoken in conversation. 

Page 333



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 64 of 116 
 

deliberate or accidental, to ensure business continuity, minimise damage and maximise our 
ability to deliver services by bringing together all of the requirements, standards and best 
practice that apply to the handling of information. It has four fundamental aims: 
 To support and promote the effective and appropriate use of information to deliver 

services;  
 To encourage responsible staff to work closely together, preventing duplication of effort 

and enabling more efficient use of resources; 
 To develop support arrangements and provide staff with appropriate tools and support to 

enable them to discharge their responsibilities to consistently high standards and to 
ensure statutory obligations are met; 

 To enable the organisation to understand its own performance against its objectives. 
Information Governance and Security currently encompasses: 

 Data Protection Act 1998 
 Freedom of Information Act 2000 
 Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 
 Environmental Information Regulations 2004 
 Information Sharing 
 The Confidentiality Code of Practice 
 Records Management 
 Information Quality Assurance 
 Information Security 
 Information Governance Management 
 Risk Management 
 Protective Security 

Scope 

The scope of this Information Governance & Security Policy covers all Sheffield City Council 
information and data held in any format and in any location including that held and used by a 
third party delivering services on behalf of the Council. 
Article I. Policy 

It is the policy of Sheffield City Council to ensure that: 

 Information and data are protected from the loss of confidentiality P1F

2
P, integrityP2F

3
P and 

availabilityP3F

4
P. 

 Legislative and regulatory requirements are met P4F

5
P. 

 Business continuity plans are produced, maintained and tested. 

 Information security awareness training is made available to all employees and 
Members. 

 All breaches of information and data security, actual or suspected, are reported to, and 
investigated by, the Portfolio Information Risk Owner; Information Boards and 
designated officers, and escalated to the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO); the 
Director of Business Change and Information. 

 All Strategic Management Group members and heads are responsible for 
implementing the Information Governance & Security Policy within their respective 
business areas. 

                                            
2 Confidentiality: ensuring that information is accessible only to authorised individuals. 
3 Integrity: safeguarding the accuracy and completeness of information and processing methods. 
4 Availability: ensuring that authorised users have access to relevant information when required. 
5 Includes legislation such as the Data Protection Act 1998, Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Computer Misuse Act 1990. 

 

Page 334



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 65 of 116 
 

 It is the responsibility of each member, employee, contract and temporary workers and 
volunteers to adhere to this policy.  

 

3. Policy Implementation 
 

This Policy is implemented by the following Standard Operating Procedure (SOP): 
 
Freedom of Information Process 0001/2014/IKM 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 335



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 66 of 116 
 

  

Page 336



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 67 of 116 
 

APPENDIX F 
 

ICT Acceptable Use Policy 

 

To specify the City Council’s policy on the acceptable and non-acceptable use of the information and 
communications technology (ICT) provided to employees and anyone else authorised to use this ICT for the 
purpose of working for or on behalf of the Council.  

15 June 2015  Release Version 2.0 

Document Review  
Title Name(s) / Board Role / Responsibility 

Policy owner John Curtis Head of Information and Knowledge Management 

Change requests to Mark Jones Lead Information Management Officer 

Peer review Information Governance 
Board 

Authority for council policies affecting non-public 
information 

 Louise Pellett HR - HR Consultant 

 Stephen Bower  Internal Audit – Finance Manager 

 Joelle Taylor BCIS – Information Management Officer 

 Ian Jellyman BCIS – Head of IS Strategy, Governance and 
Assurance 

Key stakeholder review Joint Negotiating Committee 15/06 

Document approval 
Authorising Body Date of acceptance  

Information Governance Board  15/06 

Full Council 15/07 

 
 
1. Purpose 
To establish the City Council’s policy on the acceptable use of information and communication 
technology (ICT) used by council employees and other authorised persons working for or on 
behalf of the City Council.   
 
2. Scope 
 
The policy applies to all “users” of Council ICT and includes, but is not limited to employees, 
Councillors, strategic business partners (e.g. NHS colleagues), agency staff, contractors, 
volunteers, apprentices, inspectors, auditors.  
 
The policy applies primarily to the ICT that is owned or leased by the Council, for example the 
ICT infrastructure, hardware, software and systems (network, servers, firewalls, cables, 
desktops, laptops, telephony, tablets, cameras, monitors, software, applications, databases, 

Page 337



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 68 of 116 
 

etc.), but also refers to the possible use of non-Council ICT for and at work (see Sections 5 and 
6).  
  
The policy also applies to non-public information because a significant amount of this 
information is captured, stored, read and shared using Council ICT.   
 
“Non-public information” is defined as being information the Council does not make publicly 
available and requires a council employee to decide whether it can be disclosed, having 
considered the legal, financial and business implications. 
 
3. Principles 
 
Access to Council ICT is determined by your line manager or, if you are not an employee, the 
person who has authorised your access (e.g. sponsor, supervisor), in conjunction with your job 
description, council policies, contractual arrangements and other initiatives like WorkPlace. 
 
ICT access is controlled with unique User IDs and/ or tokens that are assigned to individual 
users and by the creation of individual passwords; consequently, you are accountable for your 
actions on the Council ICT you use and for any other activity logged under your assigned 
unique user name or device assigned to you (e.g. mobile phone).   
 
4. Code of conduct and related policies 
 
This policy forms part of the Officers Code of Conduct (sections 5, 6, and 8) and must be read in 
conjunction with the Council’s: 22TInformation Governance and Security Policy22T, the 22TData 
Protection Policy22T and the 22TSocial Networking Policy22T.  
 
Further guidance about acceptable use, information security and handling information is 
available on the intranet at 22Thttp://intranet/ict/handling-council-info/.22T  Please take your time to 
read the guidance and complete the mandatory Protecting Information e-learning.  
 

5. Personal use of Council ICT  
 
You are allowed limited and occasional personal use of the Council’s ICT for non-work related 
activity, for example to write documents and emails, browse the internet, make short urgent 
telephone calls, etc. This use must be in your own time and not in working hours, unless agreed 
in advance with your line manager.   
 
Personal use must not include any activity that may have an adverse impact on the Council’s 
reputation, further your own personal business interests, be considered to be illegal, obscene, 
offensive, discriminatory or abusive or inappropriate (e.g. online gambling) or contravene 
Council policy or the law.  
 

Where a cost is incurred as a result of your personal use of Council ICT (e.g. personal calls or excessive 
data downloads on a Council mobile phone), the Council reserves the right to recover these costs.  If you 
have concerns about this, please discuss your intended personal use with your line manager in advance.  
 

Page 338

http://intranet/ict/handling-council-info/information-policies
http://intranet/ict/handling-council-info/information-policies
http://intranet/ict/handling-council-info/information-policies
http://intranet/employment/behaviour-and-relationships-at-work/social-networking-policy
http://intranet/ict/handling-council-info/


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 69 of 116 
 

6. Using your own or someone else’s ICT at or for work  
 
Use of your own or someone else’s ICT for work is limited.  
 
You can use your own ICT on Council premises in your own time providing it does not impact 
on your or your colleagues’ work, other people’s privacy, health and safety or the law (e.g. 
copyright).  Typical use may include personal telephone calls, emails or texts, browsing the 
internet, using social media and possibly, with your line manager’s permission, listening to 
music using headphones.   
 
As stated above in Section 5, this use must not include any activity that may have an adverse 
impact on the Council’s reputation, be considered to be illegal, obscene, offensive, 
discriminatory or abusive or inappropriate (e.g. online gambling) or contravene Council policy or 
the law.  
 
You are not allowed to use your own device or anyone else’s ICT to carry out council business, 
unless it has been agreed in advance with the BCIS Information and Knowledge Management 
Team.  Exceptions currently include: WEBRAS users and users located at partner sites, e.g. 
users using NHS ICT at NHS sites.    
 
Council business refers to making telephone calls, sending text messages or emails, creating 
documents or saving information, taking photographs or audio recordings, leaving voice 
messages, etc. to customers or colleagues for work purposes.   
 
7. Your ICT responsibilities 
 
Line Managers 
 

1. To ensure users have the appropriate ICT and access rights to carry out their work and to 
review these arrangements at least once a year to ensure they are relevant and correct. 

 
2. To instruct Capita to disable a user’s account when it is no longer required by the user (e.g. 

leavers process). This can be done using the Capita 24/7 portal.  
 

3. To recover Council ICT equipment from users when it is no longer needed or used, for 
example when they leave the authority or their role, contract, placement, etc.  

 
4. To return all unused or damaged ICT to Capita, so it can be recycled or disposed of, unless 

otherwise agreed with Capita. This can be done using the Capita 24/7 portal. 

 
All Users 
 

5. To access the Council’s ICT using only the unique user names given to you and your 
password.  You must not disclose, share or make available your password to anyone else 
(including your manager, colleagues or even Capita) or access any Council ICT using 
someone else’s logon and password. 

 

Page 339



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 70 of 116 
 

6. To access only Council ICT and the non-public information required for you to carry out 
your job. You must not intentionally access or attempt to access non-public information for 
personal interest or commercial gain.  

 
7. To report any potential conflict of interest to your line manager if you are or are likely to 

access non-public information about someone you know or have a personal relationship 
with, for example a relative, friend, colleague, partner, neighbour, etc.  

 
8. To be professional, honest and polite when using the Council’s ICT or representing the 

Council, in particular the tone, language and content of information recorded (e.g. email 
social media, etc).  You must not download, browse or distribute any material that may be 
interpreted as inappropriate, illegal, offensive, discriminatory or abusive. 

 
9. To use only Council ICT to carry out Council business, unless agreed otherwise with BCIS 

Information and Knowledge Management Team (see Section 6).   
 

10. To store only work-related information on Council ICT.  You must not intentionally store on 
Council ICT your own information (e.g. documents, photographs, music, etc) or any 
material that may be in breach of licensing or copyright law, for instance music, films, 
images, publications, games, software, etc.  

 
11. To report any suspicious emails or attachments to Capita. You should not open, download 

or send suspicious software, emails or files in case they contain a virus or other malware 
potentially causing damage to the Council’s or someone else’s ICT.   

 
12. To instruct Capita to move or relocate fixed ICT assets (desktops, monitors, telephone 

handsets), so that an accurate ICT asset inventory is kept for contractual, administrative 
and financial reasons. This can be requested using Capita 24/7.  You must not move these 
assets yourself.  

 
13. To follow the Council’s 22Tinformation security guidance 22T to keep Council ICT and non-public 

information safe and secure, for example using strong passwords, locking removable 
devices (laptops, tablets, phones, etc.) and physical documents away when not in use, 
activating screensavers, etc.  

 
14. To send non-public information electronically using secure methods, for example: secure 

mail (GCSx, CJSM), document encryption (7-Zip, WinZip) or other secure solutions as 
approved by the BCIS Information and Knowledge Management Team. 

 
15. To use your sheffield.gov.uk or sheffield.gcsx.gov.uk accounts to carry out council business 

and not use your personal or any other email address.  You must not set auto-forwarding 
rules on your council email account to automatically send emails to an external email 
address.  

 
16. To access and read GCSx mail using Council ICT only, unless agreed otherwise with the 

BCIS Information and Knowledge Management Team.  For example, council employees 

Page 340

http://intranet/ict/handling-council-info/


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 71 of 116 
 

based at NHS sites are allowed to access GCSx mail using NHS ICT.  You will not be able 
to access GCSx mail via WEBRAS.  

 
17. To switch your computer, laptop or tablet off at the end of the working day and to connect 

these devices to the Council’s network (via WIFI or cable at a council site) at least once a 
month to enable security, policy and software updates to take place.  A device that has not 
been connected to the Council’s network after 3 months may be removed from support, 
unless agreed otherwise with the BCIS Information and Knowledge Management Team.  

 
18. To return to your line manager all Council ICT assigned to you that you no longer need or 

use.  You must not sell or redistribute Council ICT without the authorisation of BCIS, 
Internal Audit or Capita. 

 
19. To report lost or damaged ICT equipment to Capita and your line manager immediately.  If 

the ICT equipment has been stolen, you must also report it to the police and give the crime 
reference number to Capita. 

 
20. To report information security incidents through the Council’s 22TInformation security incidents 

procedure22T; this may include the loss, uncontrolled release, damage, misuse or 
inappropriate access to the Council’s ICT or non-public information.  

 
21. To collect, store, share and dispose of non-public information in accordance with the 

Council’s 22TDocument and Records Management Policy22T to help ensure it is organised, 
secure and available as a corporate record.  

 
 
8. Monitoring and recording 
 
The use of Council ICT is monitored and in some cases recorded.  The main reason is to 
properly manage systems, for example to detect and deal with faults or to protect systems from 
threats. 
 
Monitoring and recording of ICT usage may also be requested as part of an investigation 
process or to investigate suspected or actual violations of this policy or to prevent or detect 
criminal activity.  Information that may be available includes:  
 

 telephony use (call history, data usage, costs) 

 internet browsing (sites visited, duration of visit, etc)  

 email  

 user activity in database applications (CareFirst, Wisdom, Academy, etc)  

 information saved on the network (personal and shared drives, SharePoint, etc)  

 information saved to or from external devices (USB stick, external hard drive, etc)  
 
9. Access to a User’s ICT activity 
 
The Council reserves the right to investigate concerns about the use or misuse of ICT.   
 

Page 341

http://intranet/ict/handling-council-info/info-risks-security-incidents/report-an-info-sec-incident
http://intranet/ict/handling-council-info/info-risks-security-incidents/report-an-info-sec-incident
http://intranet/ict/handling-council-info/information-policies


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 72 of 116 
 

This right will observe council policy and the law, for example the Computer Misuse Act 1990, 
Human Rights Act 1998, Data Protection Act 1998 and Regulation of Investigatory Powers 
2000.  
 
If a line manager or investigating officer wants to access a user’s ICT activity, they must discuss 
their concerns with HR first.  With HR’s written authorisation, the officer must email Information 
and Knowledge Management ( 22Tinformationmanagement@sheffield.gcsx.gov.uk 22T) and confirm 
what information is required, the individual’s name, User ID, Portfolio and Service. The email 
does not need to give details of the investigation. 
 
The request will be logged and referred to Capita to action the request and liaise directly with 
the line manager or investigating officer.   
 
If information is required from a line of business application, the Information and Knowledge 
Management Team will contact the appropriate Application Owner for information.  
 

10. Compliance  
 
Non-compliance to this policy and any actual or suspected misuse of the Council’s ICT or the 
information it holds can result in disciplinary proceedings and possibly criminal proceedings.   
 
 
11. Acceptance of the Sheffield City Council: ICT Acceptable Use Policy 
 
Employees are to receive a copy of this policy and are to have time to read it, seeking 
clarification and support from their manager or the Information and Knowledge Management 
Team.  
 
Employees are to sign acceptance of the terms using 22TmyView22T. For employees without 
computer access, their manager will access a ‘non-access’ form for them to sign acceptance. 
Their manager will then print off a hard copy for them to keep. 
 
Employees contact the Information and knowledge Management Team on 273 6891 or by email 
22Tinformationmanagement@sheffield.gcsx.gov.uk 22T, if they need further advice and guidance. 
 

  

Page 342

mailto:informationmanagement@sheffield.gcsx.gov.uk
https://myview.sheffield.gov.uk/dashboard/
mailto:informationmanagement@sheffield.gcsx.gov.uk


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 73 of 116 
 

4Appendix G 

 

Data Protection Policy 

 

Sheffield City Council processes personal data on a daily basis. Data protection law 

requires the Council, its employees and authorised users, to process personal data 

fairly, lawfully and securely at all times. This policy sets out the key activities and 

responsibilities the Council need to adhere to. 

14 May 2019  Release Version 2.1 

Document Review  

Title Name(s) / Board Role / Responsibility 

Policy owner Mark Gannon Director Business Change and Information 
Solutions 

Change requests to Mark Jones Senior Information Management Officer 

Key stakeholder 
review 

Information Governance 
Working Group  

Portfolio representatives to contribute and 
implement information governance policy, 
procedures and best practice 

 General Data Protection 
Regulations (GDPR) 
Working Group  

Portfolio representatives to ensure 
procedures align with new data protection 
requirements with GDPR and the Data 
Protection Act 2018 

Document approval 

Authorising Body Date of acceptance  

Information Governance Board  08th June 2018 

Local Negotiating Committee  14th May 2019 

HR Policy Forum 22nd May 2019 

Version History 

Version Issue Date Comments / Summary of changes 

1.0 12/06/2014  Policy to replace the Handling Personal Information Policy (2002).  
Policy added to Officers’ Code of Conduct (Appendix G) in July 2015 

1.1-1.3 18/04/2018, 
25/05/2018  

Policy review and refresh for General Data Protection Regulations 
(GDPR) and Data Protection Act (2018)  

2.0 08/06/2018 Minor change following IGB comments  

Page 343



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 74 of 116 
 

2.1 14/05/2019 Minor change following LNC re. training refresh times 

 

Review 

Review Date  June 30th 2020 

 

 

1. Introduction and Definitions 

Sheffield City Council processes personal data to carry out its duties to make decisions and provide 

public services.  Personal data is defined in law, but in essence it is information that identifies a living 

person (the subject of the data) or can make them more identifiable.   

 

“Personal data” includes, but is not exclusive to: name, address, date of birth, email address, telephone 

number, unique reference numbers (e.g. NHS number, National Insurance number, Vehicle Registration 

Number), financial details (e.g. bank details, transactions, arrears, etc.).   

 

Personal data also includes “Special Category Data”, which is sensitive personal data, covering for 

example: ethnicity, religious beliefs, political opinions, sexuality, physical and mental health conditions, 

genetic and biometric data, as well as data of criminal offences and convictions.  

 

The term “processing” is also defined in law and refers to any operations involving personal data such as 

collection, recording, organisation, storage, alteration, retrieval, consultation, use, disclosure, 

combination, erasure or destruction. 

 

All the personal data processed for or on behalf of the City Council must be processed in accordance 

with data protection law: the European Union’s General Data Protection Regulations and the UK’s Data 

Protection Act that both came into effect on May 25th 2018.  

 

The intention of this policy is to identify the key principles, activities and responsibilities that all our 

employees have to adhere to as well as all the people who are authorised to process personal data to 

carry out council business.  For the purpose of this policy, authorised users includes Councillors, 

contractors, suppliers, agency workers, partnership workers (like NHS, police employees), and 

volunteers.   

 

 

 

Page 344



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 75 of 116 
 

 

2. Policy Requirements 

 
Data protection law sets out a number of key principles, so that the processing of personal data shall be:  
                                                                         

1 ….Processed fairly, transparently and lawfully 

2 … Processed only for specified and not incompatible purposes 

3 … Adequate, relevant and necessary for the purpose 

4…  Accurate and, where necessary, kept up-to-date 

5 … Not kept longer than necessary for the purpose 

6 ….Keep secure by technical/organisational means 

7 ….and the Council should demonstrate compliance (Accountability) 

Further obligations and rights in the “Applied GDPR” 

• all Data Subjects’ rights are subject to ICO enforcement 

• Transfer personal data outside EEA only if privacy protected 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       

To comply with the above principles, the City Council will 

 Register as a Data Controller with the Information Commissioner’s Office (Data Protection 

Register – No. Z6548192) and register the details of the Council’s Data Protection Officer. 

 Undertake Data Privacy Impact Assessments where required and ensure sign off by the Data 

Protection Officer before new processing takes place.    

 Follow the Code of Practices, recommendations and guidance produced by the Information 

Commissioner, as the UK’s supervisory body, and the European Union Data Protection Board, to 

process personal data in line with the principles above (e.g. Record of Processing Activities, 

Privacy by Design, Data Protection Impact Assessments, Retention Schedules, etc.). 

 Ensure all employees have completed the Council’s Information Management e-learning, or 

attended a taught course, and watched the Cyber Security training videos within the first six 

weeks of starting with the Council or their role that involves the processing of personal data.  

 Employees refresh their information management training every two years, unless they work in 

social care or public health whereby they are required to complete an annual refresh to support 

the NHS Digital Data Protection and Security Toolkit submission.  

Page 345

https://ico.org.uk/ESDWebPages/Entry/Z6548192
https://ico.org.uk/ESDWebPages/Entry/Z6548192


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 76 of 116 
 

 Ensure all authorised users that process personal data have completed the same training as 

Council employees, unless they can prove they have completed the equivalent training at their 

respective organisations in the last 6 months.   

 Write and publish appropriate privacy notices to make it clear what personal data we need to 

process, the reasons why, whether collecting the data is optional or not, and what we intend to 

do with the data (storage, retention, sharing). 

 Maintain an Information Asset Register to support the Record of Processing Activity (ROPA’s).  

 Tell people if we have to share their personal data with other 3rd parties to deliver a service and, 

if necessary, record if consent is needed and has been given, refused or withdrawn  

 Inform people of their rights to request access to the personal data we hold about them, and 

their rights to ask for their data to be corrected or deleted or the processing restricted, and to 

act upon those requests promptly and within the agreed timescales. 

 Only collect the personal data we need, the minimum necessary. 

 Only use personal data for the purposes for which it was collected, unless it can be used without 

contravening the law (e.g. using anonymised or pseudonymised data, historical research and 

statistics, crime detection and prevention, etc.).  

 Take all reasonable steps to secure the personal data being processed and to apply controls to 

support access on a need to know basis.  

 Retain personal data for only as long as we need to and to delete or destroy personal data in a 

timely and secure manner in line with the Council’s Document and Records Management Policy 

and Retention Schedule.  

 Ensure contractual clauses, data processing agreements and information sharing agreements are 

in place when Council information is being shared or processed by external third parties.  

 To log and investigate all reported personal data breaches and to notify the Information 

Commissioner within the statutory timescales and the affected data subjects accordingly in line 

with the Council’s Information Security Incident Standard Operating Procedure. 

 

 

 

 

Page 346



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 77 of 116 
 

3. Policy Implementation 
 
Employees and authorised users are responsible for their actions when handling personal data.  

 

Heads of Service (or their equivalent) are responsible for ensuring the relevant processes and 

procedures are in place within their service areas and are followed when personal data is processed.  

 

Directors to address any information governance issues identified in the Annual Governance Statement 

(Section I). 

  

Executive Directors to ensure their Portfolio complies with this policy.  

 

4. Data Protection Officer 

 

The Data Protection Officer role is a legal requirement to monitor internal compliance, inform and 

advise an organisation’s of its data protection obligations, provide advice on Data Protection Impact 

Assessments and to act as a contact point for data subjects and the supervisory authority (the 

Information Commissioner’s Office).  

 

The Council’s Data Protection Officer is currently Mark Jones, Business Change and Information 

Solutions, and can be contacted by email at DataProtectionOfficer@sheffield.gov.uk  

 

5. Compliance 

 

Failure to comply with data protection law can have significant consequences and could affect the 

health and well-being of the individuals whose data is being processed, the reputation of the Council 

potentially resulting in public mistrust, fines, legal action and lost business opportunities.   

 

All employees and authorised users are expected to adhere to the principles of this policy and data 

protection law in general, and where there is a suspicion or evidence to the contrary, disciplinary 

proceedings may be taken. 

 
 
 
 

Page 347

mailto:DataProtectionOfficer@sheffield.gov.uk


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 78 of 116 
 

  

Page 348



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 79 of 116 
 

 

APPENDIX H 
 

 

 
Sheffield City Council 

 
 

Social Networking Policy 
 

 
 

 

Publication Date: July 2015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Author:  HR Service 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
   

Page 349



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 80 of 116 
 

Document Control 

Organisation Sheffield City Council 

Title Social Networking Policy 

Owner HR Service 

Subject Conduct and Work Relationships 

EIA required Completed 13/07 

Review date 01/04/2016 

 
Revision History 

Version Revision Date Reviser 
Previous 
Version 

Description of Revision 

1.1 15/05 LP 1 
Minor amendments - Updated hyperlinks for 
new Information Governance and Security 
Policies 

 
Document Distribution – Approval and Release  
 

Decision Maker Approval date 

Full Council 15/07 

 
Social Networking Policy 

1.0 Purpose  

 
It is very much in our (the Council’s) interest to allow you (the employee) to participate in this 
rapidly growing environment of relationships, learning and collaboration. 

This policy provides you with a set of principles for using social networking sites responsibly, 
which is linked to the Officers’ Code of Conduct and associated policies. It gives you clear 
guidelines, so you  can protect yourselves by complying with our conduct rules, with the laws on 
harassment, discrimination, data protection, copyright and ensuring your own safety. 

The policy ensures that we are not exposed to financial, legal and governance risks and that the 
safeguarding of children, young people and vulnerable adults is not threatened by the use of 
social networking 

As this is a new policy, which is to be used across the organisation and everybody is impacted by 
it, it is important that this is reviewed regularly, initially by Executive Management Team after 6 
months. 
 

2.0 Introduction  
 
Sheffield City Council recognises that the internet provides unique opportunities to participate in 
interactive discussions and share information using a wide variety of social networking sites.  
 
We believe in open exchange using social networking sites to empower you and customers. 
These individual interactions represent a new model: not mass communication but masses of 
communicators. Through these interactions, you and local people are empowered to learn, share 
your expertise and promote what is best in Sheffield. 

Page 350



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 81 of 116 
 

 

 You can contribute best practice on our services - sharing your expertise, raising 
Sheffield’s profile.  

 Through individual interactions, you can better involve and engage with a wider range of 
people, including young people and people setting up new businesses in the city. This 
allows us to learn from our customers, drawing on their expertise and knowledge to design 
services that meet their needs.  

 By encouraging local people to contact us using social networking sites – e.g. via e-
petitions - we can gain information on key issues to help inform policy in the city. 

 Use social networking as a technology platform for open innovation and learning, which 
makes it easier for you to learn, develop, reflect on practice, be creative and collaborate 
for improved services. 

Whilst we have embraced these technological innovations as part of our working and private lives, 
employers are now grappling with consequences of unacceptable posts, which are rapid 
communicated and shared. We have recently dealt with social networking issues relating to:- 
 

 Bullying and harassment,  

 Freedom of expression of political views 

 private/professional boundaries with children 

 problems with blurring private/professional boundaries – manager/employee 

 work-related offensive photos 

 being off sick and using social networking for secondary employment 

 Employee petition against service closures.  
 
In many of these cases, the employees were unaware that social networking is not private and 
that there are potential consequences to their on-line activity.  
 
Managers, Trade Union Representatives and HR Practitioners have therefore asked for helpful, 
practical advice to protect you and us, when you use social networking sites in a work and private 
capacity.  Representatives from all these groups, plus Members of the Equality Forums have 
contributed to this policy.   
 

3.0 Scope 
 
This policy applies to all non-schools based Sheffield City Council employees, casual workers, 
agency staff, contractors, consultants, self-employed people, apprentices, trainees and those on 
work placements, who work for the Council. Throughout this policy, the term ‘employee’ and ‘you’ 
is used to cover all these types of workers. The Social Media Policy adopted by the relevant 
Governing Body will apply to teaching and support staff in schools. 
 
This policy deals with the use of all forms of social networking including but not limited to Twitter, 
MySpace, Facebook, texts, emails, BlackBerry Messenger (BBM), LinkedIn, Blogs, Wikipedia 

Page 351



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 82 of 116 
 

sites and any other sites which involve document, photo or video sharing such as YouTube or 
new networks, internet sites/channels that may be developed in the future. 
 
This policy applies to the use of social networking for both work and personal purposes, whether 
during working hours or otherwise and whether at work or elsewhere including in your home. It 
also applies regardless of whether the social networking site is accessed using our ICT 
facilities/equipment or that belonging to you. 
 
This policy should be read in conjunction with:   

 Officers' Code of Conduct and associated policies 
o Member-Officer Relations Protocol 
o Information Governance and Security Policy 
o ICT Acceptable Use Policy 
o Data Protection Policy 
o Dignity and Respect at Work Policy 

 Social Networking Guidance 

 Draft Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable Adults Policy 

 Disciplinary Procedure 

 Recruitment and Selection Policy 

 Social Media Position Statement, EMT (June 2011) 
 
 
Responsibilities 
 
The Council 
 
We recognise the benefits of social networking and trust you to act responsibly. We expect you 
to work in the same way on-line and off-line, following the behaviours set out in the Officer Code 
of Conduct, as detailed in this policy and in associated guidance. 
 
We permit personal use of social networking sites at work during break times as long as it is not 
excessive and/or does not involve unprofessional or inappropriate conduct and does not interfere 
with your responsibilities or performance. You need to bear in mind that you must take short 
breaks away from screens to protect your health. 
 
We also know that some employees and their managers need to consider safety of their service 
users and themselves, if they use social networking sites. These sites are public and there is a 
possibility that employees or service users could be traced, resulting in harm to that person. 
Where this is an issue, employees and their manager will need to carry out a risk assessment for 
using social networking for work purposes.  
 
Employees 
 
You are personally responsible for the content you publish on-line and must be mindful that 
everything placed on-line is public and is hard to remove once posted. 
 

Page 352

http://intranet/employment/behaviour-and-relationships-at-work/officers-code-of-conduct
https://myteam.sheffield.gov.uk/HRPoint/PublicLibrary/Forms/Conduct.aspx
https://myteam.sheffield.gov.uk/HRPoint/PublicLibrary/Forms/Conduct.aspx
https://myteam.sheffield.gov.uk/HRPoint/PublicLibrary/Forms/Conduct.aspx
https://myteam.sheffield.gov.uk/HRPoint/PublicLibrary/Forms/Conduct.aspx
https://myteam.sheffield.gov.uk/HRPoint/PublicLibrary/Forms/Conduct.aspx
http://intranet/employment/behaviour-and-relationships-at-work/dignity-and-respect/policy
http://intranet/employment/policies-and-procedures/discipline


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 83 of 116 
 

You should follow our social networking principles, which are divided into 4 themes, with the core 
behaviours applying across the themes. 
In brief, you should:- 
 

 Be professional when using social networking for work and personal use 

 Be respectful at all times, never post offensive or intimidating texts or images about a person  

 Familiarise yourself with this social networking policy and associated guidance 
 
You are responsible for the success of this policy and should ensure that you take the time to 
read and understand it. You should report any misuse of social networking to the appropriate line 
manager. 
 
Managers  
 
All managers have a specific responsibility for operating within the boundaries of this policy. You 
must ensure that your employees understand the standards of behaviour expected of them and 
take action if behaviour falls below the required standard.  
 
Managers should: 

 Familiarise themselves with the Social Networking Policy and guidelines 

 Ensure their staff are aware of the policy 

 Take prompt action to stop any harassment or bullying they become aware of, whether a 
complaint has been raised or not 

 Support the staff involved in any allegations about cyber bullying, harassment, discrimination, 
using existing procedures 

 Ensure all complaints/allegations are dealt with fairly and consistently and in line with other 
employment policies. 

 
HR and Trade Unions should 
 
Provide support and advice to managers and employees on the operation of the policy and 
guidelines, where necessary. 
 
 
Compliance  
 
You must comply with Council policies and the law when using social networking sites. Make sure 
that you:-  
 

 Know and comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct and associated policies including the 
Dignity and Respect Policy, Information Security Policy and E-Communications Guidance. 
 

 Only share public information on-line. Information that is not public, such as service user, 
employee or manager information given in confidence, may only be shared in accordance with 
the law. If you use non-public information inappropriately, you may be personally prosecuted 
under the Data Protection Act. 
 

Page 353



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 84 of 116 
 

 Are professional, when posting comments about the Council and our services. Be aware that 
the Council may take disciplinary action, if there is a reasonable belief that your on-line 
comments have damaged the Council’s reputation. 

 

 Are respectful at all times to our customers and colleagues. Never post offensive or 
intimidating texts or images about a person. 

 
You are expected to use the same professional behaviours on-line, as you would when 
communicating with service users and colleagues off-line.  You must not post any information or 
messages on-line, that you would be unwilling to say in public face to face. Make sure that you 
follow the principles and standards set out in this policy, in the Officer Code of Conduct and 
associated listed policies. 
 
Where your manager identifies that you may have fallen short of the standards in this policy, 
your manager is to deal with the matter informally where appropriate. The formal procedure will 
be used however, to guide you towards achieving acceptable standards as set out in this policy. 
 
You may have disciplinary action taken against you, if you do not keep to this policy, which 
includes the possibility of being dismissed without notice being given.   Serious breaches of this 
policy for example incidents of bullying on social networking sites may constitute gross 
misconduct and dismissal.  
 
Disciplinary action may be taken regardless of whether the breach is committed during working 
hours, and regardless of whether our equipment or facilities are used for the purpose of 
committing the breach. You are required to co-operate with investigations into allegations made 
under this policy. 

 
You must not make false or malicious allegations about another person’s use of social 
networking and need to be aware that disciplinary action may be considered in such 
circumstances. 
 
You may be required to remove social networking posts, which are deemed to constitute a breach 
of this policy.  Failure to comply with such a request may in itself result in disciplinary action. 
 
 
Social Networking Principles 
 
Personal Use  
 
1. Be professional, know and follow the Officer Code of Conduct. You are personally responsible 

for what you post. Be thoughtful about how you present yourself in social networks. 
Understand that social networking is a public forum and your entries are not private and are 
hard to remove once posted. 

 
2. We can ask you to remove on-line content if we have a reasonable belief that it is damaging 

the Council’s reputation. If we can prove that your conduct on-line has caused detriment, you 
may face disciplinary action and if severe enough, you could be dismissed as a result.  

Page 354



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 85 of 116 
 

 
3. You have a right to express political and religious views, as long as they are lawful, are made 

in a private capacity and do not impact on your job. Some employees are in politically restricted 
posts and need to maintain political impartiality. 

 
4. Do raise any work-related concerns in the right way. You can speak to your manager, give 

feedback in the employee survey, attend staff forums, speak to a contact advisor, contact your 
trade union representative, get support from the independent employee assistance 
programme or for serious allegations, use the whistle-blowing procedure. This allows us to 
investigate and address the issue in the first instance. 

 
5. As you are an employee of the Council, you must ensure that your on-line content is consistent 

with your professional image that you present for the Council. 

 
6. Be respectful of other employees, service users or customers as set out in our Dignity and 

Respect at Work Policy.   

 
7. There is no expectation for you to accept ‘friend’ requests from colleagues or managers  
 
8. You are allowed appropriate and reasonable personal use of social networking at work, using 

Council or your own equipment. This is to take place in your own time and outside core hours, 
not adversely affecting performance or provision of service. Personal use of Council 
equipment is at no additional cost to the Council. 

 
Business Use 
 
9. When acting on behalf of the organisation, you must be professional. Always be responsible 

for your on-line comments, be credible, accurate and fair. Make sure that you are respectful 
at all times, especially when replying to disagreements. Avoid unnecessary or unproductive 
arguments. Do not speculate about an issue or start inflammatory debates. Make sure what 
you say is factually correct. 

 
10.  If you have any doubts about content, do not post without escalating to a manager. If you 

make an error, be up front about your mistake and correct it quickly, as this can help to restore 
trust. If your mistake is serious, let your manager know immediately and get advice. Ultimately, 
you are responsible for what you post or publish on a social networking site. 

 
Maintaining Professional Relationships  
 
11. You have a specific duty of care to take reasonable steps to protect service users, 

colleagues and yourself from harm. You must discuss any safety issues of using social 
networking sites for work purposes with your manager and if relevant draw up a risk 
assessment. This may state that you must only use secure forms of communications for 
work purposes. If you receive a serious on-line threat to life or buildings, you must contact 
the police immediately and let your manager know. 

 

Page 355

http://intranet/employment/behaviour-and-relationships-at-work/dignity-and-respect/policy
http://intranet/employment/behaviour-and-relationships-at-work/dignity-and-respect/policy


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 86 of 116 
 

12. If you are in a position of trust with Children or Vulnerable Adults, for example if you 
work in social care, you have a professional relationship with your service users. You must 
draw a line between your professional and private life. 

 
You must not strike up or accept an on-line relationship with your service users, using a 
personal social networking account. This applies even if your service users are no longer 
receiving a service.  
 
Similar to your off-line work, where you have a close relationship with a service user, you 
must let your manager know. 
 
In these circumstances, you must declare any interest you may have with a person, which 
may cause a direct or indirect conflict of interest with your employment. This information is 
provided to protect you and service users against any allegation of favour or disadvantage. 
  

13. If you interact with Elected Members on social networking sites, you must follow the existing 
rules within Officers’ Code of Conduct and Member-Officer Relations Protocol. Officers in 
politically restricted posts must be particularly carefully to be impartial and maintain 
professional relationships. 

 
 
Gathering and Sending Out Information 
 
14. You can provide any Council Public Information to social networking sites. This is 

information, which is already in the public domain. You must keep non-public information 
secure and never release this to social networking sites. Non-Public Information includes 
personal data about service users or employees. If you suspect that any of your social 
networking accounts have been hacked, resulting in an impact on your work, you must let 
your manager know immediately. 

 
15. Any monitoring or surveillance of a customer or employee is strictly controlled and you must 

be authorised to carry out this activity. For example, you must never become a ‘friend’ of 
any service user or employee for the purpose of obtaining information, unless authorised. 

 
16. We reserve the right to monitor your social networking and internet use at work. Valid 

reasons for checking your usage include suspicions that you have: 
 

 Been spending an excessive amount of time viewing sites that are not work-related or 

 Acted in a way that damages the reputation of the Council and/or breaches disclosure of 
non-public information 

 

  

Page 356



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 87 of 116 
 

 

 APPENDIX I 
 

(A) OTHER EMPLOYMENT RELATED ACTIVITIES – FEES 
 
Employees may be asked on occasions to give lectures or undertake work using their 
professional skills and expertise.  If the work forms part of the duties of a post and the employee 
is carrying out an official duty, he/she must forward all fees to the employing directorate.  Any 
expenses incurred will be reimbursed through the normal procedures. 
 
Employees in receipt of ‘fees’ in respect of undertaking work and/or lecturing to an outside 
organisation/person(s) may retain the ‘fees’ providing: 
 

A preparation and delivery of the work is undertaken outside working hours (unless 
covered below); 

 
B equipment and/or materials are not being provided by the City Council; 
 
C the employee is not acting as a representative of the City Council. 

 
Where the work or lecture is undertaken during working hours the equivalent working hours 
must be re-arranged, in agreement with the line manager to accommodate the employee’s 
request or annual leave, flexi leave or time off in lieu must be used.  The employee concerned 
may also be granted unpaid leave, subject to the agreement of the line manager in consultation 
with the HR Adviser. 
 

 

Page 357



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 88 of 116 
 

  

Page 358



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 89 of 116 
 

APPENDIX J 
 
Politically Restricted Posts (PoRPs) (Revised May 2012/Minor Amendment 
February 2013 and April 2015) 
 

Legal Background 
 

The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (LGHA) introduced the principle of Politically 
Restricted Posts (PoRPs) in local authorities. This Act had the effect of restricting the political 
activities of certain local authority employees.  The LGHA was amended in 2009 by the Local 
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 
 

Restricted Posts 
 

Posts may be politically restricted because  
 

 they are specified as PoRPs in accordance with the legislation; or 
 

 it has been determined that they fall within the sensitive duties related criteria of the 
legislation 

 

Specified Posts within Sheffield City Council 
 

These post holders are politically restricted without the right of appeal 
 

Statutory Officers 
 

The Head of the Paid Service (Chief Executive) 
Director of Children’s Services under Children’s Act 2004 (Executive Director People) 
Director of Adult Services under LASSA 1970 (Director of Adult Health and Social Care) 
Chief Finance Officer under Section 151 of LGA 1972 (Executive Director of Resources) 
The Monitoring Officer (Director of Legal and Governance) 
Director of Public Health  under section 73A of the NHS Act 2006 (Director of Public Health) 
 
Non Statutory Chief Officers 
 

Officers reporting directly to the Head of the Paid Service excluding secretarial/clerical support. 
Deputy Chief Officers 
An officer reporting directly or is directly accountable to one or more of the statutory or non- 
statutory Chief Officers.  
Officers Exercising Delegated Powers 
Officers whose posts are specified by the authority in a list maintained in accordance with 
section 100G (2) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
Assistants for Political Groups 
 
  

Page 359



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 90 of 116 
 

Sensitive Duties Posts within Sheffield City Council 
 
The duties of a post under a local authority fall within this subsection if they consist of or involve 
one or both of the following sensitive duties i.e. 

 

 giving advice on a regular basis to the authority itself, to any committee or sub-committee 
of the authority or to any joint committee on which the authority are represented; or 
where the authority are operating executive arrangements, to the executive of the 
authority, to any committee of that executive; or to any member of that executive who is 
also a member of the authority 

 

 speaking on behalf of the authority on a regular basis to journalists or broadcasters 
 
These post holders can appeal against political restriction on the grounds that the criteria have 
been wrongly applied. 
 
Teachers and Head teachers are exempt from political restriction, whatever their role. 
 
A list of all Politically Restricted Posts within Sheffield City Council is held by the relevant Proper 
Officer (Chief Executive). Any modifications to this list must be reported and recorded 
accordingly. 
 
Restrictions on Post Holders 
 
Employees in PoRPs are debarred from standing for or holding elected office as 
 

 Local councillors 

 MPs 

 MEPs 

 Members of the Welsh Assembly 

 Members of the Scottish Parliament 
 
They are also restricted from: 
 

 Canvassing on behalf of a political party or a person who is or seeks to be a candidate 
 

 Speaking to the public at large or publishing any written or artistic work that could give 
the impression that they are advocating support for a political party 

 
 
  

Page 360



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 91 of 116 
 

Appeals against inclusion on the list of politically restricted posts 

 
Post holders who are politically restricted because they hold specified posts have no right of 
appeal. 

 
 Appeals are made to the Head of Paid Service 

 

 Post holders of sensitive posts that are politically restricted may appeal on the grounds 
that the authority has wrongly applied the duties-related criteria 

 

 Appeals may be made by the current post holder or by an individual who has been 
offered employment in a politically restricted post 

 

 There is no timescale during which a post holder must make an appeal 
 

 To appeal, employees should send a letter formally seeking exemption and a job 
description to the Monitoring Officer (Director of Legal and Governance), Town Hall, 
Pinstone Street, Sheffield, S1 2HH  

 

 If the appeal is successful, the Monitoring Officer will notify HR Connect at Capita, so that 
it may be noted on the records for the individual and for the post 

 
 
Please Note: This document is a summary, if you require further details or are unsure about 
any of the content please contact the Director of HR, Town Hall, Pinstone Street, Sheffield 
S1 2HH. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 361



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 92 of 116 
 

  

Page 362



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 93 of 116 
 

APPENDIX K 
 
 
 
 
 

Sheffield City Council 
 
 

Dignity and Respect 
at Work Policy 

 
 

Publication Date:  August 2011 
 
 
 

Author:   HR Service 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

   

Page 363



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 94 of 116 
 

 

1 OUR COMMITMENT 
 

1.1 Sheffield City Council is committed to promoting a positive working environment 
where staff conduct themselves in a way which contributes positively to their 
team’s work targets and which respects all colleagues and customers.  

 
1.2 The Council is committed to promoting dignity and respect, to which employees 

are entitled. It seeks to provide an environment of mutual trust and respect 
amongst the entire workforce and to resolve any issues or difficulties at work in a 
mutually beneficial way. 

 
1.3 It is opposed to and will not tolerate any form of harassment, discrimination, 

victimisation, bullying or intimidation or any unacceptable conduct towards an 
individual or group, in the workplace, whether a single incident or persistent acts. 

 
2 HARASSMENT, DISCRIMINATION, VICTIMISATION AND BULLYING 
 

2.1 The City Council has taken into account the information contained within relevant 
EU Directives, Employment regulations, Equality legislation and the Equality Act 
2010 in determining the definitions of Harassment, Discrimination, Victimisation 
and Bullying. 

 
2.2 The Equality Act covers the same groups that were protected by  

previous equality legislation and extends some protections to characteristics that 
were not previously covered, and also strengthens particular aspects of equality 
law.  These are now called ‘protected characteristics’ and cover  Age, Disability, 
Gender Reassignment, Marriage and Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, 
Race, Religion or Belief, Sex and Sexual Orientation 
 
NB: People may also experience Harassment, Discrimination, Victimisation and 
Bullying which may not be related to a Protected Characteristic 

 
2.3 Definitions 

 

 Harassment is ‘unwanted conduct related to a relevant protected 
characteristic, which has the purpose or effect of violating an individual’s 
dignity or creating an intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive 
environment for that individual’. 

 

 Discrimination is 'where one person is treated less favourably than another 
person was or would have been treated on the grounds of their protected 
characteristic’ 

 

 Victimisation is ‘when an employee is treated badly because they have made 
or supported a complaint or raised a grievance under the Equality Act and/or 
Council policies' or because they are suspected of doing so.  

Page 364



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 95 of 116 
 

 Bullying is 'persistent unwelcome offensive and intimidating behaviour or 
misuse of power which makes the recipient feel upset, threatened, humiliated 
or vulnerable and undermines their self-confidence'. 

 
2.4 Types of Discrimination and Harassment 

 
Direct discrimination 
This is when someone is treated less favourably than another person because of 
a protected characteristic they have or are thought to have, or because they 
associate with someone who has a protected characteristic.   

 
Associative Discrimination 
This is direct discrimination against someone because they associate with another 
person who possesses a protected characteristic.  

 
Perceptive Discrimination 
This is direct discrimination against an individual because others think they 
possess a particular protected characteristic. It applies even if the person does not 
actually possess that characteristic.  

 
Indirect Discrimination 
Indirect discrimination can occur when you have a condition, rule, policy or even a 
practice in your organisation that applies to everyone but particularly 
disadvantages people who share a protected characteristic. Indirect discrimination 
can be justified if you can show that you acted reasonably in managing your 
business, i.e. that it is ‘a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate aim’. A 
legitimate aim might be any lawful decision you make in running your business or 
organisation, but if there is a discriminatory effect, the sole aim of reducing costs is 
likely to be unlawful. Being proportionate really means being fair and reasonable, 
including showing that you’ve looked at ‘less discriminatory’ alternatives to any 
decision you make.  

 
2.5 Harassment, discrimination, victimisation and bullying can come in many forms.  It 

may happen once or more than once, either way it is unacceptable.  Examples 
could include: 

 
Offensive material, including pornography, racist material, or material which 
ridicules or abuses religion or belief, men or women, black people, disabled 
people, transgender people, lesbians or gay men, older or younger people. 

 
Verbal abuse, including racist or sexist language, and language that undermines 
or ridicules e.g. disabled people, lesbians or gay men, older or younger people. 

 
Bullying, exercising power to intimidate, ridicule or demean an individual or 
group of people usually through a number of small incidents over a period of time. 

 

Page 365



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 96 of 116 
 

Leering, comments on dress or appearance, embarrassing remarks or jokes, 
demands for sexual favours. 

 
  Physical assault, including touching or unwanted physical advances. 
 

Persistent comments,  which undermine or undervalue a person's abilities, 
particularly on the basis of his/her sex, race, disability, sexuality and/or age. This 
could also relate to comments on a person’s physical appearance. 
 
Cyber-bullying, is when the internet, phones, or other devices are used to send 
or post text or images intended to hurt or embarrass another person. It may 
include threats or sexual remarks or ganging up to make someone a victim of 
ridicule in social networking forums. 

 
3  HATE CRIME AND HATE INCIDENTS 
 
3.1 A Hate Incident is: “Any incident, which may or may not constitute a criminal 

offence, which is perceived by the victim or any other person, as being motivated 
by prejudice or hate.”  

  
3.2 Hate Crime is defined specifically as: “Any Hate Incident, which constitutes a 

criminal offence, perceived by the victim or any other person, as being motivated 
by prejudice or hate.” 

  

3.3 As an employee complaints of Hate Crime or Hate Incidents will be dealt with 
through one of the following procedures:   
Dignity and Respect Procedure –  this should be used if they feel they  have 
experienced harassment, discrimination, victimisation or bullying at work by 
another Council employee.  
Grievance Procedure – this should be used if an employee wants to raise 
significant and specific concerns about their employment or treatment at work. 
Accident, Violent Incident or Near Miss Report Form this should be used if a Hate 
Crime or Hate Incident happens to an employee, one of their colleagues or a 
member of the public.  
Whistleblowing Procedure  - this should be used for concerns where the interests 
of others or of the organisation itself are at risk. 

 
4 ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 MANAGERS 
 

4.1 Every Sheffield City Council manager and supervisor has a duty to implement and 
enforce this Policy in a fair and equitable way and to ensure that all employees for 
whom they are responsible understand and follow it. 

 
4.2 Managers are responsible for ensuring that all employees are aware that breach 

of this Policy could lead to consideration of formal disciplinary action or dismissal 

Page 366

http://sheffield.net/employment/behaviour-and-relationships-at-work/dignity-and-respect
http://sheffield.net/employment/policies-and-procedures/individual-grievance
http://sheffield.net/managers/managing-people-in-the-council/accident-reporting


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 97 of 116 
 

under the City Council's Disciplinary procedure depending upon the 
circumstances. 

 
4.3 Managers need to recognise that the lodging and/or investigation of a complaint is 

extremely difficult and distressing for both the complainant and the subject of the 
complaint.  In both cases, appropriate support needs to be provided before, during 
and after an investigation. 

 
4.4 Managers need to ensure that complaints of harassment, discrimination, 

victimisation and bullying are taken seriously and that investigations are, so far as 
is possible, managed speedily, confidentially and communicated effectively.  

 
4.5 Managers need to ensure that employees, who have raised concerns or have 

provided evidence during an investigation, are not victimised as a result of their 
actions. 

 
EMPLOYEES 
 
4.6 Every Sheffield City Council employee has a responsibility to treat all colleagues 

and service users with dignity and respect. 
 
4.7 Employees, including managers, need to be aware of their own conduct and 

behaviour and how it can impact on others within the workplace. 
 
4.8 Employees are encouraged to bring to the attention of Managers any examples of 

unfair treatment they have witnessed or strongly suspect is taking place. This 
could also include the conduct of managers. 

 
4.9 Employees are required to co-operate with investigations into allegations made 

under this policy. 
 
4.10 Employees must not make false or malicious allegations and need to be aware 

that disciplinary action may be considered in such circumstances. 
 
HUMAN RESOURCES 
 
4.11 Human Resources staff will be available as a resource to Managers and 

Employees to provide support and guidance on the operation of this policy. 
 
4.12 Human Resources Officers will be involved in advising Managers on the 

investigation of complaints however they will not take over the management of the 
process.  It is the Managers responsibility to manage. 

 
4.13 Employees who are experiencing problems can approach Human Resources in 

confidence for advice and support. 
 

  

Page 367



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 98 of 116 
 

 
CONTACT ADVISERS 
 
4.14 Contact Advisers are available as a point of contact for those experiencing  or 

witnessing harassment, discrimination, victimisation or bullying at work. 
 
4.15 Contact Advisers can provide confidential support and will assist employees in  

understanding the options for dealing with their particular situations. 
 

4.16 Contact Advisers are also available as a point of contact for the subject of a 
complaint, but not both parties to the same complaint. They will support people 
from various Portfolios. 

 
TRADE UNIONS AND OTHER SOURCES OF SUPPORT 
 
4.17 Employees who are members of a recognised trade union have the right to be 

represented by their Trade Union representative. 
 
4.18 Trade Union representatives can offer advice and support to employees who may 

be experiencing problems or have had allegations made against them. 
 
4.19 Employees can also seek support from Staff workers Forums and colleagues. 

 
5 WHAT WE WILL DO 
 

5.1 The City Council will take any allegations made by employees seriously and, so 
far as possible, complaints will be managed speedily, confidentially and 
communicated effectively. 

 
5.2 Every effort will be made to resolve complaints informally. Where this is not 

appropriate or possible, an appropriate manager will ensure a formal investigation 
will take place. 

 
5.3 The City Council will communicate with employees to raise awareness about 

Dignity and Respect. The policy will also be promoted including the implications of 
certain behaviours.   

 
5.4 We will support employees who experience difficulties through the provision of 

Contact Advisers and Human Resources professionals and ensure that Managers 
are updated regularly on their responsibilities under this policy and procedure. 

 
5.5 We will ensure a system is in place to monitor and review the use of the Policy 

and Procedure. There will be statistical monitoring to identify potential problems 
and areas for improvement. 

 

  

Page 368



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 99 of 116 
 

 
 
 
 

Sheffield City Council 
 
 

Dignity and Respect 
at Work Procedure 

 
 

Publication Date:  November 2018 
 
 
 

Author:   HR Service 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

   

Page 369



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 100 of 116 
 

 
DIGNITY AND RESPECT AT WORK 

PROCEDURE 
 

Our Policy Statement 
 
Sheffield City Council (SCC) is committed to providing a safe environment for all employees, 
free from harassment, discrimination, victimisation or bullying. Sheffield City Council will treat all 
incidents seriously, and investigate all allegations promptly.  An employee who has harassed, 
discriminated, victimised or bullied another employee may face disciplinary action, up to and 
including dismissal from employment. 
 
 

1 HOW TO RAISE AN ISSUE OR MAKE A COMPLAINT  
 
1.1 It is the intention of this procedure for issues and complaints to be resolved 

informally, quickly and at an early stage in order to prevent problems becoming 
more serious over time. Some allegations however may be of such a serious 
nature that an informal investigation may not be appropriate and it will have to be 
dealt with formally. 

 
1.2 Informal issues or complaints can be made verbally or in writing to the appropriate 

Manager or an HR Adviser. More than one person or third parties can also raise 
an issue or make a complaint. Where an HR Adviser receives a complaint, an 
appropriate Manager will be identified to manage the complaint within three 
working days. 

 
1.3 A formal complaint may be made where informal attempts at resolution have been 

unsuccessful, or where the seriousness of the incident(s) is such that the informal 
route is inappropriate. Formal complaints should be in writing to the Head of 
Service / Director copied to an HR Adviser.  In the event that the complaint is 
against the Head of Service / Director then the complaint should be addressed to 
the appropriate Executive Director or Chief Executive, copied to the Director of 
Human Resources and Customer Services. 

 
 1.4 Both the complainant and the subject of the complaint have the right to be   

 accompanied at all stages of the procedure by their trade union    
 representative or other Council employee or chosen representative.  

 
Information and Support on the Dignity and Respect Policy and Procedure can be 
obtained from Contact Advisers and Trade Union representatives.  
 
 See Appendix 1 How to get Information and Support 
 

 
  

Page 370



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 101 of 116 
 

2 INITIAL VERIFICATION 
 
2.1 The Manager, advised by an HR Adviser, will complete an initial verification of the 

complaint and determine and make a decision as to whether or not the allegations 
have some substance.  This should take place within 5 working days of the 
initial complaint. 

 
2.2 The Manager will complete the Accident and Incident Report Form and, if 

appropriate the Hate Incident form (where the incident is allegedly motivated by 
prejudice or hate).  

 
2.3 If there is substance to the allegations then a discussion will take place with the 

Manager advised by an HR Adviser and the Complainant about options for 
resolution. An invitation to this discussion will be put in writing. The complainant 
will be able to have a Trade Union representative or colleague with them if they 
wish. This should take place within 5 working days of determining the 
substance of the complaint.  An Informal Investigation will take place unless the 
seriousness of the incident(s) is such that the informal route is inappropriate. 
Formal Resolution will only be used where the Informal route is inappropriate or 
unsuccessful.   

 
2.4 Where the Manager has decided there is not a case to answer or no further 

investigation is required a written explanation will be given to the complainant 
within 5 working days of determining the lack of substance of the complaint. 
The complainant may, within 10 working days of being told of this decision, 
raise any objections through the Council’s Grievance Procedure.  A Trade 
Union representative will be able to help with advice and support. 

 
2.5 In the event of a counter complaint being made by the subject of the complaint – 

the counter complaint will be dealt with after completion of the investigation of the 
original complaint. 

 
2.6 If a complaint is found to have been made for vexatious or malicious reasons then 

the complainant may be dealt with under the council’s disciplinary procedure.  
  

3 INFORMAL RESOLUTION 
 
3.1 It may be sufficient for the Manager to speak to the subject of the complaint to 

explain the situation, the impact of the behaviour and future action should this 
continue and report back to the complainant. This should take place within 5 
Working Days of determining the substance of the complaint. The 
complainant and the subject of the complaint will be able to have a Trade Union 
representative or colleague with them if they wish.  A record of this discussion 
should be maintained on file and should only be referred to if a formal or further 
information or complaints are initiated. The length of time any records can be kept 
will be checked with legal services. 

 

Page 371



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 102 of 116 
 

3.2 Where appropriate the Manager, advised by an HR Adviser may bring the two 
parties together to discuss the complaint and agree a way forward to resolve the 
situation and prevent it from escalating. Options, solutions and actions will be 
discussed. This will depend on the circumstances of the case and the wishes of 
the complainant. The complainant and the subject of the complaint will be able to 
have a Trade Union representative or colleague with them if they wish. 
Appropriate records of the discussion and agreement reached should be 
maintained on file. They will be reviewed by the manager to ensure that agreed 
actions are being adhered to. If agreed actions are not being adhered to the 
manager will need to manage this with advice from an HR adviser. Records 
should be maintained securely and only referred to if a formal or further informal 
complaints are initiated. The length of time any records can be kept will be 
checked with legal services. 

 
3.3 The Manager will hold a Review meeting with the Complainant and the Subject of 

the Complaint within 4 weeks of the meeting to discuss the way forward. It 
may also be necessary to hold another Review meeting depending on the success 
of the last one and this should take place within 2 weeks of the last meeting. 
Records will be kept. 

 
3.4 If the informal resolution is unsuccessful then it may be necessary to proceed to a 

formal investigation.   
 
Further information on investigations can be found in the Investigations Guidance in the 
HRPoint Library in Conduct and Work relationships under the Topic: Investigations. 
 
4 FORMAL RESOLUTION 

 
4.1 A formal complaint may be made where informal attempts at resolution have been 

unsuccessful, or where the seriousness of the incident(s) is such that the informal 
route is inappropriate. 

 
4.2  If there has been an informal investigation - on receipt of a formal complaint the 

Head of Service / Director or Executive Director advised by an HR Adviser will 
consult the records made in the informal investigation to ensure that appropriate 
approaches have been used to resolve the issues. The Head of Service / Director 
or Executive Director may then want to make further suggestions for the manager 
to address as part of an informal resolution before deciding whether or not to go 
ahead with a formal procedure. 

 
4.3 If there has not been an informal investigation - on receipt of a formal complaint 

the Head of Service / Director or Executive Director will appoint an Investigating 
Manager (this may be a manager from a different service) and an Investigation 
Team, including a Manager from another Service Area or Portfolio, to conduct an 
investigation into the allegations made.  The complainant and the subject of the 
complaint will be informed of the appointment of an Investigation Team in 

Page 372

https://myteam.sheffield.gov.uk/HRPoint/PublicLibrary/Forms/Conduct.aspx?InitialTabId=Ribbon%2EDocument&VisibilityContext=WSSTabPersistence


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 103 of 116 
 

writing within 5 working days and have the opportunity to raise objections, 
in writing, to the choice of Investigating Team within 5 working days. 

 
4.4 In the event that an objection is received the Head of Service / Director or 

Executive Director will have discretion to consider appointing alternative team 
members or confirm their original choice. 

 
4.5 The Investigation Team will have access to an HR Adviser who will provide 

professional advice on the conduct of the investigation and procedural issues. 
 
4.6 Within 10 working days the Investigating Manager will inform both parties of 

the specific complaint being investigated, the parameters of the 
investigation and the timetable for carrying this out. 

 
4.7 The Investigation Team will only interview those witnesses relevant to the 

complaint under investigation.  Witnesses may request a trade union 
representative or other chosen Council employee to attend the interview with them 
- excluding the complainant or subject of the complaint. 

 
4.8 Witnesses must be informed that the statements taken during the investigation 

may be included in the management statement of case and, therefore, shared with 
both parties and their representatives.  Witnesses must also be informed that in 
the event that the case is later presented to Employment Tribunal or other Court of 
Law their statements may be shared and they may be called as witnesses to 
attend a public hearing in person.  However, where possible, efforts should be 
made to support and protect witnesses during the process. 

 
4.9 On completion of the investigation, the Investigating Manager will produce a short 

written report that will outline the nature of the complaint, the process of 
investigation, a summary of the findings of the team and recommendations for 
action.  This report will be provided to both the complainant and subject of 
the complaint within 10 working days of the end of the investigation. 

 
4.10 The investigation report will be discussed with the Head of Service / Director 

or Executive Director, who will inform both parties of their final decision on 
the action to be taken, within 5 working days. 

 
4.11 Where a decision to convene a disciplinary hearing has been made, a 

hearing will be established and a full management statement of case will be 
produced and shared with the subject of the complaint at least 10 working 
days before the hearing. 

 
4.12 The complainant needs to know that their complaint has been taken seriously and 

that issues relating to the complaint will be dealt with.  They do not have a right to 
know the outcome of any disciplinary hearing.  If the complainant feels the 
complaint has not been dealt with appropriately at this stage they may discuss 
their concerns with the appropriate Head of Service / Director. 

Page 373



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 104 of 116 
 

 
5 THE RIGHT OF APPEAL ABOUT THE DIGNITY & RESPECT INVESTIGATION 

 
5.1 The Subject of the Complaint 
 
 If disciplinary action is to be taken, the disciplinary and appeal process set out in 

the disciplinary procedure will apply.  The subject of the complaint may raise any 
concerns about the investigation process as part of their statement of case. 
 

5.2 The Complainant 
 
 The person making the complaint has the right of appeal against the outcome of 

the investigation on the following grounds. 
 

 The investigation was conducted in an unfair manner or was in some way 
inadequate; 
 

 That the conclusion was unfair based on the evidence. 
 
5.3 Appeals should be submitted in writing within 10 working days of receipt of 

the Investigation Report.  Appeals should be sent to the Director of Human 
Resources and Customer Services, setting out the grounds of the appeal and the 
reasons for the appeal. 

 
A Head of Service / Director or Executive Director will hear the appeal, with 
appropriate HR advice. 

 
The appeal panel will consider the facts, and make one of three decisions: 

 to uphold the original conclusion 
to substitute a different conclusion 

 to instigate further investigation, either in whole or part as necessary 
 

The decision of the appeal panel will be notified to both parties and will be final. 
 

 
6. SUSPENSION OR TRANSFER OF THE SUBJECT OF THE COMPLAINT 

 
6.1 Harassment, discrimination, victimisation or bullying have the potential to 

constitute gross misconduct.  Therefore Managers must always seek advice from 
Human Resources and consider the seriousness of the nature of the complaint 
before making a decision whether or not to suspend the subject of the complaint.   

 
6.2 Where the Manager seeks to suspend the subject of the complaint they will do so 

in accordance with the Council's disciplinary procedure and with the authority of an 
Authorised Manager. 

 
 

Page 374



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 105 of 116 
 

6.3 Where there is the potential for gross misconduct to have occurred, temporary 
transfer of the subject of the complaint must not be used as an alternative to 
suspension. 

 
6.4 The Manager should not normally transfer the subject of the complaint and/or the 

complainant to a different worksite unless either party specifically requests transfer 
for themselves.  Any transfer must be able to be easily facilitated by the service 
and supported by the advice of Human Resources. 

 
6.5 In the event that a transfer is agreed, the transferring employee must be informed 

in writing that the transfer arrangement will normally continue for the duration of 
the investigation and any formal proceedings that may follow it.  It is important that 
this arrangement is reviewed regularly and the transferring employee is updated 
on work issues within their substantive post. 

 
6.6 It is acknowledged that the re-integration of a complainant or the subject of 

 the complaint is a difficult process for Managers and Employees alike.  
 However every effort should be made to support all parties and Managers  should 
consider how this could be facilitated.  This may include plans for  relocation, 
induction, phased return, counselling support, and training. 

 
6.7 In exceptional circumstances, following an investigation, redeployment may be 

considered where the complainant requests this and feels unable to continue in 
their role as a result of their complaint.  Redeployment is an option not a right, and 
will not be considered where an employee has made false allegations.  

 
 The request for redeployment will be dealt with under the Redeployment Policy 

and Procedure under “other circumstances” within the Eligibility Criteria. The 
possible outcomes, timescales and arrangements must be discussed and 
understood by all parties before proceeding. If the request for redeployment is 
accepted and the employee enters the Talent Pool, they should not face dismissal 
for a reason associated with this situation. 

 
7. TIMESCALES 
 
7.1 Timescales have been set so that complaints, problems and issues are dealt with 

and resolved as quickly as possible.  This is important in terms of reducing the 
impact of stress and possible long term sickness that may be caused to individuals 
involved in the resolution process.  

 
7.2 It is accepted that timescales may not always be easy to adhere to and this will 

need to be discussed throughout the process between managers, HR advisers 
and trade union representatives. 

 
  

Page 375



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 106 of 116 
 

8. MONITORING THE USE OF THE PROCEDURE 
 
8.1 The Human Resource Advisers are responsible for collecting information about 

the use of the procedure. The monitoring processes do not identify individuals. 
 
8.2 Contact Advisers are also responsible for producing monitoring reports to submit 

information on a quarterly basis to Human Resources. 
 
8.3 Human Resources will produce information gathered from these reports on a half 

yearly basis. 
 
 

Appendix 1 
 
9 HOW TO GET INFORMATION AND SUPPORT 
 

 Contact Advisers 
 
9.1 Employees who feel they are experiencing harassment, discrimination, and 

victimisation or bullying at work can access the City Council Contact Advisers for 
information and support. Details of the Contact Advisers will be promoted and 
people can contact them also by contacting Human Resources or through the staff 
Forums. 

 
9.2 The Contact Advisers are employees of the City Council from all levels and all 

Portfolios.  They undertake this role on a voluntary basis and can offer support to 
colleagues experiencing difficulties. The Contact Adviser will arrange to meet the 
complainant at an agreed venue unless the situation can be handled on the 
telephone at the time of the initial contact. 

 
9.3 The role of the Contact Adviser is to: 

 
 Be available as a point of contact for those experiencing harassment, 

discrimination, victimisation or bullying at work; 
 To listen, reassure and support; 
 To respond in a sensitive, non-judgmental manner 
 To advise the complainant of the options available under the City Council 

policy and procedure and the possible implications; 
 To encourage the complainant to seek the advice of other relevant people. 

 
9.4 Contact Advisers may also be a point of contact for witnesses, third party 

complainants, and the subject of the complaint but not both parties to the same 
complaint. 

 
9.5 The Contact Adviser will complete appropriate forms to record information for 

statistical recording and to log details of the complaint.  The forms will not identify 
the complainant at this stage and a reference code will be allocated to the 

Page 376



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 107 of 116 
 

individual concerned.  Forms will be sent to Human Resources for monitoring and 
recording.  They will be destroyed 12 months after the last contact. 

 
9.6 Contact Advisers will not be involved in representation of individuals in any 

informal or formal investigations. 
 

 
Trade Unions and Other Sources of Support 
 
9.7 Alternatively employees can contact either their Trade Union, Human Resources 

or another colleague for advice and support. 
 
 

Appendix 2 
 
10. Definitions of Harassment, Discrimination, Victimisation and Bullying 

 
10. 1   Harassment/Sexual harassment 
 
 Harassment is unwelcome conduct related to a protected characteristic; age, 

disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. It is conduct which 
makes an employee feel offended, humiliated or intimidated or creates such an 
environment. It can include behaviour which an employee finds offensive even if it 
isn’t directed at them. 

 
 Sexual harassment can involve one or more incidents and may be physical, verbal 

or non-verbal. Examples of conduct or behaviour which constitute sexual 
harassment include;  

 
Physical conduct 
 

 Unwelcome physical contact including patting, pinching, stroking, kissing, hugging, 
fondling, or inappropriate touching 

 Physical violence, including sexual assault 

 The use of job-related threats or rewards to solicit sexual favours 
 
Verbal conduct 
 

 Comments on an employee’s appearance, sex (gender) age, private life, etc. 

 Sexual comments, stories and jokes 

 Sexual advances 

 Repeated and unwanted social invitations for dates or physical intimacy 

 Insults based on the gender of the employee 

 Condescending or paternalistic remarks 

 Sexual verbal favours 
 

Page 377



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 108 of 116 
 

Non-verbal conduct 
 

 Display of sexually explicit or suggestive material 

 Sexually-suggestive gestures 

 Whistling 

 Leering 

 Sending sexually explicit messages (by phone or by email) 

 
An employee can be a victim of sexual harassment, regardless of their gender and of the 
gender of the harasser. Sheffield City Council recognises that sexual harassment may 
also occur between people of the same gender. What matters is that the sexual conduct 
is unwelcome by the person against whom it is directed. 
 
Anyone (including employees of Sheffield City Council, clients, customers, agency 
workers, contractors or visitors) who harasses another person will be investigated.  
 
Harassment is unacceptable, whether it takes place on Sheffield City Council premises or 
elsewhere (including social events, business trips, training sessions or conferences) 
during or outside of work time.  
 
 
Sexual Assault 
 
Sexual assault is a criminal offence. It is defined as an act of physical, psychological and 
emotional violation in the form of a sexual act, inflicted on someone without their consent. 
It can involve forcing or manipulating someone to witness or participate in any sexual 
acts. Sheffield City Council will notify the police if it is suspected or alleged that a criminal 
offence may have taken place. 
 
 
10.2  Discrimination 
 
Discrimination is less favourable treatment of an individual related to age, disability, 
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 
 
Discrimination can be direct; this is where the less favourable treatment is because of 
one of the protected characteristics above, or where there is an association or perception 
of one of these.  For example if an employee is refused opportunities at work because of 
their age this would be direct discrimination. 
 
Indirect discrimination is where a requirement is made which has the effect of being less 
favourable towards someone with a protected characteristic. It is usually less obvious 
and can be unintended. For example, if a job advertisement stipulated a minimum 
number of years’ experience (which could not be justified) this would be indirect 
discrimination. 
 
 

Page 378



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 109 of 116 
 

10.3  Bullying 
 
Bullying is offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour. It can involve an 
abuse of power and may or may not be related to age, disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and 
sexual orientation. For example, if a manager picked on an employee because they 
disliked him or her this would be bullying.  
 
10.4 Victimisation 
 
Victimisation is treating an employee badly or subjecting them to a detriment because 
they have made a claim for discrimination or harassment, supported a colleague’s 
complaint, or are perceived to have done so.  
 
The protection applies if the employee did this in good faith even if the claim later proves 
to be wrong or proceedings are unsuccessful. 
 
Examples where an employee is subject to bullying, ostracised in the workplace, rejected 
for promotion, denied training, disciplined or dismissed as a result of their complaint. This 
is all classed as victimisation.  
 
It is legal protection for those who have made a complaint under the Equality Act. There 
is no time limit within which the victimisation must happen for an employee to be 
protected; it will be valid if an employee is treated badly because of their previous 
complaint, even if this is  years later.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 379



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 110 of 116 
 

  

Page 380



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 111 of 116 
 

 

APPENDIX L  
Sheffield City Council  

Alcohol, Drug and Substance Misuse Policy 
 

 
1 Introduction 
 
1.1 Sheffield City Council’s 22TCorporate Plan22T sets out our aims and how we will go about 

achieving them.  Ensuring Sheffield people will have good health is a priority for the 
Council as we tackle the underlying root causes of poor health and develop excellent 
public health services in the city.  

 
1.2 Sheffield City Council is committed to the well-being of its employees and to offering 

appropriate health support wherever possible. The Council’s focus is always with the 
working lives of its employees and not their private lives or outside activities, as long as 
these do not: 

 

 impact on the Councils duty of care to service users 

 affect their ability to undertake the duties for which they are employed, and / or  

 bring the Council into disrepute (see 22TCode of Conduct22T) 
 
1.3     The Alcohol, Drug and Substance Misuse Policy will assist the Council in complying 

with its legislative requirements, namely the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974, 
Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999, Misuse of Drugs Act 1971, 
Road Traffic Act 1988 and Transport and Work Act 1992 and provide within a workplace 
setting a supportive and rehabilitative approach for staff with alcohol, drugs and other 
substance related issues. 

 
2 Aims 
 
2.1 The aim of this policy is to provide guidance on the Council’s expectations of employees 

while at work and a framework for dealing with employees whose misuse of alcohol or 
drugs and substances impacts on their work and safety..  

 
3 Scope 

 
3.1 The policy is intended to apply to all employees of the Council.  
 
4 Definitions 
 
4.1 For the purpose of this policy:- 
 
4.1.1  Alcohol Misuse is defined as: 
 

Page 381

https://www.sheffield.gov.uk/your-city-council/policy--performance/what-we-want-to-achieve/corporate-plan.html
http://intranet/employment/behaviour-and-relationships-at-work/officers-code-of-conduct


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 112 of 116 
 

‘the drinking of alcohol in such a way as to impair the employee’s ability to perform his 
/her duties, interfere with attendance at work, or endanger the safety of themselves and 
others”, 

 
4.1.2 Drug misuse is defined as: 
 

‘the taking of drugs by an employee in such a way that his/her ability to perform their 
duties is impaired, interferes with their attendance at work, or  endangers the safety of 
themselves and others. This includes over the counter drugs or prescription drugs where 
such prescription drugs have not been prescribed for the person possessing or using the 
drugs and/or where such prescription drugs are not taken in accordance with a 
physician’s direction.  
 

4.1.3 Substance misuse is defined by the 22TNational Institute of Clinical Excellence 22T (NICE) as:  
 
Intoxication by – or regular excessive consumption of and/or dependence on– 
psychoactive substances, leading to social, psychological, physical or                                 
legal problems. This includes the problematic use of both legal and illegal drugs. 
(including alcohol when used in combination with other substances)  

 
5 General principles 
 
5.1 Employees are expected to behave responsibly at all times and to safeguard their own 

health and safety, as well as that of others around them.  
 
5.2 Any employee who is concerned that they may have a dependence on alcohol, drugs or 

any other substances is encouraged to seek help and advice from their General 
Practitioner.  

 
5.3      If the Council believes that an employee is dependent on alcohol, drugs or any other 

substances it may require the employee to be assessed by an 22TOccupational Health 22T 
practitioner. The Council will regard anyone seeking help with alcohol or drug / substance 
dependency as having a health problem and will support the individual to access 
appropriate help and treatment.  

 
5.4 Managers need to contact the Occupational Health Service prior to making a referral for 

anyone they suspect may have a substance misuse condition / issue. This is because if 
the employee denies having a substance misuse condition / issue the Occupational 
Health Practitioner is limited to how they can assess the person and the advice they can 
give. The Occupational Health practitioner will then provide the Council with a report on 
the employee’s circumstances and advice regarding their fitness for work.  

 
5.5 Any employee who believes that a colleague has an alcohol, drug / substance 

dependency problem should encourage them to seek professional help. Where it is 
difficult for an employee to approach the colleague or a colleague who is a more senior 
member of staff they may wish to speak to Human Resources for further guidance.  

 

Page 382

http://www.nice.org.uk/
http://intranet/managers/occ-health/referral-to-occupational-health


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 113 of 116 
 

5.6 Employees must report for work, and remain throughout the working day, in a fit and safe 
condition to undertake their duties, which must include being alcohol, drug and 
substance free. Employees need to be mindful that alcohol / drugs/ substances may 
remain in their system for a considerable time. As such consumption out of work could 
still affect behaviour and performance at work. 

 
5.7 Employees who use prescription or over-the-counter medication which causes an 

impairment and impacts on their fitness to work must declare this to their manager as 
soon as possible to determine if medical advice should be sought or adjustments made. 
 

5.8 If it is suggested that the work / working environment might be contributing to a 
dependency problem then the Council will consider such claims and take all reasonable 
action to reduce such problems where they may exist. 

 
5.9 The Council will treat reasonable absences for advice and treatment for dependence on 

alcohol, drugs or substances as 22TDiscretionary Leave22T (refer to policy), provided the 
employee concerned regularly informs the Council of progress and genuinely attempts to 
overcome the dependency problem. Discretionary leave can be up to but not exceeding 
the length of time under the 22TDisability Leave22T Policy (refer to policy).  Clear records of 
appointments attended and treatment advised should be kept by the manager. The need 
for confidentiality will be respected. Colleagues and other managers can only be 
informed on a need to know basis. This could be with or without the employee’s approval 
/ consent. The employee will be informed of the decision to inform others and why the 
decision was taken. 

 
5.10 If, because of an alcohol or drug / substance dependency, a person’s performance, 

attendance and/or work/behaviour is suffering this could mean the Managing Absence 
Procedure 22T(MAP)22T or Managing Performance Procedure 22T(MPP)22T being implemented 
and/or disciplinary action being taken.  

 
5.11 Should help be refused or treatment unreasonably discontinued by the employee or, if 

after three months there is no improvement in behaviour and/or work performance 
remains poor, disciplinary / MAP / MPP process will continue. This could result in the 
termination of an individual’s contract of employment. 

 
5.12 An employee can only choose to be accompanied by a trade union representative or a 

work colleague when they are in formal procedures concerning alcohol or drug / 
substance dependency, in relation to work performance/behaviour. If, because of alcohol 
or drug / substance dependency an employee behaves or carries out their work in such a 
way as to endanger themselves or others, prompt corrective action will be taken as 
necessary to prevent damage being done. In this situation the employee’s alcohol or 
drug / substance dependency will be taken into account, but it will not necessarily free 
the person concerned from the consequences of their conduct. 

  
5.13 In some cases an employee who develops dependency on alcohol or drugs / substances 

may become unsuited to a particular post. Under MAP/MPP consideration will need to be 
given to the position of such employees and, wherever possible, a suitable alternative 

Page 383

http://intranet/employment/absence-leave/discretionary-leave
http://intranet/employment/absence-leave/disability-leave
http://intranet/managers/managing-people-in-the-council/people-policies-and-procedures/absence-performance
http://intranet/managers/managing-people-in-the-council/people-policies-and-procedures/absence-performance


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 114 of 116 
 

post sought. If the employee seeks treatment and it is effective the employee’s suitability 
for the original job can be reassessed.  

 
5.14    An employee must be aware of their responsibilities under the Road Traffic Act 1988, or 

subsequent legislation in respect of alcohol and/or drugs and substance misuse and the 
driving of motor vehicles.   

 
6         Behaviour at Work  
 
6.1 Employees must arrive at work fit for work and free from the effects of alcohol, drugs or 

substances. (Please refer to section 4 for definitions of misuse) 
 
6.2  Employees should not consume alcohol, drugs or substances during their working hours 

including breaks as defined in the code of conduct. Employees should always be aware 
that they are representing the Council and behave in a responsible manner. 

 
6.3 If an employee is at a social event representing the council where they are being paid or 

able to claim time e.g. a charity event they should not consume alcohol. However, if they 
are representing the council in their own time and want to consume alcohol then they 
need to do this responsibly so as not to bring the council into disrepute. (See Code of 
Conduct). 

 
6.4 The possession and / or supplying of illegal drugs is an offence under the Misuse of 

Drugs Act 1971 and it is an offence for any employer knowingly to allow its premises to 
be used for the use or supply of controlled drugs. Employee involvement in such activity 
at work will be treated as gross misconduct. 
 

7      Intervention 
 
7.1 Action by employee 
 
7.1.1 If an employee thinks they may have an alcohol, drugs or substance abuse problem they 

may speak to their manager who will discuss with the employee any action that the 
employee is taking to address the problem. This will be done in a confidential setting. 
The employee may choose to seek assistance from their GP, Trade Union , HR or other 
counselling or treatment agencies or through the 22TEmployee Assistance Programme 22T.(see 
paragraph 10) 
 

7.2. Action by Manager: 
 
7.2.1 If a manager has reasonable grounds to believe that alcohol, drugs or substance misuse 

may be adversely affecting an employee’s performance, attendance or conduct, s/he 
should raise the issue with the individual privately, in a sympathetic and constructive 
manner. The manager will clearly outline to the employee the reasons for the concerns, 
providing examples.  

 

Page 384

http://intranet/managers/occ-health/topics/stress/employeeasstanceprog


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 115 of 116 
 

7.2.2 Following discussion with the employee, the matter may immediately be resolved if the 
manager is satisfied that there is no further reason for concern about alcohol or drugs 
misuse. The employee will be advised that if in future, concerns arise regarding 
performance, attendance or conduct, then the appropriate procedure ( 22TDisciplinary22T/ 
Absence / Performance) will be followed. 

 
7.2.3 If the employee confirms that they are experiencing a problem with alcohol, drugs or 

substance misuse, then the manager will direct them to the support available, as above.  
 

7.2.4 At this stage, a referral to the Occupational Health Service will normally be made. The 
manager will keep in contact with the employee to monitor progress and ensure that on-
going support is provided.  
  

7.3    Action by work colleagues: 
 
7.3.1 It is likely that an employee with an alcohol, drugs or substance misuse problem will 

come to the notice of colleagues possibly through indications of inadequate or 
deteriorating work performance. It is in the interest of an employee with an alcohol or 
drug /substance related problem to be offered help as soon as possible, as prompt action 
carries the best hope of successful treatment. 

 
7.3.2 The first approach should normally be for colleagues to encourage the employee to 

recognise their problem and to seek advice, either through their GP or 22Tspecialist 
agencies22T. If a colleague feels unable to do this or if this fails, colleagues are encouraged 
to contact Human Resource for further advice, so that more a formal approach may be 
taken. Reluctance by colleagues to take such an initiative is understandable. However, 
past experience suggests that covering for neglected duties can delay or prevent a 
successful outcome. 

 
8 Confidentiality 
8.1 If an employee discloses or acknowledges that they have an alcohol, drug or substance 

misuse problem, then this will be treated with the same degree of confidentiality, as far as 
is legally possible, as any other medical or psychological condition.  Employees should 
be as respectful about confidentiality relating to medical conditions of their colleagues as 
they would hope to enjoy themselves. 
 

9 22TEmployee Assistance Programme 22T 

 
9.1 The Employee Assistance Programme is available to all staff with the exception of 

teachers. Staff can access counselling, legal and financial advice and support through 
the service.  Click on link above - Username sheffield, Password council both are 
lower case. 
 

10 Disciplinary Action by the Council 
 

10.1 The Council recognises that employees with alcohol / drug / substance dependency 
problems may be successfully treated. However if a person’s performance, attendance 

Page 385

http://intranet/employment/policies-and-procedures/discipline
http://sheffielddact.org.uk/drugs-alcohol/
http://sheffielddact.org.uk/drugs-alcohol/
https://www.ppconlineinfo.com/_layouts/OptWell.Common.Security/AgreeLogin.aspx?ReturnUrl=%2fen%2f_layouts%2fAuthenticate.aspx%3fSource%3d%252Fen%252FPages%252Fdefault%252Easpx&Source=%2Fen%2FPages%2Fdefault%2Easpx


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Officers’ Code of Conduct  
 

 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 Page 116 of 116 
 

and/or work/behaviour is suffering this would mean MAP/MPP being implemented and/or 
disciplinary action being taken.  

 
 
10.2    If an employee is known to be, or strongly suspected of misusing alcohol / drugs / other 

substances during working hours arrangements will be made for him/her to be 
immediately escorted from the Council’s premises and if necessary taken home. Misuse 
of alcohol, drugs and other substances on Council premises, whether resulting from a 
dependency problem or not, is a serious breach of the Council’s 22TCode of Conduct22T and 
may lead to formal action being taken under Council procedures. In such situations the 
manager should consult with HR, where possible.  

 
10.3    On Council premises an employee who takes illegal drugs / alcohol / substances or 

prescription drugs which have not been prescribed for him/her will, in the absence of 
mitigating circumstances, be committing an action of gross misconduct. The relevant 
disciplinary procedure will apply. This action will also apply to any employee believed to 
be buying or selling drugs/and / substances; unlawfully possessing drugs and/or 
substances; who has stolen drugs and /or substances on Council premises. The Misuse 
of Drugs Act 1971 may also apply in the above circumstances. 

 
11 Links with other council policies 
 
11.1 This policy will also link to and be used in association with the 22TCode of Conduct22T, 22Tthe 

Dignity & Respect at Work Policy22T, the 22TMAP/MPP22T Policy / Procedure, 22TSocial Networking 
Guidance22T, Discretionary Leave, 22THelp to Stop Smoking guidance 22T  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 386

http://intranet/employment/behaviour-and-relationships-at-work/officers-code-of-conduct
http://intranet/employment/behaviour-and-relationships-at-work/officers-code-of-conduct
http://intranet/employment/behaviour-and-relationships-at-work/dignity-and-respect
http://intranet/employment/behaviour-and-relationships-at-work/dignity-and-respect
http://intranet/managers/managing-people-in-the-council/people-policies-and-procedures/absence-performance
http://intranet/employment/behaviour-and-relationships-at-work/social-networking-policy
http://intranet/employment/behaviour-and-relationships-at-work/social-networking-policy
http://intranet/managers/health-safety/topics/smoke-free/stop-smoking


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Protocol for Member/Officer Relations 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
   Page 1 of 19 
 

PROTOCOL FOR MEMBER / OFFICER RELATIONS 
 

Summary 
 
The Protocol seeks to encourage a greater understanding and best practice of the 
various relationships between Members and Officers of all levels of the Council.  
 
This Protocol supplements but does not supplant other codes, procedures and 
protocols agreed by the Council that regulate the conduct of Members and Officers 
and should be read in light of the duties and expectations, for example those 
responsibilities set out in the Councillor and Officer Codes of Conduct.  
 

Mutual respect between Members and Officers is essential to good local 
government.  Close personal familiarity between individual Members and Officers 
can damage the working relationship.  The nature and complexity of the relationships 
means that this protocol cannot be exhaustive.  If any Member or Officer is unclear 
about a particular aspect of this Protocol they should contact the Monitoring Officer. 
 

It applies whenever Elected Members and Officers are undertaking the Council’s 
business in public and private meetings. 
 
This Protocol also applies to voting non-elected members of committees.  The 
Council expects Parish Members and Officers to adopt and adhere to the principles 
of the Protocol.  
 
The Audit and Standards Committee and the Monitoring Officer are to oversee 
review of this Protocol and make recommendations for changes as appropriate.   
 
 

Page 387

Part 5d



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Protocol for Member/Officer Relations 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
   Page 2 of 19 
 

1. DEFINING THE MEMBER AND OFFICER ROLES 
 
Mutual trust and respect are essential in setting the right tone for effective working 
relationships between Members and Officers.   
 
Both Officers and Members  
 

 Adhere to respective Codes of Conduct and uphold ethics and values of the 
Council 

 Are accountable for decisions and actions 

 Maintain confidentiality as appropriate 

 Act as an Ambassador for the Council 

 Continually develop knowledge and skills – keep up to date on Council policy 
and performance 

 Represent the Council on external bodies and provide feedback  
 
A Quick Guide to the Distinct Roles 

Members Officers 

Account to the electorate Accountable to the Council 

Community Leader/representative role 
for a Ward 

Serve the whole Council (with the 
exception of the Political Advisers 
appointed under statute). 

Add a political dimension Be politically impartial 

Set high level policy strategy and make 
high level decisions 

Provide guidance on policy.   
Ensure operational delivery 

Do not influence recommendations of 
reports but may at formal meetings, 
accept or reject recommendations 

Produce reports and make 
recommendations 

Are involved in senior 
appointments/dismissals 

Day to day staff management 

Regulate certain activities  Implement decisions 

 
 

Page 388



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Protocol for Member/Officer Relations 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
   Page 3 of 19 
 

Key Officer Roles 

Statutory Posts Certain Senior Officers hold posts with mandatory statutory 
responsibilities including the Chief Executive, the Monitoring Officer (Director of 
Legal and Governance), appointed under Section 5 of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 and the Chief Finance Officer (Director of Finance and 
Commercial Services) appointed under Section 151 Local Government Act 1972.  
Members must respect these responsibilities and accept that these Officers may be 
required to give advice or make decisions which Members may not agree with or 
support.  

The Monitoring Officer role includes responsibility for reporting to the Council any 
case where s/he is of the opinion that a proposal or decision of the authority has 
given rise to or is likely to or would give rise to any illegality, maladministration or 
breach of statutory code and for investigating any such reportable incident including 
allegations of breach of Members standards of conduct.  

The Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) role includes responsibility for the 
strategic arrangements for the administration of the Council's financial affairs, 
delivery by the whole authority of good financial management to safeguarding public 
money and ensuring it is used appropriately, effectively, efficiently and economically. 

The Executive Directors are individually responsible for their portfolio of services 
and collectively responsible for management of staff their work and delivery of 
Council functions and priorities. 

Directors manage the service for which they have responsibility, ensure that the 
statutory responsibilities are properly discharged on a day to day basis, account for 
the efficiency and effectiveness and professional practice of their service. 

Officers and Members have day to day responsibilities for adhering to the rules of 
procedure and the financial regulations in the Constitution which are there to protect 
the whole Council.  

To further understand roles, Members and Officers refer to the Constitution and easy 
to read role profiles, job descriptions and induction materials 
 
In reality, there are grey areas, where Members and Officers need to work together 
and for this reason, it is important to set out ways of working, expectations, 
relationships and communications. 
 

Page 389



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Protocol for Member/Officer Relations 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
   Page 4 of 19 
 

2. THE PROFESSIONAL RELATIONSHIP  
 
A Guide to Expectations 
 
In forging an effective working relationship, Members and Officers will have certain 
basic expectations of each other. Much of this is about ensuring high standards of 
behaviour and acting within a clear framework of ethical governance. 
 
Members and Officers Expectations 
 
Courtesy 
 
It is important that Members and Officers are courteous to each other at all times, 
even if they disagree strongly with each other’s views 
 
Bullying 
 
Members and Officers must not bully any person. Bullying may be characterised as 
offensive, intimidating, malicious, insulting or humiliating behaviour. Such behaviour 
many happen once, or be part of a pattern of behaviour.  Members may from time to 
time become frustrated by what they regard as unacceptable or incompetent Officer 
behaviour.  It is self-evident that sometimes these feelings may be entirely justified 
although sometimes there may be a legitimate reason why Member expectations 
cannot be met – for example, due to Council Policy or a legal requirement. 
 
In these circumstances, Members are to take up their concerns through the Directors 
or the Chief Executive as set out in the dispute procedure described in this 
document, rather than through public criticism. They must bear in mind that Officers 
are instructed not to ‘answer back’ in public.  
 
Member and Officer Development 
 
Members and Officers should participate in the Council’s development programme, 
which is core to their role and to undertake individual learning and development 
discussions. 
 
Members should participate in the Core Development Programme for induction, all 
learning identified as mandatory from time to time, safeguarding, and Committees 
including Policy Committees, Area Committees, and Regulatory Committees such as 
Planning and Licensing. 
 

Page 390



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Protocol for Member/Officer Relations 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
   Page 5 of 19 
 

What Members can expect from Officers  
 

Officers Do Officers Don’t 

Pursue lawful policies and comply with 
the Officers’ Code of Conduct  

Deviate from the Constitution, legal or 
contractual obligations 

Promote equality, serve all Members 
equally with dignity, respect and 
courtesy, regardless of political group 
or position 

 

Comply with legal duty to provide 
professional advice, impartiality and 
implement Council policy 

Allow their personal or political 
opinions to interfere with their work or 
professional judgement and advice 

Avoid close personal familiarity with 
Members and follow guidelines on 
Personal Relationships 

Form friendships, close relations with 
Members  

Follow Council procedures for dealing 
with Member enquires effectively 
efficiently and within set timescales – 
as listed in 10.3  

 

Act with integrity and appropriate [not 
absolute] confidentiality  

 

 Seek to improperly influence 
Members;  

 Improperly disclose information 
received from one Member to 
another; or  

 Raise their personal circumstances 
or those of another directly with 
Members.  Personal issues that 
might be raised with a Ward 
Member should be raised in a 
private capacity outside of work 
time. 

Respect each other’s free (i.e. non-
Council) time 

 

Be prepared to justify and give reasons 
for decisions made under delegated 
powers; 

 

Report the least suspicion of fraud, 
corruption or impropriety 

Conceal any information which it is 
proper for them to disclose (particularly 
where they have a duty to reveal it); 

 

Page 391



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Protocol for Member/Officer Relations 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
   Page 6 of 19 
 

What Officers can expect from Members 
 

Members Do Members Don’t 

Comply with the Councillor Code 
of Conduct – ensuring the highest 
standards of behaviour 
 

 

Promote equality and treat all 
Officers with dignity and respect.  
 
Members are to comply with the 
equality laws prohibiting 
discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation 
 
Chairs of meetings are expected 
to apply the rules of 
debate/procedures to prevent 
abusive or disorderly conduct 
 

Subject individuals to unreasonable or 
excessive personal attack 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Undermine respect for Officers in public 
meetings, the media or at any other time 
when dealing with Council business;  
 

Only ask Officers to provide 
professional advice on matters 
that clearly arise from being an 
elected Councillor; 
 
Respect impartiality and integrity 
of Officers and do not compromise 
it 
 
Respect Officers’ free (i.e. non-
Council) time. 
 

Ask Council Officers to improperly spend 
Council time or resources for political 
purposes. 
 
 
Insist an Officer changes his/her 
professional advice 
 
 

Provide political leadership and 
direction, making timely decisions 

Get involved in day to day management 
 
Ask Officers to breach Council procedures 
or policy when acting on behalf of 
constituents 
 
Put pressure on an Officer on matters which 
have been delegated for Officer decision.   
A Member who behaves in this way may 
lead Officers to make decisions that are not 
objective and that cannot be accounted for 
 

 

Page 392



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Protocol for Member/Officer Relations 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
   Page 7 of 19 
 

Members Do Members Don’t 

 Seek special or adverse treatment for 
themselves or any individual by using 
his/her position as a Member, nor 
improperly seek to gain an advantage or 
disadvantage for his/herself or any other 
person when dealing with Council Officers 
 

Apply appropriate confidentiality to 
information 
 

 

Report the least suspicion of 
fraud, corruption or impropriety 

Instruct Officers to take actions which are 
unlawful, financially improper or likely to 
amount to maladministration.  Members 
have an obligation under their Code of 
Conduct to have regard, when reaching 
decisions, to any advice provided by the 
Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance 
Officer. 
 

Where relevant to casework or a 
decision, declare any special 
relationships/personal interests 
with constituents to relevant 
Officers and/or constituents.  
Where the relationship causes a 
conflict of interests, Members will 
ask another Ward Member to 
assist. 
 

 

 

 
3 THE EMPLOYMENT RELATIONSHIP 
 

3.1 Members should recognise and have regard for their role as employer as part 
of “the Council”.  The policies that govern equalities and employment relations 
apply equally to Members and Officers for example ‘Dignity and Respect at 
Work’. 

 
3.2 Issues relating to appointment, management and dismissal of most Officers 

are reserved by law to the Chief Executive or his/her nominated 
representative.  Members may be involved in the appointment of Chief 
Officers or Deputy Chief Officers or in employment appeals.   

 
 
 

Page 393



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Protocol for Member/Officer Relations 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
   Page 8 of 19 
 

When Acting in this Capacity Members 
 

Do Don’t  

Observe the law, standing orders, 
policies and procedures in relation to 
all appointments, discipline and 
dismissal of Officers. 

 

Declare any interest they have and 
ensure that they act to protect the 
public interest 

Take part in any process where friends, 
relatives or Members of their 
household are involved directly or 
indirectly 

Maintain appropriate confidentiality  

Attend relevant learning and 
development 

 

Make decisions based on merit and 
with access to all the facts 

Seek improperly to influence decisions 

 

Promote equality Canvass support for any candidate for 
a job 

Take continuing responsibility for their 
appointment decisions once the post 
holder is in place. 

 

 

 

4. PERSONAL RELATIONSHIPS  
 
4.1 Personal familiarity between Members and Officers can undermine public 

confidence in the Council. 
 
4.2  It is important that close relationships between Members and Officers are 

openly declared. 
 
4.3 Close working relationships should never be allowed to become so close, or 

appear to become so close, as to bring into question the Officer’s ability to 
deal impartially with another Member or other party groups, nor to undermine 
public trust and confidence in the Council. 

 
4.4  Where possible Members and Officers who have close personal relationships 

should try to avoid coming into contact on projects and in the day-to-day 
business of the Council. 

 

Page 394



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Protocol for Member/Officer Relations 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
   Page 9 of 19 
 

4.5 Member and Officers must declare to the Chief Executive any relationships, 
which might be seen as influencing their work. This includes any family, 
business or sexual relationships.  

 
4.6 The Chief Executive will advise both the Member and the Officer of the need 

to avoid creating any appearance of improper conduct on their part. 

5. THE POLITICAL RELATIONSHIP/ OFFICER ADVICE TO PARTY GROUPS 

5.1 Council Officers must be politically neutral in their work for the Council and 
depending on their role some may be restricted in law from political activity. 

 
5.1.1 In their dealings with party groups, Officers must treat each group in a 

fair and even-handed manner.  
 
5.1.2 Officers will only attend political group meetings on request made to 

the Chief Executive or Executive Director and when the business of 
the meeting is related to the City Council’s functions.  Normally only 
Senior Officers should attend group meetings. 

 
5.1.3 Officers have the right to refuse such requests if they do not relate to 

the functions of the City Council and will normally not attend a 
meeting of a party group where some of those attending are not 
Members of the City Council.  

 
5.1.4 Such meetings shall be held at reasonable times and locations and 

should last no longer than a working day or three hours if held in the 
evening.  

 
5.1.5 Officers who provide information or briefing papers to a political 

group meeting must make the same information available to all 
political groups. Officers should avoid including any confidential or 
personal information in such briefings. Normally cross-party meetings 
shall be arranged so that the information is presented to and 
discussed with all the parties simultaneously. 

 
5.1.6 Officer support will not extend beyond providing factual information 

or professional advice in relation to matters of Council business. 
Officers must not be involved in advising on matters of party 
business, and therefore should not be expected to be present at 
meetings or parts of meetings when such matters are to be 
discussed. 

 
5.1.7 Where Officers provide factual information and advice to a party 

group in relation to a matter of Council business this is not a 
substitute for providing all the necessary information and advice when 

Page 395



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Protocol for Member/Officer Relations 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
   Page 10 of 19 
 

the matter in question is formally considered by the relevant part of 
the Council. 

 
5.1.8 It will not be assumed that an Officer is supportive of a particular 

policy or view considered at a party group meeting simply because 
he/she has attended or provided information to the meeting. 

 
5.1.9 Party group meetings are not empowered to make decisions on 

behalf of the Council.  The presence of an Officer confers no formal 
status on such meetings in terms of Council business and must not 
be interpreted as doing so.  Conclusions reached at these meetings 
do not rank as Council decisions. 

 
5.1.10 At party group meetings where some of those present are not 

Members of the City Council, care must be taken not to divulge 
confidential information relating to Council business.  Persons who 
are not Members are not bound by the Councillor Code of Conduct, 
in particular the declarations of interest and confidentiality provisions.  
They do not have the same rights to Council information as 
Members. 

 
5.1.11 Discussions between Officers and Members on policy issues are 

quite proper and Officers may wish to seek political guidance in 
framing policy proposals.  However, when Officers write Committee 
reports for Member decision, they have a duty to give their best 
professional advice and set out their options available. 

 
5.1.12 Party political groups have no right to instruct Officers to amend or 

change reports or their content.  Decisions by Members on Officer 
reports should be made in the correct decision-making forum based 
on clear factual and legal advice.  Officers are fully responsible for 
the content of any report submitted in their name.    

 
5.1.13 Officers in certain posts are statutorily prohibited from having any 

involvement in political activities.  A list of these positions is 
maintained by the Director of Human Resources and Customer 
Services.  All Officers are required to ensure that Council resources 
are not used for party political purposes. 

 
5.1.14 Should a Senior Officer attend a group meeting they will respect the 

confidentiality of any party group discussions at which they are 
present and, unless requested to do so by that party group, will not 
relay the content of such discussions to another party group or to any 
other Members.  This shall not prevent an Officer providing feedback 
to other Senior Officers on a need-to-know basis. 

 

Page 396



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Protocol for Member/Officer Relations 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
   Page 11 of 19 
 

5.1.15 No Member will refer in public or at meetings of the Council to 
confidential advice or information that may prejudice the Council’s 
position given by Officers to a party group meeting.  

 

5.1.16 Any particular cases of difficulty or uncertainty in relation to this part 
of the protocol should be raised with the Chief Executive and the 
relevant party group leader.  

 
6. OFFICER /CHAIR RELATIONSHIPS 
 

6.1 Executive Directors and other Senior Officers are expected to work closely 
with Committee Chairs and to meet regularly with them.  Officers and 
Members must avoid the working relationship becoming so close that it could 
call into question the Officer’s ability to deal impartially with other Members 
and political groups.  

 
6.2 Senior Officers, the Leader and Chairs shall agree mutually convenient 

methods of regular contact.  
 
7. COMMITTEES  
 
7.1 Committee decisions cannot by law be made by the Chair alone but by the 

committee collectively.  The Chair should not seek to influence Officers to 
reduce the options or withhold information which s/he should properly report 
to a committee. 

 
7.2 The Senior Responsible Officers will offer to arrange regular informal 

meetings with Chair and Deputy Chair and Group Spokespersons of 
committees and sub-committees.  

 
7.3 Senior Officers (including the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance 

Officer) have the right to attend meetings and to present reports and give 
advice to committees and sub-committees.  

 
7.4 Members of a committee or sub-committee shall take decisions within the 

remit of that committee or sub-committee and will not otherwise instruct 
Officers to act.  

 
 Chairs, Deputy Chairs, Group Spokespersons and Members of the relevant 

committee should accept briefings from the Senior Responsible Officer to 
inform decision making for complex or technical cases/items or where there is 
new national legislation or guidance. 

 
7.5 At some committee or sub-committee meetings, a resolution may be passed 

which authorises a named Officer to take action between meetings in 
consultation with the Chair (or other Members).  In these circumstances it is 

Page 397



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Protocol for Member/Officer Relations 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
   Page 12 of 19 
 

the Officer, not the Chair, who takes the action and is responsible for it.  A 
Chair has no legal power to take decisions on behalf of a committee or sub-
committee, neither should he/she seek inappropriately to influence the Officer. 
Whilst the Officer is required to consult the Chair, and the Chair may express 
a view, it is the Officer who takes the final decision. 

 
8. PUBLIC MEETINGS  
 

8.1 If an Officer calls a public meeting, consultation exercise or launch event 
organised by the Council concerning a local issue, then the Officer will invite 
all Members for the Ward or Wards in question. 
 

8.2 If any of the Local Members of Parliament are involved in the local issue, the 
Officer at his or her discretion may invite the MP to the meeting in addition to 
the Ward Members but if it is considered inappropriate for any reason he or 
she may meet the MP separately. 
 

8.3 If a Ward Councillor calls or requests a meeting on a local issue at which an 
Officer(s) is/are requested to be in attendance the Officer(s) will be required to 
attend only if all the Councillors for the Ward have been invited to attend, or 
are agreeable to the meeting taking place, and if the subject matter of the 
meeting is not politically controversial. 
 

8.4 Similarly if an MP calls or requests a meeting upon a local issue which an 
Officer or Officers is/are requested to be in attendance the same criteria 
govern the Officers attendance. 

 
8.5 Meetings with Ward Councillors and/or MPs and others are generally private 

except where such meetings are arranged and set up by or under the 
auspices of Area Committees.  Accordingly, Officers may confirm the events 
which occurred at such private meetings and the outcome of it with Members 
who attended but will not reveal these matters to other Members or to other 
Political Groups except with the specific authority of the Members who 
attended or called the meeting.  
 

8.6 Information regarding activities in a particular Ward, should when appropriate, 
be copied to the Ward Councillors for information. 

 
8.7 Officers presenting at public meetings are to fully prepare for these meetings 

by taking advice from the Senior Responsible Officer.  Officers need to know 
what is specifically required, time slots available and key questions that have 
already been raised by Members/the public on this topic. 

 
 
 

Page 398



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Protocol for Member/Officer Relations 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
   Page 13 of 19 
 

9. SUPPORT SERVICES TO MEMBERS AND POLITICAL GROUPS 
 

9.1 The only basis upon which the City Council can lawfully provide support 
services such as secretarial support, stationery, typing, printing, 
photocopying, transport, etc., to Members is in order to assist them 
discharging their role as Members of the Council. 
 

9.2 Such support services must therefore only be used on Council business and 
must not be used in connection with any party political or campaigning activity 
or for private purposes. 

 

10. COMMUNICATIONS 
 
10.1 Correspondence  
 

10.1.1 Correspondence between an individual Member and an Officer should 
not normally be copied by the Officer to any other Member.  Where 
exceptionally it is necessary to copy the correspondence to another 
Member this should be made clear to the original Member.  In other 
words a system of “blind” or “silent copies” should not be employed. 

 
10.1.2 Official letters written on behalf of the Council dealing with Council 

business should normally be in the name of the relevant Officer.  It 
may be appropriate in some circumstances (e.g. representations to a 
Government Minister) for letters to appear in the name of the Leader 
or the Chair of a Policy Committee or an Area Committee or other 
Committee of the Council. 

 
10.1.3  Letters which create legally enforceable obligations or which give 

instructions on behalf of the Council should never be sent in the name 
of a Member.  Only certain Officers have delegated powers to create 
legal relations and all Officers must follow Standing Orders if entering 
into contractual arrangements.   

 
10.1.4 It is appropriate for Members to pass correspondence to Officers and 

ask them to respond on behalf of the Council.  Officers may only 
correspond for and on behalf of the Council in matters of Council 
business and not on behalf of the individual Member. Officers can 
provide Members with technical, Council information, which is used by 
Members as part of their correspondence.  

 
10.1.5 Members should correspond in their own name. When writing in an 

individual capacity, Members must make clear that fact. 
 
 
 

Page 399



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Protocol for Member/Officer Relations 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
   Page 14 of 19 
 

10.2 Email Communications 
 

10.2.1 Members and Officers are to follow the Council’s Electronic 
Communications Policy and are not to use electronic communications 
(emails, online communications, including social media, or texts) to 
store/send materials or requests, which are offensive, bullying or 
causes offence to others. 

 
10.2.2 Where Members and Officers receive any electronic communications, 

which may breach the Council’s Codes of Conduct or other Council 
policies and /or the law, they must follow the advice in section 16 on 
what to do when things go wrong. 

 
10.2.3 When considering sending emails and online communications to third 

parties, such as community groups, Members and Officers must be 
make a clear distinction between what is:- 
 

 Public information which can be shared with third parties  

 Internal Council Business which is confidential. 
 
10.3 Casework/Service Complaints 
 

10.3.1 The Council has a dedicated team which provides support for 
Members’ casework and enquiries. Members may also direct queries 
and service complaints to the relevant Director.  Officers should 
acknowledge the enquiry and if possible provide a response within 3 
working days.  If the enquiry requires some investigation and further 
work, Members should be informed about this and then the response 
is to be available within 10 working days.    

 
10.3.2 Members can escalate any service issue to the Chief Executive or the 

Director of Legal and Governance if they remain dissatisfied with the 
matter after referral to the Director. 

 
11. PUBLICITY AND DEALING WITH THE MEDIA  

 

11.1 Officers will not publish or assist in publishing material designed to affect 
public support for any political party this is to ensure compliance with the 
Local Government Act 1986, which prohibits such activities. 

 
11.2 All formal publicity material produced by the Authority will state the Council’s 

position and not an individual’s view or personal position.  Publicity should not 
be liable to misrepresentation as being party political. 

 

Page 400



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Protocol for Member/Officer Relations 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
   Page 15 of 19 
 

11.3 All formal relations with the media must be conducted in accordance with the 
Council’s agreed procedures and the Code of Recommended Practice on 
Local Authority Publicity.  

 
11.4 The Council’s contact with the media is led by the Communications Service.  

Officers or Members who have been contacted by the media or who wish to 
issue a press release or statement should seek advice from the 
Communications Service. 

 
12. PRE ELECTION RULES ON PUBLICITY 
 

12.1 If a Member is fighting an election the Code of Recommended Practice on 
Local Authority Publicity should be followed. 

 
12.2 The general rule is that a local authority must not at any time publish any 

material that in whole or in part appears to be designed to create support for a 
political party. 

 

12.3 Pre-Election this is even more sensitive and particular care needs to be taken 
to ensure that publicity could not be perceived as seeking to influence or to 
promote the public image of a particular candidate or group of candidates.  
During the PERP period Officers rather than Members should be quoted on 
news releases about Council initiatives, facilities and services. 

 
12.4 Individual Councillors can generate their own publicity during this period 

subject to their own party’s protocols but public funds must not be used to 
campaign to promote a particular point of view that could be associated with a 
political initiative.  The Council restrictions only apply to official Council 
organised publicity including press releases or events. 

 

12.5 Council events that cannot be re-scheduled for operational reasons must be 
arranged to ensure that there is no likelihood of criticism arising that the real 
purpose of the event is to publicise one particular party. 

 
12.6 Council functions such as Committee meetings may continue during the 

period. 
 
12.7 Council staff must always be careful not to give the impression of supporting a 

political party, set of policies or candidate. Council resources may not be used 
at any time to support party political activity.  Officers must not engage in 
political activity during working hours or with Council facilities.  Some staff 
hold politically restricted posts which limit the political activity they can be 
involved in outside work. 

 
 
 

Page 401



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Protocol for Member/Officer Relations 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
   Page 16 of 19 
 

13. MEMBERSHIP OF ORGANISATIONS 
 

13.1 Members and Officers are both required to declare in writing to the Monitoring 
Officer their membership of any organisation not open to the public that 
requires formal membership and oaths of allegiance and which has secrecy 
about rules, membership or conduct.   

 
13.2 The expectation of the City Council is that Members will declare publicly any 

such involvement. However, such interests will not be included on the 
Register of Members Interests.  

 
14. MEMBERS ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND TO COUNCIL DOCUMENTS 
 
14.1 Members are entitled to approach any Council Service to provide them with 

such information, explanation and advice with regard to that Service’s 
functions as they may reasonably require in order to assist them in 
discharging their role as Elected Members.  This can range from a request for 
general information about some aspects of a Service’s activities to requests 
for specific information on behalf of a constituent.  Such approaches should 
normally in the first instance be directed to the Head of the Service or the 
Executive Director for the Portfolio.  
 

14.2 A Member’s legal rights to inspect Council Documents are partly covered by 
statutes including Data Protection Act 2018 and Freedom of Information Act 
2000, Local Government Act 1972 and Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004 and partly by decided case law. 
 

14.3 Briefly, Members have a statutory right to inspect any Council document 
which contains material relating to any business which is to be transacted at a 
Council or Committee Meeting or Statutory Committee.  Such a right applies 
irrespective of whether the Member is a Member of the Body concerned and 
extends not only to reports which are to be submitted to the meeting but also 
to any relevant background documentation.  Such a right does not however 
apply to documents relating to items which are confidential.  Such matters are 
those which contain confidential information relating to employees, occupiers 
of Council property, applicants for grants and other services, the care of 
children and vulnerable adults, contracts, industrial relations negotiations, 
legal advice including counsel’s opinion and criminal or conduct 
investigations. 
 

14.4 Decided case law gives Members a somewhat broader right to documentation 
based on the principle that any Member has a prima-facie right to inspect 
Council documents “so far as his/her access to documents is reasonably 
necessary to enable the Member properly to perform his or her duties as a 
Member of the Council“.  Members will recognise this as the “need to know” 
principle. 

Page 402



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Protocol for Member/Officer Relations 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
   Page 17 of 19 
 

14.5 The exercise of such right depends upon a Member’s ability to demonstrate 
that he/she has got a need to know.  This does not entitle a Member to make 
speculative enquiries sometimes referred to as “a fishing expedition” i.e. mere 
curiosity is not sufficient.  The crucial issue is the determination of whether 
that Member has a need to know.  
 

14.6 In certain instances, such as an Elected Member wishing to inspect 
documents relating to the functions of the Body on which they serve, then 
there is a presumption that such Member already has a need to know.  
However, in other instances, for example a Member wishing to inspect 
documents that contain personal information about third parties, then that 
individual Member would be required to justify the request in specific terms. 
 

14.7 Whilst the expression “Council Document” is very broad and includes for 
example any document produced from Council resources a Member of one 
party group will not have a “need to know” and therefore a right to inspect a 
document which forms part of the internal workings of another party group. 

 
14.8 Where Officers consider access should be refused and Members disagree, or 

vice versa, the decision should be made by the relevant Head of Service or 
Executive Director.  This decision should be informed by best practice 
guidance to local authorities provided by the Information Commissioner’s 
Office. 
 

14.9 Officers and Members must follow the Council’s Information Security Policy 
which controls how Council information is managed. Members and Officers 
should be aware of the significant consequences of losing or wrongly 
disclosing information.  
 

14.10 Finally, and very importantly any Council information provided to a 
Member must only be used by the Member for the purpose which it was 
provided, i.e. in connection with the proper performance of a Member’s 
official duties. 

 
The Councillor Code of Conduct says that a Member must not disclose 
information given to them in confidence or information that they believe to be 
confidential, without consent of a person authorised to give consent, unless 
very specific requirements are met such as they are required to do so by law. 

 
Members are to take advice from the Monitoring Officer before releasing any 
confidential information or refusing access to information that a person is 
entitled to by law. 

 
14.11 Further and more detailed advice regarding Members’ right to inspect Council 

documents may be obtained from the Director of Legal and Governance.  
 

Page 403



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Protocol for Member/Officer Relations 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
   Page 18 of 19 
 

15. WHAT TO DO WHEN THINGS GO WRONG 
 
Officers Concerns about Members  
 
If an Officer feels that they have been asked/told to do things that appear to be 
outside the Councillor Code of Conduct or this Protocol:- 

 

 Officers are to raise the issue with appropriate senior manager; Officer, Manager 
and Member to have informal discussion; a record to be retained of salient points 
and actions. 

 

 If the conduct continues or is disputed, Officer may refer the complaint to the 
Monitoring Officer who will arrange for the Executive Director to investigate and 
report recommendations back in writing to Officer, Member and Monitoring 
Officer within a reasonable period of time.  

 

 If informal procedures do not reach a satisfactory conclusion Officer may 
consider using the Whistleblowing Procedure set out in the Officers’ Code of 
Conduct or, where an Officer feels a Member has breached the Councillor Code 
of Conduct, in particularly serious cases and with the advice of the Monitoring 
Officer referral of the matter to the Audit and Standards Committee. 

 
Members Concerns about Officers 
 
If a Member feels that an Officer has acted in a manner that is contrary to this 
Protocol:- 
 

 Members are to raise the matter with Officer and Officer’s Manager; Member and 
Officer and Manager to have informal discussion as soon as reasonably 
practicable; Manager to retain a record of salient points and actions. 

 

 If the conduct continues or is disputed, Member may refer the complaint to the 
Monitoring Officer who will arrange for the Executive Director to investigate and 
report recommendations back in writing to Member, Officer and Monitoring 
Officer within a reasonable period of time. 

 

 The Manager may decide that appropriate disciplinary action is required; if so, 
he/she will notify the Monitoring Officer who will decide in consultation with the 
relevant Human Resources Officer whether formal action, as set out in the 
Officers’ Code of Conduct and the Officer Employment Procedure Rules, should 
be taken. 

 
 
 
 

Page 404



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Protocol for Member/Officer Relations 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
   Page 19 of 19 
 

Members Concerns about Senior Officers 
 

 If the complaint concerns a Statutory Officer or Executive Director the complaint 
may be referred to the Chief Executive for the preliminary investigation and 
decision which will then be given to the Member concerned. 

 

 Where a complaint relates to the Chief Executive both the Chief Executive and 
the Member concerned shall consider whether a meeting facilitated by the 
relevant whip or party leader could resolve the situation. 

 

 In all situations the Officer (or Senior Officer) may involve their Trade Union 
representative and only Managers (not Members) in consultation with the 
relevant Human Resources Officer will decide whether formal action should be 
taken. 

 
 
 

Page 405



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 406



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Code of Conduct in Relation to Planning Matters  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 1 of 10 

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR COUNCIL MEMBERS 
AND OFFICERS IN RELATION TO PLANNING MATTERS 

 
1. Purpose of Code 
 
1.1 This Code of Conduct has been adopted by the Council to regulate the 

performance of its planning function. 
 
 The Code has the following objectives: 

 
i) To guide Members and Officers in dealing with planning related 

matters. 
 
ii) To inform potential developers and members of the public 

generally, of the standards and procedures adopted by the 
Council in the performance of its planning function. 

 
1.2 This Code of Conduct relating to Planning Matters is intended to 

supplement the overall Councillor Code of Conduct elsewhere in Part 5 
of this Constitution. The purpose of this code is to provide more 
detailed guidance on the standards to be applied in relation to planning 
related issues. 

 
1.3 Although this code refers to the Planning & Highways Committee (for 

brevity, “the Committee”), its provisions apply equally to any other body 
of the Council making decisions on planning matters. 

 
1.4 Planning law requires local planning authorities to determine all 

planning applications in accordance with the approved development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  This 
responsibility must be performed without undue influence or personal 
interest. 

 
1.5 Members should not decide what weight to give different material 

planning considerations until they have read the Head of Planning’s 
report, heard any representations and listened to the debate at 
Committee.  

 
1.6 There is no reason why Members cannot attend briefing sessions with 

applicants, express views on individual applications or attend public 
meetings or campaign group meetings for or against individual 
applications; in many cases it can be helpful to applicants and Officers 
to alert them to concerns early in the application process. However 
Committee Members should not say or do anything which may indicate 
how they intend to vote on a particular application. 

 

Page 407

Part 5e



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Code of Conduct in Relation to Planning Matters  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 2 of 10 

2. Declaring Interests 
 

2.1 Members (and Officers) will have to decide whether or not they have a 
Disclosable Personal Interest (DPI) in anything being considered at a 
meeting. 

2.2 The interests members must register are set out below they include the 
interests of the Member and his/her spouse/partner:- 

Employment, office, trade, profession or vocation  

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain.  
        
Sponsorship  

Any payment or financial benefit in respect of any expenses incurred in 
carrying out duties as a member, or towards the election expenses. 

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union  

This does not include hospitality payments e.g. going to a football 
match. 
  
Contracts  

Any contract which is made between the member (or a body in which 
the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and the Council under 
which goods or services are to be provided or an existing contract 
delivering goods and services. 
 
Land     

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council. 
        
Licences (property)  

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 
the Council for a month or longer.  
 
Tenancies held by Companies in which the member has a 
beneficial interest 
 
Any tenancy where the landlord is the Council; and 
        
 

Page 408



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Code of Conduct in Relation to Planning Matters  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 3 of 10 

Securities (shares, debentures etc) 

Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where — 
 
(a) that body has a place of business or land in the area of Council and 
 
(b) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body 

There are more detailed rules if the shares held by a company are 
divided into more than one class. 

Where a member has a DPI, it is a criminal offence to: 

 fail to register that interest within 28 days of being elected; 

 fail to declare an unregistered interest at a meeting; and 

 participate in a relevant item of business 

DPIs have a broader definition than the former prejudicial interest. It is 
a DPI even if there is no likelihood that it might prejudice the member’s 
perception of the public interest. This means that a decision which has 
only a minimal impact on a member’s property or employer can trigger 
a criminal offence if it is not registered. 

 
2.5 If you have a DPI which relates to a matter being considered at a 

meeting you must declare what the interest is if you have not already 
done so and withdraw from the meeting by leaving the room.  

 
2.6 Members should also refer to the Councillor Code of Conduct for 

guidance on disclosure of Other Registerable Interests and Non-
Registerable Interests. If in doubt it is advisable to seek the views of 
the Monitoring Officer. 

 
3. Lobbying 
 
3.1 Provided that Members comply with the general guidance in 1.6 there 

is no restriction in principle on being lobbied by developers, applicants 
or local interest groups. Written representations received, whether for 
or against an application, should be forwarded to the Head of Planning 
so that they can be considered and included in any report to the 
Committee or on the delegated decision file. 

 
3.2 As explained in 1.6, briefing sessions or meetings with applicants can 

be very helpful but members must avoid giving the impression that they 
have already made up their mind, so it may be helpful if members 
make it clear that any views they express are provisional. 

Page 409



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Code of Conduct in Relation to Planning Matters  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 4 of 10 

4. Reports by Officers to Committee Members 
 
4.1 Members are required to arrive at a decision on granting or refusing 

permission by using planning criteria and by excluding non-planning 
considerations.  In determining planning applications Members are 
required to have regard to the development plan for the area and to 
any other material considerations.  To this end, the reports of Officers 
to Members must be accurate and cover all relevant points.  These 
reports: 

 
(a) Should contain a section on the relevance of the development 

plan, a description of the site and any related planning history 
and all other relevant material considerations will be outlined. 

 
(b) Should deal with the substance of any planning objections 

received and the views of people who have been consulted or 
notified 

 
(c) Should incorporate a recommendation for the consideration of 

Members; oral reporting (except to introduce a report or update 
it) should be extremely rare and carefully minuted when it does 
occur. 

 
(d) Should contain a technical planning appraisal which clearly 

justifies the stated recommendation. 
 
(e) If the report's recommendation is contrary to the provisions of 

the development plan, the material considerations which justify 
this must be clearly stated. 

 
5. Public Speaking at Committee Meetings 
 
5.1 Public speaking at Committee meetings allows interested parties, 

including the public and applicants, to have direct access to Councillors 
at the point in time just before a decision is to be made.  This should 
enhance public confidence in the process. 

 
5.2 It is important that the 'Chance to Speak' offered in Sheffield is 

operated in a clear and equitable manner.  The following procedure 
applies: 

 
(a) The 'Chance to Speak' applies to the public, community groups, 

applicants, Town and Parish Councillors, City Councillors, or 
any representatives of the above. 

 

Page 410



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Code of Conduct in Relation to Planning Matters  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 5 of 10 

(b) Where a request is made, speaking is at the Chair's discretion 
but will always include at least one person, if present, from each 
principal point of view (support or opposition). 

 
(c) If there are groups of people wishing to speak, wherever 

possible the Chair will seek a representative to put the whole 
case.  Additional speakers should be strictly limited to any 
genuinely different viewpoints or additional considerations.  
Repetition of points already made is unnecessary and will cause 
delay. Whilst a dialogue will not be permitted the Chair can use 
his discretion to allow Members to put a question to the 
applicant or other parties if that will help in the decision-making 
process and provided that officers are given the opportunity to 
advise on material considerations 

 
(d) Speaking is limited to a maximum of 5 minutes per speaker. 
 
(e) It is intended that the 'Chance to Speak' in Sheffield is operated 

with the minimum of bureaucracy while enabling the meeting to 
run efficiently.  Speakers must register their wish to speak to the 
Committee Secretary in advance of the meeting (for example by 
2.00 pm on the Friday before a meeting on a Tuesday); the 
Committee Secretary will advise the Chair of their names and 
the item they wish to speak on.  There are significant 
advantages to a flexible approach, but it is critical that this is 
operated in an equitable manner to maintain the confidence of 
all parties. 

 
(f) The Chair should consider the advantages of bringing forward 

on the agenda items where there are identified speakers, to 
allow interested parties to leave the meeting without undue 
delay should they wish after their item. 

 
(g) The Chair should announce at the commencement of the 

meeting how s/he will manage the meeting to facilitate people 
being able to put their views to the Committee.  The normal 
order of speaking on any item will be the Officer giving their 
report and recommendation followed by any public speakers.  
Only Committee Members will be able to question Officers and 
speakers for clarification.  The Committee will then start to 
debate the item and from this point members of the public have 
no further opportunity to speak or be involved (unless the Chair 
determines there are exceptional reasons to do so for 
clarification).  Certainly the public cannot take part in the debate 
or decision. 

 

Page 411



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Code of Conduct in Relation to Planning Matters  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 6 of 10 

6. Committee Site Inspections 
 
6.1 Site visits will cause delay and additional costs and should only be 

used where the expected benefit is substantial.  A decision by the 
Committee to carry out a site inspection should normally only take 
place: 

 
(a) If the impact of the proposed development is particularly difficult 

to visualise from the plans and any supporting material; or  
 
(b) There is considerable local concern about a proposal, allied to 

planning reasons for carrying out the visit (e.g. the physical 
relationship of the site to other sites in the neighbourhood). 

 
 Normally Officers will identify such cases in advance to avoid delay. 
 
6.2 Where an application is deferred by the Committee for a visit, clear 

reasons should be given at the meeting for the deferral so that the 
applicant and any third parties involved are able to understand the 
need for, and the benefit of, a site visit.  This is to avoid 
misunderstanding either about the purpose of the site visit or the 
matters which are being considered. 

 
6.3 Where it is intended to inspect the site it is essential that extremely 

careful arrangements are made to ensure that all parties are treated 
fairly and equitably, and that the appropriate standards of propriety are 
seen to be upheld.  

 
6.4 When Members go on Committee site inspections they should realise 

that the function of the inspection is to visualise the development and 
assess the facts on the ground, and the following rules apply: 

 
(a) The visit will be led by a planning officer. 
 
(b) Whilst discussions can take place with the applicant or 

objectors, these should concentrate on dealing with issues 
arising from the assessment of the development as seen on the 
site visit rather than dealing with issues of principle arising from 
the development itself. 

 
7. Individual Site Inspections by Members 
 
7.1 Members are encouraged to look at an application site following the 

receipt of the agenda and prior to the date of the Committee meeting.  
This will enable them to acquaint themselves with the nature of the 
proposal and will help avoid delay and unnecessary site visits.  

Page 412



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Code of Conduct in Relation to Planning Matters  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 7 of 10 

However, Members must conduct such site inspections from a public 
vantage point and should not discuss the application with any 
applicant/agent or third party.  They should not enter a site even if 
invited. 

 
7.2 Members of the Committee should not enter any premises not normally 

open to the public which are either: 
 

(a) The subject of, or affected by, a planning application; or 
 
(b) known by the Member to be likely to become the subject of, or 

affected by, a planning application 
 

 for any purpose in connection with such an application, save in the 
course of a Committee site inspection. 

 
8. Training 
 
8.1 Members of the Planning and Highways Committees must receive 

training in the planning system before serving on the Committee and 
their training must be refreshed every two years.  Members will not be 
able to continue on the Committee without this.  This is to ensure that 
correct procedures are followed and proper planning considerations 
are employed in decision making.  The integrity of the planning system 
and the need for public confidence require this. 

 
8.2 Refresher training, updates, or more detailed training on specific issues 

will also be provided every two years and must be taken up by all 
relevant Members. 

 
9. Complaints and Record Keeping 
 
9.1 Whatever procedures the Council operates, it is likely that complaints 

will be made.  In order that any complaints can be fully investigated, 
record keeping should be complete and accurate.  Omissions and 
inaccuracies could, in themselves, cause a complaint or undermine the 
Council's case.  Every planning application file will contain an accurate 
account of events throughout its life, particularly the outcomes of 
meetings or significant telephone conversations. 

 
9.2 The same principles of good record keeping will be observed in relation 

to enforcement and development plan matters.  Monitoring of record 
keeping will be undertaken on a continuous basis by managers in the 
Planning Service. 

 
 

Page 413



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Code of Conduct in Relation to Planning Matters  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 8 of 10 

10. Officer's Function 
 
10.1 An Officer's function is to advise Members on all matters of planning 

policy and procedure in their determination of planning and related 
applications by: 

 
(a) Providing impartial and professional advice. 
 
(b) Making sure that all the necessary information is available for a 

decision to be made. 
 
(c) Providing a clear and sufficient analysis of the issues including 

development plan policies and all other material considerations. 
 
(d) Giving a clear recommendation. 
 
(e) Carrying out the decisions of the Committee. 
 

10.2 In addition: 
 

 (a) Impartial advice will be given to prospective applicants  
 prior to submitting an application.  Advice will reflect approved 

Council planning policy.  It will then be made clear that such 
advice will be without prejudice to any subsequent 
recommendation or formal decision by the Committee or a 
decision made under delegated powers. 

 
(b) All application sites will be visited unless there is sufficient up to 

date photographic evidence for a decision to be made without 
the need for a visit. 

 
(c) Officers will endeavour to deal with applications and make final 

recommendations for the grant or refusal of permission in a 
timely manner without undue delay , whilst ensuring that 
sufficient time is allowed for consultation to take place where 
required and as set out in the Statement of Community 
Involvement. 

 
(d) All applications will be considered by at least two Officers, i.e. 

the case officer plus the Officer responsible for the final decision 
and/or recommendation. 

 
(e) Members of the public, applicants, etc. will not be advised of the 

Officer's final recommendation to the Committee until agendas 
have been sent to Members, although Officers can use their 
judgment where the indication of a likely recommendation would 

Page 414



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Code of Conduct in Relation to Planning Matters  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 9 of 10 

be of particular assistance to an applicant or objector and is 
unlikely to cause difficulties for any other interested parties. 

 
(f) In all dealings with applicants, agents, and the public Officers 

should maintain a courteous and professional relationship 
adhering to the Council's policies and officer codes ensuring that 
all parties are treated fairly and respecting people's rights. 

 
(g) When an application is submitted by an Officer involved in the 

planning process the Officer shall advise the Head of Planning.  
Such applications shall not be determined under delegated 
powers. 

 
(h) Where an Officer has a relationship with any applicant, agent or 

organisation that could lead to a third party suggestion of bias, 
the Officer will inform the Head of Planning in writing and take 
no part in processing or determining the application. 

 
(i) Officers should not, under any circumstances, accept gifts or 

hospitality beyond simple basic refreshment where necessary or 
unavoidable.  If, however, a degree of hospitality is unavoidable, 
it should be ensured that this is of the minimum and its receipt is 
declared as soon as possible.  All offers of gifts and hospitality, 
whether accepted or not must be entered in the hospitality 
record book, with the exception of simple basic refreshment. 

 
11. Decisions Contrary to Officer Recommendation and/or 

Development Plan 
 
11.1 The law requires that where the development plan is relevant, 

decisions should be taken in accordance with it unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
11.2 In discussing and then determining a planning application Members 

should confine themselves to the planning merits of the case and the 
reasons for making a final decision should be clear and convincing and 
supported by planning evidence.  All decisions must be founded on 
planning reasons and there must be planning evidence to substantiate 
them. 

 
11.3 There is no reason in law why a Planning Committee may not make a 

decision contrary to theOofficer's recommendation, whether it is for 
approval or refusal.  Nevertheless, the law does require that in the case 
of refusals of planning permission detailed reasons are given, and it is 
clearly important that where Members have made a decision contrary 
to an Officer's recommendations the reasons for the decision should be 

Page 415



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 - Code of Conduct in Relation to Planning Matters  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 10 of 10 

made clear such that there can be no suspicion of the decision being 
made for non-planning reasons.  In such a situation, therefore, whether 
the decision by Members is to approve or refuse permission, the 
planning reasons should be clearly minuted, together with a reference 
to the evidence to substantiate them. 

 
12. Consequences of Failure to Comply with the Code 
 
12.1 This Code sets out the standards that the Council will operate in 

dealing with planning applications.  Members and Officers should 
realise that failure to comply with the Code may have legal 
consequences. 

 
12.2  These include: 

 
(a)       Investigation by the Local Government Ombudsman if 

complaints are received about the manner in which a planning 
application has been dealt with. In determining whether there 
has been maladministration the current test is that Members 
must “at all times avoid any occasion for suspicion and any 
appearance of improper conduct” and must not allow “the 
impression to be given that (the Member) is or may be using his 
position to promote a private or personal interest”. Individuals 
involved may be named and the Council may be found guilty of 
maladministration and ordered to compensate the claimant. 

 
(b) Appeal to the Secretary of State.  As well as granting planning 

permission he can award costs against the Council if it has acted 
unreasonably - that can include bias and also whether the 
decision has been taken for non-planning reasons. 

 
(c) Court action to quash a planning decision either if a real danger 

of bias is shown or it is demonstrated that a decision was taken 
for non-planning reasons.  Costs will be awarded against the 
Council which will have to re-determine the application correctly. 

Page 416



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Guidance Note on General Procedures at Planning and Highways 
Committee Meetings  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 1 of 15  

GUIDANCE NOTE ON GENERAL PROCEDURES  
AT PLANNING AND HIGHWAYS COMMITTEE 

 MEETINGS  
 

Issue Date: September 2012 (amended September 2013) 
 

INDEX TO CONTENTS 
 

Index  
  
Introduction 2 
  
1 Members’ Training 2 
   
2 Chair’s Briefing Meetings 3 
   
3 The Public Nature of Committee Meetings 3 
   
4 The Submission of Late and/or Confidential Information 4 
   
5 The Submission of Defamatory and Offensive Information 5 
   
6 Unreasonable Conduct in Decision Making 5 
   
7 Maintaining Public Confidence in the Committees 7 
   
8 Maintaining Public Confidence in the Role of Planning Officers 7 
   
9 Allegations of Misconduct of Officers 8 
   
10 Commencement of Committee Meeting 9 
   
11 Meeting Procedure and Decision Making  10 
   
12 Requests for Site Visits 11 
   
13 Calling for a Public Inquiry 12 
   
14 Declarations of Interest 13 
   
15 Observers and Public Speaking at Committee Meeting 13 
   
16 Role of the Chair 14 
   
17 After The Committee 14 

Page 417

Part 5f



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Guidance Note on General Procedures at Planning and Highways 
Committee Meetings  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 2 of 15  

Introduction 
 
This Guidance is for Planning and Highways Committee Members attending 
Committees and is intended to supplement the Corporate Councillor Code of 
Conduct (the Code of Conduct) and any Code of Conduct for Council 
Members and Officers in Relation to Planning Matters issued from time to 
time by the City Council with regard to the operation of Committees and the 
determination of Planning matters. 
 
This Guidance is not binding upon Members but sets out examples of both 
best practice and inappropriate conduct to aid in the interpretation of the 
above Codes and it is in the best interests of the City Council, the Committees 
and individual Members to follow this guidance, as compliance or non-
compliance with this Guidance may be a material consideration in any 
subsequent investigation of a complaint as to Member’s conduct.  This 
Guidance Note is on general procedures for Committees and specific 
guidance on particular matters such as Telecommunications will be issued 
from time to time by the legal contact officers for Members.  
 
The aim of this Guidance is to reduce the number of situations where things 
said or done by Members attending the Committees are misconstrued 
resulting in damage to the Council’s reputation and loss of confidence in the 
planning system, unnecessary legal challenges, planning appeals and awards 
of costs against the City Council 
 
This Guidance may be amended at any time to accommodate changes in the 
law, procedure and best practice and revised copies will be circulated to all 
Members prior to the next meeting of the relevant Committee.    
 
1. Members’ Training 
 
  Members are reminded that determining matters under the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 and related legislation at a Committee 
requires a degree of knowledge and familiarity of planning law and 
procedure on their part. Member training is offered as a prerequisite to 
all new Members to Committees and regular updates and training for 
existing Members is offered by Planning Officers as is required due to 
legislative or policy change.  

 
  No Member may be appointed to serve on a Planning and Highways 

Committee until they have received the necessary training. This is to 
ensure that correct procedures are followed and proper planning 
considerations are employed in decision making.  The integrity of the 
planning system and the need for public confidence require this. 

Page 418



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Guidance Note on General Procedures at Planning and Highways 
Committee Meetings  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 3 of 15  

2. Chair’s Briefing Meetings  
 
Chair’s Briefing Meetings will be held with Officers and will deal with 
circumstances such as the late submission of relevant information and 
of procedural issues concerning the conduct of the Committee hearing.  

 
2.1 Planning and Highways Committee Briefing Meetings  
 
2.1.1 The role of any Briefing Meeting which is held is to allow developers to 

present large-scale development proposals to the Committee early in 
the planning process, and wherever possible at the pre-application 
stage, so that the developers will benefit from early feedback on any 
concerns that the Committee Members may have about the proposal.  
This gives the developer the opportunity to amend their proposals if 
they wish and avoids the possibility that the Committee’s eventual 
decision on the application might come as a surprise to the developer.  
Planning Committee Members are required to attend any Briefings to 
ensure that developers get any feedback necessary.  

 
2.2      Such meetings are not to be used for discussion of the merits of any 

proposal. 
 
3. The Public Nature of Committee Meetings 
 
3.1 All Committees are public meetings of a committee of the City Council 

and it is a legal requirement that the public and the press are admitted 
to all such meetings.  

 
3.2 The issue of transparency of proceedings is especially important in 

planning matters where a controversial application determined by an 
officer under a delegated power or in a closed session may lead to 
unfounded allegations of bias which can only be removed by having 
the matter determined in public. A controversial application in this 
context may mean a matter which is relatively simple to determine in 
terms of planning policy, but which may encounter significant public 
opposition due to the nature and proximity of the anticipated use e.g. a 
major metropolitan landfill site 250 metres from a small town. 

 
3.3 In addition Planning Authorities are expected to consider the views of 

local residents in determining planning applications, with the failure to 
do so resulting in a potential award of costs at a subsequent planning 
appeal. Excluding the press and public could therefore be used against 
the City Council to make a claim for such costs.  

 

Page 419



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Guidance Note on General Procedures at Planning and Highways 
Committee Meetings  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 4 of 15  

3.4 The Committee is a Regulatory Body for the purposes of the Council 
Procedure Rules in that it discharges on behalf of the City Council 
those planning and highways regulation duties imposed by statute. 
This means that the cap as to length of meeting under Clause 5.12 of 
the Council Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution does not 
apply to meetings of the Committee so as to allow full access to the 
public to all items on the Agenda of the Committee without premature 
termination of the public right to make representations caused by 
overrunning. 

 
4. The Submission of Late and/or Confidential Information 
 
4.1 Sometimes information is submitted to a Member by an objector or 

other third party which if it were received in time would normally be 
incorporated into a report on an agenda, or supplementary agenda, but 
for one reason or another has been received too late for this to occur. 
This information may be in the form of a written submission or a set of 
photographs or some other audio-visual aid, submitted just before the 
Committee Meeting directly to Members by persons supporting or 
objecting to a particular item on the Agenda and without notice to the 
Officers. 

 
4.2 If such late information is submitted directly to a Member, the Member 

should pass on this information as soon as possible to the Planning 
Officer (or the Committee Secretary if the meeting is about to 
commence) to determine the best course of action given the amount of 
information received and the stage of the proceedings, as well as when 
this information first became available for submission. Depending upon 
these factors this may mean that the particular item in question has to 
be deferred until the next meeting of the Committee. This should only 
occur in the most extreme circumstances when determination on the 
date of the current Committee is impossible. 

 
4.3 The deliberate late submission of information on a contentious item 

should not be used as an excuse for a deferral of that item to the next 
Committee. Members should therefore consider very carefully any 
circumstances where a party has had access to information relevant to 
the determination of an item but has withheld submitting this 
information until after the publication of the Agenda. In such 
circumstances it may be advisable to put such an item to the end of the 
Agenda and/or allow a short adjournment for officers to assess the late 
information and make a verbal report back to the Committee. This 
would prevent undue delay arising in the determination of contentious 
issues which might lead to unnecessary planning appeals.  

Page 420



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Guidance Note on General Procedures at Planning and Highways 
Committee Meetings  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 5 of 15  

4.4 Sometimes a person will attempt to supply information to a Member 
which is claimed to be confidential in nature. Members should 
remember that they have a general duty of confidentiality under 
paragraph 4 of the Code of Conduct, and any action taken by the 
Member concerning the use of such confidential information should be 
in accordance with that duty. 

 
4.5 The principle of transparency in the planning process will generally find 

against any relevant information to the planning process being withheld 
from public scrutiny, restricting any right of confidentiality which may be 
sought by the person providing the information. In such circumstances 
the Member will normally be required to ask the person supplying the 
confidential information to decide between openly providing this 
information or of withdrawing this information from consideration 
whatsoever, so as to comply with both the duty under paragraph 4 of 
the Code of Conduct, and the public principle of transparency. 

 
4.6 Only where the City Council have been advised by the appropriate 

authorities that there is a legitimate and well founded threat to life or 
property from the publication of such information, would a right of 
confidentiality be ever considered to exist sufficient to overcome the 
principle of transparency. Mere commercial or personal interests on 
their own will never justify the breach of the principle of transparency. 

 
5. The Submission of Defamatory and Offensive Information  
 
5.1     Overtly defamatory or offensive remarks in a representation will not be 

accepted, even if legitimate planning issues are also raised.  Its 
publication would not only bring the planning process into dispute but 
may also render the Council liable in damages if malice can be proved.  
Correspondents will be informed that they will need to be resubmitted 
with such comments removed. 

 
5.2 There may be instances where an unsubstantiated allegation may 

contain information material to the determination of a course of 
enforcement action or a planning application.  A developer or 
landowner may regard the allegations as defamatory, but if they cannot 
be safely ignored and are material to the delegated or Committee 
decision to be made, their consideration will be justified.  

 
6.  Unreasonable Conduct in Decision Making 
 
6.1 Members must be aware that making a decision based on grounds not 

related to planning issues will be considered to be unreasonable 
conduct by both Planning Inspectors and the High Court, resulting in 

Page 421



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Guidance Note on General Procedures at Planning and Highways 
Committee Meetings  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 6 of 15  

this decision causing an award of costs against the City Council at a 
planning or enforcement appeal and/or the decision being quashed on 
judicial review with an award of costs against the City Council.  

 
6.2 All planning authorities have the discretion not to adopt the 

professional or technical advice of its Planning Officers, so that a 
decision against the advice of the Planning Officer will not 
automatically be considered to be unreasonable conduct.  

 
6.3 Members will sometimes face considerable public support for or 

against a particular item on the Agenda of the meeting. Whilst the 
views of local residents have to be taken into account when 
determining a planning application, if those views are not relevant to a 
planning issue it is unreasonable conduct for Members to take them 
into account when making a decision. Planning Officers seek to identify 
planning and non-planning issues raised as part of the consultation 
process and decisions as an aid to Members in this regard.  

 
6.4 Decisions which ignore Local or National Policy Guidance will generally 

be deemed to be unreasonable and may result in costs being awarded 
to the appellant. Decisions which seek to evade National or Local 
Policy Guidance by adopting grounds for refusal which are in line with 
that policy but which are clearly not applicable to the circumstances of 
the particular application will also generally be deemed to be 
unreasonable and may result in costs. Again Planning Officers will refer 
to relevant National and Local policy guidance in their reports as an aid 
to Members in this regard.  

 
6.5 Disagreement with the Planning Officers will normally be reasonable 

where it involves Members giving different weight to certain material 
planning considerations, based on careful consideration of the advice 
given by planning officers and of the supporting evidence.  Planning 
decisions often involve weighing up conflicting considerations leading 
to a balanced judgement and reports to the Planning Committee will 
indicate where there is conflicting evidence or where a 
recommendation is finely balanced.  Genuine differences of opinion 
between the Planning Officer and the Members on such issues can 
therefore exist without either bringing the planning system into 
disrepute or risking an award of costs.  

 
6.6 Members should also be aware that when authorising enforcement 

proceedings that unreasonable decisions will put the Council at 
financial risk.  A Stop Notice can create substantial costs for a 
developer or landowner and the Council is only protected from a 
substantial compensation claim if the development being stopped is 

Page 422



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Guidance Note on General Procedures at Planning and Highways 
Committee Meetings  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 7 of 15  

unlawful.  Any Enforcement Notice that requires the owner/occupier to 
do more than is required may not only result in an award of costs but 
may also result in a substantial claim for compensation should the 
accompanying Enforcement Notice be dismissed on appeal. The 
Planning Officers report will provide guidance for Members as to what 
is reasonable in the circumstances of the case on these points. 

 
7. Maintaining Public Confidence in the Committees 
 
7.1 Public confidence in the local operation of the planning system can be 

undermined by Members making unreasonable decisions (as set out in 
paragraph 6 above), as this may result in an increase in the number of 
appeals which the City Council lose. Success on these appeals may 
encourage disappointed applicants to make appeals for all applications 
in the hope that an Inspector will be more likely to grant planning 
permission than the Committee. In such a situation the City Council 
would have an increasing amount of Officer time and resources spent 
on matters not suitable for appeal in the first place. 

 
7.2 Members should be especially careful when dealing with the media in 

respect of matters pertaining to the Committee, as adversely reported 
comments may also result in a loss in public confidence.  

 
7.3 Members should note that conduct undermining confidence in the 

planning system may also constitute conduct bringing the authority into 
disrepute under paragraph 5 of the Code of Conduct.   

 
8. Maintaining Public Confidence in the Role of Planning Officers  
 
8.1 Members should at all times during meetings of Committees maintain a 

professional relationship with Planning Officers, sticking strictly to the 
Items contained within the Agenda and to the order of business as set 
out in the Agenda, rather than seek to raise matters with the Planning 
Officer not on the Agenda which may be misconstrued by those 
present. 

 
8.2 Members should be careful as regards individual approaches to 

Planning Officers immediately before or after Committees. If the 
approach is in relation to an item on the Agenda, this may be 
misconstrued as an attempt by other persons present to influence the 
Planning Officer’s professional and impartial advice and give rise to the 
appearance of a personal or Disclosable Pecuniary Interest existing 
where no such interest exists. All matters pertaining to an item on the 
Agenda, including questions to the Planning Officer should be dealt 
with under the normal order of business in open meeting. 

Page 423



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Guidance Note on General Procedures at Planning and Highways 
Committee Meetings  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 8 of 15  

8.3 Members who would be barred from an item on the Agenda of a 
particular Committee due to having a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 
should take special care when making any approach to the Planning 
Officer. If these approaches are immediately prior to or immediately 
after the Committee meeting, or that particular Agenda Item, then this 
may be misconstrued as an attempt to unduly influence the Committee 
through the Planning Officer, even if the approach is unrelated to 
anything on the Agenda. 

 
8.4 Members can legitimately question the views of Planning Officers in a 

robust manner and openly express disagreement with their 
professional views. This can lead to a better understanding of the 
issues involved by all persons present, to the benefit of the planning 
system. 

 
8.5 Members should however seek to avoid an unduly adversarial, 

repetitive or demeaning style of questioning, as this may reflect badly 
upon both the Planning Officer and the Member to the detriment of 
public confidence in the operation of the planning system. It is 
important that the professional standing and credibility of Planning 
Officers and the objectivity and efficacy of Committee Members is 
maintained in order that the public has confidence in the Council’s 
planning system and is not unduly sceptical in its operation. 

 
8.6 Members are further referred to the Protocol for Member/Officer 

Relations at Part 5 on the Constitution which deals with the general 
obligations between Members and Officers.  

 
9. Allegations of Misconduct of Officers 
 
9.1 Members should be reminded that Planning Officers and other Officers 

will often work with the professionals acting on behalf of a developer to 
improve a poor or marginal scheme through a series of negotiations 
over often quite lengthy periods of time. This is part of the duties of 
Planning Officers and does not of itself imply that there has been 
improper collusion between the Planning Officer and the Developer, or 
that the Developer has exercised undue influence over the Planning 
process. 

 
9.2 If a Member reasonably believes that improper collusion exists, or that 

undue influence is being exercised by a Developer in respect of a 
Planning Officer then this allegation should be notified to the Monitoring 
Officer before the meeting of the Committee. The Monitoring Officer will 
then inform the Chief Planning Officer, Director and/or Executive 
Director and take action with regard to informing external investigators 

Page 424



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Guidance Note on General Procedures at Planning and Highways 
Committee Meetings  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 9 of 15  

such as the South Yorkshire Police. The Member should thereafter 
provide whatever evidence or assistance may be required in the proper 
investigation of this matter by the City Council and/or the Police.  

 
9.3 In the event of an allegation of improper collusion or undue influence 

being raised prior to the Committee meeting, the planning case file and 
Report will be reviewed by a Planning Officer senior to the Planning 
Officer preparing the report and previously unconnected to the 
application and any amendments to the Report will be presented by 
that senior Planning Officer. 

 
9.4 In no circumstances should a Member seek to make an allegation of 

improper collusion or undue influence in the course of the Committee 
meeting itself. Aside from disrupting the proper conduct of the meeting 
and bringing the planning system into disrepute, this would prejudice 
the proper investigation of the allegation and personally leave the 
Member open to investigation for misconduct and an action for slander 
by the Developer and his agents, as well as the Planning Officer, 
should the allegation not be substantiated. A Member should therefore 
also not seek to defer a determination following an allegation of 
misconduct made by a member of the public.   

 
9.5 Members need to be aware that conduct which falls outside these 

guidelines can be the subject of an application for judicial review on the 
ground that the Committee failed to deal with the particular application 
in a proper manner: it does not matter that the decision may have been 
correct in planning terms. It could also justify an application for costs in 
a planning appeal. Allegations of bias and/or improper collusion could 
potentially also be the subject of an action for slander; statements of 
that nature only attract qualified privilege which can be withdrawn if 
malice is proved. 

 
10 Commencement of Committee Meeting 
 
10.1 Prior to the start of the meeting, the Committee Secretary will have 

found out which members of the public wish to speak on which items 
on the agenda. The order of the agenda should therefore be revised in 
consultation with the Chair, to move those items up the agenda which 
have the most interest to those members of the public present so as to 
allow it to be dealt with first and to avoid disruption of the meeting.  

 
10.2 The Committee Secretary will then announce the revised order of 

business and will explain, for the benefit of the public, the procedure for 
addressing the Committee. The Committee Secretary will also 
announce, after consultation with the Planning Officer, if any 

Page 425



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Guidance Note on General Procedures at Planning and Highways 
Committee Meetings  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 10 of 15
  

application is now not to be considered at the current meeting or has 
been completely withdrawn by the applicant. 

 
10.3 In respect of applications which are now to be considered at the next 

Committee Meeting, any members of the public present who attended 
the meeting of the Committee to speak to that application should be 
offered the chance to either speak to that application with their 
comments incorporated into the revised report for that application, or to 
return to the next meeting of the Committee when the item would 
normally return for consideration.  The preferred option would be for 
members of the public to attend to speak to that application at the next 
Committee meeting. 

 
10.4 To speed up the proceedings, it will be assumed that Members will 

have read the reports on the agenda.  Presentations will however be 
invited where they help to focus the Committee on the material 
considerations, where there are supplementary reports or to help the 
public understand why decisions are being made. 

 
10.5 Members leaving the room during consideration of an item can not 

thereafter take part in the decision on that item upon their return, as 
they cannot be seen to have be in full possession of the information 
required to make that determination, and may have been influenced by 
events occurring outside the Committee during their absence.  

 
11 Meeting Procedure and Decision Making 
 
11.1 Members are reminded of the procedure for considering each 

application as follows:- 
 

 Planning Officer Introduction to report, where appropriate (see 
paragraph 10.4 above). 

 

 Public representations – speaker(s) against recommendation first; 
speaker(s) for recommendation second. 

 

 Planning Officer response to public representations. 
 

 Member report back on any site visit held. 
 

 Member questions. 
 

 Planning Officer responses. 
 

Page 426



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Guidance Note on General Procedures at Planning and Highways 
Committee Meetings  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 11 of 15
  

 Member comments. 
 

 Voting on Planning Officer recommendations (with any amendments/ 
suggested changes/ additional conditions, etc.) as per Council 
Procedure Rules. 

 

 Give reasons for grant or refusal of application. 
 

 When granting a planning application, to indicate whether or not it 
should be required that any amendments to the application which need 
planning permission which are subsequently submitted by the applicant 
to be reported to the Committee for a decision. 

 
11.2 Members may ask for the vote to be recorded, as normally no record is 

taken of the numbers for or against on a particular determination, only 
whether or not the matter was agreed or refused by the Committee. 
Council Procedure Rule 18.6 sets out in full the proper procedure for a 
formal recorded vote.  

 
11.3 Separate guidance in the form of a Guidance Note to Chairs on 

Disruption of Committee Meetings by Members of the Public exists in 
relation to the disruption of Committee Meetings by members of the 
public, which includes the intimidation of Members. 

 
12. Requests for Site Visits 
 
12.1 Wherever possible, Planning Officers and the Chair of the Committee 

will try and anticipate where a site visit might be required and organise 
it in advance of the Committee, to avoid unnecessary delay.  A clear 
case should be presented by any Member suggesting an additional site 
visit and consideration given to any advice from Officers present about 
available information that might negate the need for a visit. Paragraph 
6 of the Code of Conduct in Relation to Planning Matters contains 
specific rules regarding this issue. 

 
12.2 When the Planning Officer suggests a decision on an application be 

deferred pending a site visit and a member of the public is present at 
that meeting and may be unable to attend the following meeting, then 
he/she should be allowed to speak and a note of such representations 
will be made and taken into account when that application is 
considered.  

 
12.3 Members are reminded that the Code of Conduct in Relation to 

Planning Matters at paragraphs 6 and 7 regulates Members’ conduct 

Page 427



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Guidance Note on General Procedures at Planning and Highways 
Committee Meetings  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 12 of 15
  

with regard to both formal Committee Site Visits and individual site 
visits. 

 
12.4 Attendance at a formal Committee Site Visit is not mandatory for 

Members voting on the subsequent item on the Agenda, but Members 
are expected to attend if they feel that they could not make a decision 
without a site visit in any particular case or to ensure that sufficient 
Members attend to maintain public confidence in the need for the visit.  
If a Member cannot for whatever reason attend upon the formal 
Committee Site Visit and feel that they need to visit the application site 
before making their decision, they should undertake an individual site 
visit prior to the Committee, or abstain from the decision at the 
Committee. 

 
13. Calling for a Public Inquiry  
 
13.1 When an application is refused, and is likely to be the subject of an 

appeal, there is sometimes pressure at a Committee from objectors 
and other members of the public present for a public inquiry to be held 
in respect of any potential appeal, as it is erroneously believed that the 
City Council have the power to hold such an inquiry, and that a public 
inquiry will be more likely to be swayed by the representations of the 
objectors. 

 
13.2 The Planning Inspectorate determine which of the three types of 

appeal is the most appropriate for any particular appeal. The three 
types of appeal are:- 

 

 Written representations; 

 Informal hearing; 

 Public inquiry. 
 
 An appeal will be written representations if both the appellant and the 

Council agree to it. These appeals are undertaken purely on the basis 
of documents submitted by the parties and are the cheapest and 
quickest form of appeal. 

 
13.3 If there is no agreement as to written representations being the most 

appropriate form of appeal then the appeal will be either an informal 
hearing or a public inquiry at the sole decision of the Planning 
Inspectorate. Both parties may make representations regarding which 
is the more appropriate method of appeal, but the decision is solely 
that of the Planning Inspectorate. 

 

Page 428



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Guidance Note on General Procedures at Planning and Highways 
Committee Meetings  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 13 of 15
  

13.4 In practical terms there is very little difference between an informal 
hearing and a public inquiry for an objector as both are held in public 
and both allow for objectors to make representations.  The only real 
difference is that the public inquiry allows for evidence to be given 
under oath. All three types of appeal will deal with exactly the same 
material planning considerations.  An appeal is as likely to be upheld 
on it planning merits after written representations as it would at an 
informal hearing or a public inquiry.  

 
14. Declarations of Interest 
 
14.1 Members should be clear about declaring an interest and when they 

should leave the room when the matter is discussed. Paragraph 9 and 
Appendix B of the Code of Conduct contain specific Rules regarding 
this issue.  If in doubt, Members should seek advice from the Legal 
adviser prior to the start of the meeting. Whilst Officers will give advice, 
it should be noted that the decision itself rests with the Member. 

 
15. Observers and Public Speaking at Committee Meetings 
 
15.1 The current practice of allowing only one spokesperson for each 

principal point of view is at the Chair’s discretion. There are rules 
regarding this issue at paragraph 5 of the Code of Conduct in Relation 
to Planning Matters. Whilst the public do not have a right to speak, 
there will be times when additional speakers will wish to make 
representations. Sometimes denying a member of the public the 
chance to speak can create difficulties and Chairs are reminded to 
exercise this discretion having regard to the right to a fair hearing under 
Article 6.1 of the Human Rights Act 1998 and paragraph 5.2(c) of the 
Code of Conduct in Relation to Planning Matters.  

 
15.2 Members are reminded that public speaking is normally limited to a 

maximum of 5 minutes (as opposed to 3 minutes at Council meetings). 
Paragraph 5.2(d)-(g) of the Code of Conduct in Relation to Planning 
Matters contains rules regarding this point. The Committee Secretary 
will keep a check of the time and inform the Chair when the 5 minutes 
is about to elapse. It would be helpful at that time if the Chair would 
advise the speaker to draw to a conclusion if it is not apparent that the 
speaker has nearly finished. A note of the public speakers and the key 
points made by them will be made by the Committee Secretary and 
retained on file with the agenda.  

 
15.3 Any Councillor attending Committee meetings as an observer should 

take no part in the conduct of the meetings and should only contribute 

Page 429



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Guidance Note on General Procedures at Planning and Highways 
Committee Meetings  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 14 of 15
  

when specifically invited to do so by the Committee. The procedure for 
Councillors wishing to address the Committee is the same as for 
members of the public. 

 
16. Role of the Chair 
 

16.1 The Chair, in running the meeting, should be mindful of the need to 
retain a degree of independence as far as possible, and to be fair to all 
Members of the Committee. It is suggested that best practice be 
followed by the Chair in being the last speaker on an item of business, 
prior to the vote being taken.  

 
16.2 If there are equal numbers of votes for and against a decision, the 

Chair will have a second or casting vote in accordance with Clause 
18.2 of the Council Procedure Rules. There is no restriction on how the 
Chair chooses to exercise a casting vote. 

 
16.3 The Chair is expected to maintain order and to allow the Committee to 

perform it proper functions without disruption by either Members of the 
Committee or by members of the public. The powers of the Chair in 
relation to dealing with disruption by Members of the Public are set out 
in a separate Guidance Note to the Chair on Disruption of Committee 
Meetings by Members of the Public. Committee Members should not 
seek to condone the behaviour of members of the public in acts of 
disruption, and should support the Chair in the proper exercise of those 
powers under the Council Procedure Rules.  

 
16.4 Feedback from businesses and members of the public who have 

attended Committee meetings suggest that they can sometimes be 
confused as to why decisions have been made.  The Chair has a role 
in ensuring that decisions are clearly explained, especially if against 
the officer recommendation in the report.  

 
17. After the Committee 
 
17.1 The determination by the Committee may not be the end of the 

planning process in respect of some applications. Where an applicant 
appeals, the process may continue for up to a year after the Committee 
meeting. Members should therefore be aware of outstanding appeals 
which are reported back on the Committee Agenda, and should avoid 
statements and conduct which might give the indication of 
unreasonable conduct in the making of the decision. 

 

Page 430



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Guidance Note on General Procedures at Planning and Highways 
Committee Meetings  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 15 of 15
  

17.2 Whilst Members would be free to join and even organise lobby groups 
related to a particular application after the determination of a decision 
(subject to paragraph 17.1 above), Members should bear in mind that a 
duplicate application may be made by the applicant to the application 
refused which will require determination in the future. It may well be 
that Members may be forced to declare an interest and possibly be 
barred from taking part in this subsequent determination if their 
statements and conduct indicate that they could not approach this 
duplicate application with an open mind.  

 
17.3 Members must bear in mind that Planning and Legal Officers are under 

a duty to pursue every such appeal against refusal with due diligence 
and rigour under their separate professional codes irrespective of their 
initial advice to the Committee. Committee Members should not 
therefore seek to influence the conduct of any subsequent appeal case 
by the City Council. Members should be aware that they are able to 
make representations at all types of appeal in their own name as an 
objector or supporter to the development, and to attend in person at 
both informal hearings and public inquiries to make those 
representations. 

 
17.4 The decision of the Inspector will be reported back to the Committee at 

the first available opportunity. Members should not use this report back 
to comment adversely upon the Inspector’s decision, or upon the 
conduct of the appeal, or the original application as this would 
undermine confidence in the planning system. In the overwhelming 
majority of planning appeals the Inspector will reach a decision 
substantially similar to the original report of the Planning Officer, 
dismissing the appeal against the decision of the Committee based 
upon that report.   

 
17.5 In a minority of cases the Inspector may uphold the appeal despite the 

Planning Officer’s report and the decision of the Committee. Whilst 
there is a right for Inspector’s decisions to be reviewed that is by an 
application for judicial review in the High Court based on evidence that 
the decision was unreasonable in planning terms or followed a 
misinterpretation of law or planning policy; it is not a right of appeal.  

 
17.6 There will also be a very small number of appeals which have been 

dismissed following refusal by Committee Members contrary to 
Planning Officer advice. There may be good reasons for the decision of 
the Inspector in such cases which are unrelated to the quality of the 
advice given in the original report, but the Chief Planning Officer will 
review the case and ensure that any lessons that need to be are learnt. 

Page 431



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 432



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Guidance Note to Chairs on Disruption of Committee Meetings by 
Members of the Public  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 1 of 3 

GUIDANCE NOTE TO CHAIRS ON DISRUPTION OF 
COMMITTEE MEETINGS BY MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  

 

This Guidance Note is aimed principally at Chairs of Committees but should 
be noted by every Member attending at a Committee meeting who may feel 
intimidated or frustrated by the interruption of the due process of the 
Committee. The interruption by members of the public acting in a disruptive 
fashion not only undermines the due process, but also delays other members 
of the public intending to speak to issues which may affect them, causing 
frustration and disillusionment with the City Council and the Committee 
process.  
 
1. Council Procedure Rules 
 
1.1  Council Procedure Rule 20 allows for the Chair to take action with 

regard to both individual and group disruption. It says: 
  “If a member of the public interrupts proceedings of a meeting the 

Chair shall warn him/her. If he/she continues the interruption or 
repeatedly interrupts, the Chair shall order his/her removal from the 
meeting room. In the case of meetings where there is a general 
disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public the 
Chair shall order that part to be cleared.”  
 

1.2  Interruption through disturbance may take many forms and would 
include but is not limited to verbal interruptions such as shouting and 
swearing at Members, Officers and other members of the public or 
press present; engaging in a conversation with another member of the 
public whilst Members or Officers are speaking; overrunning any 
allotted time to speak to the issue or the singing of songs.  
 

1.3  Sometimes an interruption may take the form of an allegation of 
misconduct, corruption or discrimination against Members or Officers 
which may or not be related to an item on the Agenda. It is not within 
the remit of the Committee to consider such allegations, or to order an 
investigation of such allegations, and any such allegation raised must 
therefore be considered to be a disturbance of the meeting. In such 
circumstances the Chair should first notify the member of the public 
that such allegations are not within the remit of the Committee, and that 
any such allegations, including any supporting evidence, should be 
made to the proper body given the nature of the allegation. If the 
member of the public refuses to accept this then the formal warning at 
paragraph 2.1 should be read out. Interruption through disturbance 
may also include physical interruptions and would include physical 
violence directed at a Member or an Officer, or a member of the public 
or the press present. It would also include non-violent conduct which 

Page 433

Part 5g



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Guidance Note to Chairs on Disruption of Committee Meetings by 
Members of the Public  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 2 of 3 

may deemed to be intimidatory such as approaching or sitting next to a 
Member or Officer in the course of a Committee meeting and staring at 
them. It would also include more formalised demonstrations such as 
large groups of members of the public brandishing placards or refusing 
to sit until their matter had been dealt with or handing out late material 
to Members. Finally gestures and expressions may also fall within the 
ambit of physical disturbance.  
 

1.4  Interruptions caused by mobile phones and other such equipment 
including the use of television camera and recording equipment will 
also fall within Council Procedure Rule 20 should they result in a 
disruption of the Committee. Note that in the absence of disruption the 
use such devices will still be subject to the Chairs discretion under 
Council Procedure Rule 21. 

  
1.5  It should be noted that the power granted to the Chair by Council 

Procedure Rule 20 is restricted only to the meeting room of the 
Committee and does not include any other part of the Town Hall. 
Persons seeking to disrupt the Committee meeting from outside the 
meeting room cannot therefore be removed from the building under this 
Procedure Rule. In all such cases it will be necessary to contact the 
Town Hall Security Services and obtain proper authorisation for any 
such persons removal from the building. Where any disruption is due to 
criminal acts the South Yorkshire Police will need to be called.  

 

2. Warnings  
 
2.1  In the event of a disturbance the Chair should identify the person or 

person causing the disturbance and if warranted read out the following 
formal warning: 
“Due to the disturbance caused by you to the conduct of the meeting of 
the Committee, you are hereby issued with a warning in accordance 
with Rule 20 of Sheffield City Council’s Council Procedure Rules. 
Under this Rule should you create any further disturbance to the 
conduct of the Committee meeting I may order your removal from the 
meeting room.”  

 
2.2 The Chair should ensure that the formal warning and, if possible, the 

identity of the person or persons to whom the warning has been 
issued, is formally recorded by the Democratic Services Officer as part 
of the formal record of the Committee meeting.  

 

2.3 Instead of a formal warning the Chair may use his discretion to issue 
an informal warning if the disturbance is in the Chair’s opinion not 
serious or is not intended to disrupt the Committee Meeting (such as 
two members of the public in a conversation). In such circumstances 

Page 434



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Guidance Note to Chairs on Disruption of Committee Meetings by 
Members of the Public  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

______________________________________________________________ 
 
 
 
         Page 3 of 3 

the Chair should ask the persons causing the disruption to please 
cease immediately the conduct causing the disruption and remind them 
that this is a public meeting and that if they have private matters to 
discuss could they please do so outside. In this instance no record of 
the identity and warning should be made by the officer from Democratic 
Services.  

 
3.  Removal From The Meeting  
 

3.1 After the issue of a formal warning under Council Procedure Rule 20 if 
the conduct is repeated by the same person or persons the Chair 
should read out the following statement:-  
“Following the issue of a formal warning to you under Rule 20 I hereby 
order your removal from the meeting room for the duration of this 
Committee meeting in accordance with that Rule.”  

 
3.2  The Democratic Services Officer should where this is possible, formally 

take a note of the identity of the person or persons whose removal has 
been ordered.  

 

3.3  If the person or persons who have been ordered to be removed from 
the Committee meeting refuse to leave the meeting room, they may be 
physically ejected from the meeting room as a trespasser provided only 
reasonable force is used by the Town Hall Security Staff. They should 
be notified in the following terms:-  
“You can remain outside the meeting room but should you seek to 
further disrupt the conduct of proceedings of the Committee then the 
Town Hall Security Staff will be informed of the situation which may 
lead to your removal from the premises and/or the South Yorkshire 
Police being called.” 

 

Page 435



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 436



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Committee Chair Job-Share Protocol  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

COMMITTEE CHAIR JOB-SHARE PROTOCOL  
 
The Council may appoint two Members jointly to share the position of Committee 
Chair (Job-Share Chairs). This Protocol sets out the arrangements and expectations 
where the role is shared. 
 
Why have Job-Share Chairs?  
 
The potential benefits include: 
 

 Making chairmanship (and leadership positions in general) potentially 
available to those Members who would not otherwise be able to make the 
necessary time commitment for whatever reason;  

 Ensuring that Sheffield City Council does not lose out on the leadership 
contribution of Chairs who are also carers, parents or in full-time education or 
work;  

 Increasing the capacity and broadening the capability of Chairs;  

 Recognising the likely workload of these positions;  

 Creating opportunities for a more representative sample of Members to take 
leadership roles, for example facilitating a gender balance. 

 
What is Job-Sharing?  
 

 Two Members essentially fulfil one Chair position on a job-share basis.  

 The posts could also be combined with the role of Deputy Chair, or where 
there is a single Chair the role of Deputy Chair may be job-shared, or the 
committee may decide that it does not need an additional Deputy Chair role. 

 There is only one formal Chair of a meeting at any one time and only that 
Chair has the casting vote.  

 The other Job-Share Chair attends the meeting as an ordinary committee 
member when their counterpart is in the Chair.  

 Outside meetings, the Job-Share Chairs arrange between themselves how 
their responsibilities are shared and ensure that other Members and Officers 
are informed. 

 Both Members receive a Special Responsibility Allowance, or a proportion of 
one, recognising the scale of the role they are undertaking and the associated 
time commitment. 

 
Ways of Working 
 

1. Job-Share Chairs will agree between themselves the arrangements for 
chairing meetings. They may take turns at alternate meetings, or on a periodic 
rotation, or otherwise, providing that when the relevant Job-Share Chair is not 
available the other Job-Share Chair or in their absence the Deputy Chair will 
chair the meeting.  

 
2. Chair’s briefings by Officers may be attended by both Job-Share Chairs and 

the Deputy Chair. 

Page 437

Part 5h



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Committee Chair Job-Share Protocol  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

3. Cross-party briefings for Chairs and spokespersons may be attended by both 
Job-Share Chairs provided only one of them speaks. Where briefings are for 
all Members, or members of a committee, both may attend and speak.  

 
4. Where there are Job-Share Chairs for a Policy Committee only one may be 

appointed to Strategy and Resources Policy Committee by virtue of being the 
Chair of their committee. The appointment will be made at the Annual Meeting 
of the Council but as with any committee membership Full Council may agree 
a change at a subsequent meeting provided that this does not affect the 
political proportionality of the committee.  

 
5. Job-Share Chairs must arrange between themselves how their responsibilities 

are to be shared and ensure that other Members and Officers are informed 
about the arrangements. This is important for clarity and certainty.  

 
6. The arrangements may include dividing responsibilities so that each leads on 

separate specific areas of the committee’s remit. The Job-Share Chairs shall 
provide Officers with a breakdown of those areas indicating who is the first 
point of contact where guidance from the Chair is required.  

 
7. Outside of formal committee meetings, Job-Share Chairs will each act as the 

first point of contact for their areas of the committee’s business when working 
with council officers, residents, partners etc. 

 
8. Email correspondence from Members and Officers should be sent to both 

Job-Share Chairs, ideally addressed to the one who is responsible for the 
particular area covered in the communication, with the other copied in.  

 
9. Officers are not required to obtain agreement from both Job-Share Chairs 

when seeking guidance on a course of action. They will assume that any steer 
or guidance provided by one Job-Share Chair is on behalf of both. Job-Share 
Chairs shall be responsible for consulting each other on issues and for 
reaching a consensus prior to providing guidance to Officers. 

 
10. These arrangements are the minimum expected. Job-Share Chairs are 

expected to consult with relevant Officers and supplement them with 
additional requirements as necessary.  

 
11. The above arrangements are for guidance only and failure to comply with the 

proposed arrangements shall not affect the legal validity of any action taken 
by an Officer, the Chair or the Committee. 

 
12. The ongoing review process into the operation of the Committee System shall 

include a full review of these Job-Share Chair arrangements after such a role 
has been shared for the first time. The review may consider the option for 
Job-Share Chairs who are members of the same political group to decide 
between themselves which one should attend a meeting of Strategy and 
Resources Policy Committee. 

 

Page 438



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Committee Chair Job-Share Protocol  
______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Remuneration 
 
It is a matter for the Independent Remuneration Panel to consider the workloads of 
Job-Share Chairs and make recommendations on their remuneration. For example, 
it may be that in a new system, the roles of Chairs could be designed to be more 
time consuming than one person could manage, meaning that each Job-Share Chair 
is doing more than half of a role. 
 
It is however the responsibility of the Job-Share Chairs to make sure that their joint 
workload is spread proportionately so that, for example, neither is doing a full-time 
post for half the Special Responsibility Allowance. 
 
Co-Chairs 
 
Co-Chairs, each with equal full responsibility for the role, may be appointed to the 
Regulatory Committees in recognition of the fact that they meet more frequently than 
other committees.  
 
A maximum of two Co-Chairs may be appointed to any one committee. If Co-Chairs 
are appointed then a Deputy Chair shall not be appointed to that committee. The Co-
Chair role cannot be job-shared. 
 
As with Job-Share Chairs, only one Co-Chair can chair a committee meeting and 
have the casting vote at any one time. The other attends the meeting as an ordinary 
committee member. The Chair will be identified at the start of the meeting. 
 
 

Page 439



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 440



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Protocol for the Use of the City’s Coat of Arms  
 

 

PROTOCOL FOR THE USE OF THE CITY'S COAT OF ARMS 
 
 
Granting approval for the use of the Coat of Arms is delegated to the Director of 
Legal and Governance. 
 
On receipt of a request for its use, Democratic Services will notify the Director of 
Legal and Governance of the request and provide a suggested recommendation, 
based on previous approvals (precedents), in order to promote consistency. 
 
Whilst each application is considered on its merits, the following general criteria will 
be taken into account:- 
 
(1) If use is not for commercial purposes and is for an "official" event or activity, 

such as for use by the Authority or a third party on behalf of the Authority, 
approval will generally be given and the person requesting use will usually be 
sent a pdf.doc, containing the Coat of Arms. 

 
(2) If use is for purposes such as a logo for an organisation (for example a sports 

club) and is not for commercial purposes, permission to use the central shield 
from the Coat of Arms, rather than the Coat of Arms itself, will usually be 
granted. 

 
(3) If use is for commercial purposes, permission will generally be refused. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 441

Part 5i



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 442



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Petitions Scheme  
 

 

 

Sheffield City Council 
Petitions Scheme 

 
Introduction  
 
The Council welcomes online and paper petitions and recognises that they are one 
way in which people can let us know their concerns. Petitions can be organised or 
signed by anyone who lives, works or studies in Sheffield. More information and 
guidance is available on the Council’s website  
Sign or start a petition (sheffield.gov.uk) 
 

A petition can relate to any issue on which the Council has powers or duties or on 
which it has shared delivery responsibilities through a partnership. Petitions must 
state the subject of the petition and what action the petitioners want the Council to 
take, the contact and address details of the organiser, along with the names, 
addresses and signatures of people supporting the petition. There must be at least 5 
signatures. For the petition to be valid, everyone who signs it will need to provide 
their name and address.  
 
Petitions can be sent or presented to the Council. All petitions sent or presented to 
the Council will receive an acknowledgement from the Council within 14 days of 
receipt. This acknowledgement will set out what we plan to do with the petition. 
 
Petitions may be presented to meetings of the Council, Policy Committees, 
Regulatory Committees or Area Committees. Petition organisers should contact 
Democratic Services in advance for advice about which Body is most appropriate. If 
the topic is on the work programme for a particular Policy Committee then the 
petition organiser may wish to present the petition at a meeting when the topic on the 
agenda, but may choose to attend another meeting (or a meeting of another Policy 
Committee) or to present the petition at Full Council. 
 

You will need to give advance notice of your petition by 10.00 a.m. on the day of the 
meeting and you can either present your petition at the meeting or ask that it be 
submitted to the meeting on your behalf. If you attend the meeting, you will be able 
to speak for up to three minutes. Please contact the Democratic Services team by 
email committee@sheffield.gov.uk 
 
What are the guidelines for submitting a petition? 
 
Petitions submitted to the Council must include:  

 A minimum of five signatures, from anyone who either lives, works or studies 
in Sheffield.  

 A clear and concise statement covering the subject of the petition, to include 
what action the petitioners would like the Council to take.  

 Contact details, including a postal address, for the petition organiser. This is 
the person we will contact to explain how we will respond to the petition (only 
the organiser’s name will appear on the Council website).  

Page 443

Part 5j

https://www.sheffield.gov.uk/home/your-city-council/sign-start-petitions
mailto:committee@sheffield.gov.uk


Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Petitions Scheme  
 

 

 

 The name, postal address and signature of any person supporting the 
petition. 

 
Data Protection  
Use of individuals’ personal data, including their addresses/email addresses, will be 
protected under the terms of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and 
will be held by us only for the purpose of corresponding in relation to the petition 
submitted.  
 
By starting or signing a petition, an individual gives explicit consent to the Council to 
process personal data as part of the Council's Petition Scheme. This means 
Councillors and Council Officers can respond to the issue(s) raised, publish details 
about the petition's objectives in public reports and invite the lead petitioner (or 
representative) to speak at a Committee meeting. This use may include some 
personal details (eg the speaker’s name and address) and the Council may publicly 
broadcast meetings that include personal statements made by those speaking. 
 
Petitioners have the right to withdraw this consent at any time. However, withdrawing 
consent does not affect the processing that has occurred before this time. 
 
We advise that for paper petitions, the following wording is included on each page of 
the petition that will contain signatures:  
“Sheffield City Council (the Council) will become the data controller when the petition 
is deposited with the Council. The details you provide on this form will only be used 
for the purpose of this petition. Your information may be shared with the petition 
organiser, Council officers, Councillors or service providers.” 
 
E-Petitions  
The Council welcomes e-Petitions which are created, signed and submitted through 
the website. E-Petitions must follow the same guidelines as paper petitions. The 
petition organiser will need to provide their name, postal address and e-mail 
address. The e-Petition will also need to include:  

 A date for the e-Petition to go live on the website.  

 A closing date when the e-Petition will stop collecting signatures. We will host 
the e-Petition for up to 12 months, but expect that most petitions will be open 
for signatures for a much shorter period than this.  

 The online form is submitted to Democratic Services.  

 The Council is required by UK law to ensure that petitions that are published 
do not contain any defamatory or offensive material. Therefore we will need to 
review the petition before it is published on our website. Petitions will be 
reviewed and published during normal office hours. We expect to be able to 
publish a petition the same day provided that it is submitted by 12.00 noon. 

 A petition must be submitted in good faith. It must not include:  
o potentially libellous, false or defamatory statements;  
o information protected by a court order (e.g. the identities of children in 

custody disputes); or in accordance with any other enactment;  
o matters which are subject to appeal processes or legal actions (e.g. 

planning appeals, enforcement action or other legal actions in court etc.);  

Page 444



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Petitions Scheme  
 

 

 

o material which is commercially sensitive, confidential or which may cause 
personal distress or loss;  

o the names of individual officials of public bodies; or information where they 
may be easily identified, in relation to criminal accusations. 

 Petitions which are considered to be vexatious, abusive or otherwise 
inappropriate will not be published, but we will contact the petition organiser to 
explain the reasons so that they may change and resubmit your petition if they 
wish. If this is not done within 10 working days, a summary of the petition and 
the reason why it has not been accepted will be published under the ‘rejected 
petitions’ section of the website, except in cases where this would be 
inappropriate.  

 
Additional Information: 

 The Council accepts no liability for the petitions published on its website and 
the views expressed in the petitions do not necessarily reflect those of the 
Council.  

 A petition response will be e-mailed to everyone who has signed the e-
Petition and also published on our website. 

 
What will the Council do when it receives a petition?  
 
We will send an acknowledgement to the petition organiser within 14 days of 
receiving the petition. It will let them know what we plan to do with the petition and 
when they can expect to hear from us again. Details of the petition will also be 
published in the Council Petitions Log, on our website.  
 
If the Council can do what the petition asks for, the acknowledgement may confirm 
that we have taken the action requested and the petition will be closed. If the petition 
needs more investigation, the acknowledgement will set out the steps we plan to 
take. 
 
Most petitions go to a public meeting where petitioners can present their petition and 
Councillors will decide how to respond. Petitions with 5,000 signatures will trigger a 
public debate at Full Council and those with 2,500 signatures can call for evidence 
by a Senior Officer at a Policy Committee. 
 
If the petition has enough signatures to trigger a Council debate, or a senior officer 
giving evidence at a public meeting of one of the Council’s Policy Committees, then 
the acknowledgement will confirm this and when and where the meeting will take 
place. If the petition needs more investigation, the acknowledgement will set out the 
steps we plan to take. 
 
If the petition applies to a planning or licensing application, is a statutory petition (for 
example requesting a referendum on having an elected mayor), or relates to a 
matter where there is already an existing right of appeal such as Council Tax 
banding and non domestic rates, other procedures apply, outside of this Scheme. 
With specific reference to planning and licensing application petitions, the approach 
adopted in Sheffield is to permit the receipt of these by the Council or their 

Page 445



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Petitions Scheme  
 

 

 

presentation at Full Council or a Policy Committee, which will then trigger a referral 
to the Planning and Highways or Licensing Committee, as appropriate. The receipt 
and recording of the petition and actions to be taken will be administered in the same 
way, for consistency and in the spirit of the provisions of this Scheme.  
 
We will not take any action on any petition which we consider to be vexatious, 
abusive or otherwise inappropriate and will explain the reasons for this in our 
acknowledgement of the petition.  
 
To ensure that people know what we are doing in response to the petitions we 
receive, the details of all the petitions submitted to us will be published in the Council 
Petitions Log, on our website except in cases where this would be inappropriate. 
 
How will the Council respond to petitions?  
 
Our response to a petition will depend on what a petition asks for and how many 
people have signed it, but may include one or more of the following:  

 taking the action requested in the petition  

 considering the petition at a Council meeting  

 holding an enquiry into the matter  

 undertaking research into the matter  

 holding a public meeting  

 holding a consultation  

 holding a meeting with petitioners  

 referring the petition for consideration by the relevant Policy Committee*  

 writing to the petition organiser setting out our views about the request in 
question 

 
*Policy Committees can take decisions on or make recommendations to Full Council 
on changes to policy and the provision of Council services. 
 
In addition to these steps, the Council will consider other specific actions it may be 
able to take on the issues highlighted in a petition. If your petition is about something 
over which the Council has no direct control (for example the local railway or 
hospital), we will aim to make representations on behalf of the community to the 
relevant body. The Council works with a large number of local partners and, where 
possible, will work with these partners to respond to a petition. If we are not able to 
do this for any reason (for example if what the petition calls for conflicts with Council 
policy), then we will set out the reasons for this.  
 
If a petition is about something that a different Council is responsible for, we will give 
consideration to what the best method is for responding to it. It might consist of 
simply forwarding the petition to the other Council but could involve other steps. In 
any event, we will always notify the petition organiser of the action we have taken.  
 
Essentially there are three types of petitions:  

 “Ordinary” petitions  

 Petitions requiring debate  

Page 446



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Petitions Scheme  
 

 

 

 Petitions to hold senior Council employees to account. 
 
Ordinary Petitions  
Ordinary petitions must be signed by at least five people. We will acknowledge the 
petition within 14 days of receiving it and let the petition organiser know what we 
plan to do with the petition and when they can expect to hear from us again. It will 
also be published on our website. If the petition needs more investigation, we will set 
out the steps we plan to take.  
 
In the vast majority of cases, the petition will be submitted to one of the Council’s 
formal Member meetings where elected Councillors will decide how to respond to the 
petition. These meetings will be held in public and petitioners are welcome to attend 
the meeting and observe the proceedings. The petition organiser will be given three 
minutes to present the petition at the meeting.  
 
A petition can be submitted to the Council or a Policy Committee. 
 
Full Council Debates  
If a petition contains 5000 signatures or more, it will trigger a debate by the Full 
Council, in public, unless it is a petition asking for a senior Council officer to give 
evidence at a public meeting of one of the Policy Committees. This means that the 
issue raised in the petition will be discussed at a meeting which all Councillors can 
attend. 
 
For petitions that trigger a debate at Full Council, we require seven working days’ 
notice to be given prior to a Council meeting to ensure Councillors have adequate 
preparation time. The Council will endeavour to consider the petition at its next 
meeting, but due to other Council business, it may not be possible to debate every 
eligible petition at the next Council meeting, and it is unlikely that any more than two 
eligible petitions will be debated at any one meeting. Therefore, on occasions, an 
eligible petition may be debated at the next but one Council meeting. 
 
The petition organiser will be given three minutes to present the petition at the 
meeting and the petition will then be discussed by Councillors. The Council will 
decide how to respond to the petition at this meeting. The Council may decide to 
take the action the petition requests, not to take the action requested for reasons put 
forward in the debate or to commission further investigation into the matter, for 
example by a relevant Committee.  
 
The petition organiser will receive written confirmation of this decision. The decision 
will be published on the Council’s website. 
 
Officer Evidence  
A petition may ask for a senior Council officer to give evidence at a public meeting of 
one of the Council’s Policy Committees and about something for which the officer is 
responsible as part of their job. For example, your petition may ask a senior Council 
officer to explain progress on an issue or to explain advice given to Elected Members 
to enable them to make a particular decision. Petitions which call for evidence from a 

Page 447



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 5 – Petitions Scheme  
 

 

 

senior Council employee, and have at least 2500 signatures, will trigger that 
response. 
 
Senior staff that can be called to give evidence are:  

 Chief Executive  

 Executive Director – Resources 

 Executive Director – People Services  

 Executive Director – City Futures 

 Executive Director – Operational Services  

 Directors as considered appropriate by the relevant Policy Committee 
You should be aware that the relevant Policy Committee may decide that it would be 
more appropriate for another officer to give evidence instead of any officer named in 
the petition – for instance if the named officer has changed jobs.  
 
What can I do if I feel my petition has not been dealt with properly?  
 
If you feel that we have not dealt with your petition properly, the petition organiser 
may: 

 Make a complaint under the Council’s Complaints Procedure if not satisfied 
with the way the petition has been administered 

 Request that the appropriate Policy Committee review the steps taken in 
response to the petition if unhappy with the steps proposed or the way they 
have been taken 

 Request that a petition that has not been presented to a Council meeting be 
considered at such a meeting 

 
It is helpful to everyone, and can improve the prospects for review, if the petition 
organiser gives a short explanation of the reasons why the Council’s response is not 
considered to be adequate.  

Page 448



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Part 6 
 

Members’ Allowances Scheme 
 

Page 449

Part 6



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 450



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Part 7 
 

Statutory/Proper Officers 
Management Structure 

Officer Scheme of 
Delegation  

Page 451

Part 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 452



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7A – Statutory and Proper Officers  
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 1 of 
14   

  STATUTORY AND PROPER OFFICERS 

1 The Local Government Act 1972 and other legislation require local 
authorities to make specific statutory appointments and designations 
(Statutory and Proper Officers) which carry specific responsibilities. For 
the avoidance of doubt, any post mentioned below will also include an 
interim appointment to that position. 

 
 In the event of the officers named below in 3 and 4 being unable to act 

or of any of the posts being vacant, the Chief Executive, or in his/her 
absence the relevant Executive Director, will appoint an officer to act in 
their place. 

3 The following are the Statutory Officers of the Council for the purposes 
 stated:- 

 

Legislation 
 

Description Allocated To 

Local Government 
and Housing Act 
1989 
Section 4 
 

Head of Paid Service Chief Executive 

Local Government 
Act 1972 
Section 151 
 

Chief Finance Officer Director of Finance 
and Commercial 
Services 

Local Government 
and Housing Act 
1989 
Section 5 
 

Monitoring Officer Director of Legal and 
Governance 

Local Authority 
Social Services 
Act 1970 
Section 6 
 

Director of Adult Social 
Services 

Director of Adult 
Health and Social 
Care 

Children Act 2004 
Section 18 
 

Director of Children’s Services Executive Director, 
People 
 

National Health 
Service Act 2006 
Section 73A  

Director of Public Health  Director of Public 
Health 
 

Page 453

Part 7a



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7A – Statutory and Proper Officers  
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 2 of 
14   

4 The following are the Proper Officers of the Council for the purposes 
 stated:- 

 

Local Government 
Act 1972 
 

Description Proper Officer  

Section 83 Officer  who takes 
declarations of acceptance 
of office 
 

Director of Legal 
and Governance 

Section 84 Officer to whom a person 
elected to any office listed 
in Section 83 may give 
written notice  of 
resignation 
 

Director of Legal 
and Governance 

Section 88(2) Officer who may convene a 
meeting of the Council for 
the election to fill casual 
vacancy of chairman of the 
Council  
 

Director of Legal 
and Governance 

Section 89(1) Officer who may receive 
notice in writing of a casual 
vacancy in the office of 
Councillor from two local 
government electors for the 
area 
 

Electoral Services 
Manager 

Section 100B(2) Officer who may think fit to 
exclude from reports open 
to inspection by members 
of the public parts relating 
to items during which the 
meeting is likely not to be 
open to the public  
 

Director of Legal 
and Governance in 
consultation with the 
relevant Executive 
Director 

Section 100B(7)(c) Officer who makes 
available to the press 
copies of documents 
already supplied to 
Councillors in connection 
with an item on the agenda 
for a meeting of the Council 

Head of Democratic 
Services  

Page 454



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7A – Statutory and Proper Officers  
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 3 of 
14   

 

Section 100C(2) Officer responsible for 
preparing a written 
summary of those parts of 
the committee proceedings 
which disclose exempt 
information 
 

Head of Democratic 
Services 

Section 100D(1)(a) Officer responsible for 
identifying background 
papers for the report for a 
meeting of the Council and 
compiling a list of such 
documents 
 

Relevant Executive 
Director  

Section 100F(2) Officer who makes 
decisions as to documents 
disclosing exempt 
information which are not 
required to be open to 
inspection by Councillors  
 

Director of Legal 
and Governance in 
consultation with the 
relevant Executive 
Director 

Section 115 Officer to whom all officers 
shall pay monies received 
by them and due to the 
Local Authority  
 

Executive Director, 
Resources or  their 
nominee 

Section 146(1)(a) Officer authorised to 
produce a statutory 
declaration specifying 
securities and verifying the 
change of name and 
identity of the authority 
 

Director of Legal 
and Governance  

Section 151 
 
 

Officer responsible for the 
proper administration of the 
authority’s financial affairs 
(“Chief Finance Officer”) 
 

Director of Finance 
and Commercial 
Services  

Section 191 Officer who receives 
applications from Ordnance 
Survey Office in relation to 
examining, ascertaining 
and marking out reputed 
Local Authority boundaries  

Director of Legal 
and Governance  

Page 455



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7A – Statutory and Proper Officers  
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 4 of 
14   

 

Section 210(6) and (7)  Officer in whom power is 
vested to exercise any 
power with respect to a 
charity exercisable by any 
officer of a former 
corresponding authority  
 

Director of Legal 
and Governance  

Section 225 Officer with whom 
documents may be 
deposited pursuant to law, 
who can make notes or 
endorsements and give 
acknowledgements or 
receipts  
 

Director of Legal 
and Governance 

Section 229(5) Officer who signs a 
certificate that a document 
is a photographic copy of a 
document in the custody of 
the Council  
 

Director of Legal 
and Governance 

Section 234(1) Officer who signs notices, 
orders or other documents 
on behalf of the Council  
 

Director of Legal 
and Governance 

Section 236(9) Officer who sends copies of 
byelaws made by the 
Council to parish councils 
or parish meetings 
 

Director of Legal 
and Governance 

Section 238 Officer responsible for 
certifying copies of byelaws 
 

Director of Legal 
and Governance 

Schedule 12 Para 
4(1A)(b) 

Officer who may sign and 
send to all Councillors a 
summons to attend Council 
meetings  
 

Director of Legal 
and Governance 

Schedule 14 Para 25 Officer who may certify 
copies of resolutions 
passed under this 
Paragraph  
 

Director of Legal 
and Governance 

Page 456



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7A – Statutory and Proper Officers  
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 5 of 
14   

Public Health Act 
1936 
 

Description Proper Officer 

Section 84 Officer who certifies that an 
article is filthy or verminous 
 

Director of Street 
Scene and 
Regulation 
 

Section 85(2) Officer who reports that any 
person or the clothing of 
any person is verminous 
 

Director of Street 
Scene and 
Regulation 

Section 85(4) Officer who authorises a 
woman to carry out 
cleansing of females 

Director of Street 
Scene and 
Regulation 

   

Registration Service 
Act 1953  
 

Description Proper Officer 

Section 9 Officer who determines or 
appoints interim 
superintendent registrar or 
interim registrar of births 
and deaths 
 

Director of Human 
Resources and 
Customer Services 

Section 13 Officer on whom powers 
are conferred under the 
local scheme of 
organisation 

Director of Human 
Resources and 
Customer Services 

   

Local Authority 
Social Services Act 
1970 
 

Description Proper Officer 

Section 6 Officer appointed as 
Director of Adult Social 
Services 

Director of Adult 
Health and Social 
Care 

   

Local Government 
Act 1974 
 

Description  Proper Officer 

Section 30(5) Officer responsible for 
arranging publication in 
newspapers of a notice that 
a Local Commissioner’s 

Director of Legal 
and Governance  

Page 457



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7A – Statutory and Proper Officers  
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 6 of 
14   

report on an investigation of 
a matter is available for 
inspection by the public 

   

Local Government 
(Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 
  

Description  Proper Officer  

Section 41 Officer responsible for 
certifying copies of 
resolutions, orders, reports, 
minutes of Council 
meetings and other 
documents or authorising a 
person in that behalf  

Director of Legal 
and Governance 

   

Rent Act 1977 
 

Description Proper Officer 

Schedule 15, Part IV Officer who signs certificate 
that the local housing 
authority will provide 
suitable alternative 
accommodation 

Director of Housing  

   

Highways Act 1980 
 

Description  Proper Officer  

Section 59 Officer responsible for 
certifying that extraordinary 
expenses have been or will 
be incurred in maintaining 
the highway by reason of 
damage caused by 
excessive weight passing 
along the highway or other 
extraordinary traffic 
 

Head of Highway 
Maintenance  

Section 205 Officer responsible for 
undertaking duties as 
specified in this Section 
and Schedule 16 in relation 
to private street works 
 

Head of Highway 
Maintenance 

Section 210 Officer responsible for 
certifying amendments to 

Head of Highway 
Maintenance 

Page 458



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7A – Statutory and Proper Officers  
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 7 of 
14   

estimated costs and 
consequential provisional 
apportionment of costs 
under the private street 
works code 
 

Sections 211, 212 and 
216 

Officer responsible for 
making a final 
apportionment of costs 
under the private street 
works code 
 

Head of Highway 
Maintenance 

Section 295 Officer responsible for 
issuing notices requiring 
removal of materials from 
non-maintainable streets in 
which works are due to 
take place  
 

Head of Strategic 
Transport 
Sustainability and 
Infrastructure  

Section 321 Officer responsible for 
signing notices, consents, 
approvals, orders, 
demands, licences, 
certificates and other 
documents 
 

Head of Strategic 
Transport 
Sustainability and 
Infrastructure  

Schedule 9 Para 4  Officer responsible for 
signing plans showing 
proposed prescribed 
improvement lines or 
building lines 

Head of Highway 
Maintenance  

   

Representation of the 
People Act 1983 
 

Description Proper Officer 

Section 8 
 

Officer appointed as 
Registration Officer for the 
registration of 
Parliamentary and Local 
Government Electors 
 

 Chief Executive 
 
 

Section 28  Officer to discharge duties 
of the returning officer as 
Acting 
Returning Officer at 

Chief Executive 

Page 459



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7A – Statutory and Proper Officers  
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 8 of 
14   

Parliamentary Elections 
 

Section 35 Officer appointed as 
Returning Officer for local 
elections 
 

Chief Executive 

Section 52 
 

Officer approved as deputy 
to perform the powers and 
duties of the Registration 
Officer and officer 
appointed to carry out any 
acts of the Registration 
Officer in the event of his 
incapacity or a vacancy 
 

Electoral Services 
Manager 
 

Section 67 Officer to whom 
declarations 
and public notice of election 
agents’ appointments are 
made 
 

Chief Executive for 
Parliamentary 
Elections; 
Electoral Services 
Manager for local 
elections 
 

Section 131 Officer responsible for 
providing 
accommodation for holding 
election court 

Electoral Services 
Manager 
 

   

Building Act 1984 
 

Description  Proper Officer 

Section 78(1) and (8) Officer who may take 
immediate action in relation 
to dangerous buildings, 
structures or parts thereof 

Director of 
Investment and 
Climate Change 

   

Public Health 
(Control of Disease) 
Act 1984  
 

Description Proper Officer 

Section 48 Officer who certifies that it 
would be a health risk to 
retain a body in a place 

Any person for the 
time being 
employed as a 
Consultant in 
Communicable 
Disease Control / 

Page 460



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7A – Statutory and Proper Officers  
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 9 of 
14   

Consultant in Health 
Protection at the 
Yorkshire and 
Humber Health 
Protection team of 
the UK Health 
Security Agency 
(UKHSA) 
 

Section 59 Officer who signs and 
authenticates notices, 
orders or other documents 
 

Director of Street 
Scene and 
Regulation 

Section 61 Officer with power to enter 
premises 

Director of Street 
Scene and 
Regulation and any 
officer personally 
authorised by him 

   

Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 
 

Description  Proper Officer 

Section 114 Officer responsible for 
making financial reports to 
the authority  
 

Director of Finance 
and Commercial 
Services 

Section 116 Officer responsible for 
notifying the authority’s 
auditor of the date, time 
and place of meeting to 
consider s114 report and of 
decision of such meeting  
 

Director of Finance 
and Commercial 
Services 

   

Local Government 
and Housing Act 
1989 
 

Description  Proper Officer 

Section 2(4) Officer with whom the list of 
politically restricted posts 
shall be deposited  
 

Chief Executive 

Section 4 
 

Officer designated as Head 
of Paid Service  

Chief Executive  

Page 461



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7A – Statutory and Proper Officers  
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 10 of 
14   

 

Section 5 
 

Officer designated as 
Monitoring Officer  

Director of Legal 
and Governance  

   

Local Government 
(Committees and 
Political Groups) 
Regulations 1990  
 

Description   Proper Officer  

Regulation 8(1) and (5) Officer to whom notice in 
writing is delivered about 
the constitution of a political 
group or the change of 
name of a political group  
 

Head of Democratic 
Services  

Regulations 9 and 10  Officer to whom notice in 
writing is delivered about a 
Councillor’s membership, 
or cessation of 
membership, in a political 
group 
 

Head of Democratic 
Services 

Regulation 13 Officer to whom the wishes 
of a political group are 
expressed 
 

Head of Democratic 
Services 

Regulation 14 Officer responsible for 
notifying in writing the 
leader or deputy leader of a 
political group about 
allocations and vacations of 
seats  
 

Head of Democratic 
Services 

   

Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 
 

Description Proper Officer 

Section 149 Officer responsible for 
discharging functions 
conferred by this section for 
dealing with stray dogs 

Director of Street 
Scene and 
Regulation 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 462



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7A – Statutory and Proper Officers  
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 11 of 
14   

Food Safety Act 1990 Description Proper Officer 

Section 49 Officer who signs any 
document authorised or 
required by or under the 
Act 

Director of Street 
Scene and 
Regulation 

   

The Local Authorities 
(Standing Orders) 
(England) 
Regulations 2001 
 

Description  Proper Officer 

Schedule 1, Part 2, 
Paragraphs 5 and 6 

Officer responsible for 
receiving notification of 
proposed appointment or 
dismissal of certain officers, 
notifying executive 
members of that proposed 
appointment or dismissal 
and for receiving and 
notifying of objections to 
the proposed appointment 
or dismissal 

Director of Human 
Resources and 
Customer Services 

   

Children Act 2004 
 

Description Proper Officer 

Section 18 Officer appointed as 
Director of Children’s 
Services 

Executive Director, 
People 
 

   

Housing Act 2004 
 

Description Proper Officer 

Section 4 Officer responsible for 
inspection of premises and 
who gives an opinion as to 
the existence of category 1 
or 2 hazards or the need to 
declare a clearance area 
 

Director of Housing  

Section 239 Officer with power to enter 
premises in connection with 
a section 4 inspection  
  

Director of Housing  

Section 249 Officer who signs certificate 
on copy of designation by 

Director of Legal 
and Governance 

Page 463



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7A – Statutory and Proper Officers  
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 12 of 
14   

the authority of an area as 
subject to additional or 
selective licensing  

 

   

National Health 
Service Act 2006 
 

Description Proper Officer 

Section 73A Officer appointed as 
Director of Public Health 

Director of Public 
Health 

   

Local Elections 
(Principal Areas) 
(England and Wales) 
Rules 2006 

Description Proper Officer 

Schedule 2 Rule 50 
Schedule 3 Rule 50 

Officer to whom Returning 
Officer gives notice of 
candidates elected to the 
Council 

Director of Legal 
and Governance 

   

Local Authority 
Social Services and 
National Health 
Service Complaints 
(England) 
Regulations 2009 
 

Description Proper Officer 

Regulation 4(1)(a) and 
(4) 

Officer designated as 
Responsible Person to 
ensure compliance with 
arrangements made under 
these Regulations 
 

Chief Executive 

Regulation 4(2) Officer authorised by the 
Council to perform the 
functions of the 
Responsible Person 

Director of Adult 
Health and Social 
Care 
Director of 
Integrated 
Commissioning 

Regulation 4(1)(b) and 
(5) 

Officer designated as 
complaints manager to 
manage the procedures for 
handling and considering 
complaints 

Complaints 
Manager 

   

Page 464



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7A – Statutory and Proper Officers  
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 13 of 
14   

Health Protection 
(Notification) 
Regulations 2010 
 

Description Proper Officer 

Regulations 2, 3 and 6 Receipt and disclosure of 
notification of suspected 
notifiable disease, infection 
or contamination in patients 
and dead persons. 

Any person for the 
time being 
employed as a 
Consultant in 
Communicable 
Disease Control / 
Consultant in Health 
Protection at the 
Yorkshire and 
Humber Health 
Protection team of 
the UK Health 
Security Agency 
(UKHSA) 

   

Localism Act 2011 Description Proper Officer 

Section 33 Officer to whom request is 
made for dispensation from 
the restrictions in section 
31(4) on participation 
where a member has a 
disclosable pecuniary 
interest 

Director of Legal 
and Governance 

   

Local Authorities 
(Referendums) 
(Petitions) (England) 
Regulations 2011 
 

Description Proper Officer 

Regulation  4(1) Officer who publishes the 
number that is equal to 5 
per cent of the number of 
local government electors 
for the authority’s area 

Director of Legal 
and Governance  

   

Openness of Local 
Government Bodies 
Regulations 2014 
 

Description Proper Officer 

Page 465



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7A – Statutory and Proper Officers  
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 14 of 
14   

Regulation 6 Officer who forms an 
opinion as to whether the 
documents relating to an 
officer delegated decision 
under Regulation 7(2) are 
background papers for the 
purpose of this Regulation 
 

Director of Legal 
and Governance 

Regulation 9 Officer who determines 
whether a document 
contains or is likely to 
contain either exempt or 
confidential information 

Director of Legal 
and Governance 

   

Counter Terrorism 
and Security Act 
2015 
 

Description Proper Officer 

Section 37 Officer designated to 
represent the authority on 
the statutory assessment 
and support panel (the 
“Channel Panel”) 

Head of Community 
Safety and Safer 
Neighbourhood 
Services  

   

Data Protection Act 
2018 
 

Description Proper Officer 

Section 69 Officer designated as Data 
Protection Officer 

Senior Information 
Manager 

 

Page 466



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7B – Management Structure   
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 1 of 
27   

MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE  
 

Chief Officers   
 
Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service 
 

 Has overall corporate and management responsibility for the work of the 
Council, including the number and grade of officers required for the 
discharge of functions 
 

Responsible for:- 
 
Director of Policy, Performance and Communications 

 Corporate Policy and Strategy 

 Corporate Research and Analysis, including spatial analysis and GIS 

 Communications, including Campaigns, Marketing, Press and PR, Print 
and Design and Internal Communications 

 Corporate Consultation and Community Involvement 

 Digital Services 

 Elections, Referenda and Electoral Registration 

 Equalities, Social Justice and Poverty Strategy  

 Performance Management 

 Public Health Intelligence 

 Public Service Reform 

 Sheffield Partnership Board  

 Strategic and Business Planning 

 Lead Director for Customer Experience 
 

 
Director of Public Health 

 Public Health overall, including Health Improvement, Health Protection 
and Health Services’ Public Health 

 Public Health input to the (NHS) Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Lead Director for the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

 Liaison with Executive Directors regarding Integration of Public Health 
Specialist Teams into the Portfolio Management Structures 

 Planning for and responding to emergencies that present a risk to 
public health 

 Annual Report on the Health of the Population 
 
 
 
 

Page 467

Part 7b



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7B – Management Structure   
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 2 of 
27   

Executive Director Resources 
 
Responsible for:- 
 
Director of Finance & Commercial Services  
(Designated as the Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer under the Local 
Government Act 1972) 
 
 Strategic Finance  

 Financial Planning, Accounting and Control 

 Financial Systems support  

 Internal Audit 

 External Grant Funding 

 Treasury: Banking, Cash Management and Investments 

 Taxation 

 Insurance  

 Risk Management Process 
 
 Financial Business Partnering  

 Financial Business Partnering for all portfolios 
 

Accounting and Infrastructure 

 Finance Systems and Training 

 Service finance and accounting support 

 Schools finance support 
 

Commercial Business Development 

 Capital Programme Budgeting and Accounting 

 Finance & Commercial Projects 

 Housing and Council Tax Benefits  

 Council Tax and Business Rates Collection 

 Collection of Sundry Debt 

 Income & Commercialisation Agenda 

 Investment Strategy 

 Corporate Debt Recovery 
 
 Procurement and Supply Chain 

 Commercial, Commissioning, Procurement and Contract Management, 
Processes and Support 

 Strategic Contract Management (e.g. Waste, Streets Ahead, Howden 
House) 

 Supplier Relationship Management 

 All External Spend Data and related Freedom of Information Requests 

Page 468



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7B – Management Structure   
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 3 of 
27   

 Approach/Process for Trade Supplier Payments 

 Managing Community Right to Challenge Submissions 
 
  
Director of Business Change and Information Solutions 

 Digital Strategy and Digital Services 

 IT Strategy and Planning 

 Business Change including Business Analysis, Enterprise Architecture, 
Programme and Project Management 

 IT Service Management including ICT Governance and Assurance 

 Information Security and Management 

 Digital Inclusion 

 Strategic Programme Support and Delivery 

 Senior Information Risk Officer (SIRO) 

 Business Architecture, Organisational Design and the Enterprise 
Programme Office 

 City Connectivity & Smart City 

 Corporate Change Programme Development and Monitoring 
 

 
Director of Human Resources & Customer Services 
 Human Resources 

 HR Business Partners 

 HR Policy and Specialist Advice on Employment Matters 

 HR Advice and Support on People Management 

 Workforce Development Unit 

 Schools HR Service – Strategy and Governance 

 Learning and Development Delivery Service 

 HR Support for Major Change Projects 

 Occupational Health 

 Health and Safety 

 HR Transactions 

 Payroll  
 
Customer Services  

 Corporate Call Centre, Council Housing Call Centre and Repairs 
Service Centre 

 City Wide Alarms Call Handling Service 

 101 Service/Out of Hours Service 

 E-Services (Council Website) 

 Corporate Complaints Team 

 Translation and Interpretation 

Page 469



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7B – Management Structure   
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 4 of 
27   

 Customer Service Strategy and Projects 

 First Point, Reception Service 

 Blue Badge Service 

 Armed Forces Community Covenant 

 Sheffield Register Office 

 Customer Fulfilment Centre (processing of applications for parking 
permits, travel passes, free school meals) 

 Revenue and Benefits Call Centre 
 
 
Director of Legal and Governance (Monitoring Officer) 

 Legal Services 

 Local Land Charges 

 Standards 

 Constitution 

 Governance 

 Democratic Services 

 Member Development 

 Mayoral Team 

 Member Services 

 Information Governance and Management 
 

 
 
  

Page 470



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7B – Management Structure   
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 5 of 
27   

Executive Director, Operational Services 
 
Responsible for:- 
 
Director of Parks, Leisure and Libraries 

 Sport and physical activity projects and programmes  

 Contracts and funding with sports and leisure facility providers 

 Parks and green spaces projects and programmes 

 Allotments 

 Ecology Services 

 Parks and woodlands 

 Ranger Service 

 Non Highways Trees Services 

 Bereavement Services (Cremations and Burials) 

 Coroner’s Service 

  Medico-Legal Centre (MLC) 

 Libraries Archive and Information Services  
 
Business Strategy, Change and Improvement 

 Business Partner Relationship Management 

 Business Planning 

 Governance and Compliance 

 Performance Management 

 Quality Assurance 

 Programme Management 

 Strategic Resource Planning 

 Organisational Resilience including Risk 

 Business Continuity 

 Change Programme 

 Information Management 

 
 
Director of Street Scene and Regulation 

 Parking Services 

 Corporate Emergency Planning 

 Highway maintenance and management including Streets Ahead PFI 

 City Centre Management 

 Waste Management (including abandoned vehicles) 
 
Sheffield Markets 

 Leases, tenancies and licences for stalls and markets 

 Protection of the Council’s market rights 

Page 471



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7B – Management Structure   
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 6 of 
27   

 Enforcement to secure and recover payments of rental fees  

 Adjudication over appeals relating to stall licences 

 Submitting planning application for minor schemes 

 Variation of fees and changes for premises, property or services 
(where not covered by any other agreement) 
 
Head of Licensing 

 Statutory licensing (including powers directly delegated by Statutory 
Licensing Committee) 

 Regulatory licensing 
 
Head of Environmental Regulation  

 Health Protection 

 Environmental Protection  

 Trading Standards and Consumer protection  

 Pest Control 

 Food Control and Safety  

 Animal Welfare and Control 

 Noise and Nuisance 
 
 
Director of Direct Services  

 Facilities Management of the Corporate Estate 

 Facilities Management Contract Management 

 Duty Holder for Building Compliance of the Corporate Estate 

 School Facilities Management, Repair and Building Compliance 
Service  

 Property Records 

 Transport Management of the Corporate Fleet 

 Transport Contracts and Fleet Management 

 Passenger Transport for Vulnerable Adults and Children 

 Taxi Driver and Vehicle Testing 

 Vehicle Testing, Maintenance and Repairs 

 Operational Management of Repairs 

 Repairs and Maintenance and Building Compliance to Council Homes 
and to Offices and other facilities 

 Capital Delivery Service 
 
 
Director of Housing  

 Neighbourhood and Tenancy Management 

Page 472



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7B – Management Structure   
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 7 of 
27   

 Management of the Council’s housing stock, estates and related 
assets, including the Housing Revenue Account and HRA Business 
Plan, and Building Safety and Fire Safety Compliance 

 Tenant, resident and leaseholder engagement 

 Rehousing, Allocations Policy  

 Homelessness and access to housing, including supported housing 
(older persons, temporary accommodation and Travellers site) and 
support services  

 Administration of Right to Buy 

 Home Ownership and Revenue Services including Regional Homes 
and Loans Service 

 Private Sector Housing regulation, licensing, tenant support services 
and enforcement 

 Housing and Estate Regeneration 

 Housing Strategy and Policy 

 Affordable Housing Provision and Delivery (including Registered 
Private Providers of Social Housing) and social landlord relationships 

 Management of Refugee Resettlement programmes 

 Portfolio Safeguarding lead 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 473



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7B – Management Structure   
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 8 of 
27   

Executive Director, City Futures 
 
Responsible for:- 
 
Director of City Centre and Central Area Portfolio Development 

 Heart of the City 2 

 City Centre and Central Area Major Developments 
 
 
Director of Economic Development, Skills and Culture  

 Business Growth and Economic Strategy 

 City Branding and Identity 

 External Marketing of Sheffield  

 Maximising Economic Impact of Major Events 

 Promoting Sheffield  

 Sector Development  

 Sheffield City Region and Local Enterprise Partnership 

 Arts development and major projects 

 Contracts and funding with major arts partners including Sheffield 
Theatres, Museums Trusts, Showroom and Site Gallery 

 City and Community Events 

 Progression Programme Development – Enterprise, Employment & 
Digital Skills (cross-cutting with Director of Education and Skills) 

 Employment Policy and Programmes 

 Skills Policy and Programmes (adults) 
 
 
Director of Investment, Climate Change and Planning 

 Building Standards and Public Safety  

 Corporate Property Services 

 Regeneration and Housing Growth 

 South Yorkshire Archaeology  

 Strategic Development and Funding 

 Climate Change and Sustainability, including Air Quality and Clean Air 
Zone 

 Flood Protection Programme  
 
Head of Planning 

 Planning applications and permissions  

 Development control 

 Development Management   

 Local Plan 

Page 474



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7B – Management Structure   
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 9 of 
27   

 
Head of Strategic Transport Sustainability and Infrastructure 

 Transport and Traffic Management and Regulation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 475



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7B – Management Structure   
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 10 of 
27   

Executive Director, People Services 
(Designated as the Director of Children’s Services under the Children Act 
2004) 
 
Responsible for:- 
  
Director, Children and Families Service  

 OFSTED Responsible Individual for Regulated Services 

 Children’s Social Work Services 

 Fostering Service 

 Adoption Service 

 Safeguarding Service 

 Learning Difficulties and Disabilities Service 

 Attendance Services 

 Children in Care Placement Quality Assurance and brokerage  

 Children in Care Services 

 Care Leavers Services 

 Corporate Parenting  

 Children’s Residential Services 

 Aldine House Secure Home 

 Youth Justice Service 

 Multi-Agency Support Teams delivery  

 Early Intervention and Prevention Services delivery 
 

 
Director of Education and Skills 

Schools and Education 

 Oversight Academies Programme 

 Advocacy for Children & Young People 

 Access and Inclusion Services - School attendance, Admissions and 
Admission Appeals Elective Home Education, Inclusion and 
Exclusions, Educational Attainment of Looked After Children – Virtual 
School, Children Missing from Education Alternative Provision 

 Learn Sheffield including commission for delivery of statutory functions 
for school improvement (Primary, Secondary and Special Schools)  

 School Governor Service 

 E-Learning 

 Maintaining Sufficiency of School Places 

 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Services, including 
Education Psychology, Hearing Impaired, Visually Impaired and Autism 
Service 

Page 476



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7B – Management Structure   
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 11 of 
27   

 Services to Schools including Consultation and Engagement, Music 
Service, Children’s University, Outdoor Education Service (including 
Swimming and Thornbridge) 

 Targeted Support for Vulnerable Groups, including those with English 
as an Additional Language 

 School Improvement, and School Enquiries and Complaints 

 Community Cohesion (Engagement with Schools and Communities)  

 Early Years: Inclusion and Standards 

 Maintained Nursery Schools 

 Hospital and Home Tuition Service 

 Capital Strategy 

 Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education (SACRE) 

 Schools Financial and Resource Planning, including Resourcing 
Strategies, Transport Strategy, Food Services, Schools Forum 

 Refugee Resettlement Programmes (education element)  

 Family and Community Education 
 

Learning and Skills 

 Post 16 Learning Provision including 16 to 19 Study Programme, Post 
16 Transition, High Needs Learning Provision 

 Targeted Education Interventions including NEET (young people Not in 
Education, Employment or Training) prevention  

 Progression Programme Development – Enterprise, Employment & 
Digital Skills (cross-cutting with Director of Economic Development, 
Skills and Culture)  

 Skills Policy and Programmes (Children and Young People)   

 Apprenticeship Programme 
 

   

Director of Adult Health and Social Care Services  
(Designated as Director of Adult Social Services under the Local Authority 
Social Services Act 1970 Section 6) 

 Nominated Officer for CQC Regulated Adults Services  
 

Support to Adults and Unpaid Carers 

 Support to Unpaid Carers 

 Social Work Assessment, Review and Coordination of Support for 
Older Adults, People with a Disability, People with a Learning Disability 
and/ or Autism , People experiencing Mental Ill Health, People with a 
Sensory Impairment 

 Specialist Social Work Services including Continuing Health Care, 
Transitions into Adulthood Planning and Future Options (Support to 

Page 477



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7B – Management Structure   
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 12 of 
27   

adults of working age living in care homes to increase their 
independence and inclusion) 

 Occupational Therapy and enablement services. 

 First Response Services including First Contact Services and Hospital 
Discharge Services 

 Support To Live Independently And At Home – Homecare Services, 
Community Reablement, Short Term Intervention Team, Equipment 
And Adaptations, City Wide Care Alarms, Rapid Response Services 

 Learning Disability Provider Services - Supported Living, Day Services, 
Residential Short Breaks, Adult Placement Shared Lives 

 Social Care Accounts Services  
 

Safeguarding and Protecting People from Harm  

 Adult Safeguarding - Investigations, Serious Incidents and Serious 
Case Reviews 

 Adult Safeguarding – Coordination and support to Safeguarding Board 

 Forensic Mental Health Social Work Services 

 Approved Mental Health Professionals (AHMPS) 

 Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) 

 Best Interest Assessments (BIA) 
 

Adult Social Care Care Governance & Practice Development 

 Principal Social Worker and Caldicott Guardian 

 Social Care Governance  

 Social Care Workforce Development and Training  

 Social Work Practice Guidance, Training & Standards 

 Co-Production – Charter, Think Act Local Personal 

 People and Carer Engagement, Involvement 

 Service Development  

 Emergency Planning and Business Continuity 
 

Adult Social Care Commissioning and Partnerships 

 Adult Social Work and Social Care Strategic Plan and Market Shaping 
Plans 

 Commissioning of support for older people, physical disability, learning 
disability, sensory impairment, mental health, vulnerable adults  

 Commissioning and contracting of adult social health and care services 
inclusive of homecare, care homes, extra care,technology enabled 
care, day services. 

 Strategic Development and Support to the All Age Autism Partnership 
Board, Learning Disabilities Partnership Board, Carers Partnership 
Board  

 Brokerage  

Page 478



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7B – Management Structure   
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 13 of 
27   

 Direct Payments  

 Intelligence and Forecasting 

 Health and Care Integration (Better Care Fund, Joint Commissioning 
and Joint Planning) 

 
 
Director of Community Services 
 Local Area Committees (LACs) 

 Empowering, enabling and engaging with communities through LACs 
 
 Community Development 

 Building Community Assets 

 Increasing Community Resilience 

 Multi Agency and Partnership Working.  

 Public Health Community Wellbeing Programme 

 Prevention and Early Intervention 

 Assets of Community Value 
 
Cohesion and Migration 

 Refugee, Asylum and Migration Services 
 
Community Safety 

 Prevent, Channel, Hate Crime, Human Trafficking and Modern Slavery 
and Reducing Reoffending 

 Safer Neighbourhood Services including Tackling and prevention of 
Anti Social Behaviour  

 Neighbourhood Warden Service 

 Lead Director for the Community Safety Partnership and Community 
Safety Plan and Allocation of the Community Safety Partnership Grant 
funding 

 Page Hall Neighbourhood Management 

 Partnership and joint working with the Police, Violence Reduction Unit, 
Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office and other related agencies 
 
Youth Services 

● Youth work (including detached and community youth services and 
youth involvement) 

● Targeted careers advice including specialist careers and progression 
advice for children with special educational needs and disabilities 

● Duty and tracking of young people Not in Education, Employment or 
Training (NEET) 

● Child Sexual Exploitation and Criminal Exploitation Team Youth work  
● Missing young people return interviews 

Page 479



Sheffield City Council – Constitution (May 2022) 
Part 7B – Management Structure   
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 Page 14 of 
27   

Director of Integrated Commissioning 

 Performance Management 

 Contracts and Partnerships  
 
Commissioning 

 Domestic Abuse Service (including Performance Management, Multi-
Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARAC), Domestic Homicide 
Review Processes) 

 Women’s Refuge  

 Housing Related Support (including Service Development): Homeless 
Accommodation, Short Term Supported Accommodation, Floating 
Support  

 Drug and Alcohol Strategy (including Drug and Alcohol Treatment, 
Pharmacy Services, Outreach and Detox/Rehab services) 

 Information Advice and Guidance 

 Early Years and Education Sufficiency Capital and Places – Pupil 
Place Planning, Mainstream and SEN  

 SEND and SEND Transitions  

 Transitions: Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health, Eating Disorders 
services, Sexual Health 

 Looked After Children and and Care Leavers Sufficiency 

 Review of Early Intervention and Prevention  

 Children’s Mental Health Strategic Development and Joint 
Commissioning 

 Public Health Grant commissioning  

 Changing Futures Programme – Supporting People with Multiple 
disadvantage 

 Joint Commissioning with NHS  

 Carers Strategy and Carer Services (Children, Families and Young 
People) 

 Sexual Health Service  
 
Voluntary Sector 

 Voluntary Sectory Liaison  

 Voluntary Sectory Grants including Grant Aid 

 Strategic lead on relationships and development with the Voluntary, 
Community and Faith Sector building capacity and sustainability in the 
sector 

Page 480


	Agenda
	1 Part 1 - Summary and Explanation
	2 Part 2 - Articles of the Constitution
	2a Part 2 - Article 1 - The Constitution
	2b Part 2 - Article 2 - Members of the Council
	2c Part 2 - Article 3 - Citizens and the Council
	2d Part 2 - Article 4 - The Full Council
	2e Part 2 - Article 5 - Chairing the Council
	2f Part 2 - Article 6 - The Leader, Deputy Leader and Group Leaders
	2g Part 2 - Article 7 - Policy Committees
	2h Part 2 - Article 8 - Regulatory and Other Council Committees
	2i Part 2 - Article 9 - Audit and Standards Committee
	2j Part 2 - Article 10 Health and Wellbeing Board
	2k Part 2 - Article 11 - Area Committees
	2l Part 2 - Article 12 - Joint Arrangements
	2m Part 2 - Article 13 - Officers
	2n Part 2 - Article 14 - Decision Making
	2o Part 2 - Article 15 - Finance, Contracts and Legal Matters
	2p Part 2 - Article 16 - Review and Revision of the Constitution
	2q Part 2 - Article 17 - Suspension, Interpretation and Publication of the Constitution
	3 Part 3 - Responsibility For Functions
	3a Part 3 - Introduction
	3b Part 3 - Functions Reserved to Full Council
	3c Part 3 - Matters Delegated to Committees
	3d Part 3 - Joint Arrangements
	3e Part 3 - Arrangements for the Delegation of Functions to Officers
	4 Part 4 - Rules Of Procedure
	4a Part 4 - Council Procedure Rules
	4b Part 4 - Contracts Standing Orders
	4c Part 4 - Access to Information Procedure Rules
	4d Part 4 - Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules
	4e Part 4 - Financial Procedure Rules (Financial Regulations)
	4f Part 4 - Officer Employment Procedure Rules
	4g Part 4 - Area Committee Procedure Rules
	5 Part 5 - Codes & Protocols
	5a Part 5 - Councillor Code of Conduct
	5b Part 5 - Monitoring Officer Protocol
	5c Part 5 - Officers' Code of Conduct
	5d Part 5 - Protocol for  Member Officer Relations
	5e Part 5 - Code of Conduct in Relation to Planning Matters
	5f Part 5 - Guidance Note on General Procedures at Planning and Highways Committee Meetings
	5g Part 5 - Guidance Note to Chairs on Disruption of Committees By Members Of The Public
	5h Part 5 - Committee Chair Job Share Protocol
	5i Part 5 - Protocol for Use of the Coat of Arms
	5j Part 5 - Petitions Scheme
	6 Part 6 - Members' Allowances Scheme
	7 Part 7 - Statutory/Proper Officers and Management Structure
	7a Part 7 - Statutory and Proper Officers
	7b Part 7 - Management Structure

